
CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 
Boulder, Colorado 80302 

Tuesday, August 16, 2016 
6 p.m. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Colorado Companies to Watch Reception 5:30-6 p.m. in the Municipal Lobby 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

A. Declaration for Colorado Companies to Watch 
 

2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) 
Public may address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in 
the meeting (this includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public 
hearings have taken place, any remaining speakers will be allowed to address Council.  
All speakers are limited to three minutes. 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 

motion at this time.  
A. Consideration of a motion to accept the June 14, 2016 Study Session Summary 

regarding the Development-Related Impact Fees and Excise Taxes 
 
B. Consideration of a motion authorizing the city manager to enter into settlement 

agreements in excess of $10,000 arising out of a March 25, 2016 water main 
break on Hartford Drive 

 
C. Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt an ordinance repealing 

Chapter 4-16, “Police Alarm Systems,” B.R.C. 1981, and replacing it with a 
new Chapter 4-16, “Police Alarm Systems,” to require alarm verification 
before initiating police response and setting forth related details 

 
D. Second reading and consideration of motion to adopt and order published by title 

only, ordinance 8130 submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder 
at the special municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 
2016, the question of authorizing the city council to impose an excise tax of two 
cents per ounce on the distribution of drinks with added sugar, and sweeteners 
used to produce such drinks, and if the measure passes adding to the Boulder 
Revised Code a new chapter 3-16, “Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Product 
Distribution Tax,” B.R.C. 1981, and setting forth related details 

 
E. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 8132 

submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special municipal 
coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the question of 
amending Section 7 of the Boulder Home Rule Charter, relating to council 

Packet Page 1



compensation, by adding an option for council members to receive benefits on 
the same terms and conditions as city employees, and setting forth related details 
 

F.  Second reading and consideration of motion to adopt and order published by title 
only Ordinance No. 8133, setting the ballot title for an amendment to Section 
128A of the Boulder Charter regarding the blue line, and setting forth related 
details    

 
G. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 

title only Ordinance 8137 submitting to the registered electors of the City of 
Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, 
November 8, 2016, the question of amending Section 4 of the Boulder Home Rule 
Charter, by adding a new paragraph to limit the terms of council members to no 
more than three terms in a lifetime and setting forth related details 

 
H. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Emergency 

Ordinance No. 8135 adopting Supplement No. 128, which codifies previously 
adopted Ordinance Nos. 8110, 8111, 8112, 8113, 8114, 8121, 8125, and other 
miscellaneous corrections and amendments, as an amendment to the Boulder 
Revised Code, 1981 

  
I. Introduction and consideration of a motion to order published by title only and 

adopt by Emergency Ordinance No. 8136 amending Section 6-1-16,  
"Dogs Running at Large Prohibited," B.R.C. 1981 to add the following 
properties Tippitt, Wells-East, Benedictine Abbey, Thorne I, Thorne II, Thorne 
III, Knollwood Outlot, Knollwood Park, McCabe-Sanchez, Madden-Rosenbaum, 
Brierly I, Arapahoe Chemicals and portions of the Wells West and Holmes open 
space properties as defined in Attachment A to those areas in which voice and 
sight control of dogs is permitted, and setting forth related details 
 

J. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by 
title only, Ordinance 8139 related to the annexation and initial zoning of 
enclaves in the vicinity of 55th and Arapahoe and Ordinance No. 8140 related 
to an amendment to Subsection 11-5-11(a). B.R.C. 1981 regarding stormwater 
and flood control utility plant investment fees 

 
4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN  

 Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed 
under 8A. No Action will be taken by Council at this time. 

 
8A. Potential Call-Ups 

1. 4500 Brookfield Drive- Vacation of a Public Utility Easement 
2. 4750 Broadway- Site Review 
3. 4525 Palo Parkway- Vacation of Emergency Access Easement 

 
 
 
 

Packet Page 2



ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  
Note:  Any items removed from the Consent Agenda will be considered after any 
City scheduled Public Hearings 
A. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order published by 

title only Ordinance No. 8128 and Ordinance No. 8129 related to the 
annexation and initial zoning of city-owned parcels and rights of way, and 
Elmer’s Two-Mile Park as an enclave 
 

6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 
A. Prairie Dog Relocation Policy 
 
B. Civic Area Construction Staging  
 

7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY 
 

8. MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 
A. Potential Call-Ups 

1. 4500 Brookfield Drive- Vacation of a Public Utility Easement 
2. 4750 Broadway- Site Review 
3. 4525 Palo Parkway- Vacation of Emergency Access Easement 

 
B.      Single-Topic Study Session Discussion 

 
C. B & C Appointments for Arts and WRAB Vacancies 

 
9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS  

Public comment on any motions made under Matters  
 

10. DECISION ON MOTIONS 
Action on motions made under Matters 

 
11. DEBRIEF  

Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted  
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
This agenda and the meeting can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov /City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s website and are re-
cablecast at 6 p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular 
council meeting.   
 
Boulder 8 TV (Comcast channels 8 and 880) is now providing Closed Captioning for all 
live meetings that are aired on the channels. The closed captioning service operates in 
the same manner as similar services offered by broadcast channels, allowing viewers to 
turn the closed captioning on or off with the television remote control. Closed captioning 
also is available on the live HD stream on BoulderChannel8.com. In order to activate the 
captioning service for the live stream, the "CC" button (which is located at the bottom of 

Packet Page 3

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


the video player) will be illuminated and available whenever the channel is providing 
captioning services. 
 
Anyone requiring special packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded 
versions may contact the City Clerk’s Office at 303-441-4222, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday 
through Friday.  The Council Chambers is equipped with a T-Coil assisted listening loop 
and portable assisted listening devices.  Individuals with hearing or speech loss may 
contact us using Relay Colorado 711 (711) or 1-(800)-659-3656. Please request special 
packet preparation no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.   
 
If you need Spanish interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, 
please call (303) 441-1905 at least three business days prior to the meeting.  Si usted 
necesita interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por 
favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta.  
 
Send electronic presentations to email address: CityClerkStaff@bouldercolorado.gov no 
later than 2 p.m. the day of the meeting.  

Packet Page 4



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 16, 2016 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This agenda item provides a summary of the June 14, 2016, study session on Development-
related Impact Fees and Excise Taxes. The purpose of this study session was to review options 
for each component and to narrow the number of options to consider prior to completion of 
final reports and recommendations.  

Key takeaways from the study session by component were: 

Capital Facility Impact Fees 
• City Council generally supported the incremental update to the existing impact fees as the

option to proceed forward. 

Multi-modal Transportation: 
• City Council asked staff to return with further analysis of Option C, the hybrid approach

that adds a new Transportation Impact Fee to the current Transportation Development 
Excise Tax. Council eliminated Options A & B from further consideration.   

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the study session summary from 
June 14, 2016 City Council Study Session regarding the Development-Related Impact 
Fees and Excise Taxes  

PRESENTERS: 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney  
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning 
Chris Hagelin, Senior Transportation Planner 
Kristin Hyser, Community Investment Program Manager 
Devin Billingsley, Senior Budget Analyst 
Lauren Holm, Associate Planner 
Chris Meschuk, Project Manager 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page 5



Affordable Housing Linkage Fee: 
• City Council generally supported the economic and market factors option 4, with three

options, set at levels of $10, $20 and $35 for office rates. Council eliminated options 1, 2 
and 3 from further consideration.   

• City Council also requested information be provided to explore size thresholds for
commercial structures of varying size. 

Parkland Excise Tax 
• City Council indicated support for suspending the parkland development excise tax, with

either re-allocation of the existing revenue to transportation or just suspension.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this summary and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

NEXT STEPS 

Staff will continue the discussion of credits and rate structure under matters from the City 
Manager on August 16, 2016.  The public hearing was rescheduled from July 19 to September 
20, 2016.  A public open house information session will be held on August 31, 2016.   

ATTACHMENT  

A: Summary of the June 14, 2016, study session on the Development-related Impact Fees and 
Excise Tax Update Study 

Motion to accept the summary (Attachment A) of the June 14, 2016 Study Session on 
Development-Related Impact Fees and Excise Taxes 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page 6



June 14, 2016 Study Session  
Development-Related Impact Fees and Excise Taxes 

PRESENT 
City Council: Mayor Suzanne Jones, Mayor Pro Tem Mary Young, Matthew Appelbaum, Aaron 
Brockett, Jan Burton, Lisa Morzel, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver and Bob Yates 

Staff: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager; David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney;  
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning; Chris Hagelin, Senior Transportation Planner; 
Kristin Hyser, Community Investment Program Manager; Devin Billingsley, Senior Budget 
Analyst; Lauren Holm, Associate Planner; Chris Meschuk, Project Manager 

Consultants: Julie Herlands, Dwayne Guthrie, Carson Bise, TischlerBise; David Doezema, 
Keyser Marston Associates 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this study session was to review options for each component of the development-
related impact fees and excise taxes project and to narrow the number of options to consider 
prior to completion of final reports and recommendations.  

This included:  

• Presenting different options for potential fee changes in each component (capital facility
impact fees, multimodal transportation, and affordable housing linkage fee).

• Providing a comparative analysis of fees in other communities.

• Providing example scenarios to understand the market context of potential fee changes.

• Identifying potential approaches to credits and rate structures for affordable housing and
transportation.

Additionally, staff was seeking council feedback on policy issues related to the parkland 
development excise tax and credits/fee waivers.  

SUMMARY OF COMMENTS BY DISCUSSION SECTION  
Chris Meschuk introduced the item, and reviewed the purpose of the study session item. He 
introduced the consultants and staff. Meschuk presented a brief overview of the process to-date 
of the Development-Related Impact Fees and Excise Taxes project, and the agenda for the study 
session item. He introduced Carson Bise, President of TischlerBise.   

Carson Bise reviewed the purpose, ground rules and methodologies of impact fees. He described 
how impact fees are a land use regulation with strict requirements and that the fees must be 
based on a clear need, proportionality, and benefit. Bise described the three methodologies for 
establishing impact fees.   

Attachment A - Summary of June 14, 2016 Study Session

Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page 7



Chris Meschuk then presented how impact fees fit in the context of the overall funding of the 
city, and the Capital Improvements Program.  Meschuk described the history of capital funding, 
and the role that impact fees and excise taxes play in implementing Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan policies. He then presented a sample capital project to demonstrate how 
impact fees are used to expand capacity of a facility to accommodate new growth, with that 
growth paying its share of the expanded capacity.   

Meschuk then presented the approach, criteria and assumptions in developing the options and 
evaluation of the options.  He described how the options will be presented, and that the purpose 
was to focus and narrow the options prior to final scenarios for setting fees are developed. For 
each component area, an initial staff recommendation was made, at the request of city council 
members.   

Affordable housing linkage fee 
Presentation summary 
Kristin Hyser introduced the component, and that four options have been developed for review 
based on the feedback from council and the technical working group.   

Kristin Hyser was joined by David Doezema, Principal with Keyser Marston Associates. Hyser 
and Doezema presented the four options, describing the approach, fee level, and what it would 
support. A summary of the evaluation of each option was presented, and the initial staff 
recommendation.   

The four options included fee levels reflecting the following housing goals and policy 
considerations: the city’s current affordable housing goals, the city’s middle income housing 
needs, maintenance of the current income diversity of the community, and market and economic 
factors. Each approach was evaluated in the context of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plans 
policies and potential economic impacts.  

Feedback/comments summary  
City Council requested staff continue analysis of establishing the Affordable Housing 
Commercial Linkage fee levels in the context of economic and market factors only (Option 4). 
This analysis will include scenarios considering current economic conditions and the impact of 
fee levels on development costs including construction costs, other fees and profits. City Council 
asked that that the scenarios apply a variety of fee levels in the amounts of $10, $20 and $35 to 
compare the financial impacts of each increment. City Council expanded their request to evaluate 
the possibility of applying varying fee levels based on size thresholds on commercial structures 
of varying size.  

Multimodal transportation 
Presentation summary 
Chris Hagelin introduced the component, and that three options have been developed for review 
based on the feedback from council and the technical working group.  Chris Hagelin was joined 
by Dwayne Guthrie, Principal with TischlerBise. Hagelin presented the three options, describing 
the approach, fee level, and what it would support. A summary of the evaluation of each option 
was presented. 

Attachment A - Summary of June 14, 2016 Study Session

Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page 8



Feedback/comments summary  
Council members asked staff to return with further analysis and refinement of Option C, the 
hybrid approach that adds a new Transportation Impact Fee to the current Transportation 
Development Excise Tax.  The additional analysis will include a recommended methodology to 
differentiate between projects that can be paid for with the tax or the fee based on impact fee 
legal guidelines.  

Capital facilities impact fees update 
Presentation summary  
Chris Meschuk introduced the component, skipping the presentation due to time constraints, and 
explained that only one option was developed for review based on the updated analysis of the 
existing fees.  Chris Meschuk was then joined by Devin Billingsley of the budget office and Julie 
Herlands, a Principal with TischlerBise, to address questions. 

Feedback/comments summary  
Council’s feedback on the capital facilities impact fees update centered around clarification of 
the approach that was taken in the study update. Present throughout the study was the use of 
incremental methodology to calculate the fees. This methodology focuses on maintaining current 
levels of service through incremental expansion rather than relying on visionary capital planning, 
or a plan-based approach, for future capital projects. A lack of capital funding for the non-growth 
related portions of capital projects constrains using a plan-based approach. The city simply is not 
planning to build infrastructure it cannot yet afford.  

It was also pointed out that while impact fees are set to increase 16% on residential and 20% on 
non-residential to support incremental expansion, these increases must be taken in context of the 
overall value and cost structure of  given project. Impact Fees are only charged on additions of 
square footage and represent a relatively small portion of a given project’s total costs. The costs 
are derived from an average number of people per unit (as expressed in square footage) and are 
only charged once over the full- life of the unit being developed. Some Council members did 
express concern about the overall fee burden that impact fees create and the apparent tenuous 
link to ongoing service levels of categories like Human Services, Parks and Recreation, and the 
Library.  

Council also inquired about Boulder’s apparently low municipal impact fee levels relative to 
other peer communities.  Carson Bise of TishlerBise explained that drawing comparisons to 
different communities is often difficult because of a variety of factors that underlay the fees and 
are difficult to parse out. 

Parkland Development Excise Tax 
Presentation summary 
Chris Meschuk presented the current development excise tax, which is allocated between 
parkland and transportation.  The 2014 Parks & Recreation master plan states that no additional 
land is anticipated to be needed to meet levels of service through 2030. However, the level of 
service is based on the 2010 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.  With the 2015 update 
underway, changes to land uses from this update may result in new residential areas, resulting in 

Attachment A - Summary of June 14, 2016 Study Session

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page 9



a need for additional parkland.  Meschuk presented three options for council review and 
discussion.  

Feedback/comments summary  
Council members generally supported suspending the parkland development excise tax. Some 
council members were interested in the tax being reallocated to Transportation, some supported 
suspension without reallocation.     

Transportation Rate Structure /Affordable Housing Credits 
The discussion of Transportation rate structure and potential credits and adjustment was not 
discussed due to time.  This issue will be discussed on August 30. 

Closing 
Chris Meschuk closed the meeting by reminding council of the process and describing the next 
steps to prepare for the Public Hearing.  Staff will be: 

• Developing up to six scenarios for setting fees using: three options for affordable
housing (office fees of $10, $20, and $35/sq. ft.); two options for transportation based on 
a hybrid impact fee/excise tax; and the incremental update for capital facilities.  

• Preparing a recommendation to suspend the tax with a possible re-allocation of the
development excise tax between transportation and parkland.  

• Rescheduling the public hearing to a date in August or September at the request of
council (scheduled for Sept. 20).   

Attachment A - Summary of June 14, 2016 Study Session

Agenda Item 3A     Page 6Packet Page 10



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion authorizing the city manager to enter into 
settlement agreements in excess of $10,000 arising out of a March 25, 2016 water main 
break on Hartford Drive.   

PRESENTERS  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director, Public Works 
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Fiscal Services 
Dave Bannon, Acting Risk Manager 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

At the March 15, 2016 council meeting, the city council directed staff to study the 
possibility of paying claims for damages caused by water main breaks, in situations 
where the city would not be legally obligated to pay for such damages.  Council’s interest 
in making these payments was the result of an incident on February 15, 2016, which 
resulted in damage to several homes in North Boulder.  A second incident occurred on 
March 25, 2016 on Hartford Drive in South Boulder.  Council considered a proposed 
ordinance at the May 3, 2016 council meeting.  At the August 2, 2016 council meeting, 
council decided not to adopt the ordinance, but instead to rely upon a city manager 
directive to address water main break claims.  In the interim, staff has been working to 
resolve the claims in compliance with council’s direction.  Staff, with the support of 
CCMSI, has reviewed the claims and determined appropriate settlement amounts.  On 
May 31, 2016, council approved settlement of three claims in excess of $10,000 arising 
from the Norwood Avenue water main break.  The purpose of this agenda item is to seek 
council approval of two claims in excess of $10,000 arising from the Hartford Drive 
water main break. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 1Packet Page 11



The city received eight claims arising out of the Hartford Drive water main break.  
The proposed settlement amounts for six claims would be less than $10,000 and do not 
require council approval.  These claims are already in the process of being paid.  The 
proposed payment amount for two claims exceeds $10,000 and therefore staff requests 
that council approve a motion authorizing the city attorney to settle those three claims for 
amounts in excess of $10,000.  Under this proposal, the total payments for settlement of 
claims arising out of the Hartford Drive water main break will be $58,301.72. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

SUGGESTED MOTION LANGUAGE

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to authorize the city manager to enter into agreements to settle claims filed by 
David and Ellen Mackey and Chris and Melani Dizon by payment from the city in 
amounts in excess of $10,000.   

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic:  Not applicable.
 Environmental:  Not applicable.
 Social:  The resolution of disputes is generally of social benefit and the resolution

of this dispute will free up city attorney time to work on other projects.

OTHER IMPACTS

 Fiscal-Budgetary:  Payment for the proposed settlement will be made from the
city’s Water Utility Fund.

 Staff Time:  No additional staff time will be necessary for these settlements.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

None. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

None. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 2Packet Page 12



BACKGROUND 

On March 25, 2016, a water main in Hartford Drive broke releasing water that 
forced sewage into adjacent homes.  Under Colorado law, a city is only liable for 
damages caused by water main breaks if the damage was the result of the city’s 
negligence.  City staff’s research found no evidence of any city negligence either before 
or after the break.  From a legal standpoint the city has no liability. 

Nevertheless, council directed staff to present a plan for payment of claims.  The 
following is a list of the categories of losses that council directed be compensated: 

 Basic remediation costs.
 Repair or replacement of common flooring, drywall, furnaces, boilers and water

heaters.
 No payment for extraordinary finishes, including but not limited to appliances,

cabinetry, bathrooms or upgraded tile flooring or carpeting.
 No payment for damage to furniture or other possessions.

Staff has examined the claims, sought additional documentation and established
settlement amounts.  The following chart shows the proposed settlement amounts. 

Claimant Address Settlement Offered 
Amanda March and Scott Lyttle 520 Hartford Drive $2,340 
Darren and Rebecca Payne 525 Hartford Drive $5,941.28 
Tim and Nicole DeBoom 550 Hartford Drive $7,778.14 
David and Ellen Mackey 565 Hartford Drive $13,814.13 
Ann Shipley 580 Hartford Drive $705.46. 
Ken Epstein 690 Hartford Drive $8,866.85 
Natalie Brown and Michael Shirts 730 Hartford Drive $5,277.05 
Chris and Melani Dizon 740 Hartford Drive $13,578.81 
Total $58,301.72 

Section 2-2-14(e) of the Boulder Revised Code provides for settlement of claims and 
lawsuits.  The relevant language is as follows: 

To the extent that appropriated funds are available for the purpose, the city 
attorney, with the city manager's approval, is authorized to settle any claim 
against the city or suit in which the city is a party defendant if no more 
than $10,000.00 is paid by the city for settlement of the claim or suit, 
whether denominated as attorneys' fees, damages or otherwise. In all other 
cases, approval by the city council is required. 

Acting pursuant to this section the city attorney, with the city manager’s approval has 
offered settlements to all of the claimants listed above.  The two offers for settlements in 
excess of $10,000 were offered contingent on city council approval. 

Agenda Item 3B     Page 3Packet Page 13



OPTIONS 

Council has the option of approving or rejecting the two proposed settlements that are in 
excess of $10,000.   

Agenda Item 3B     Page 4Packet Page 14



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  August 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Third reading and consideration of a motion to adopt an ordinance 
repealing Chapter 4-16, “Police Alarm Systems,” B.R.C. 1981, and replacing it with a 
new Chapter 4-16, “Police Alarm Systems,” to require alarm verification before initiating 
police response and setting forth related details. 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Greg Testa, Police Chief 
Carey Weinheimer, Deputy Chief  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
One of the recommendations in the Police Department’s Master Plan, approved by 
Council in 2013, was to implement changes to the department’s policy, to reduce the 
amount of time spent responding to false alarms.  For the two-year period from 2014 
through 2015, 99.79% of the intrusion alarms the police department responded to were 
false.  The police department supports the for-profit alarm industry by responding to 
these alarms, yet it receives no funding for providing this service.  A response to an alarm 
usually requires two officers.  Given that the vast majority of alarms are false, a large 
amount of officer time, in addition to dispatch time, could be spent on other duties and 
responsibilities. 

The police department has worked in collaboration with the alarm industry, and the non-
profit Security Industry Alarm Coalition (SIAC), to modify the city’s alarm ordinance in 
order to implement alarm permit fees and fines to offset the costs associated with 
responding to alarms, with the ultimate goal of reducing false alarms.  The alarm industry 
is in favor of annual alarm permit fees and fines for repeated false alarms.  

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page 15



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: Staff requests council consideration of this matter and 
action in the form of the following motion:  Motion to adopt ordinance repealing Chapter 
4-16, “Police Alarm Systems,” B.R.C. 1981, and replace it with a new Chapter 4-16, 
“Police Alarm Systems,” to require alarm verification before initiating police response 
and setting forth related details. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic: The proposed changes will not negatively impact city revenues.
Reducing false alarms will free up officer time to respond more effectively to
other crime and community matters.

 Environmental:  A 50% reduction in false alarms results in over 1,000 fewer calls
that officers respond to, which will result in a small decrease in the number of
miles driven annually.

 Social:  Reducing calls for service due to false alarms frees officers to focus on
crime and disorder issues within the community and allows officers more time to
devote to community policing initiatives.

OTHER IMPACTS  

 Fiscal:  The proposed changes to the ordinance will not impact the current budget.
Alarm permit fees and fines may produce net revenue.  Income from permit fees
and fines will be used to off-set the costs of a third party administrator that will
handle the administrative tasks associated with processing permits and collecting
fines.

 Staff time:  Reducing false alarms will free up officer time to respond more
effectively to other crime and community matters.

BACKGROUND 
During the two-year period from 2014 through 2015, the police department responded to 
4,915 alarms.  Only 10 alarms were determined to be legitimate, resulting in a false alarm 
rate of 99.79%.  The police department’s master plan identified the need to address the 
large amount of personnel time and resources wasted responding to false alarms.  The 
police department worked with the local alarm business community, as well as the 
national non-profit Security Industry Alarm Coalition (SIAC) to address the problem. 
The alarm companies recommended instituting annual alarm permit fees, as a method of 
insuring alarms are installed and maintained properly. They also suggested implementing 
fines for repeated false alarms and eventual suspension of police response to chronic 
alarms.   

The police department collaborated with SIAC to draft changes to the current city 
ordinance to include requirements for permit fees and fines. Police department 
representatives have consulted with Downtown Boulder Incorporated (DBI) and the 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page 16



Boulder Chamber of Commerce, as a large percentage of false alarms are generated by 
commercial alarm users.  Permit fees will be set by the city manager so they can be 
changed without revising the ordinance.  A $25.00 fee is charged to reinstate a suspended 
alarm permit.  These amounts are based on SIAC, industry recommendations and alarm 
policies throughout the country.  A discount may be considered for senior citizens or 
others. 

Below is the proposed civil penalty fine schedule for activation of false alarms within a 
twelve month period: 

For the second violation, $100; 
For the third violation, $200; 
For the fourth violation, $300; and 
For the fifth and subsequent violation $450. 

Other violations of this Chapter, $100. 

The city manager may offer an alarm user awareness class which will provide 
information about the issues created by false alarms and provide instructions on how they 
can be reduced.  At the city’s discretion, an alarm user may have the option of attending a 
class in lieu of paying one assessed fine not to exceed $100 in a twelve (12) month 
period. The goal of the ordinance change is to reduce false alarms through education, 
progressive fines and suspension of response.  The police department will not suspend 
response to panic or robbery alarms.  The ordinance does not affect fire, carbon 
monoxide or medical alarms.   

The differences between the current ordinance and the proposed ordinance include: 
Alarm users will be liable for civil penalties if they have more than one false alarm in a 
twelve month period.  The penalties increase for each false alarm.  The current ordinance 
only imposes penalties for intentional false alarms.  

 Alarm companies will be required to collect contact information from alarm user to
verify alarms;

 Alarm companies will be required to use enhanced call verification to verify the need
for police response before reporting the alarm to the police;

 There will be civil penalties; and,

 Police response will be suspended for nonpayment of penalties, failure to have a
current permit or for five false alarms in a twelve month period.

ANALYSIS 
Cities that have implemented fines for repeated false alarms, and suspension of response 
to chronic false alarms, have experienced 20-70% reductions in false alarms over time. 
Cheyenne, Wyoming instituted fines in 2013 and experienced a 40% reduction in false 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page 17



alarms within the first year.  Marietta, Georgia observed a 70% reduction in false alarms 
within four years of instituting a progressive fine schedule. 

A major challenge to implementing a fee and fine approach is the administrative burden 
of issuing permits and collecting fines.  The police department does not have staff to 
administer such a program.  Therefore, the department will use the revenue from fees and 
fines to hire a third party administrator to handle the administrative functions.  This is a 
common approach and best practice in cities throughout the country.  

The police department requests that the ordinance become effective March 1, 2017.  
Once council approves the ordinance, the department will need approximately six months 
to issue an RFP and secure a third party administrator.   

ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A – Proposed Revised Ordinance. 
Attachment B – Proposed Revised Ordinance with changes. 
Attachment C – Current Ordinance. 
Attachment D – DBI Letter of Support. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page 18



K:\POAD\0-8123-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8123 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING CHAPTER 4-16 B.R.C. 1981, 
“POLICE ALARM SYSTEMS” AND REPLACING IT WITH A 
NEW CHAPTER 4-16 B.R.C. 1981 “POLICE ALARM 
SYSTEMS” TO REQUIRE ALARM VERIFICATION BEFORE 
INITIATING POLICE RESPONSE AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Chapter 4-16, B.R.C. 1981, is repealed and replaced by a new Chapter 4-16, to 
read:  Police Alarm Systems. 

4-16-1. - Legislative Intent. 

The purpose of this chapter is to reduce the frequency of false alarms, their associated costs 
to the city, and to establish reasonable expectations of alarm users and alarm businesses. 

4-16-2. - Definitions. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context 
clearly indicates otherwise: 

“Alarm Administrator” means a person and/or entity designated by the city manager to administer, 
control and review false alarm reduction efforts and administer the provisions of this ordinance.  

“Alarm Company” means a person engaged in selling, leasing, installing, servicing or monitoring 
alarm systems.  

“Alarm Location” means the property which is monitored by an alarm system. 

“Alarm Permit” means a permit issued by the city, allowing the operation of an alarm system 
within the city.  

“Alarm Signal” means any activation generated by an alarm system, to which the police are 
requested to respond. 

“Alarm System” means any single device or assembly of equipment designed to signal the 
occurrence of an illegal or unauthorized entry or other illegal activity requiring immediate attention 
and to which the police are requested to respond, but does not include motor vehicle or boat alarms, 
fire alarms, carbon monoxide alarms, domestic violence alarms, or alarms designed to elicit a 
medical response.  

Attachment A - Proposed Revised Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page 19



K:\POAD\0-8123-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

“Alarm User” means any person any other entity owning, leasing or operating an alarm system, or 
on whose property an alarm system is maintained for the protection of such property.  

“Cancel, Cancelled or Cancellation” means the process where police response is terminated to an 
alarm site before police personnel arrive at the alarm location.   

“Conversion” means the transaction or process by which one alarm company begins the servicing 
or monitoring of a previously unmonitored alarm system or an alarm system that was previously 
serviced or monitored by another alarm company.  

 “Dual-Activation Device” means a device which requires that two buttons be depressed together 
to activate an alarm signal for a robbery in progress.  

“False Alarm” means the activation of an alarm system when, upon inspection by the city, evidence 
indicates that no unauthorized entry, robbery, or other such crime was committed or attempted in 
or at the alarm location which would have activated a properly functioning alarm system. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a false alarm shall neither include an alarm activated by unusually 
violent conditions of nature nor an alarm which is cancelled before police personnel respond to 
the alarm location. Multiple alarms caused by a single technical malfunction in single alarm system 
for a period up to 12 hours shall constitute only one false alarm. Each 12-hour period shall 
constitute a new violation. 

“Panic Alarm” means an audible alarm signal generated by the manual activation of a device 
intended to signal a life-threatening or emergency situation, requiring an officer’s response. 

“Permit Year” means a 12-month period beginning on the day and month on which an alarm permit 
is issued.  

“Responsible Party” means a person accountable for appearing at the alarm location upon request, 
who has access to the alarm location and the code to the alarm system.  

“Robbery Alarm” means a silent alarm signal generated by the manual activation of a device 
intended to signal a robbery in progress.   

“Runaway Alarm” means an alarm system that produces repeated alarm signals that do not appear 
to be caused by separate human action.  

“Verify” means an attempt by the alarm company to contact the alarm location or alarm user by 
telephone or other electronic means, whether or not actual contact with a person is made, to attempt 
to determine whether an alarm signal is valid, before requesting police dispatch.   

4-16-3. - Alarm Permit Required. 

(a) No alarm user shall use an alarm system, whether the system is monitored or not, 
without first obtaining a permit for such alarm system from the city manager.  Each 
alarm permit shall be assigned a unique permit number and shall be specific to the 
alarm location. No alarm user shall use the alarm system in a manner that violates an 
approved alarm permit. 

Attachment A - Proposed Revised Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page 20



K:\POAD\0-8123-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(b) Upon transfer of ownership of the property at which an alarm system is maintained, the 
new owner shall either file an application for an alarm permit within thirty (30) days of 
obtaining possession of the property or cease operating the alarm system. 

(c) Any alarm system which was installed before the effective date of this ordinance must 
be registered by the alarm user within ninety (90) days after that date. 

4-16-4. - Duties of the Alarm User. 

No alarm user shall fail to: 

(a) Maintain the alarm system and the premises protected by the alarm in a manner that 
will not generate false alarms;  

(b) Provide a responsible party to respond to the alarm location within 30 minutes when 
notified by the city; 

(c) Use reasonable care to ensure that an alarm is only activated for the occurrence of an 
event needing police response; 

(d) Inform the alarm administrator of changes in contact information for responsible parties 
or changes in ownership of the business or residence where the alarm system is located; 
and, 

(e) Use reasonable care to prevent runaway alarms. 

4-16-5. - Duties of the Alarm Company. 

(a) No alarm company shall fail to provide a list of existing names and addresses of alarm 
users in the city to the alarm administrator within thirty (30) days after being notified 
in writing from the alarm administrator. 

(b) No alarm company that installs an alarm system on premises located within the city 
shall fail to notify the alarm administrator within ten (10) days after the date of 
installation that an alarm system has been installed and provide the name and address 
of the alarm user. 

(c) No alarm company that purchases any alarm system account from another person shall 
fail to notify the alarm administrator of such purchase and shall provide the alarm 
administrator a complete list of the acquired customers within thirty (30) days of 
purchase.  This information shall include the alarm user name; alarm site address; and 
alarm permit number. 

(d) No alarm company shall fail to provide the alarm administrator with a complete list of 
active customer names; the alarm locations; and the alarm permit numbers on or before 
the first of January of each year. 

(e) No alarm company shall fail to: 

Attachment A - Proposed Revised Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page 21



K:\POAD\0-8123-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(1) Upon request by the city, provide the name, address, and telephone number of an 
alarm user or a designee; and 

(2) Upon the activation of an alarm, contact a responsible party to respond to the 
alarm premises. 

(f) No alarm company shall fail to provide instructions explaining the proper operation of 
the alarm system, including prevention of false alarms, to the alarm user prior to 
activation of an alarm system. 

(g) No alarm company shall fail to provide the alarm user with information on how to 
obtain an alarm permit prior to the installation of the alarm system. 

(h) Upon an activation of an alarm, no alarm company performing alarm monitoring 
services shall fail to: 

(1) Utilize enhanced call verification to verify the need for police response by making 
at least two attempts to reach a responsible party by calling at least two different 
telephone numbers to determine whether an alarm signal is valid before 
requesting police response. Call verification is not required for a panic alarm; 
robbery alarm; or a crime-in-progress alarm which has been verified by video or 
audible means. 

(2) Provide alarm permit number, responsible party name and phone number to the 
city manager or designee. 

(3) Communicate any and all available information about the location and nature of 
the alarm. 

(4) Communicate a cancellation to the police department as soon as possible 
following a determination that police response is unnecessary. 

(5) Keep a record of the date and time of each notification and activation of an alarm 
system is received and the date, time and method by which the responsible party 
was notified.  Such records shall be retained for 12 months and be released to the 
city manager upon request. If released to the city manager, the record shall be 
considered a trade secret of the alarm company and not a public record. 

(i) No alarm salesperson, alarm service person or alarm installer shall activate an alarm 
signal that results in a false alarm. 

(j) No alarm installation companies shall fail to install only dual-activation devices for 
robbery alarm devices on all new and upgraded alarms. 

4-16-6. - Enforcement Provisions. 

If the city manager finds a violation of any provision of this chapter, the manager, after 
notice and an opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-

Attachment A - Proposed Revised Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page 22



K:\POAD\0-8123-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

Judicial Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981, the city manager may impose a civil penalty according to the 
following schedule: 

(a) Activation of a false alarm within a twelve month period: 

For the second violation, $100; 
For the third violation, $200; 
For the fourth violation, $300; and 
For the fifth and subsequent violation $450. 

(b) Other violations of this Chapter, $100. 

(c) The city manager may offer an alarm user awareness class.  If offered, the class will 
provide information to alarm users about the problems created by false alarms and 
provide instruction on how to help reduce false alarms. In the city’s discretion, an alarm 
user may be provided the option of attending a class in lieu of paying one assessed fine, 
not to exceed $100.00 in one twelve (12) month period. 

(d) The city manager’s authority under this section is in addition to any other authority the 
city has to enforce this chapter, including but not limited to Section 5-2-4, “General 
Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981, and election of one remedy by the manager shall not preclude 
any other remedy. 

4-16-7. - Suspension of Alarm Permit and Police Response. 

(a) An alarm permit and police response to alarms, excluding robbery and panic alarms, 
may be suspended after a notice of suspension is sent by either first class mail or email 
to the alarm user’s and alarm company’s addresses located on the permit stating the 
amount due and the opportunity for a hearing if: 

(1) The alarm user fails to make payment of any civil penalty assessed under this 
ordinance within 30 (thirty) days from the date of the invoice; or 

(2) The alarm user fails to have a current permit; or 

(3) An alarm site has accumulated five (5) false alarm responses in a twelve (12) 
month period. 

(b) Police response to an alarm site will be reinstated as soon as practical, after receiving 
notice of reinstatement from the alarm administrator. 

(c) If an alarm permit is reinstated after suspension, the city may again suspend the alarm 
permit if two false alarms occur within 60 (sixty) days after the reinstatement date. 

(d) Police response will be reinstated upon submittal of the following to the alarm 
administrator: 

(1) Payment of reinstatement fee; 

Attachment A - Proposed Revised Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 9Packet Page 23



K:\POAD\0-8123-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(2) A written statement describing how false alarms will be prevented; and 

(3) A written statement from an alarm company that the alarm has been inspected or 
repaired. 

Section 2.  4-20-16, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

4-20-8. - Police Alarm Permit Fees. 

(a) An applicant for an alarm permit shall pay an annual fee to be determined by the city 
manager. 

(b) An alarm user shall pay a $25 reinstatement fee to reinstate a suspended alarm permit. 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 21st day of June, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Revised Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 10Packet Page 24



K:\POAD\0-8123-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 19th day of July, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Revised Ordinance

Agenda Item 3C     Page 11Packet Page 25



K:\POAD\0-8123-2nd Reading (proposed changes)-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8123 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING CHAPTER 4-16 B.R.C. 1981, 
“POLICE ALARM SYSTEMS” AND REPLACING IT WITH A 
NEW CHAPTER 4-16 B.R.C. 1981 “POLICE ALARM 
SYSTEMS” TO REQUIRE ALARM 
CONFIRMATIONVERIFICATION BEFORE INITIATING 
POLICE RESPONSE AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Chapter 4-16, B.R.C. 1981, is repealed and replaced by a new Chapter 4-16, to 
read:  Police Alarm Systems. 

4-16-1. - Legislative Intent. 

The purpose of this chapter is to reduce the frequency of false alarms, their associated costs 
to the city, and to establish reasonable expectations of alarm users and alarm businesses.   

4-16-2. - Definitions. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context 
clearly indicates otherwise: 

“Alarm Administrator” means a person and/or entity designated by the city manager to administer, 
control and review false alarm reduction efforts and administer the provisions of this ordinance.  

“Alarm Company” means a person engaged in selling, leasing, installing, servicing or monitoring 
alarm systems.  

“Alarm Location” means the property which is monitored by an alarm system. 

“Alarm Permit” means a permit issued by the city, allowing the operation of an alarm system 
within the city.  

“Alarm Signal” means any activation generated by an alarm system, to which the police are 
requested to respond. 

“Alarm System” means any single device or assembly of equipment designed to signal the 
occurrence of an illegal or unauthorized entry or other illegal activity requiring immediate attention 
and to which the police are requested to respond, but does not include motor vehicle or boat alarms, 

Attachment B - Proposed Revised Ordinance with changes.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 12Packet Page 26



K:\POAD\0-8123-2nd Reading (proposed changes)-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

fire alarms, carbon monoxide alarms, domestic violence alarms, or alarms designed to elicit a 
medical response.  

“Alarm User” means any person any other entity owning, leasing or operating an alarm system, or 
on whose property an alarm system is maintained for the protection of such property.  

“Cancel, Cancelled or Cancellation” means the process where police response is terminated to an 
alarm site before police personnel arrive at the alarm location.   

“Conversion” means the transaction or process by which one alarm company begins the servicing 
or monitoring of a previously unmonitored alarm system or an alarm system that was previously 
serviced or monitored by another alarm company.  

 “Dual-Activation Device” means a device which requires that two buttons be depressed together 
to activate an alarm signal for a robbery in progress.  

“False Alarm” means the activation of an alarm system through mechanical or electronic failure, 
malfunction, improper installation, or the negligence of the alarm user, his/her employees or 
agents, and signals activated to summon police personnel, unless the police response is cancelled 
by the user’s alarm company before police personnel arrive at the alarm location. An alarm is false 
within the meaning of this article when, upon inspection by the city, evidence indicates that no 
unauthorized entry, robbery, or other such crime was committed or attempted in or at the alarm 
location which would have activated a properly functioning alarm system. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, a false alarm shall neither include an alarm activated by unusually violent conditions of 
nature nor an alarm which is cancelled before police personnel respond to the alarm location. 
Multiple alarms caused by a single technical malfunction in single alarm system for a period up to 
12 hours shall constitute only one false alarm. Each 12-hour period shall constitute a new violation. 

“Panic Alarm” means an audible alarm signal generated by the manual activation of a device 
intended to signal a life-threatening or emergency situation, requiring an officer’s response. 

“Permit Year” means a 12-month period beginning on the day and month on which an alarm permit 
is issued.  

“Responsible Party” means a person accountable for appearing at the alarm location upon request, 
who has access to the alarm location and the code to the alarm system.  

“Robbery Alarm” means a silent alarm signal generated by the manual activation of a device 
intended to signal a robbery in progress.   

“Runaway Alarm” means an alarm system that produces repeated alarm signals that do not appear 
to be caused by separate human action.  

“Verify” means an attempt by the alarm company to contact the alarm location or alarm user by 
telephone or other electronic means, whether or not actual contact with a person is made, to attempt 
to determine whether an alarm signal is valid, before requesting police dispatch.   

4-16-3. - Alarm Permit Required. 

Attachment B - Proposed Revised Ordinance with changes.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 13Packet Page 27



K:\POAD\0-8123-2nd Reading (proposed changes)-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(a) No alarm user shall use an alarm system, whether the system is monitored or not, 
without first obtaining a permit for such alarm system from the city manager.  Each 
alarm permit shall be assigned a unique permit number and shall be specific to the 
alarm location. No alarm user shall use the alarm system in a manner that violates an 
approved alarm permit. 

(b) Upon transfer of ownership of the property at which an alarm system is maintained, the 
new owner shall either file an application for an alarm permit within thirty (30) days of 
obtaining possession of the property or cease operating the alarm system. 

(c) Any alarm system which was installed before the effective date of this ordinance must 
be registered by the alarm user within ninety (90) days after that date. 

4-16-4. - Duties of the Alarm User. 

No alarm user shall fail to: 

(a) Prevent false alarms; 

(a)(b) Maintain the alarm system and the premises protected by the alarm in a manner that 
will not generate false alarms;  

(b)(c) Provide a responsible party to respond to the alarm location within 30 minutes when 
notified by the city; 

(c)(d) Use reasonable care to ensure that an alarm is only activated for the occurrence of an 
event needing police response; 

(d)(e) Inform the alarm administrator of changes in contact information for responsible parties 
or changes in ownership of the business or residence where the alarm system is located; 
and, 

(e)(f) Use reasonable care to prevent runaway alarms. 

4-16-5. - Duties of the Alarm Company. 

(a) No alarm company shall fail to provide a list of existing names and addresses of alarm 
users in the city to the alarm administrator within thirty (30) days after being notified 
in writing from the alarm administrator. 

(b) No alarm company that installs an alarm system on premises located within the city 
shall fail to notify the alarm administrator within ten (10) days after the date of 
installation that an alarm system has been installed and provide the name and address 
of the alarm user. 

(c) No alarm company that purchases any alarm system account from another person shall 
fail to notify the alarm administrator of such purchase and shall provide the alarm 
administrator a complete list of the acquired customers within thirty (30) days of 

Attachment B - Proposed Revised Ordinance with changes.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 14Packet Page 28



K:\POAD\0-8123-2nd Reading (proposed changes)-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

purchase.  This information shall include the alarm user name; alarm site address; and 
alarm permit number. 

(d) No alarm company shall fail to provide the alarm administrator with a complete list of 
active customer names; the alarm locations; and the alarm permit numbers on or before 
the first of January of each year. 

(e) No alarm company shall fail to: 

(1) Upon request by the city, provide the name, address, and telephone number of an 
alarm user or a designee; and 

(2) Upon the activation of an alarm, contact a responsible party to respond to the 
alarm premises. 

(f) No alarm company shall fail to provide instructions explaining the proper operation of 
the alarm system, including prevention of false alarms, to the alarm user prior to 
activation of an alarm system. 

(g) No alarm company shall fail to provide the alarm user with information on how to 
obtain an alarm permit prior to the installation of the alarm system. 

(h) Upon an activation of an alarm, no alarm company performing alarm monitoring 
services shall fail to: 

(1) Utilize enhanced call confirmationverification to verify the need for police 
response by making at least two attempts to reach a responsible party by calling 
at least two different telephone numbers to determine whether an alarm signal is 
valid before requesting police response. Call confirmationverification is not 
required for a panic alarm; robbery alarm; or a crime-in-progress alarm which has 
been verified by video or audible means. 

(2) Provide alarm permit number, responsible party name and phone number to the 
city manager or designee. 

(3) Communicate any and all available information about the location and nature of 
the alarm. 

(4) Communicate a cancellation to the police department as soon as possible 
following a determination that police response is unnecessary. 

(5) Keep a record of the date and time of each notification and activation of an alarm 
system is received and the date, time and method by which the responsible party 
was notified.  Such records shall be retained for 12 months and be released to the 
city manager upon request. If released to the city manager, the record shall be 
considered a trade secret of the alarm company and not a public record. 

Attachment B - Proposed Revised Ordinance with changes.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 15Packet Page 29



K:\POAD\0-8123-2nd Reading (proposed changes)-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(i) No alarm salesperson, alarm service person or alarm installer shall activate an alarm 
signal that results in a false alarm. 

(j) No alarm installation companies shall fail to install only dual-activation devices for 
robbery alarm devices on all new and upgraded alarms. 

4-16-6. - Enforcement Provisions. 

If the city manager finds a violation of any provision of this chapter, the manager, after 
notice and an opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3, “Quasi-
Judicial Hearings,” B.R.C. 1981, the city manager may impose a civil penalty according to the 
following schedule: 

(a) Activation of a false alarm within a twelve month period: 

For the second violation, $100; 
For the third violation, $200; 
For the fourth violation, $300; and 
For the fifth and subsequent violation $450. 

(b) Other violations of this Chapter, $100. 

(c) The city manager may offer an alarm user awareness class.  If offered, the class will 
provide information to alarm users about the problems created by false alarms and 
provide instruction on how to help reduce false alarms. In the city’s discretion, an alarm 
user may be provided the option of attending a class in lieu of paying one assessed fine, 
not to exceed $100.00 in one twelve (12) month period. 

(d) The city manager’s authority under this section is in addition to any other authority the 
city has to enforce this chapter, including but not limited to Section 5-2-4, “General 
Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981, and election of one remedy by the manager shall not preclude 
any other remedy. 

4-16-7. - Suspension of Alarm Permit and Police Response. 

(a) An alarm permit and police response to alarms, excluding robbery and panic alarms, 
may be suspended after a notice of suspension is sent by either first class mail or email 
to the alarm user’s and alarm company’s addresses located on the permit stating the 
amount due and the opportunity for a hearing if: 

(1) The alarm user fails to make payment of any civil penalty assessed under this 
ordinance within 30 (thirty) days from the date of the invoice; or 

(2) The alarm user fails to have a current permit; or 

(3) An alarm site has accumulated five (5) false alarm responses in a twelve (12) 
month period. 

Attachment B - Proposed Revised Ordinance with changes.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 16Packet Page 30



K:\POAD\0-8123-2nd Reading (proposed changes)-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(b) Police response to an alarm site will be reinstated as soon as practical, after receiving 
notice of reinstatement from the alarm administrator. 

(c) If an alarm permit is reinstated after suspension, the city may again suspend the alarm 
permit if two false alarms occur within 60 (sixty) days after the reinstatement date. 

(d) Police response will be reinstated upon submittal of the following to the alarm 
administrator: 

(1) Payment of reinstatement fee; 

(2) A written statement describing how false alarms will be prevented; and 

(3) A written statement from an alarm company that the alarm has been inspected or 
repaired. 

Section 2.  4-20-16, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

4-20-8. - Police Alarm Permit Fees. 

(a) An applicant for an alarm permit shall pay an annual fee to be determined by the city 
manager. 

(b) An alarm user shall pay a $25 reinstatement fee to reinstate a suspended alarm permit. 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment B - Proposed Revised Ordinance with changes.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 17Packet Page 31



K:\POAD\0-8123-2nd Reading (proposed changes)-2462.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 21st day of June, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

AMENDED AND READ ON SECOND READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 19th day of July, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _________, 20__. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment B - Proposed Revised Ordinance with changes.

Agenda Item 3C     Page 18Packet Page 32



Attachment C – Current Ordinance 

Page 1 

Chapter 16 ‐ Police Alarm Systems[30] 

Footnotes:  

‐‐‐ (30) ‐‐‐  

Adopted by Ordinance No. 4760. Amended by Ordinance No. 7312. 

4‐16‐1. ‐ Legislative Intent. 

The purpose of this chapter is to reduce the frequency of false alarms and to provide the police 
department with alarm company contact information by establishing standards and controls for various 
types of alarm devices.  

4‐16‐2. ‐ Definitions. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context clearly 
indicates otherwise:  

Alarm means any activation of a police alarm device.  

Alarm business or burglar alarm business means a person in the business of installing, servicing, or 
monitoring police alarm devices at remote alarm sites owned by other persons.  

Audible alarm means any police alarm device designed to produce an audible signal at the property 
where it is installed.  

Police alarm device means any device that is designed or used to signal the occurrence of a 
burglary, robbery or other criminal offense. This term does not include an alarm affixed to an automobile.  

4‐16‐3. ‐ Alarm Business Registration Required. 

(a) No person shall conduct an alarm business within the city without first registering the business with 
the city manager on forms provided by the manager. These forms may require the name and 
address of the alarm business, together with the telephone numbers which the manager may use to 
contact the business to notify it of an alarm malfunction, and to contact responsible parties if 
response to the location of the alarm is required.  

(b) No fee shall be charged for a registration issued under this chapter. 

4‐16‐4. ‐ Length of Audible Signal. 

Every audible alarm shall incorporate a mechanism that will cause the audible signal to terminate 
automatically within ten minutes of the time it is activated.  

4‐16‐5. ‐ Intentional False Alarms Unlawful. 

No person shall intentionally cause the transmission or report the activation of an alarm such person 
knows to be false.  

4‐16‐6. ‐ Responsibilities of a Police Alarm Owner. 

No police alarm owner or user shall fail to:  

(a) Inspect, maintain and repair a police alarm device to insure its proper operation. 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 19Packet Page 33



Attachment C – Current Ordinance 

Page 2 

(b) Educate and train all employees and other persons who may in the course of their activities be in a 
position to accidentally activate a police alarm device.  

(c) Assure that a responsible person responds to every activation of a police alarm device within twenty 
minutes of being requested to respond by the city's police communications center.  

4‐16‐7. ‐ Right of Inspection. 

The city manager may inspect any police alarm device at any time to determine whether it is being 
used in conformity with the provisions of this chapter.  

Agenda Item 3C     Page 20Packet Page 34



Attachment D – DBI Letter of Support 

June 14, 2016 

Boulder City Council  
1777 Broadway 
Boulder, CO 80302 

Dear Council Members,  

The board of Downtown Boulder, Inc. supports the proposed ordinance to implement annual permit fees 
for commercial alarm systems and assess fines for repeated false alarms. The time and effort required to 
respond to alarms is substantial and is wasted when those alarms are false.  

Of the nearly 5,000 alarms that required police response during the two most recent calendar years, 
99.79% were false. This represents thousands of hours of officers’ time that could have been used far 
more productively towards protecting our community.  

Most false alarms are preventable and occur due to poor training and operator errors. So it makes perfect 
sense to create an incentive for business owners and employees to be careful and take an extra minute to 
ensure their alarms are set properly.  

The result will be a more efficient and productive police force and a safer community. 

Sincerely,  

Sean Maher Richard Foy 
CEO, Downtown Boulder, Inc.  Chair, DBI Board of Directors 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 21Packet Page 35



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Second reading and consideration of motion to adopt and order 
published by title only, ordinance 8130 submitting to the registered electors of the City 
of Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, 
November 8, 2016, the question of authorizing the city council to impose an excise tax 
of two cents per ounce on the distribution of drinks with added sugar, and sweeteners 
used to produce such drinks, and if the measure passes adding to the Boulder Revised 
Code a new chapter 3-16, “Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax,” 
B.R.C. 1981, and setting forth related details. 

PRESENTERS 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On July 19, 2016 a council committee of the whole accepted the Certificate of 
Sufficiency produced by the city clerk for an initiative to consider placing a sugar-
sweetened beverage tax on the November 8, 2016 ballot.  The council committee voted 
unanimously to proceed with considering an appropriate ordinance.  On August 2, 2016, 
council passed ordinance 8130 on first reading.  This agenda item seeks consideration of 
ordinance 8130 on second reading.  The effect of adopting this ordinance will be to place 
before the voters the question whether to adopt a two cent per ounce tax on distributors of 
sugar-sweetened beverages.  The proposed ordinance also would add a new chapter 3-16 
to the Boulder Revised Code if the tax ballot measure passes.  The proposed ordinance is 
in Attachment A.   

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page 36



Suggested Motion Language: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of one of the 
two following motions: 

Second reading and consideration of motion to adopt and order published by title only, 
an ordinance 8130, as set forth in Attachment A submitting to the electors of the City 
of Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, 
November 8, 2016, the question of authorizing the city council to impose an excise tax 
of two cents per ounce on the distribution of drinks with added sugar, and sweeteners 
used to produce such drinks, exempting: (1) sweeteners sold separately to the 
consumer at a grocery store; (2) milk products; (3) baby formula; (4) alcohol; and (5) 
drinks taken for medical reasons, taxing the first distributor on any chain of 
distribution; and requiring the city to publish a report detailing revenue collected and 
the type and amount of expenditures made as a result of the tax; giving approval for 
the collection, retention and expenditure of the full tax proceeds and any related 
earnings, notwithstanding any state revenue or expenditure limitation; and setting forth 
the effective date, ballot title, adding a new chapter 3-16, “Sugar-Sweetened Beverage 
Product Distribution Tax,” B.R.C. 1981 and setting forth related details.  

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic – A new excise tax would create an incremental economic impact equal
to the amount of the tax increase approved by the voters. It is expected that the tax
would be passed on to consumers.  The new revenue collected would provide
increased funds for various health related activities.

 Environmental – It is possible that the increased cost could reduce the sales of
sugar-sweetened beverages with an associated reduction of cans and bottles into
the waste and recycling streams.

 Social – Proponents assert that the measure will have significant health and social
impacts.

OTHER IMPACTS

 Fiscal – The measure should be revenue neutral to the city.  Any administrative
expenses are to be covered out of the tax revenue.  The tax is dedicated to new
programs.  No funds can be used for programs not described in the proposed
ordinance.

 Staff time – Staff time is limited principally to the city attorney’s office.  Work on
this matter has not affected other work.  If passed, implementation of the tax
measure will require add significantly to the work plan for the finance department
and the city attorney’s office.

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page 37



PUBLIC FEEDBACK

A council committee of the whole held a public hearing at the July 19, 2016 city council 
meeting.  Several people participated in the public hearings and provided input on the 
proposed ballot measure.  Staff met with two members of the initiative committee, the 
campaign manager, their attorney and other supporters on Monday, July 25, 2016.  
Council held a second public hearing on August 2, 2016.  Members of the public 
testified.     

BACKGROUND 

The petition committee for a new tax on sugar-sweetened beverage products submitted its 
completed petition on June 27, 2016.  On July 7, 2016, the city clerk, after examining 
9,417 signatures, determined that there were sufficient valid signatures to meet the 4,650 
signature requirement.  The city clerk and her staff reviewed all of the petitions.  The city 
clerk found 2,220 signatures not valid.  The city clerk provided the council committee 
with a Certificate of Sufficiency.  Under the Boulder Home Rule Charter, the city clerk 
was required to transmit the Certificate of Sufficiency to the city council at its next 
regular meeting.  The city council is required to form a council committee to hold a 
public hearing within 60 days and make a recommendation to the council.  A public 
hearing on this agenda item was noticed and part of the July 19 agenda.  At the July 19 
meeting, council recessed into a committee of the whole and held the required public 
hearing.  The committee recommended unanimously to place the proposed measure on 
the November 8, 2016 ballot.  At the July 19, 2016 council meeting, council considered 
two options.  One option, which was recommended by staff through which the council 
would adopt the measure and place the required TABOR measure on the ballot.  The 
second option would have place the measure itself before the voters for approval.  
Council chose the first option.  Thus, proposed tax and related ordinance are legislative 
acts of the council.  The ordinance is not an initiated or “people’s” ordinance.   

PROPOSED ORDINANCE 

The proposed ordinance in Attachment A seeks voter approval of the proposed tax.  
Attachment A would add a new Chapter 3-16 to the Boulder Revised Code if the tax 
passes.  Attachment A tracks the city’s normal practice for submitting taxes to the voters 
and is the option selected by council at the August 2 meeting.   

PROTEST FILED 

A protest was filed on August 8, 2016, against the petitions asserting that the petition 
committee did not follow the proper procedures for this measure to be on the ballot.  The 
hearing on the protest must be set 5-10 days after the clerk sends the notice of the protest 
to the petitioner committee.  The hearing is set for the morning of August 18.  The 
deadline for filing protests to this initiative was August 8, so this is the only protest on 
this initiative. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page 38



The protest hearing is before the city clerk.  If either the protestors or the petitioner’s 
committee desires, the decision of the clerk may be appealed to the Boulder District 
Court.  The deadline for council to certify ballot measures to the ballot is September 9, 
2016.   

The protest filed and related documents can be found at: 

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/136497/Electronic.aspx 

ATTACHMENT

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page 39

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/136497/Electronic.aspx


K:\CCCO\o-8030 2nd-2463.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8130 

(Sugar Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax) 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORS OF THE 
CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL MUNICIPAL 
COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, 
NOVEMBER 8, 2016, THE QUESTION OF AUTHORIZING 
THE CITY COUNCIL TO IMPOSE AN EXCISE TAX OF 2 
CENTS PER OUNCE ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF DRINKS 
WITH ADDED SUGAR, AND SWEETENERS USED TO 
PRODUCE SUCH DRINKS, EXEMPTING: (1) SWEETENERS 
SOLD SEPARATELY TO THE CONSUMER AT A GROCERY 
STORE; (2) MILK PRODUCTS; (3) BABY FORMULA; (4) 
ALCOHOL; AND (5) DRINKS TAKEN FOR MEDICAL 
REASONS, TAXING THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR ON ANY 
CHAIN OF DISTRIBUTION; AND REQUIRING THE CITY TO 
PUBLISH A REPORT DETAILING REVENUE COLLECTED 
AND THE TYPE AND AMOUNT OF EXPENDITURES MADE 
AS A RESULT OF THE TAX; GIVING APPROVAL FOR THE 
COLLECTION, RETENTION AND EXPENDITURE OF THE 
FULL TAX PROCEEDS AND ANY RELATED EARNINGS, 
NOTWITHSTANDING ANY STATE REVENUE OR 
EXPENDITURE LIMITATION; AND SETTING FORTH THE 
EFFECTIVE DATE, BALLOT TITLE, ADDING A NEW  
CHAPTER 3-16, “SUGAR SWEETENED BEVERAGE 
PRODUCT DISTRIBUTION TAX,” B.R.C. 1981, ALL 
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2017 AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of Boulder, 

County of Boulder and State of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 8, 2016. 

Section 2.  At that election, there shall be submitted to the electors of the City of Boulder 

entitled by law to vote the issue of a sales and use tax increase as described in the ballot issue 

title in this ordinance. 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130

Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Packet Page 40



K:\CCCO\o-8030 2nd-2463.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 3.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the issue: 

ISSUE NO. ___ 

SUGAR SWEETENED BEVERAGE PRODUCT 
DISTRIBUTION TAX

SHALL CITY OF BOULDER TAXES BE INCREASED $3.8 
MILLION (FIRST FULL FISCAL YEAR INCREASE) 
ANNUALLY BY IMPOSING AN EXCISE TAX OF 2 CENTS 
PER OUNCE ON THE FIRST DISTRIBUTOR IN ANY CHAIN 
OF DISTRIBUTION OF DRINKS WITH ADDED SUGAR, AND 
SWEETENERS USED TO PRODUCE SUCH DRINKS, 
EXEMPTING: (1) SWEETENERS SOLD SEPARATELY TO 
THE CONSUMER AT A GROCERY STORE; (2) MILK 
PRODUCTS; (3) BABY FORMULA; (4) ALCOHOL; AND (5) 
DRINKS TAKEN FOR MEDICAL REASONS;  

AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

SHALL ALL OF THE REVENUES COLLECTED BE USED TO 
FUND: 

 THE ADMINISTRATIVE COST OF THE TAX, AND
THEREAFTER FOR

 HEALTH PROMOTION,

 GENERAL WELLNESS PROGRAMS AND CHRONIC
DISEASE PREVENTION IN THE CITY OF BOULDER
THAT IMPROVE HEALTH EQUITY, SUCH AS
ACCESS TO SAFE AND CLEAN DRINKING WATER,
HEALTHY FOODS, NUTRITION AND FOOD
EDUCATION, PHYSICAL ACTIVITY,

 OTHER HEALTH PROGRAMS ESPECIALLY FOR
RESIDENTS WITH LOW INCOME AND THOSE MOST
AFFECTED BY CHRONIC DISEASE LINKED TO
SUGARY DRINK CONSUMPTION,

ALL EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2017, AND IN CONNECTION THEREWITH, 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Packet Page 41



K:\CCCO\o-8030 2nd-2463.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

SHALL THE FULL PROCEEDS OF SUCH TAXES AT SUCH 
RATES AND ANY EARNINGS THEREON BE COLLECTED, 
RETAINED, AND SPENT, AS A VOTER-APPROVED 
REVENUE CHANGE WITHOUT LIMITATION OR 
CONDITION, AND WITHOUT LIMITING THE COLLECTION, 
RETENTION, OR SPENDING OF ANY OTHER REVENUES 
OR FUNDS BY THE CITY OF BOULDER UNDER ARTICLE X 
SECTION 20 OF THE COLORADO CONSTITUTION OR ANY 
OTHER LAW? 

FOR THE ISSUE ____       AGAINST THE ISSUE ____ 

Section 4.  If this ballot issue is approved by the voters, the City Council further amends 

the Boulder Revised Code, effective on July 1, 2017, to add a new Chapter 3-16 as follows: 

Chapter 16 Sugar Sweetened Beverage Product Distribution Tax 

Section 3-16-1 Findings and Purpose 

(a) An excise tax on the distribution of sugar-sweetened beverages is intended to protect the 
health, safety, and well-being of all in the City of Boulder. 

(b) Whereas consuming one sugar-sweetened beverage a day increases the risk for childhood 
obesity by 55%. 

(c) Whereas consuming one sugar-sweetened beverage a day increases the risk of developing 
type two diabetes by 25%. 

(d) Whereas consuming one sugar-sweetened beverage a day increases the likelihood of death 
from cardiovascular disease by 30%. 

Section 3-16-2 Imposition and Rate of Tax 

(a) Excise tax.  There is levied and shall be paid and collected an excise tax of two cents 
($0.02) per fluid ounce of sugar-sweetened beverage products that are distributed in the 
city.  

(b) For purposes of calculating the tax imposed under this chapter, the volume, in fluid 
ounces, of a sugar-sweetened beverage product shall be: 

(1)   For a bottled sugar-sweetened beverage the tax shall be calculated on the volume, in 
fluid ounces, of sugar-sweetened beverages distributed to any person in the course 
of business in the city. 

(2)   For a sugar-sweetened beverage made from syrups and powders 'the tax shall be 
calculated on the largest volume of fluid ounces of sugar-sweetened beverages that 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130

Agenda Item 3D     Page 7Packet Page 42



K:\CCCO\o-8030 2nd-2463.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

could be produced from syrup or powder upon the initial distribution of syrup or 
powder. 

Section 3-16-3 Distributor Liable for Tax 

Each distributor of sugar-sweetened beverage products shall pay the tax imposed in subsection 3-
16-2 on each non-exempt distribution of a sugar-sweetened beverage product, except that if there 
is a chain of distribution within the City of Boulder involving more than one distributor, the tax 
shall be levied on the first distributor subject to the jurisdiction of the city, unless the tax is not 
paid by the first distributor for any reason, it shall be levied on subsequent distributors, provided 
that the distribution of sugar-sweetened beverage products may not be taxed more than once in 
the chain of commerce. 

Section 3-16-4 Definitions 

For the purposes of this Chapter 16, unless the context otherwise requires: 

"Beverage for Medical Use" means a beverage suitable for human consumption and 
manufactured for use as a: 

(1)  Source of necessary nutrition due to a medical condition, or 

(2)  For use as an oral rehydration electrolyte solution for infants and children 
formulated to prevent or treat dehydration due to illness. 

"Beverage for Medical Use" shall not include drinks commonly referred to as "Sports Drinks" or 
any other common names that are derivations thereof. 

"Bottled Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" means any sugar-sweetened beverage contained in a bottle 
that is ready for consumption without further processing, such as, and without limitation, dilution 
or carbonation. 

"Caloric Sweetener" means a substance or combination of substances suitable for human 
consumption that adds calories to and is perceived as sweet to humans when consumed, 
including, but not limited to sucrose, dextrose, fructose, glucose, other mono and disaccharides; 
corn syrup or high-fructose corn syrup; or any other caloric sweetener designated by the city 
manager. 

"Consumer" means a natural person who purchases a sugar-sweetened beverage product in the 
city for a purpose other than resale in the ordinary course of business. 

"Distribution" or "Distribute" means the transfer of title or possession: 

(1)  From one business entity to another for consideration, or 

(2)  Within a single business entity, such as by a wholesale or warehousing unit to a 
retail outlet or between two or more employees or contractors. 

"Distribution" or "Distribute" shall not mean the retail sale to a consumer. 

"Distributor" means any person who distributes sugar-sweetened beverage products in the city. 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130

Agenda Item 3D     Page 8Packet Page 43



K:\CCCO\o-8030 2nd-2463.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

"Milk Products" means natural fluid milk, regardless of animal source or butterfat content, 
natural milk concentrate, whether or not reconstituted, regardless of animal source or butterfat 
content, or dehydrated natural milk, whether or not reconstituted and regardless of animal source 
or butterfat content, and plant-based milk substitutes, that are marketed as milk, such as soy 
milk, coconut milk, rice milk and almond milk. 

"Powder" means any solid mixture, containing one or more caloric sweetener as an ingredient, 
intended to be used in making, mixing, or compounding a sugar-sweetened beverage by 
combining the powder with one or more ingredients. 

"Retailer of Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Products" means a person, other than a distributor, 
manufacturer, or wholesaler who receives, stores, mixes, compounds, or manufactures a sugar-
sweetened beverage and sells or otherwise dispenses the sugar-sweetened beverage to the 
ultimate consumer. 

"Simple Syrup" means a mixture of water and one or more natural or common sweeteners 
without any additional ingredients. 

"Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" means any non-alcoholic beverage which contains at least 5 grams 
of caloric sweetener per 12 fluid ounces. 

(l)   "Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" includes all drinks and beverages commonly referred 
to as "soda," " pop," "cola," "soft drinks," "sports drinks," "energy drinks," 
"sweetened ice teas," "sweetened coffees," or any other common names that are 
derivations thereof.  

(2)  "Sugar-Sweetened Beverage" does not include any of the following: 

i. Any beverage in which milk is the primary ingredient, i.e., the ingredient
constituting a greater volume of the product than any other;

ii. Any beverage for medical use;

iii. Any liquid sold for use for weight reduction as a meal replacement;

iv. Any product commonly referred to as "infant formula" or "baby formula;"

v. Any alcoholic beverage;

vi. Any beverage consisting of one hundred (100) percent natural fruit or vegetable
juice with no added caloric sweetener for purposes of this paragraph, "natural
fruit juice" and "natural vegetable juice" mean the original liquid resulting from
the pressing of fruits or vegetables; or

vii. Sweetened medication such as cough syrup, liquid pain relievers, fever
reducers, and similar products.

"Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Product" means a bottled sugar-sweetened beverage or a sugar-
sweetened beverage made from the dilution of syrup or powder. 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130

Agenda Item 3D     Page 9Packet Page 44



K:\CCCO\o-8030 2nd-2463.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

"Syrup" means any liquid mixture, containing one or more caloric sweeteners as an ingredient, 
intended to be used in making, mixing, or compounding a sugar-sweetened beverage by 
combining the syrup with one or more other ingredients. 

Section 3-16-5 Exemptions 

The tax imposed by this chapter shall not apply: 

(a)  To any distribution of syrups and powders sold directly to a consumer and intended for 
personal use by a consumer that are not already pre-mixed into a sugar-sweetened 
beverage product such as granulated sugar, honey, agave and similar products. 

(b)  To any milk product. 

(c)  To infant formula. 

(d) To any alcoholic beverage. 

(e) To any beverage for medical use. 

Section 3-16-6 Duties, Responsibilities and Authority of the City Manager 

(a) The city manager is authorized to collect and receive all taxes imposed by this chapter, 
and to keep an accurate record thereof. 

(b) The city manager shall develop a registration system whereby distributors of sugar-
sweetened beverages must register with the city prior to distributing any sugar-sweetened 
beverages.  

(c) The city manager shall annually verify that the taxes owed under this chapter have been 
properly applied, exempted, collected, and remitted.  

(d)  The city manager is authorized to enforce this chapter and may prescribe, adopt, and 
enforce rules and regulations relating to the administration and enforcement of this 
chapter, including provisions for the reexamination and correction of returns and 
payments, and for reporting.  Such rules and regulations shall include, but are not limited 
to, the following:  

(1)  The determination of the frequency with which a distributor must calculate the tax. 
This determination shall not constitute an increase of the tax.  

(2)   The determination of the frequency with which a distributor must pay the tax.  This 
determination shall not constitute an increase of the tax.  

(3)  The determination of the manner in which a distributor must register with the city. 

(4)  The determination of whether and how a distributor who receives, in the city, sugar-
sweetened beverage products from another distributor must report to the city the 
name of that distributor.  

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130

Agenda Item 3D     Page 10Packet Page 45



K:\CCCO\o-8030 2nd-2463.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(5)  The determination of whether and how a distributor who receives, in the city, sugar-
sweetened beverage products from another distributor must report to the city the 
volume of sugar-sweetened beverage products received from that distributor.  

(6)  The determination of what other documentation is required to be created or 
maintained by a distributor of sugar-sweetened beverage products. 

Section 3-16-7 Collection 

(a)  The amount of any tax, penalty, and interest imposed under the provisions of this chapter 
shall be deemed a debt to the city.  Any distributor owing money under the provisions of 
this chapter shall be liable in an action brought in the name of the city for the recovery of 
such amount.  

(b) In order to aid in the city's collection of taxes due under this chapter, any retailer of sugar-
sweetened beverage products that receives sugar-sweetened beverage products from a 
distributor, in accordance with rules and regulations promulgated by the city manager 
pursuant to section 3-16-6, shall provide to the city evidence that the distributor from 
whom the sugar-sweetened beverage products were received has registered as a distributor 
with the city and that registration is current.  

Section 3-16-8 Refunds 

Whenever any tax under this chapter has been paid more than once or has been erroneously or 
illegally collected or received by the city, it may be refunded only as provided in Chapter 3-2-23 
of the Boulder Municipal Code. 

Section 3-16-9 Enforcement 

Except as otherwise provided by this chapter or by rule or regulation promulgated by the city 
manager, the tax imposed by this Chapter shall be administered in the same manner as taxes 
imposed pursuant to Chapter 3-2-2 and, without limitation, shall be subject to the same 
delinquency penal ties, appeals processes and other enforcement provisions set forth in chapter 
3-2- 22. 

Section 3-16-10 Not a Sales and Use Tax 

The tax imposed by this Chapter is a tax upon the privilege of conducting business, specifically, 
distributing sugar-sweetened beverage products within the City of Boulder.  It is not a sales, use, 
or other excise tax on the sale, consumption or use of sugar-sweetened beverage products.  The 
tax imposed herein shall be in addition to any license fee or tax imposed or levied under any 
other law, statute or ordinance where imposed or levied by the city, state, or other governmental 
entity or political subdivision. 

Section 3-16-11 Dedicated Revenues 

The revenues from this excise tax shall be designated for the administrative cost of the tax, and 
once that obligation has been fulfilled, used for health promotion, general wellness programs and 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130

Agenda Item 3D     Page 11Packet Page 46



K:\CCCO\o-8030 2nd-2463.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

chronic disease prevention in the City of Boulder that improve health equity, such as access to 
safe and clean drinking water, healthy foods, nutrition and food education, physical activity, and 
other health programs especially for residents with low income and those most affected by 
chronic disease linked to sugary drink consumption. In order to ensure that funds are allocated 
appropriately as directed in this Chapter, the city shall accurately track and record all revenues 
collected from the excise tax promulgated in Chapter 3-16-2 and accurately track and record all 
administrative costs as detailed in Chapter 3-16-6. The city council shall annually publish a 
public report on the city's website detailing the amount of revenue collected as a result of the tax 
and the type and amount of expenditures made as a result of the tax levied in Chapter 3-16-2. 

Section 3-16-12 Enactment 

If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the issue submitted shall be for the issue, the 
issue shall be deemed to have passed and shall be effective July 1, 2017. 

Section 3-16-13 Severability 

The people of the City of Boulder hereby declare that they would have adopted each section, 
sentence, clause, phrase, word, or portion of this ordinance, irrespective of the fact that any one 
or more sections, sentences, clauses, phrases, words, or portions of this ordinance, or any 
application thereof, be declared invalid or unenforceable and, to that end, the provisions of this 
ordinance are severable.  If any section, sentence, clause, phrase, word, or portion of this 
ordinance, or any application thereof in any circumstance, is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining sections, sentences, clauses, 
phrases, words, or portions of this ordinance, and applications thereof, shall nonetheless remain 
in full force and effect. 

Section 3-16-14 Municipal Affair 

The people of the City of Boulder hereby declare that the taxation of the privilege of distributing 
sugar-sweetened beverage products and that the public health impact of sugar-sweetened 
beverage products separately and together constitute municipal affairs.  The people of the City of 
Boulder hereby further declare their desire for this measure to coexist with any similar tax 
adopted at the county or state levels. 

Section 5.  If this ballot issue is approved by the voters, the City Council may adopt 

amendments to the Boulder Revised Code to further implement this excise tax and such other 

amendments to the Boulder Revised Code as may be necessary to implement the intent and 

purpose of this ordinance. 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130

Agenda Item 3D     Page 12Packet Page 47



K:\CCCO\o-8030 2nd-2463.doc

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 6.  If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the issue submitted shall be 

for the issue, the issue shall be deemed to have passed and shall be effective on July 1, 2017. 

Section 7.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety and welfare of 

the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 8.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk  

READ ON SECOND READING, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk  

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8130

Agenda Item 3D     Page 13Packet Page 48



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: AUGUST 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE 

Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance 8132 submitting to the 
registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election to 
be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the question of amending Section 7 of the 
Boulder Home Rule Charter, relating to council compensation, by adding an option for 
council members to receive benefits on the same terms and conditions as city employees, 
and setting forth related details 

PRESENTER/S 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 
Joyce Lira, Human Resource Director 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this agenda item is to complete second reading of a ballot measure that, if 
passed, would amend the city Charter related to council compensation.  The measure 
permits council members to have access to city benefits on the same terms and conditions 
as full time employees.  If passed, the provision would apply to council members serving 
on January 1, 2020.  

The objective of this meeting is to pass this item on second reading so that it may be 
considered by the voters at the November 8, 2016 election.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page 49



Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to adopt Ordinance 8132 and order published by title only submitting to the 
registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election to 
be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the question of amending Section 7 of the 
Boulder Home Rule Charter, relating to council compensation, by adding an option for 
council members to receive benefits on the same terms and conditions as city employees, 
and setting forth related details. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic –The impact of this potential ballot question would be the
incremental cost of insurance and other benefits.

• Environmental – Council benefits should not have an impact on environmental
sustainability.

• Social – There is the potential that increasing the benefits available to council
members may attract a broader range of council candidates in future elections.

OTHER IMPACTS 

• Fiscal – The ballot measures would have fiscal impacts in the year 2020 and
beyond.  The extent of the fiscal impact will depend upon the number of
council members that choose to take advantage of city employee benefit
offerings.  The fiscal impacts are addressed in the analysis section of this
memorandum.

• Staff time – The work on these potential ballot items can be absorbed in the
existing work plans.

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

Public feedback will be sought as part of the council’s legislative adoption process. 

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

At its August 2, 2016 meeting, the city council amended and passed Ordinance No. 8032 
that is attached to this memorandum.  The amendment provided that council members 
that are in office on January 1, 2020 will be eligible to receive city benefits on the same 
terms and conditions as full-time city employees.  

This change is consistent with the rational of the charter committee that the change to the 
compensation structure does not directly benefit council members presently in office. 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page 50



Presently, pursuant to § 2-1-3, council members have access to the city’s group health 
and benefit plans if the council member pays the full cost of the coverage.  The changes 
proposed would provide access to these benefits on the same terms and conditions as full-
time city employees. 

The attached ordinance includes a charter amendment, an implementing Boulder Revised 
Code amendment, and a ballot titles that, if passed, would provide voter approval to the 
city council compensation portion of the City Charter § 7.   

Attachment B is a table of cost assumptions, based upon existing city benefit packages, 
the costs of which are increased by an inflation rate. 

The average monthly city cost for insurance per city council member is $1,090.62.  This 
includes medical, dental, vision and life insurance.  On the medical side, the per 
participant cost may vary greatly based on the choice of plan (3 plan options) and the tier 
of coverage taken (i.e. the lower the deductible and the more family members added, the 
greater the cost).  Assuming all 9 council members elect the insurance, the fiscal impact 
for 2019 would be approximately $124,960.  The column entitled “Annual Budget 
Implication” is the total if all 9 council members chose that particular benefit package in 
the row.  The range goes from approximately $42,000 per year up to $186,000 per year.  

OPTIONS 

The council may choose to pass, amend, or not adopt the attached ordinance.  If council 
wishes to move this ballot item forward to the November 2016 election, the council 
should complete second reading and adoption of this ordinance. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 
Attachment B – Insurance Cost Table – Estimated for 2019 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page 51



K:\CCCO\o-8132-2nd rdg-2463.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8132 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE REGISTERED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT THE SPECIAL 
MUNICIPAL COORDINATED ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 8, 2016, THE QUESTION OF 
AMENDING SECTION 7 OF THE BOULDER HOME RULE 
CHARTER, RELATING TO COUNCIL COMPENSATION, BY 
ADDING AN OPTION FOR COUNCIL MEMBERS TO 
RECEIVE BENEFITS ON THE SAME TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS AS CITY EMPLOYEES AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the city of 

Boulder, county of Boulder and state of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 8, 2016.  

Section 2. At that election, a question shall be submitted to the electors of the city of 

Boulder entitled by law to vote, that will allow voters to consider the following amendment to 

Section 7 of the city Charter pertaining to compensation for council members. This amendment 

to the Charter shall be effective for any council member serving on January 1, 2020 and 

thereafter.  The material to be added to the Charter is shown by underlining and material to be 

deleted is shown stricken through with solid lines. 

Sec. 7. - Compensation. 

Council members shall receive as compensation $100.00 per meeting at which a quorum of 
city council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an annual 
escalation each January 1 in a percentage equivalent to any increase over the past year in the 
Consumer Price Index (All Items) for the statistical area which includes the city maintained by 
the United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics; this amendment shall become 
effective January 1, 1990.  For purposes of this section only, a "meeting" shall mean a gathering 
of a quorum of the council, which gathering is noticed to the public as a regular or special 
meeting as provided in this Charter.  Council members serving on January 1, 2020 and after may 
elect to receive benefits under the same terms and conditions that are available to full-time city 
employees including without limitation participation in city health, vision, dental, and life 
insurance plans. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page 52



K:\CCCO\o-8132-2nd rdg-2463.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 3. The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also 

be the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Ballot Question No. ____ 

Amending Charter Provisions to Provide 
Insurance Benefits for Council Members 

Shall Section 7, “Compensation,” of the Boulder City Charter be 
amended pursuant to Ordinance No. 8132 to allow council 
members serving on January 1, 2020 and after to be eligible to 
receive benefits under the same terms and conditions that are 
available to full-time city employees including without limitation 
participation in city health, vision, dental and life insurance plans? 

For the measure____ Against the measure____ 

Section 4. If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted 

are for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the charter shall be 

amended as provided in this ordinance. 

Section 5. If the measure shall be deemed to have passed, the city council adopts the 

following amendment to the Section 2-3-1 of the Boulder Revised Code. 

2-1-3. - Council Member Benefits. 

(a) The city council finds: 
(1) Section 7 of the charter of the City of Boulder, as amended in 2012, sets the level of 

"compensation" for council members as "$100.00 per meeting at which a quorum of city 
council is present, not to exceed fifty-two meetings per calendar year, plus an annual 
escalation" specified in the charter; and 

(2) Ambiguities inherent in the term, "compensation," require that the council interpret 
Section 7 in a way that will best fulfill the charter's intent and purposes. 

(b) Under Charter Section 7: 
(1) "Compensation" includes only salaries, as that was the focus of Charter Section 7 before 

1990 and the focus of analysis preceding the 1990 amendment; and 
(2) Council members must receive at least the salary specified in Section 7 per meeting, but 

may receive other benefits. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page 53



K:\CCCO\o-8132-2nd rdg-2463.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(a) In addition to the salary specified in Charter Section 7, the council members serving on 
January 1, 2020 and after shall receive the following other benefits: 
(1) Coverage under City of Boulder health, vision, dental, and life group benefit plans 

under the same terms and conditions available to full-time city officers and employees; 
and  

(2) Other benefits and amenities, except salary, available to the City of Boulder officers and 
employees, as the council may specify by motion, after considering a city manager's 
report and recommendation on such other benefits and amenities.  

(cb) In addition to the salary specified in Charter Section 7, the council members serving prior to 
January 1, 2020 shall receive the following other benefits: 
(1) Coverage under City of Boulder health and dental group benefit plans, with premiums 

paid entirely by council members electing such coverage; and 
(2) Other benefits and amenities, except salary, available to the City of Boulder officers and 

employees, as the council may specify by motion, after considering a city manager's 
report and recommendation on such other benefits and amenities.  

Section 6. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 7. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page 54



K:\CCCO\o-8132-2nd rdg-2463.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3E     Page 7Packet Page 55



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

A B C D E F G H I J

Monthly 
City  Cost

Total  Annual 
City Cost

* Annual
Budget 

Implication

Monthly 
Employee  Cost

Single $392.72 $4,712.59 $42,413.33 $96.80
Two Person $842.43 $10,109.18 $90,982.66 $209.11

Family $1,174.97 $14,099.66 $126,896.98 $292.37

Single $438.51 $5,262.10 $47,358.86 $108.25
Two Person $940.80 $11,289.65 $101,606.83 $233.83

Family $1,313.20 $15,758.45 $141,826.03 $326.93

Single $574.88 $6,898.51 $62,086.61 $142.34
Two Person $1,235.39 $14,824.66 $133,421.90 $307.47

Family $1,724.58 $20,694.91 $186,254.21 $429.89

ATTACHMENT A - Insurance Cost Table - Estimated for 2019

$1,542.86
($1,000 family 
deductible) $2,154.47

$1,174.63
($2,000 family 
deductible) $1,640.13

$500 Deductible $717.22

$1,051.54
($3,000 family 
deductible) $1,467.34

$1,000 Deductible $546.76

Medical Full Monthly 
Premium

Full Time Rates
$1,500 Deductible (1) $489.52

Attachment B - Insurance Cost Table - Estimated for 2019

Agenda Item 3E     Page 8Packet Page 56



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of motion to adopt and order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 8133, setting the ballot title for an amendment to 
Section 128A of the Boulder Charter regarding the blue line, and setting forth related 
details.  

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathleen E. Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Chris Meschuk, Senior Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:  
The Council accepted the Charter Committee’s recommendation to place clarification of the blue 
line, established in Section 128A of the charter, on the November 1, 2016 ballot.  The description 
of the blue line in the charter was a compilation of measurements by metes and bounds, 
elevations, ditches and distances from the center of streets.  All properties in the city boundaries 
or that had water taps in 1959 were allowed to receive water, regardless of where they were 
located in relation to the line.  As a result, while the general location of the blue line is clear, 
when you look at individual properties near the boundaries, it is not clear.  More precisely 
defining the blue line for clarity has been discussed over the years, but has not been pursued, 
because it required significant staff time to do the research.  However, now that city maps are 
being scrutinized more closely for municipalization, and the need to annex properties to avoid 
duplication of electric services to serve out-of-city customers, the precise location needs to be 
defined.  The proposed ordinance and ballot measure describes the intent of the blue line and the 
continued desire that the clarification does not allow additional development, but allows water to 
be provided to developed properties that were sometimes interpreted as above the blue line.  

At first reading council asked staff to present some alternatives for the ballot language and 
charter language to make it abundantly clear that the location of the blue line is being clarified to 
divide developed property from the open space and mountain backdrop protected by the original 
adoption of the blue line in 1959.  The ballot question is not to eliminate, or otherwise change the 
intent or limitations of, the blue approved by the voters in 1959.  To accommodate that request, 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 1Packet Page 57



options for both the charter language and the ballot language are attached.  The parts of the 
ordinance that would be changed for the option you would choose are highlighted. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following motion: 

Consideration of a motion to amend Ordinance No. 8133, as submitted in Attachment A with 
corrected Exhibits A and B, and with the changes provided in Option 1 on Attachment B to replace 
the highlighted portions of Attachment A, regarding an amendment to Section 128A of the Boulder 
Home Rule Charter regarding the blue line, setting the ballot title, and related details. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK: 
Notice of this proposal was mailed on July 26, 2016, to each property owner affected by either 
location of the blue line, along with a map, and a website where the GIS layer of the map is 
located so that property owners could zoom in on particular properties.  The notice also included 
direct contact information for Doug Newcomb, the city's Property Agent, to answer any 
questions that a property owner may have.  The notice also provided the information for the 
public hearing and staff’s availability in the lobby before the council meeting on August 2.  Two 
people spoke at the public hearing on first reading; both in favor of the proposed charter 
amendment.  Before the council meeting, 15-20 people came to meet with staff and ask 
questions.  Staff has addressed specific questions of various property owners and met with 
groups representing the Knollwood subdivision and other specific properties.  The people with 
questions had two major areas where they were seeking confirmation as follows: 

A. The location of the blue line does not determine whether a property was annexed or was 
connected to the city water system.  The location of the blue line determines which 
properties are eligible to receive city water, but additional steps are required before a 
property is annexed or receives water from the city; and 

B. This ballot item does not eliminate water service for any property currently receiving city 
water, and does not change the terms of the exceptions and terms of providing water for 
the Flagstaff House or the Canon Park subdivision or fire service. 

Staff also met with staff of the county regarding this ballot item.  County staff did not express 
any concern with this ballot item. 

BACKGROUND: 
The agenda memo for first reading can be found here as Item 5A3.  

FIRST READING DIRECTION: 
Council requested that staff provide some options for the ballot language and the first paragraph 
of the proposed change to Section 128A to emphasize the history of the blue line and that this 
measure is not to have a vote about whether or not there should be a blue line, but only to clarify 
the precise location of the line.  Council requested that the language make clear the ballot items 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 2Packet Page 58

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20160802_Agenda_Packet_final-1-201607291710.pdf


was not to change the original intent of the blue line and this council desires to maintain the blue 
line as a separation between development and the protected mountain backdrop of the city.  
Options are set forth in Attachment B.  The areas where the selected option would be placed in 
the ordinance are highlighted in Attachment A.  

Staff is recommending that council choose the option with which it wishes to proceed for the 
charter and ballot language and pass the ordinance to third reading.  Between August 16th and 
September 6th, staff is continuing to answer questions from the public and meeting with groups 
including the Knollwood neighborhood.  The agenda materials for third reading will include any 
updates from those meetings.   

BLUE LINE MAP AND BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION: 
Staff has made slight revisions to the map and the boundary description for the Blue Line.  Those 
two documents are Exhibits A and B of Ordinance No. 8133.  Attachment A contains those 
revised documents and staff requests that council amend Ordinance No. 8133 at second reading 
to replace the first reading exhibits. 

The areas that were revised and the reasons for the revision are: 

MAP BOUNDARY 
DESCRIPTION 

REASON FOR CHANGE 

X Conform map to boundary description within Alpine Ave ROW 
X Conform map to boundary description within Forest Ave ROW 

X Surveyor recommended clarity to description - moved blue line 
west into OSMP, along Outlot D, Mary Moore Subdivision 

NEXT STEPS: 
Staff continues to meet with property owners that may be affected by the precise location of the 
Blue Line, and it is anticipated that staff will continue to do so until the third reading is 
completed on September 6, 2016.  To the extent that these efforts result in any amendments that 
may be proposed to the map or the boundary description, staff will present those changes to the 
council at the third reading.  September 6 is the last meeting that the council can place ballot 
measures on the 2016 election ballot.  Because any such amendments would need to be passed at 
the same meeting that they are introduced, the council will need to adopt them as part of an 
emergency ordinance. 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the council amend the ordinance by adopting the changes proposed in 
Option 1 on Attachment B of this memo, and replacing ordinance Exhibits A & B with those 
provided in Attachment A, which are amended from first reading packet as described in the chart 
above. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment A - First Reading Proposed Ordinance No. 8133, with corrected exhibits. 
Attachment B – Optional Charter and Ballot language for Ordinance No. 8133 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 3Packet Page 59



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8133 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE QUALIFIED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT A SPECIAL 
MUNICIPAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, THE 8TH 
DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2016, THE QUESTION OF AMENDING 
SECTION 128A OF THE BOULDER CITY CHARTER TO 
CLARIFY THE LINE DESCRIBED IN THAT SECTION, 
KNOWN AS THE "BLUE LINE;" SETTING THE BALLOT 
TITLE; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of 

Boulder, County of Boulder and State of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 8, 2016. 

Section 2.   At that election, a question shall be submitted to the electors of the city of 

Boulder entitled by law to vote, that will allow voters to consider the following amendment to 

Section 128A of the city Charter pertaining to the boundary established for eligibility for city 

water service.  The material to be added to the Charter is shown by underlining and material to 

be deleted is shown stricken through with solid lines: 

Sec. 128A. - Water not to be supplied to certain described areas; exceptions. 

(a) The City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or industrial uses to land 
lying on the westward side of the following described line, except as specifically stated herein. 
This provision shall not deny city water to areas which were a part of the City of Boulder, 
receiving city water through a utility services agreement, on the effective date of this measure, 
July 21, 1959, nor to lawful taps being supplied by said city in other areas at said the effective 
date of this measure, on July 21, 1959 November 8, 2016. 
The remaining paragraphs of Charter Section 128A are repealed.  The map and the boundary  
description in Exhibit A and B of Ordinance No. 8133 are made part of this charter as part of 
this section.  

(b) This section is intended to reinforce the protection of the foothill's open space and mountain 
backdrop and properties designated for open space from new development and expansion of 
existing development.   

Attachment A- 
Ordinance 8133

Agenda Item 3F     Page 4Packet Page 60



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(c) The line described in this section does not apply to properties that were voter-approved 
amendments to this section.  The following properties may continue to receive water under the 
conditions contained in the respective ordinance below: 
(1) Water supplied: (i) to the property known as University Corporation for Atmospheric 

Research (UCAR), National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR) or National 
Science Foundation, as approved by Ordinance No. 2391, adopted by the electorate on 
January 31, 1961; (ii) to the property known as the “specified tracts of land lying within 
the Canon Park Subdivision,” as approved by Ordinance No. 4452, adopted by the 
electorate on November 6, 1979; (iii) to the property known as the Nuzum’s Nursery, 
The Silver Saddle Motel and the Flagstaff Apartment Property, as approved by 
Ordinance No. 4606, adopted by the electorate on  Nov. 3, 1981, or (iv) to the property 
known as the “Flagstaff House” as approved by Ordinance No. 5402, adopted by the 
electorate on Nov. 5, 1991; and 

(2) Water supplied to fire departments or districts, Boulder County, the state of Colorado, 
or the United States for immediate use for firefighting purposes and for storage in fire 
trucks and in cisterns for such purposes approved by Ordinance No. 7076, adopted by 
the electorate on November 8, 2000. 

(d) The following standards apply to application of the provisions of this section to properties 
affected by the line for water service from the city:  

(1) Except as specifically described in this section the prohibition of water service shall not 
apply to any properties east of State Highway 93 or State Highway 36. 

(2) The city will provide water service to properties divided by the line described by this 
section subject to the following:  

(A) The water service shall be to the entire building that is within the existing 
footprint and square footage on November 8, 2016. 

(B) No additional water service shall be supplied west of the line established by this 
section for such property. 

(C) No portion of the building with water service west of the line established by this 
section shall expanded beyond the existing building foot print or floor area. 

Section 4.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

Attachment A- 
Ordinance 8133

Agenda Item 3F     Page 5Packet Page 61



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

QUESTION NO. ______ 

WATER NOT TO BE SUPPLIED TO AREAS WEST OF THE "BLUE LINE" 

Shall Section 128A “Water not to be supplied to certain described areas; 
exceptions” of the City Charter be amended to provide that the City of Boulder 
shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or industrial uses to land lying 
on the westward side of the line defined in Ordinance No. 8133 including the 
terms, map and boundary description which are part of the ordinance; provided 
however, this section shall not deny city water to areas which were lawfully 
receiving water from the City on November 8, 2016, repealing the existing 
description and establishing criteria for the provision of water to properties 
divided by the line?  

For the measure ______      Against the measure _____ 

Section 5 If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted 

are for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the Charter shall be 

amended as provided in this ordinance. If this ballot measure is approved by the voters, the 

Charter shall be so amended, and the City Council may adopt any necessary amendments to the 

Boulder Revised Code to implement this change. 

Section 6. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 7. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

Attachment A- 
Ordinance 8133

Agenda Item 3F     Page 6Packet Page 62



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of September, 2016. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A- 
Ordinance 8133

Agenda Item 3F     Page 7Packet Page 63



Walnut  St.

Pine  St.

Balsam  Ave. Edgewood D r.

F
ol

so
m

  
S

t.

Iris  Ave.

Le
h

ig
h 

 S
t.

Valmont  Rd.

55
th

S
t.

63
rd

  
S

t.

63
rd

  S
t.

Violet Ave.

Baseline  Rd.

30
th

  S
t.

Kalmia  Ave. Independence Rd.

Arapahoe  Rd.

Jay Rd.

O
ld

e
S

t a
g

e
R

d.

Broadway

G
re

enbriar B
lv

d
.

55
th

  S
t.

57
th

  S
t.

Baseline  Rd.

Loo
ko

ut Rd.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe Ave.

20th  S
t.

28
th

S
t.

30
th

S
t.

Moorhead  Ave.

Jay  Rd.

Table  Mesa  Dr.

Valmont  Rd.

55
th

  S
t.

63
rd

S
t.

Marshall Dr.

Mineral Rd.

Canyon Blvd.

9t
h

  S
t.

B
ro

a
d

w
a

y
N

.
F

o
ot

h
ill

s
H

w
y.

T
ab

le
M

es
a Dr.

Canyon  Blvd.

Colorado Ave.

S.  Broadw
ay

9
th

S
t.

17
th

  S
t.

19
th

  S
t.

N
.

2
6t

h
S

t.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe  Rd.

51
st

  
S

t.

F
ooth

ills
P

kw
y.

C
h

er
ry

va
le

  
R

d
.

6
1

st
S

t.

South Boulder  Rd.

Linden Dr.

University Ave.

Yarmouth Ave.

28th  St.  Ext.
F

ol
so

m
  

S
t.

28
th

  S
t.

S. Foothills
H

w
y.

Dia
go

na
l  

Hwy.

7
1

st
S

t.

Flagstaff Rd.

Mapleton Ave.

Lee
Hill D r.

N
. 

 B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

F
oo

th
ill

s 
 P

kw
y.

47
th

  S
t.

Pearl Pkwy.

Cherryvale Rd.

Baseline  Rd.

Wonderland
 Lake

Loukonen
Reservoir

Boulder Reservoir

Valmont Reservoir

Baseline
Reservoir

Viele
Lake

Sombrero
Marsh

Hayden
 Lake

Reservoir
Leggett-Owen

Hillcrest Reservoir

Sixmile
 Reservoir

Twin     Lakes

Coot
Lake

NCAR

NIST

Chautauqua
Park

Flagstaff
House

City of Boulder - Current & Proposed Blue Line

0 1 20.5

Miles

I

Le
ge

nd

Map date August 10, 2016

Current Adopted Blue Line

Proposed Blue Line

City Open Space Properties

City Limits

Exhibit A to Ordinance 8133
Map of Current & Clarified Blue Line (8/11)

**Additional details can be seen on the map of the Blue Line at https://gisweb.bouldercolorado.gov/blueline/
Agenda Item 3F     Page 8Packet Page 64

wallm1
Highlight



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description (8/11) 

2016 BLUE LINE BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 

GENERAL SOUTH TO NORTH DESCRIPTION:  
THE DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED BLUE LINE BEGINS AT THE SOUTHERN END OF THE CITY OF 
BOULDER NEAR HWY 93 AND SHANAHAN RIDGE. THEN PROCEEDS NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST EDGE 
OF THE CITY TO ITS TERMINUS AT THE NORTH END OF THE CITY NEAR DAKOTA RIDGE AND HWY 36. THE 
PROPOSED BLUE LINE DESCRIPTION HAS A MATCHING MAP SHOWING THE LOCATION OF SAID 
PROPOSED BLUE LINE AS IT IS NARRATIVELY DESCRIBED BELOW. ALL INSTRUMENTS DISCUSSED BELOW 
CAN BE FOUND AT BOULDER COUNTY CLERK AND RECORDER’S OFFICE, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.  

SAID BLUE LINE IS LOCATED IN SECTIONS 16, 17, 18, 7, AND 6 OF TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 70 WEST; 
SECTIONS 1 AND 12, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 71 WEST; AND SECTIONS 36, 35, 25, 24, 13, AND 12, 
TOWNSHIP 1 NORTH, RANGE 71 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M. 

FROM HWY 93 AT THE SHANAHAN RIDGE SUBDIVISION, NORTH TO NCAR 

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT B, SHANAHAN RIDGE TWO, PLAT RECORDED ON 
FILM 859 AT RECEPTION NO. 109000; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT B TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 9, 
BLOCK 14, ROLLING HILLS SUBDIVISION FIRST ADDITION REPLAT, RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 
90872199;  
THENCE SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE EASTERN LINE OF ROLLING HILLS SUBDIVISION FIRST ADDITION 
REPLAT TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT A-1, SHANAHAN RIDGE FOUR, PLAT RECORDED 
RECEPTION NO. 144515;  
THENCE CONTINUING SOUTHWESTERLY ALONG THE EASTERN LINE OF SAID OUTLOT A-1, SHANAHAN 
RIDGE FOUR; 
THENCE ALONG THE EASTERN LINE OF SHANAHAN RIDGE FIVE, PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 939 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 193411 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF OUTLOT C2, SHANAHAN RIDGE FIVE TO THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE CONTINUING WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF OUTLOT D, SHANAHAN RIDGE SIX, PLAT 
RECORDED ON FILM 969 RECEPTION NO. 232114, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT D TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 5, 
BLOCK 2, DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 1, RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90828823;  
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 1, TO THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 8, BLOCK 2, DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 1;  
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WESTERN BOUNDARIES OF DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING 
NO. 1, THE DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 2, RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90853061, AND 
DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 5, RECORDED ON FILM 802 AT RECEPTION NO. 50103, TO THE 
WESTERNMOST CORNER OF LOT 16, DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO. 5;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF DEVILS THUMB SUBDIVISION FILING NO.  6, PLAT 
RECORDED ON FILM 845 AT RECEPTION NO. 94356, TO THE WESTERNMOST CORNER THEREOF, ALSO 
BEING A SOUTHERN CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN BOOK 1290 AT PAGE 301 (SEE THAT 
LAND SURVEY PLAT FILED AS SURVEY NO. LS-93-0036 AT THE BOULDER COUNTY LAND USE 
DEPARTMENT); 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 9Packet Page 65



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description (8/11) 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINES OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN BOOK 1290 AT 
PAGE 301 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 808 AT RECEPTION NO. 
55946; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 808 AT RECEPTION NO. 
55946 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF, A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 1 
NORTH, RANGE 71 WEST; 
THENCE EAST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 
SECTION 1, ALSO BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 70 WEST; 

NCAR NORTH TO MARINE STREET 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1047 
AT RECEPTION NO. 320793;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 1 
SOUTH, RANGE 70 WEST TO THE WEST QUARTER CORNER OF SAID SECTION 6;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 1, 1800 FEET, 
TOWNSHIP 1 SOUTH, RANGE 71 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M.;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 LOCATED 1800 FEET 
WESTERLY FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SECTION 1, THIS LINE BEING WEST OF CHAUTAUQUA;  
THENCE WEST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 1 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THAT 
PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3522626;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3522626 
TO THE NORTHERNMOST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE EASTERLY TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 17, FLATIRONS PARK, PLAT RECORDED AT 
RECEPTION NO. 90500511; 
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID FLATIRONS PARK TO THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER OF LOT 14 OF SAID FLATIRONS PARK; 
THENCE NORTHERLY TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1, FLAGSTAFF SUBDIVISION, PLAT RECORDED 
AT RECEPTION NO. 90797939;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1 TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF 
KECOUGHTAN HILLS, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90637214; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID KECOUGHTAN HILLS TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID KECOUGHTAN HILLS, TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
THEREOF;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID KECOUGHTAN HILLS TO A POINT ON THE NORTH 
LINE OF LOT 9 OF SAID KEGOUGHTON HILLS THAT IS INTERSECTED BY THE SOUTHERLY EXTENSION OF 
THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF MARSHALL STREET; THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF-WAY 
EXTENSION TO A POINT ON THE WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY OF MARSHALL STREET THAT IS THE POINT OF 
INTERSECTION OF WEST RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF MARSHALL STREET AND THE WESTERLY EXTENSION OF 
THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF PLEASANT STREET; THENCE WEST TO THE WESTERN BOUNDARY OF 
BLOCK 8, VERMONT ADDITION PLAT RECORDED AT 90015837; THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST 
BOUNDARY OF SAID BLOCK 8 TO THE SOUTH LINE OF LOT 3, BLOCK 8 OF SAID VERMONT ADDITION; 
THENCE WEST 50 FEET; THENCE NORTH TO A POINT 50 FEET WEST OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 
1, BLOCK 8 SAID VERMONT ADDITION; THENCE EAST TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 1; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE 
EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID BLOCK 8 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; THENCE 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 10Packet Page 66



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description (8/11) 

NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1402 AT RECEPTION NO. 
751339, TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINES OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1469 
AT RECEPTION NO. 842349 TO THE NORTHERNMOST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 2025869, TO 
THE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 2025869 TO 
THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT A, HILLSIDE MEADOWS, PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 1643 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1063738; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT A TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINES OF SAID OUTLOT A TO THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER THEREOF; 
  
MARINE STREET NORTH TO PEARL STREET  

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THE ARAPAHOE WEST, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION 
NO. 102555 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 3459369 TO 
THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PUBLIC HIGHWAY DESCRIBED ON FILM 593 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 837907 TO AN EASTERLY CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1788 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1252849; 
THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE EASTERLY LINES OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1788 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1252849 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION 
NO. 2275655; 
THENCE SOUTH 200 FEET ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 
2275655; 
THENCE WEST TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 
2706015, LOCATED 200 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF (SEE THAT LAND SURVEY 
PLAT FILED AS SURVEY NO. LS-06-0103 AT THE BOULDER COUNTY LAND USE DEPARTMENT);  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 2706015 
TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1788 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1252849 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1788 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1252849 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION 
NO.  3411974 (SEE THAT LAND SURVEY PLAT FILED AS SURVEY NO. LS-15-0032 AT THE BOULDER 
COUNTY LAND USE DEPARTMENT);  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3411974 
TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN RECEPTION NO. 3411974 
TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 1, CANYONSIDE OFFICE PARK SUBDIVISION, 
PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 2049 AT RECEPTION NO. 1513503;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 1, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF LOT 3, CANYONSIDE OFFICE PARK SUBDIVISION TO THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 3 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  

Agenda Item 3F     Page 11Packet Page 67



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description (8/11) 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID LOT 3 EXTENDED TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 
LINE (CORNER 3 AND CORNER 4) OF THE AARON ROOD PLACER CLAIM, (SEE BLM RECORDS FOR SURVEY 
NO. 86); 
THENCE NORTHERLY TO CORNER NO. 4 OF SAID AARON ROOD PLACER CLAIM; 
THENCE ALONG LINE 4-5 OF SAID AARON ROOD PLACER CLAIM TO CORNER NO. 3 OF T.J. GRAHAM 
PLACER (MINERAL SURVEY NO. 144) [NOTE: SEE CANON PARK SUBDIVISION (BLOCKS 2, 3, 4 AND 5), 
PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90153107]; 
THENCE WEST ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINES OF SAID T.J. GRAHAM PLACER TO THE CORNER NO. 7 
THEREOF; 
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINES OF SAID T.J GRAHAM PLACER TO CORNER NO. 
12 THEREOF; 
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG LINE 12-1 OF SAID T.J. GRAHAM PLACER TO A POINT ON THE WESTERLY 
RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF STATE HIGHWAY 119;  
THENCE NORTHERLY AND EASTERLY ALONG SAID RIGHT-OF WAY LINE TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 
THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3280966;  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3280966 TO 
THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3280966 TO 
THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE SOUTHERLY ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3280966 
TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3280965;  
THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3280965 TO 
THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID STATE HIGHWAY 119; 
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID HIGHWAY 119 TO A POINT ON 
THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF PEARL STREET; 
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID PEARL STREET TO THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1A, BRIERLEY ORCHARD REPLAT A, PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 1399 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 748177; 

PEARL ST TO ALPINE 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 1A TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF KNOLLWOOD SECOND ADDITION, PLAT 
RECORDED ON FILM 644 AT RECEPTION NO. 888310 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT C,  
KNOLLWOOD FIRST ADDITION, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90831672;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE EASTERLY LINES OF SAID OUTLOT C TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE 
OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1670 AT RECEPTION NO. 1099939;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1670 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 1099939 TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF, SAID CORNER ALSO BEING A POINT 
ON THE WEST LINE OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 25, 
TOWNSHIP 1  NORTH, RANGE 71 WEST;  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER, 
TO A POINT ON THE SOUTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SUNSHINE CANYON DRIVE;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF SAID SUNSHINE CANYON DRIVE TO A 
POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF LOT 25, MOUNT SANITAS HEIGHTS, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 
90591717 EXTENDED SOUTHERLY; 
THENCE NORTHERLY TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 25;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 25 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  

Agenda Item 3F     Page 12Packet Page 68



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description (8/11) 

THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID MOUNT SANITAS HEIGHTS TO A POINT 
ON WEST LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 25; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID WEST LINE TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF 
THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 25; 
THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 25 TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF BLOCK 49, AMENDED PLAT OF PART OF THE 
NEWLAND’S ADDITION, RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 90093420 EXTENDED SOUTHERLY;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID BLOCK 49;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID BLOCK 49 TO A POINT LYING 125 FEET WEST OF THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID BLOCK 49;  

ALPINE TO LOCUST 

THENCE NORTHERLY, PARALLEL TO THE EAST LINE OF BLOCKS 49, 50, 51, 52 AND 53 OF SAID AMENDED 
PLAT OF PART OF THE NEWLAND’S ADDITION TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID BLOCK 53,  
LYING 125 FEET WEST OF THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1, DAKOTA RIDGE, PLAT RECORDED ON 
FILM 894 AT RECEPTION NO. 145880; 
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF LOTS 1, 2 AND 3 OF SAID DAKOTA RIDGE TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID LOT 3; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 
2343963, TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 2343963 
TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 2343963 
TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 1813593;  
THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 
1813593 TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 2, ALVIN NEW SUBDIVISION, PLAT RECORDED AT 
RECEPTION NO. 90763997; 
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID LOT 2, TO THE NORTHERNMOST CORNER 
THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT C OF SAID ALVIN NEW SUBDIVISION, 
SAID CORNER LYING ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 1 
NORTH, RANGE 71 WEST; 
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER TO THE WESTERLY LINE OF 
SILVER LAKE DITCH;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID SILVER LAKE DITCH TO AN ANGLE POINT ON 
THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3349903; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3349903 
TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3349903 
TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NO. 3349903 
TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF CUNNINGHAM FARM, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 2738188;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID CUNNINGHAM FARM TO THE NORTHWEST 
CORNER THEREOF, SAID CORNER ALSO LYING ON THE SOUTHERLY LINE OF SPRING VALLEY ESTATES, 
PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION 90792353;  

Agenda Item 3F     Page 13Packet Page 69



Exhibit B to Ordinance 8133 
Blue Line Boundary Description (8/11) 

THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES TO THE SOUTHEAST 
CORNER OF LOT 41 THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES TO THE WESTERLY 
ANGLE POINT OF LOT 17 THEREOF, SAID POINT LYING ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 24 
ACCORDING TO THE RECORDED PLAT OF SPRING VALLEY ESTATES;  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID LOT 17, A DISTANCE OF 100 FEET; 
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 14 OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO A POINT ON THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES, SAID POINT 
LYING 200 FEET WEST OF THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF LOT 7 THEREOF;  
THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID SPRING VALLEY ESTATES TO THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO THE WESTERNMOST CORNER OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1363 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 701676;  

LOCUST TO US 36 

THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1363 AT 
RECEPTION NO. 701676 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE EAST ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1363 AT RECEPTION NO. 
701676 TO A POINT ON THE WEST LINE OF THAT PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1296 AT RECEPTION 
NO. 612855  
THENCE NORTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID PROPERTY DESCRIBED ON FILM 1296 AT RECEPTION 
NO. 612855 TO A SOUTHERLY CORNER OF OUTLOT D, MARY V. MOORE, PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 1771 
AT RECEPTION NO. 1233694, SAID CORNER LYING ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF 
SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 1 NORTH, RANGE 71 WEST;  
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT D TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT D TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE OF SAID OUTLOT D TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF 
FOUR MILE RANCH SUBDIVISION, PLAT RECORDED ON FILM 1799 AT RECEPTION 1265787;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WESTERLY LINES OF SAID FOUR MILE RANCH SUBDIVISION TO THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 OF SAID FOUR MILE RANCH SUBDIVISION;  
THENCE NORTHERLY TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF OUTLOT B, WINEGLASS RANCH SUBDIVISION, 
PLAT RECORDED AT 2695196; 
THENCE WESTERLY ALONG THE NORTHERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF LEE HILL DRIVE AS SHOWN ON THE 
RECORDED PLAT OF WINEGLASS RANCH SUBDIVISION TO THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 5, OF SAID 
WINEGLASS RANCH SUBDIVISION;  
THENCE NORTHEASTERLY TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 3 OF SAID WINE GLASS RANCH 
SUBDIVISION;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 3 TO THE NORTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;  
THENCE EASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF LOT 3 EXTENDED EASTERLY TO A POINT ON THE WEST 
LINE OF OUTLOT B, DAKOTA RIDGE VILLAGE SUBDIVISION PHASE 1, PLAT RECORDED AT RECEPTION NO. 
2114900;  
THENCE NORTHERLY ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID OUTLOT B TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE SOUTHEASTERLY ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID OUTLOT B TO THE WESTERLY RIGHT-OF-WAY 
LINE OF US HIGHWAY 36. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 14Packet Page 70



Attachment B to Agenda Memo 
Options for Charter Language and Ballot Title 

Potential substitutions for highlighted areas in Ordinance No. 8133 

OPTION 1** 

Introductory Charter Language if Ballot Question approved: 

(a) As originally adopted by the people of the City of Boulder on July 21, 1959, and known as 
the “blue line” Tthe City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or 
industrial uses to land lying on the westward side of the following described line, except as 
specifically stated herein. This provision shall not deny city water to areas which were a part of 
the City of Boulder or receiving water service from the City of Boulder on the effective date of 
this measure, July 21, 1959 November 8, 2016,  
nor to taps being supplied by said city in other areas at said effective date, on July 21, 1959. 
…. 

Ballot Question:  
QUESTION NO. ______ 

WATER NOT TO BE SUPPLIED TO AREAS WEST OF THE "BLUE LINE"  

Shall the boundary described in city Charter § 128A and approved by the voters in 1959  Section 
128A “Water not to be supplied to certain described areas; exceptions” of the City Charter be 
amended to provide that provides that the City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, 
commercial, or industrial uses to land lying on the westward side of the line be amended to  
clarify the location of the boundary and to allow the provision of water service to  existing 
developed properties as described in Ordinance No. 8133, and further shall the standards in 
Charter §128A be amended to clarify the conditions and eligibility for water service as described 
in Ordinance No. 8133? defined in Ordinance No. 8133, including the terms, map and boundary 
description which are part of the ordinance; provided however, this section shall not deny city 
water to areas which were lawfully receiving water from the City on November 8, 2016, 
repealing the existing description and establishing criteria for the provision of water to properties 
divided by the line? 

Clean version of Option 1: 
Introductory Charter Language if Ballot Question approved: 

(a) As originally adopted by the people of the City of Boulder on July 21, 1959, and known as 
the “blue line” the City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or industrial 
uses to land lying on the westward side of the following described line, except as specifically 
stated herein. This provision shall not deny city water to areas which were a part of the City of 
Boulder or receiving water service from the City of Boulder on the effective date of this 
measure,  November 8, 2016,  
…. 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 15Packet Page 71



Attachment B to Agenda Memo 
Options for Charter Language and Ballot Title 

Ballot Question:  
QUESTION NO. ______ 

WATER NOT TO BE SUPPLIED TO AREAS WEST OF THE "BLUE LINE" 

Shall the boundary described in city Charter § 128A and approved by the voters in 1959  that 
provides that the City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or industrial 
uses to land lying on the westward side of the line be amended to  clarify the location of the 
boundary and to allow the provision of water service to  existing developed properties as 
described in Ordinance No. 8133, and further shall the standards in Charter §128A be amended 
to clarify the conditions and eligibility for water service as described in Ordinance No. 8133?  

***** 

OPTION 2 

Introductory Charter Language if Ballot Question approved: 

(a) The City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or industrial uses to 
land lying on the westward side of the following described line, except as specifically stated 
herein. This provision is to clarify the location of the line and to maintain the purposes of the 
voters in 1959 to protect the city’s mountain backdrop by creating the “blue line.”  This 
provision shall not deny city water to areas which were a part of the City of Boulder, receiving 
city water through a utility services agreement, on the effective date of this measure, July 21, 
1959, nor to had lawful taps being supplied water by said the city in other areas at said on the 
effective date of this amendment to this sectionmeasure, on July 21, 1959 November 8, 2016. 
. . . . 

Ballot Question: 
QUESTION NO. ______ 

WATER NOT TO BE SUPPLIED TO AREAS WEST OF THE "BLUE LINE" 

Shall Section 128A “Water not to be supplied to certain described areas; exceptions” of the City 
Charter be amended to provide that the City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, 
commercial, or industrial uses to land lying on the westward side of the line defined by the voters 
in 1959, as the description and criteria for provision of water are clarified in Ordinance No. 
8133, including the terms, map and boundary description which are part of the ordinance; 
provided however, this section shall not deny city water to areas which were lawfully receiving 
water from the City on November 8, 2016, repealing the existing description and establishing 
criteria for the provision of water to properties divided by the line? 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 16Packet Page 72



Attachment B to Agenda Memo 
Options for Charter Language and Ballot Title 

Clean version of Option 2: 
Introductory Charter Language if Ballot Question approved: 

(a) The City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, commercial, or industrial uses to 
land lying on the westward side of the following described line, except as specifically stated 
herein. This provision is to clarify the location of the line and to maintain the purposes of the 
voters in 1959 to protect the city’s mountain backdrop by creating the “blue line.”  This 
provision shall not deny city water to areas which had lawful taps being supplied water by the 
city on the effective date of this amendment to this section, November 8, 2016. 
. . . . 

Ballot Question: 
QUESTION NO. ______ 

WATER NOT TO BE SUPPLIED TO AREAS WEST OF THE "BLUE LINE" 

Shall Section 128A “Water not to be supplied to certain described areas; exceptions” of the City 
Charter be amended to provide that the City of Boulder shall not supply water for domestic, 
commercial, or industrial uses to land lying on the westward side of the line defined by the voters 
in 1959, as the description and criteria for provision of water are clarified in Ordinance No. 
8133, including the terms, map and boundary description which are part of the ordinance; 
provided however, this section shall not deny city water to areas which were lawfully receiving 
water from the City on November 8, 2016? 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 17Packet Page 73



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: AUGUST 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE 

Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only Ordinance 8137 submitting to the registered electors of the City of Boulder at the 
special municipal coordinated election to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the 
question of amending Section 4 of the Boulder Home Rule Charter, by adding a new 
paragraph to limit the terms of council members to no more than three terms in a 
lifetime and setting forth related details.   

PRESENTERS 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Lynnette Beck, City Clerk 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this agenda item is to propose a ballot title for the initiated measure to 
amend the charter to limit the term of council members to no more than three in the 
person’s lifetime.  The measure would apply to anyone elected after November 8, 2016.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to introduce and order published by title only Ordinance 8137 submitting to the 
registered electors of the City of Boulder at the special municipal coordinated election 
to be held on Tuesday, November 8, 2016, the question of amending Section 4 of the 
Boulder Home Rule Charter, by adding a paragraph to restrict eligibility of council 
members to those who have not been elected to three or more terms and setting forth 
related details. 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 1Packet Page 74



COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
Economic – None Identified.  

• Environmental –None Identified.
• Social – Proponents assert that the measure will create more opportunities for a

wider range of individuals to serve on the city council.  The benefit will be offset
to some extent by the loss of institutional memory on the city council.

OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal – The measure should be revenue neutral to the city.
• Staff time – Staff workload impact will be limited to additional time necessary to

support training for new council members.

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
A council committee of the whole held a public hearing at the August 2, 2016 city 
council meeting. No member of the public testified. 

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 
A petitioner’s committee circulated a petition and the City Clerk provided a Certificate of 
Sufficiency to the petition committee and to council.  A public hearing was noticed and 
the council recessed into a committee of the whole to hold the public hearing.  The 
committee recommended to the council to direct staff to draft the ordinance necessary to 
put the initiative on the ballot.   

This matter is the ordinance to place the initiated measure on the ballot.  The contents of 
the petition circulated provided: 

In order to broaden the opportunities for public service and to assure that 
elected officials of governments are responsive to the citizens of those 
governments, no person shall be eligible to office as Council member if he 
or she has been elected to office as Council member three or more times in 
his or her lifetime. This limitation on eligibility shall apply to any Council 
member serving a term of office on or after November 8, 2016, but shall 
not prevent such Council member from completing a term in effect at that 
time. 

The attached ordinances would place the following ballot question on the November 8, 
2016, election ballot.  The language is to mirror the first paragraph of Section 4 of the 
charter. 

Shall Section 4 of the Boulder Home Rule charter by amended by adding a 
new paragraph to read:  No person shall be eligible to the office of council 
member if such person has previously been elected to three or more terms 
of office after November 8, 2016? 

A protest was filed on August 8, 2016, against the petitions asserting that the petition 
committee did not follow the proper procedures for this measure to be on the ballot.   The 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 2Packet Page 75



hearing on the protest must be set 5-20 days after the clerk sends the notice of the protest 
to the petitioner committee.  The hearing is set for the afternoon of August 18.  The 
deadline for filing protests to this initiative was August 10.   

The protest hearing is before the City Clerk.  If either the protestors or the petitioner’s 
committee desires, the decision of the clerk may be appealed to the Boulder District 
Court.  The deadline for council to certify ballot measures to the ballot is September 9, 
2016.  Therefore, staff recommends that council pass Ordinance 8137 to second reading 
on September 6, at which time the status of the protest(s) will be known.  Staff can then 
recommend whether the ordinance be adopted for the initiative to be on the ballot or not 
based on the status of the protest(s). 

The protest filed and related documents can be found at:  
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/136495/Electronic.aspx 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Proposed Ordinance 8137 

Agenda Item 3G     Page 3Packet Page 76



k:\ccco\o-8137-1st-2463 doc.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE 8137 

AN ORDINANCE SUBMITTING TO THE QUALIFIED 
ELECTORS OF THE CITY OF BOULDER AT A SPECIAL 
MUNICIPAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, THE 8TH 
DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2016, THE QUESTION OF AMENDING 
SECTION 4 OF THE BOULDER CITY CHARTER TO ADD A 
NEW PARAGRAPH TO LIMIT THE QUALIFICATIONS FOR 
SERVICE OF A COUNCILMEMBER TO THREE TERMS IN A 
LIFETIME; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. A special municipal coordinated election will be held in the City of 

Boulder, County of Boulder and State of Colorado, on Tuesday, November 8, 2016. 

Section 2.   At that election, a question shall be submitted to the electors of the city of 

Boulder entitled by law to vote, that will allow voters to consider the following amendment to 

Section 4 of the city Charter pertaining to the qualifications of councilmembers by adding a new 

paragraph as follows: 

Sec. 4 - Qualifications of council members.  

No person shall be eligible to the office of a council member if such person 
has previously been elected to three or more terms of office. 

Section 3.  The official ballot shall contain the following ballot title, which shall also be 

the designation and submission clause for the measure: 

QUESTION NO. ______ 

QUALIFICATIONS OF COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Shall Section 4 of the Boulder Home Rule charter by amended by adding a new 
paragraph to restrict councilmembers to three terms in the person’s lifetime, 
which requirement shall apply to any candidate for council after November 8, 
2016?  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 4Packet Page 77



k:\ccco\o-8137-1st-2463 doc.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

For the measure ______      Against the measure _____ 

Section 4. If a majority of all the votes cast at the election on the measure submitted 

are for the measure, the measure shall be deemed to have passed and the Charter shall be 

amended as provided in this ordinance. If this ballot measure is approved by the voters, the 

Charter shall be so amended, and the City Council may adopt any necessary amendments to the 

Boulder Revised Code to implement this change. 

Section 5. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 6. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 5Packet Page 78



k:\ccco\o-8137-1st-2463 doc.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of September, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
City Clerk 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3G     Page 6Packet Page 79



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  August 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE 

Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Emergency Ordinance No. 8135 
adopting Supplement No. 128, which codifies previously adopted Ordinance Nos. 8110, 8111, 8112, 
8113, 8114, 8121, 8125, and other miscellaneous corrections and amendments, as an amendment to the 
Boulder Revised Code, 1981. 

PRESENTER: 
Office of the City Attorney 
Thomas A. Carr, City Attorney 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

The Boulder Revised Code (“B.R.C. 1981”) is the official book of laws of the City of Boulder.  Four 
times a year (quarterly), the City Council is asked to adopt supplements to the B.R.C. 1981.  An 
ordinance format is used to bring ordinances that the City Council adopted in the prior quarter, or 
effective prior to the upcoming supplement, into the B.R.C. 1981, and to ensure that there is no question 
regarding what constitutes the official laws of the City of Boulder.  These supplement ordinances are 
approved as a matter of routine by the City Council.  

In order to generate the printed supplements to the B.R.C. as soon as possible, council is asked to adopt 
the proposed ordinance at first reading as an emergency measure. 

The text of Supplement No. 128 has been previously adopted by the following ordinances: 

Ord 
#8110 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 2-3-8, “LIBRARY COMMISSION,” 
B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

Ord 
#8111 

AN AMENDING CHAPTER 9-9-21, “SIGNS,” BY ELIMINATING ANY 
CONTENT-BASED RESTRICTIONS AND AMENDING THE RESTRICTION 
ON AWNING SIGNS TO ALLOW AWNING SIGNS IN THE BOULDER 
VALLEY REGIONAL CENTER TO INCLUDE LETTERS OF NOT GREATER 
THAN TWENTY-FOUR INCHES IN HEIGHT AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

Ord 
#8112 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 10-7.7 
“COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL ENERGY EFFICIENCY,” B.R.C. 1981 TO 
CLARIFY REGULATION OF LARGE INDUSTRIAL CAMPUSES RELATED 
TO ENERGY USAGE, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 1Packet Page 80



Ord 
#8113 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 13-1, “ELECTIONS,” B.R.C. 1981; 
TO CHANGE FROM THE UNIFORM ELECTION CODE TO THE MUNICIPAL 
ELECTION CODE TO STREAMLINE THE PROCESS FOR MUNICIPAL NON-
PARTISAN ELECTIONS; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

Ord 
#8114 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 13-2, “CAMPAIGN 
FINANCING DISCLOSURE,” B.R.C. 1981; CHAPTER 13-3, “CAMPAIGN 
ACTIVITIES,” B.R.C. 1981; AND CHAPTER 13-4, “COMPLAINTS RELATED 
TO ELECTION PROCEDURES AND REGULATIONS,” B.R.C. 1981, TO MAKE 
CHANGES TO CONFORM TO RECENT SUPREME COURT CASES AND 
CHANGES TO STATE LAW, CHANGE THE CAMPAIGN LIMITS FOR 
MATCHING FUNDS FROM FORMULAS TO DOLLARS, CLARIFY ISSUES; 
AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

Ord 
#8121 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 9, “LAND USE CODE,” B.R.C. 1981, TO 
ADD A FORM-BASED CODE REVIEW PROCESS AND TO ADD REVIEW 
STANDARDS IN AN APPENDIX TO THE LAND USE CODE APPLICABLE TO 
DESIGNATED FORM-BASED CODE AREAS AND ADMINISTERED 
THROUGH THE FORM-BASED CODE REVIEW PROCESS, AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

Ord 
#8125 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 13-2, “CAMPAIGN 
FINANCING DISCLOSURE,” B.R.C. 1981, SECTIONS 13-2-2 AND 13-2-3, 
B.R.C. 1981 TO CORRECT ERRORS; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

FISCAL IMPACTS: 

Budgetary:   None 

Staff Time:   None beyond the time always allocated to code maintenance in the City Attorney’s 
overall work plan. 

Economic:    None 

COUNCIL FILTER IMPACTS: 

Ongoing code maintenance is an essential and largely administrative obligation of the city. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following motion:   

Motion to adopt Emergency Ordinance No. 8135 regarding Supplement No. 128. 

FORMAT NOTES: 

Code amendments (if any) may be reflected in strike out and double underline format along with a 
“Reason for Change” as part of this agenda item.  Such amendments are intended to correct non-
substantive errors discovered through review of these ordinances and/or which may have occurred in 
previously adopted ordinances already in the B.R.C. 1981.  Major and/or substantive corrections or 
revisions are brought forward as a separate ordinance to City Council during the normal course of future 
City Council business. 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 2Packet Page 81



DISCUSSION: 

This supplement includes ordinances that were adopted by the City Council in the last supplement 
quarter, or are effective prior to the upcoming supplement.  They are added to the official version of the 
B.R.C. 1981 by way of the attached supplement ordinance.  The City Council adopts a quarterly 
supplement ordinance to ensure that a clearly identifiable version of the Boulder Revised Code is 
legislatively adopted. 

The printed supplements to the B.R.C. may not be distributed until the proposed adopting ordinance is 
effective.  The laws of the city should be current and available to the residents of the City of Boulder as 
soon as possible, therefore, council is asked to adopt the proposed ordinance at first reading as an 
emergency measure. 

AMENDMENTS: 

1. Section 10-3-2, B.R.C. 1981.

10-3-2. - Rental License Required Before Occupancy and License Exemptions.  

(a) No operator shall allow, or offer to allow through advertisement or otherwise, any person to occupy 
any rental property as a tenant or lessee or otherwise for a valuable consideration unless each room 
or group of rooms constituting the rental property has been issued a valid rental license by the city 
manager. Any advertisement shall include the rental licensing number assigned by the city manager. 

…. 

Reason for change: The clause added above was adopted by Council in Ord. 8050 on Sept 29, 2015. 
On Nov. 10, 2015, Ord. 8072 made additional changes to that section.  However, Ord. 8072 also, 
inadvertently, repealed the above-noted clause.  The change noted above would correct that error and 
ensure the section contained all requirements Council intended.  

2. Section 10-7.7-8, B.R.C. 1981.

10-7.7-8. - Large Industrial Campus.  

(a) The owner of a large industrial campus shall on or before June 1, 2016 and on or before June 1 in 
each year thereafter submit to the city manager the following information:  

(1) A written narrative description, which will be publically disclosed, including the following:  

(A) The industrial campus energy usage reduction goals and emission reduction goals, both at 
the site and at the corporate level; and  

(B) A summary of energy efficiency or on-site renewable energy projects implemented in the 
reporting year.  

(2) An oral report or presentation (the "Annual Report") of the following information provided 
during an annual meeting between the Large Industrial Campus and city staff members who are 
identified in an agreement executed pursuant to Section 10-7.7-7(d), B.R.C:  

(A) A qualitative comparison of energy usage in the reporting year with the preceding year and 
an explanation of the reason for any substantial (more than 2.5 percent) change; and  

Agenda Item 3H     Page 3Packet Page 82



(B) Using a formula supplied by the city manager, the percentage of total energy savings 
during the reporting year. Supporting documentation for this calculation must be disclosed 
to the city during this annual meeting.  

(C) The Annual Report shall be treated as confidential in accordance with the terms of the 
agreement executed pursuant to Section 10-7.7-7(d).  

…. 

Reason for change: On May 17, 2016, Council adopted Ord. 8112, which ordinance included additions 
to Section 10-7.7-8, Large Industrial Campus.”  The two amendments noted above correct drafting 
errors in citing the intended section (Section 10-7.7-7).   

ATTACHMENT: 

A -  Proposed Emergency Ordinance No. 8135 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 4Packet Page 83



 

K:\CCCO\o-8135 supp 128-2347.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8135 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE ADOPTING SUPPLEMENT NO. 128, 
WHICH CODIFIES PREVIOUSLY ADOPTED ORDINANCE NOS. 8110, 
8111, 8112, 8113, 8114, 8121, 8125, AND OTHER MISCELLANEOUS 
CORRECTIONS AND AMENDMENTS, AS AN AMENDMENT TO THE 
BOULDER REVISED CODE, 1981, AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Legislative Findings. 

A.    Supplement No. 128 amending the Boulder Revised Code 1981 (“B.R.C.”) has been 
printed. 

B.    The City Council intends that this supplement be codified and published as a part of the 
B.R.C. 

C.    Supplement No. 128 to the B.R.C. is a part of this ordinance and contains all of the 
amendments to the B.R.C. enacted by the City Council in Ordinance Nos.8110, 8111, 8112, 8113, 8114, 
8121, 8125, and other miscellaneous corrections and amendments. The City Council intends to adopt 
this supplement as an amendment to the B.R.C. 

D.    The ordinances contained in Supplement No. 128 are available in printed copy to each 
member of the City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, and the published text of the supplement, 
along with the text of those ordinances, is available for public inspection and acquisition in the office of 
the city clerk of the City of Boulder, in the Municipal Building, 1777 Broadway, Boulder, Colorado. 

Section 2.  The City Council adopts Supplement No. 128 by this reference. 

Section 3.  The City Council orders that a copy of Supplement No. 128 as proposed for adoption 

by reference herein be on file in the office of the city clerk of the City of Boulder, Colorado, Municipal 

Building, 1777 Broadway, City of Boulder, Boulder County, Colorado, and may be inspected by any 

person at any time during regular business hours pending of the adoption of this ordinance. 

Section 4.  The annotations, source notes, codifier’s notes, and other editorial matter included in 

the printed B.R.C. are not part of the legislative text.  These editorial provisions are provided to give the 

Agenda Item 3H     Page 5

Attachment A- Proposed Ordinance

Packet Page 84



 

K:\CCCO\o-8135 supp 128-2347.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

public additional information for added convenience.  No implication or presumption of a legislative 

construction is to be drawn from these materials. 

Section 5.  The B.R.C., or any chapter or section of it, may be proved by a copy certified by the 

city clerk of the City of Boulder, under seal of the city; or, when printed in book or pamphlet form and 

purporting to be printed by authority of the city.  It shall be received in evidence in all courts without 

further proof of the existence and regularity of the enactment of any particular ordinance of the B.R.C. 

Section 6.  These provisions of the B.R.C. shall be given effect and interpreted as though a 

continuation of prior laws and not as new enactments. 

Section 7.  Unless expressly provided otherwise, any violation of the provisions of the B.R.C., as 

supplemented herein, shall be punishable by a fine of not more than one thousand dollars or 

incarceration for not more than ninety days in jail, or by both such fine and incarceration, as provided in 

section 5-2-4, “General Penalties,” B.R.C. 1981. 

Section 8.  Section 10-3-2, B.R.C. 1981 is amended as follows: 

10-3-2. - Rental License Required Before Occupancy and License Exemptions.  

(a) No operator shall allow, or offer to allow through advertisement or otherwise, any person to occupy 
any rental property as a tenant or lessee or otherwise for a valuable consideration unless each room 
or group of rooms constituting the rental property has been issued a valid rental license by the city 
manager. Any advertisement shall include the rental licensing number assigned by the city manager. 

…. 

Section 9.  Section 10-7.7-8, B.R.C. 1981 is amended as follows: 

10-7.7-8. - Large Industrial Campus.  

(a) The owner of a large industrial campus shall on or before June 1, 2016 and on or before June 1 in 
each year thereafter submit to the city manager the following information:  

(1) A written narrative description, which will be publically disclosed, including the following:  

(A) The industrial campus energy usage reduction goals and emission reduction goals, both at 
the site and at the corporate level; and  

(B) A summary of energy efficiency or on-site renewable energy projects implemented in the 
reporting year.  

Agenda Item 3H     Page 6

Attachment A- Proposed Ordinance

Packet Page 85



 

K:\CCCO\o-8135 supp 128-2347.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(2) An oral report or presentation (the "Annual Report") of the following information provided 
during an annual meeting between the Large Industrial Campus and city staff members who are 
identified in an agreement executed pursuant to Section 10-7.7-7(d), B.R.C:  

(A) A qualitative comparison of energy usage in the reporting year with the preceding year and 
an explanation of the reason for any substantial (more than 2.5 percent) change; and  

(B) Using a formula supplied by the city manager, the percentage of total energy savings 
during the reporting year. Supporting documentation for this calculation must be disclosed 
to the city during this annual meeting.  

(C) The Annual Report shall be treated as confidential in accordance with the terms of the 
agreement executed pursuant to Section 10-7.7-7(d).  

…. 

Section 10.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of the 

residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 11.  The printed supplements cannot be distributed until the adopting ordinance is 

effective.  The laws of the city should be current and available to the residents of the City of Boulder as 

soon as possible.  On that basis, this ordinance is declared to be an emergency measure and shall be in 

full force and effect upon its final passage. 

READ ON FIRST READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AS AN EMERGENCY MEASURE BY 

TWO-THIRDS COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY 

this 16th day of August 2016. 

____________________________________ 
            Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
City Clerk  

Agenda Item 3H     Page 7

Attachment A- Proposed Ordinance

Packet Page 86



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  August 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE:  Introduction and consideration of a motion to order published by 
title only and adopt by Emergency Ordinance No. 8136 amending Section 6-1-16, 
"Dogs Running at Large Prohibited," B.R.C. 1981 to add the following properties 
Tippitt, Wells-East, Benedictine Abbey, Thorne I, Thorne II, Thorne III, Knollwood 
Outlot, Knollwood Park, McCabe-Sanchez, Madden-Rosenbaum, Brierly I, Arapahoe 
Chemicals and portions of  the Wells West and Holmes open space properties as 
defined in Attachment A to those areas in which voice and sight control of dogs is 
permitted,  and setting forth related details. 

PRESENTER/S  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Janet Michels, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
Tracy Winfree, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) 
Mark Davison, Community Connections and Partnerships Manager, OSMP 
Mark Gershman, Planning Supervisor, OSMP 
Burton Stoner, Acting Ranger Services Supervisor, OSMP 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

City Council is considering the annexation of properties to address policies in the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and requirements of the city’s 
municipalization separation plan. Some of these properties are city-owned open 
space lands where regulations allow dogs to be managed either on-leash or under 
voice and sight control.  The purpose of this memo is to request approval of an 
ordinance (Attachment A) that would allow existing dog regulations to 
continue by adding the following open space properties (Attachment B) to those 
areas where voice and sight control of dogs is permitted within the Boulder city 
limits:   

Agenda Item 3I     Page 1Packet Page 87



Shanahan Area  

Brierly I  
Wells-East  
Wells-West (partial) 
Benedictine Abbey  

Sunshine Canyon Area 
Holmes (partial) 
Knollwood Outlot  
Knollwood Park  
Madden-Rosenbaum  
McCabe-Sanchez  
Thorne I, II, III 

Others 

Arapahoe Chemicals 
Tippitt 

Trails on these properties will also maintain their voice and sight control status.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to order published by title only and adopt by Emergency Ordinance No. 8136 
amending Section 6-1-16, "Dogs Running at Large Prohibited," B.R.C. 1981 to add the 
following properties Tippitt, Wells-East, Benedictine Abbey, Thorne I, Thorne II, Thorne 
III, Knollwood Outlot, Knollwood Park, McCabe-Sanchez, Madden-Rosenbaum, Brierly 
I, Arapahoe Chemicals and portions of  the Wells West and Holmes open space 
properties as defined in Attachment A to those areas in which voice and sight control of 
dogs is permitted,  and setting forth related details. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic – No economic impact is anticipated from City Council approval of the

recommended action.
 Environmental – Changes in impacts to ecological values and other environmental

factors are anticipated to be small as staff is recommending this ordinance to
maintain current conditions.

 Social - This action will serve to meet the specific needs of a segment of the
community by continuing to maintain voice and sight control opportunities.

OTHER IMPACTS 
 Fiscal - If the recommended action is approved by City Council, no changes to

Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) management of these properties will
occur as a result of the annexation process. Consequently, there are no anticipated
fiscal impacts from City Council approval.  If the ordinance is not adopted and no
other actions taken, there will be costs associated with developing and installing
new signs and other related infrastructure. These costs would be accommodated
by funds appropriated by council for OSMP use the 2016 or 2017 city budget.

 Staff time - As with fiscal impacts, no change is anticipated should City Council
adopt the ordinance because that action would maintain the status quo.  If the
ordinance is not adopted, and no other action taken, dog regulations would change
in the subject properties, and there would be the need for significant staff time to
address concerns of affected members of the community. Staff has not planned

Agenda Item 3I     Page 2Packet Page 88



for such an expenditure of staff time and depending upon the situation, other work 
may need to be deferred or removed from the work program. 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Staff from the City Attorney’s Office briefed the Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) 
on the annexation proposal on July 27, 2016 and Planning Board on July 28, 2016. 
OSMP staff provided information to the OSBT about the effect of annexation on dog 
regulation and staff’s proposal to develop this ordinance and recommend its acceptance 
by City Council on July 27.  Board members raised no concerns.   

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

At the time the preparation of this memorandum, staff had received no feedback from 
community members on this matter  

BACKGROUND 
Several city-owned parcels surrounding and within the city have never been annexed. 
The properties were not annexed for a variety of reasons.  The city’s policy has been to 
annex enclaves. In preparing for potential municipalization, maps of the city boundaries 
have been scrutinized very thoroughly, and the separation plan requires that certain other 
properties be annexed for the city to provide electrical service.  A first reading memo and 
ordinance1 was presented on Aug. 2, 2016 to council for the purpose of annexing certain 
city-owned properties and enclaves.  

The annexations proposed for August 2016, include city-owned and managed open space 
lands.  On 14 of the open space parcels proposed for annexation current regulations allow 
dogs to be managed either by being leashed or under voice and sight control. These areas 
are depicted in Attachment B.  With the annexation of these parcels visitors would be 
subject to the city’s dog-on-leash requirement.  Since this was not the intent of the 
annexation, staff has developed a way to avoid this unintended consequence of 
annexation. 

ANALYSIS 

All but one of the OSMP properties affected by the proposed ordinance are managed 
under the provision of the West Trail Study Area (WTSA) Plan. The plan, approved by 
the OSBT and accepted by City Council included extensive public outreach and 
participation.  The management of dogs was a significant issue for the community, the 
OSBT and council; and the decisions finalized in the plan represented significant 
integration and compromise of a variety of community interests. 

The proposed annexations are generally unrelated to the use, enjoyment and protection 
of OSMP lands and resources.  They were not developed with the intent to change the 
existing dog regulations.  The proposed ordinance was developed to maintain the 
regulatory framework established by the city’s planning and community engagement 
activities that integrated a range of open space services on these properties and was 
ultimately approved by the OSBT and City Council.  Staff anticipates that community 

1 See pp. 410-434 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 3Packet Page 89

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20160802_Agenda_Packet_final-1-201607291710.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20160802_Agenda_Packet_final-1-201607291710.pdf


members would be concerned if these regulations were changed without a similar level 
of community involvement. Since the factors leading to this annexation do not require a 
change in dog regulations, staff is recommending that the existing rules continue.  The 
proposed ordinance was developed to accomplish that recommendation.  

This recommendation is consistent with past practices and the proposed ordinance is 
similar to others that have been adopted by council excepting areas of open space lands 
within city limits from the dog-on-leash requirement. 

The Arapahoe Chemicals property falls outside of the areas for which Trail Study Area 
(TSA) plans have been prepared.  The property is small (approximately one half acre) 
and relatively inaccessible.  It lies between Boulder Creek and the Cottonwood Grove, 
an open space property where public access is prohibited. Visitation to the Arapahoe 
Chemicals property, if it occurs at all, is extremely low.  While there would be little 
practical effect to the change in dog regulations on this property resulting from 
annexation, there could be concerns from some members of the community that the 
change was not done in manner consistent with other OSMP planning practices.  In 
order to provide a transparent process for OSMP management, staff recommends 
inclusion of the Arapahoe Chemicals property in the ordinance.  Recommendations for 
changes, if any, in the regulations affecting management of the property will be 
identified as part of the development for TSA plan (or equivalent) for this area.   

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Proposed Ordinance 
B. Map showing Dog-on-Leash Exception properties. 

. 

Agenda Item 3I     Page 4Packet Page 90



K:\CMEN\o - 8136 - 1st-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27

28

ORDINANCE NO. 8136 
AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 6-1-
16, “DOGS RUNNING AT LARGE PROHIBITED,” B.R.C. 1981, 
TO ADD THE TIPPITT, WELLS-EAST, BENEDICTINE 
ABBEY, THORNE I, THORNE II, THORNE III, KNOLLWOOD 
OUTLOT, KNOLLWOOD PARK, MCCABE-SANCHEZ, 
MADDEN-ROSENBAUM, BRIERLY I, ARAPAHOE 
CHEMICALS AND PORTIONS OF  THE WELLS WEST AND 
HOLMES OPEN SPACE PROPERTIES, AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 6-1-16, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-1-16.  Dogs Running at Large Prohibited.  

(a) No person owning or keeping any dog shall fail to keep the dog on the premises of the guardian 
or keeper unless the dog is: 
(1) On a leash held by a person; or 
(2) Within a vehicle or similarly physically confined and without access to passers-by. 

(b) No person owning or keeping any dog shall fail to keep the dog on a leash held by a person 
within any area where a rule enacted by the city manager for the protection of wildlife 
prohibits dogs off leash.  

(c) No person owning or keeping any dog shall fail to keep that dog from entering any area where 
a rule enacted by the city manager for the protection of wildlife or natural resources prohibits 
dogs.  

(d) The maximum penalty for a first conviction of this section is a fine of $100. For a second 
conviction within two years, based on date of violation, the maximum penalty shall be a fine 
of $200. For a third and each subsequent conviction within two years based upon the date of 
the first violation, the minimum penalty shall be a fine of not less than $300. The municipal 
court may impose any of the conditions reasonably related to the violation for a suspended 
sentence or probation as provided in Section 2-6-37, "Sentence, Execution and Writ of 
Commitment, Suspension, Probation, or Default," B.R.C. 1981. For violations that occur on 
land owned by the city and constituting open space or other city property where voice and 
sight control is permitted under Section 6-1-16, "Dogs Running at Large Prohibited," B.R.C. 
1981, the court may impose conditions that include without limitation attendance at classes 
related to the voice and sight control regulations of the city, evaluation or training of the dog 
to ensure that it is capable of complying with voice and sight control requirements, or the 
temporary suspension or permanent revocation of voice and sight control privileges.  

(e) It is an affirmative defense [6] to a charge of violation of this section that the dog was: 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 5Packet Page 91



K:\CMEN\o - 8136 - 1st-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27

28

(1) (A) Outside of the corporate limits of the city; or 
(B) Inside the city limits within any of the following areas on land owned by the city and 

constituting park land or open space land: 
i. The areas annexed by Ordinance Nos. 4166, 4167, 4177, 4178, 4179, 4180,

4181, 4182, 4183, 4184, and 4577; [7]

ii. The following portions of open space land lying along the North Foothills Trail,
as that trail is shown on the city's most recent official trails map, which runs
north from Lee Hill Road from approximately one mile west of Broadway and
turns east to cross U.S. 36: the entire width between the trail fences from Lee
Hill Road north and west along the eastern and northern boundary of the area
annexed by Ordinance Nos. 4143 and 4163, and, at the end of the trail fencing,
the area starting one hundred feet west of the trail and extending east across it to
the eastern boundary fence of the land annexed by Ordinance Nos. 4143, 4147,
4163 and 4164, also including the area within one hundred feet northerly of the
trail as it goes east toward its juncture with U.S. 36;

iii. The part of Heuston Park constituting roughly the eastern one-third of the park
and lying west of the base of the slope north and west of the path along the north
side of the ditch, as defined by signs and markers erected by the city manager
delineating it as a voice (as defined in Section 6-1-2 "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981)
and sight control area;

iv. A parcel of land containing one hundred twenty acres, more or less, in Section
12, T1S R71W of the 6th P.M., as described in the deed recorded February 28,
1973, at reception number 055946, Boulder County records. Said parcel is
commonly known as "NCAR Park" and lies north of Bear Creek, east of the
North-South centerline of said Section 12, and west of the western boundary of
the National Center for Atmospheric Research property; and a portion of the
parcel commonly known as "Batchelder" described as: the E ½ of the NE ¼ of
Section 1, T1S R71W of the 6th P.M. lying outside the boundary of Chautauqua
Park. Said parcel is described in the deed recorded May 5, 1898, at Book 206,
Page 24, Boulder County records along with a portion of the parcel commonly
known as "Austin-Russell" described as the eastern portion of the W ½ of the
NE ¼ of Section 1, T1S R71W of the 6th P.M., described in the deed recorded
April 21, 1903, at Book 270, Page 40, Boulder County records, located within
the city limits of Boulder, Colorado; and a parcel of land located in the SE ¼ of
the NW ¼ of Section 25, T1S R71W of the 6th P.M., as described in the deed
recorded October 11, 1995, at reception number 01554297, Boulder County
records. Said parcel is commonly known as "Seventh Day Adventist" along with
a parcel of land located in the SE ¼ of the NW ¼ of Section 25, T1S R71W of
the 6th P.M., as described in the deed recorded March 9, 2001, at reception
number 2126152, Boulder County records. Said parcel is commonly known as
"Community Hospital" along with a portion of a parcel commonly known as
"Boulder Memorial Hospital" described as that part of the N ½ of the NW ¼ of
the SW ¼ of Section 25, T1S R71W of the 6th P.M., located N of County Road
52 (Sunshine Road) and including Lot 15, Block 11, Mount Sanitas Heights

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 6Packet Page 92



K:\CMEN\o - 8136 - 1st-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27

28

subdivision, as recorded in the Boulder County records; and Outlot D, Shanahan 
Ridge Six, a part of the NW ¼ of Section 17, T1S R70W of the 6th P.M., as 
shown on plat recorded July 13, 1977, as Plan File P-6-F-1-21, at reception 
number 232114, film 969, Boulder County records; and a parcel of land located 
in the SE ¼ of the NE ¼ of the NW ¼ of Section 36, T1N R71W of the 6th P.M., 
as described in the deed recorded September 13, 1990, at reception number 
01063953, Boulder County records. Said parcel is commonly known as "St. 
Germain" along with a portion of a parcel commonly known as "Moore, Ann & 
Donald" described as: the northern portion of a parcel in the NE ¼ of Section 
36, T1N R71W of the 6th P.M., described in the deed recorded April 17, 1987, 
at reception number 00842349, Boulder County records, located within the city 
limits of Boulder, Colorado. Said parcel is referred to as "Parcel 8" along with a 
portion of a parcel commonly known as "Moore, Ann & Donald" described as: 
the eastern portion of a parcel located in the NE ¼ of Section 36, T1N R71W of 
the 6th P.M., described in the deed recorded April 8, 1986, at reception number 
00751339, Boulder County records, located within the city limits of Boulder, 
Colorado. Said parcel is referred to as "Parcel 7" along with a portion of a parcel 
commonly known as "Overlook" described as: the eastern portion of Tracts 437 
and 438 as shown on the Boulder County Assessor parcel map for Section 36, 
T1N R71W of the 6th P.M., located within the city limits of Boulder, Colorado; 

v. A portion of a parcel of land commonly known as the "NCAR Mesa Site"
described as: Parcel 1: the West 650' of the North 260' of the E ½ of the NE ¼
of Section 12, T1S R71W of the 6th P.M., and Parcel 2: the North 260' of the W
½ of the NE ¼ of Section 12, T1S R71W of the 6th P.M. less that portion
described in the deed recorded February 28, 1973, at reception number 55946,
Boulder County records. Said Parcels 1 and 2 contain a section of the Skunk
Canyon Trail, north of Skunk Creek; or

vi. A portion of a parcel of land commonly known as "Burke II," described as a
portion of the E ½ of the SW ¼ of Section 34, T1N R70W of the 6th P.M., as
described in the deed recorded February 6, 1980, at reception number 00382786,
Boulder County records;

vii. The Tippitt, Wells-East, Benedictine Abbey, Thorne I, Thorne II, Thorne III,
Knollwood Outlot, Knollwood Park, McCabe-Sanchez, Madden-Rosenbaum, 
Brierly I, Arapahoe Chemicals and portions of the Wells West and Holmes 
open space properties as illustrated on maps in Appendix A-1 through A-4 at 
the end of this section, which are incorporated by reference into this chapter; and  

(2) In an area which had not been posted by the city manager to require a leash; and 
(3) Accompanied by a guardian or keeper, provided that the dog is: 

(A) Within voice and sight control of such person; and 
(B) Visibly wearing a Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tag that has been lawfully 

obtained pursuant to Chapter 6-13, "Voice and Sight Control Evidence Tags," B.R.C. 
1981; and  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 7Packet Page 93



K:\CMEN\o - 8136 - 1st-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27

28

(4) The accompanying guardian or keeper had a leash in such person's immediate possession 
in a condition to be attached to the dog without undue delay. 

(5) This affirmative defense is not applicable if the accompanying guardian or keeper has 
more than two dogs simultaneously unleashed or unrestrained. 

Footnotes: 

--- (6) --- 

Ordinance No. 5811, adopted by the voters on November 5, 1996, authorized city council to "provide site-
specific exceptions to the dog leash law in parks and open space areas within the city limits, after a 
recommendation by the city manager and a favorable vote of a majority of the parks and recreation 
advisory board or the open space board of trustees, as applicable." 

--- (7) --- 

This area covers the strip of land generally running east from U.S. 36 through Boulder Valley Ranch and 
the Boulder Reservoir and Coot Lake to 63rd Street which constitutes park land on the east and open space 
land on the west. 

Section 2.  The open space properties identified in section 6-1-16 (e)(1)(B)(vii), B.R.C. 

1981, above, are pending annexation in Ordinance 8128. Dogs are currently permitted off leash 

on those properties if the guardian complies with the City’s voice and sight control regulations. If 

Ordinance 8128 is adopted, the newly annexed open space properties would require all dogs 

visiting those properties to be on a leash, held by a person. This ordinance will exempt those 

newly annexed open space properties from the City’s leash requirements, achieving the goal of 

maintaining the existing regulatory framework of the voice and sight control program.  On that 

basis, this ordinance is declared to be an emergency measure and shall be in full force and effect 

upon its final passage. 

Section 3.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 4.  This ordinance shall become effective only upon the adoption of Ordinance 

8128. 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 8Packet Page 94



K:\CMEN\o - 8136 - 1st-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27

28

Section 5.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

READ ON FIRST READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AS AN EMERGENCY 

MEASURE BY TWO-THIRDS COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Suzanne Jones  
Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________ 
City Clerk  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 9Packet Page 95



Broadway

17
th 

St

18
th 

St

19
th 

St

Cascade Av

20
th 

St

Table Mesa Dr

15
th 

St

Kohler Dr

Mariposa Av

Bluebell Av

Columbine Av13
th 

St

14
th 

St

12
th 

St

9th
 St

Vassar Dr

11
th 

St

10
th 

St

16
th 

St

Dartmouth Av

22
nd

 S
t 27

th 
Wy

Lin
co

ln 
Pl

Ithaca Dr

Rayleigh RdCo
mp

ton
 R

d

Kenwood Dr

27
th 

St

Ki
nn

iki
nic

 R
d

Curie Cr
Baseline Rd

Hollyberry Ln

Goddard Pl

King Av

Bellevue Dr

Sierra Dr

Dr
ak

e S
t

Chautauqua Res Rd
Clematis Dr

Overlook Dr

Deer Valley Rd

Wi
ld 

Ro
se

 R
d

Fa
ir 

PlKing Av

13
th 

St

Bluebell Av
16

th 
St

Skunk Canyon

NIST Service Rd

Kohler Mesa

En
ch

an
ted

 M
es

a

Fo
ur 

Pin
es

NCAR - Table Mesa

NCAR - Skunk Canyon

Ko
hle

r S
pu

r

Mc
Cl

int
oc

k U
pp

er

Fo
ur 

Pin
es

Four Pines

Four P
ines

City of Boulder Open Space Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions I

Tippitt
Property

OSMP Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions

OSMP Lands

City Limits

Legend

OSMP Trails

APPENDIX A-1 Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 10Packet Page 96



4th
 St

6th
 St

Canyon Bv

Pine St

Mapleton Av

Alpine Av

Marine St

College Av

Dewey Av

9th
 St

5th
 St

Pleasant St

Spruce St

Pearl St
Sunshine Canyon Dr

Maxwell Av

University Av

7th
 St

Concord Av

Highland Av

North St

3rd
 St

Walnut St

8th
 St

Balsam Av

11
th 

St

Green Rock Dr

State Hwy 119
10

th 
St

Gr
an

t P
l

Arapahoe Av

Knollwood Dr

De
an

 Pl

Flagstaff Rd

Mountain View Rd

Ja
y S

t

Geneva Av

Streamside Ln

Ma
rsh

all
 St

Arapahoe Av

4th
 St

5th St

5th
 St

Ja
y S

t

8th St

North St

Arapahoe Av

Spruce St

6th
 St

7th St

5th
 St

3rd
 St

5th St

5th
 St

6th
 St

Pearl St

7th
 St

9th
 St

City of Boulder Open Space Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions I

HolmesHolmes
(Partial)(Partial)

Sunshine
Canyon Area

OSMP Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions

OSMP Lands

City Limits

Legend

KnollwoodKnollwood
OutlotOutlot

BrierlyBrierlyMcCabe-McCabe-
SanchezSanchez

ThorneThorne
IIIIII

ThorneThorne
IIIIThorneThorne

II

Madden-Madden-
RosenbaumRosenbaum

KnollwoodKnollwood
ParkPark

Anemone
Anemone

Re
d R

oc
ks

Re
d R

oc
ks

Sunshine Canyon

Sunshine Canyon

OSMP Trails

APPENDIX A-2 Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 11Packet Page 97



Wells - West(Partial)

Wells - East
Benedectine Abbey

Me
sa

Shanahan - North Fork

NCAR - Bear Canyon

NCAR

Upper Big Bluestem

Lower Big Bluestem

Mallory Cave

NCAR - Table Mesa
Fe

rn 
Ca

ny
on

Shanahan - South Fork

NCAR - Bear Connector

NC
AR

 - T
ab

le 
Me

sa
/B

ea
r

Bear Canyon

Shanahan - Mesa

Bluestem Connector

Lehigh Connector - South

Fern Meadow - Cragmoor

NCAR NCAR

Sh
an

ah
an

 - S
ou

th 
Fo

rk

Mesa

Fern Canyon

NCAR
Mesa

Lo
we

r B
ig 

Bl
ue

ste
m

Mesa
Mesa

Bear Canyon

Ith
ac

a D
rJu

ds
on

 D
r

Darley Av

Ha
rtf

or
d D

r
Ya

le 
Rd

Lehigh St

Juilliard St

Iliff St

Emerson Av

Bear Mountain Dr

Ta
ble

 M
es

a D
r

Heidelberg Dr

Ba
ylo

r D
r

Wildwood Rd

Fin
dla

y W
y

Stony Hill Rd

Lafayette Dr

Stephens Rd

Fa
irf

iel
d D

r

Briarwood Dr

View Point Rd

Colby Dr

Goddard Pl

Hillsdale Wy

Miami Wy

Benthaven Pl

Holy
oke

 Dr

Scrub Oak Cr

Pl

Wildwood Ln

Lagrange Cr

Tincup Cr
Fur

man 
Wy

Tab
le M

esa
 Dr

Table Mesa Dr

City of Boulder Open Space Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions I

Shanahan
Area

OSMP Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions

OSMP Lands

City Limits

Legend

OSMP Trails

OSMP Social Trails

APPENDIX A-3 Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 12Packet Page 98



ST

55
th 

St

Pearl P
y

Arapahoe Av

Valmont Rd
48

th 
St

Ra
ng

e S
t

Flatiron Py

Central Av

Pearl St

Western Av

Co
mm

erc
e S

t

56
th 

St

Co
ne

sto
ga

 St

Sterling Dr

Peak Av

Lodge Ln48
th 

St
Valmont Rd

Ce
ntr

al 
Av

City of Boulder Open Space Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions I

OSMP Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions

OSMP Lands

City Limits

Legend

Arapahoe

Chemicals

APPENDIX A-4 Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 13Packet Page 99



ST

£¤

ST

£¤

ST

Boulder 
Reservoir

Valmont
Reservoir

Baseline
Reservoir

Arapahoe Ave
B

ro
a

d
w

a
y

2
8

th
 S

t

Dia
go

na
l H

wy

Eldorado S
prin

gs Dr

7

36

36

119

119

City of Boulder Open Space Annexation Properties
 

with Dog Leash Exemptions

BoulderBoulder

I

ShanahanArea

Tippitt Property

Arapahoe

Chemicals

Sun

Canyon

shine
Area

0 1 20.5
Miles

OSMP Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions

OSMP Lands

City Limits

Legend

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 14Packet Page 100



ST

55
th 

St

Pearl P
y

Arapahoe Av

Valmont Rd
48

th 
St

Ra
ng

e S
t

Flatiron Py

Central Av

Pearl St

Western Av

Co
mm

erc
e S

t

56
th 

St

Co
ne

sto
ga

 St

Sterling Dr

Peak Av

Lodge Ln48
th 

St
Valmont Rd

Ce
ntr

al 
Av

City of Boulder Open Space Annexation Properties
 

with Dog Leash Exemptions I

OSMP Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions

OSMP Lands

City Limits

Legend

Arapahoe

Chemicals

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 15Packet Page 101



Wells - West(Partial)

Wells - East
Benedectine Abbey

Me
sa

Shanahan - North Fork

NCAR - Bear Canyon

NCAR

Upper Big Bluestem

Lower Big Bluestem

Mallory Cave

NCAR - Table Mesa
Fe

rn 
Ca

ny
on

Shanahan - South Fork

NCAR - Bear Connector

NC
AR

 - T
ab

le 
Me

sa
/B

ea
r

Bear Canyon

Shanahan - Mesa

Bluestem Connector

Lehigh Connector - South

Fern Meadow - Cragmoor

NCAR NCAR

Sh
an

ah
an

 - S
ou

th 
Fo

rk

Mesa

Fern Canyon

NCAR
Mesa

Lo
we

r B
ig 

Bl
ue

ste
m

Mesa
Mesa

Bear Canyon

Ith
ac

a D
rJu

ds
on

 D
r

Darley Av

Ha
rtf

or
d D

r
Ya

le 
Rd

Lehigh St

Juilliard St

Iliff St

Emerson Av

Bear Mountain Dr

Ta
ble

 M
es

a D
r

Heidelberg Dr

Ba
ylo

r D
r

Wildwood Rd

Fin
dla

y W
y

Stony Hill Rd

Lafayette Dr

Stephens Rd

Fa
irf

iel
d D

r

Briarwood Dr

View Point Rd

Colby Dr

Goddard Pl

Hillsdale Wy

Miami Wy

Benthaven Pl

Holy
oke

 Dr

Scrub Oak Cr

Pl

Wildwood Ln

Lagrange Cr

Tincup Cr
Fur

man 
Wy

Tab
le M

esa
 Dr

Table Mesa Dr

City of Boulder Open Space Annexation Properties
 

with Dog Leash Exemptions I

Shanahan
Area

OSMP Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions

OSMP Lands

City Limits

Legend

OSMP Trails

OSMP Social Trails

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 16Packet Page 102



4th
 St

6th
 St

Canyon Bv

Pine St

Mapleton Av

Alpine Av

Marine St

College Av

Dewey Av

9th
 St

5th
 St

Pleasant St

Spruce St

Pearl St
Sunshine Canyon Dr

Maxwell Av

University Av

7th
 St

Concord Av

Highland Av

North St

3rd
 St

Walnut St

8th
 St

Balsam Av

11
th 

St

Green Rock Dr

State Hwy 119
10

th 
St

Gr
an

t P
l

Arapahoe Av

Knollwood Dr

De
an

 Pl

Flagstaff Rd

Mountain View Rd

Ja
y S

t

Geneva Av

Streamside Ln

Ma
rsh

all
 St

Arapahoe Av

4th
 St

5th St

5th
 St

Ja
y S

t

8th St

North St

Arapahoe Av

Spruce St

6th
 St

7th St

5th
 St

3rd
 St

5th St

5th
 St

6th
 St

Pearl St

7th
 St

9th
 St

City of Boulder Open Space Annexation Properties
 

with Dog Leash Exemptions I

HolmesHolmes
(Partial)(Partial)

Sunshine
Canyon Area

OSMP Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions

OSMP Lands

City Limits

Legend

KnollwoodKnollwood
OutlotOutlot

BrierlyBrierlyMcCabe-McCabe-
SanchezSanchez

ThorneThorne
IIIIII

ThorneThorne
IIIIThorneThorne

II

Madden-Madden-
RosenbaumRosenbaum

KnollwoodKnollwood
ParkPark

Anemone
Anemone

Re
d R

oc
ks

Re
d R

oc
ks

Sunshine Canyon

Sunshine Canyon

OSMP Trails

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 17Packet Page 103



Broadway

17
th 

St

18
th 

St

19
th 

St

Cascade Av

20
th 

St

Table Mesa Dr

15
th 

St

Kohler Dr

Mariposa Av

Bluebell Av

Columbine Av13
th 

St

14
th 

St

12
th 

St

9th
 St

Vassar Dr

11
th 

St

10
th 

St

16
th 

St

Dartmouth Av

22
nd

 S
t 27

th 
Wy

Lin
co

ln 
Pl

Ithaca Dr

Rayleigh RdCo
mp

ton
 R

d

Kenwood Dr

27
th 

St

Ki
nn

iki
nic

 R
d

Curie Cr
Baseline Rd

Hollyberry Ln

Goddard Pl

King Av

Bellevue Dr

Sierra Dr

Dr
ak

e S
t

Chautauqua Res Rd
Clematis Dr

Overlook Dr

Deer Valley Rd

Wi
ld 

Ro
se

 R
d

Fa
ir 

PlKing Av

13
th 

St

Bluebell Av
16

th 
St

Skunk Canyon

NIST Service Rd

Kohler Mesa

En
ch

an
ted

 M
es

a

Fo
ur 

Pin
es

NCAR - Table Mesa

NCAR - Skunk Canyon

Ko
hle

r S
pu

r

Mc
Cl

int
oc

k U
pp

er

Fo
ur 

Pin
es

Four Pines

Four P
ines

City of Boulder Open Space Annexation Properties
 

with Dog Leash Exemptions I

Tippitt
Property

OSMP Annexation Properties 
with Dog Leash Exemptions

OSMP Lands

City Limits

Legend

OSMP Trails

Attachment B - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 3I     Page 18Packet Page 104



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  AUGUST 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only, Ordinance 8139 related to the annexation and initial zoning of 
enclaves in the vicinity of 55th and Arapahoe and Ordinance No. 8140 related to an 
amendment to Subsection 11-5-11(a). B.R.C. 1981 regarding stormwater and flood 
control utility plant investment fees. 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
David Driskell, Executive Director 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Chris Meschuk, Senior Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
One issue identified by the city staff in examining maps of the city to prepare a separation 
plan for submittal to the Public Utilities Commission, is the number of enclaves that have 
not been annexed.  One of the Annexation Policies in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan (BVCP), is to annex enclaves and other areas adjacent to the city.  This ordinance is 
in furtherance of that policy.   

Ordinance No. 8139, annexes 15 parcels that are enclaves of the city in the vicinity of 
55th and Arapahoe (Attachment A).  All of the parcels have a designation in the BVCP 
of Area II.  A map of the properties to be annexed is provided in Attachment C.  The 
proposed zone district for each parcel is shown in Attachment D.  Staff attempted to 
reach each property owner by phone.  There is only one residential parcel in the 
ordinance, and that owner has consented to the annexation.   

As enclave annexations, the property owners do not pay any annexation fees.  Utility 
connections and related charges are deferred until the time the property owner desires to 
connect or the property is redeveloped.  Ordinance No. 8140 amending Subsection 11-5- 
11(a) B.R.C. 1981, regarding stormwater and flood control utility plant investment fees 
(Attachment B), is necessary to make the code consistent with the enclave annexation 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 1Packet Page 105



ordinance.  Existing uses are grandfathered as non-conforming uses in the city.  
Businesses are required to obtain licenses from the city for any business that requires 
licensure.  Initial zoning is determined based on existing uses of the properties.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Suggested Motion Language: 

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion:  

Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only, Ordinance 8139 annexing 15 enclaves in the vicinity of 55th and Arapahoe; and 

Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 
only, Ordinance 8140 amending Subsection 11-5-11(a), B.R.C. 1981, regarding 
stormwater and flood control utility plant investment fees (Attachment B) is 
necessary to make the code consistent with the enclave annexation ordinance. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic – No change in use is anticipated as a result of the annexation, so no

economic impact is anticipated.  The annexations comply with the policies of the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 

• Environmental - No change in environmental impacts occur as a result of
annexation of these properties.  

• Social - Annexation of these properties will clarify jurisdictional responsibilities
between the county and the city for enforcement of laws on these properties.  

OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal - No change in the city's fiscal responsibility is anticipated.
• Staff time - Upon annexation, all matters related to these properties are in the

normal work plan of the affected city departments.

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Planning Board will consider the annexations on August 18, 2016.  The agenda 
memoranda for the second reading packet of this Ordinance will include the feedback 
provided by the Planning Board.   

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
Notice has been provided to the property owners by telephone when possible, by mail to 
each property owner and by publication.  Staff was able to reach 14 of the 15 property 
owners.  Two of the property owners object to incorporation into the city for any reason.  
The only residential property in the annexation has consented to the annexation.  
Questions of other property owners have been addressed by staff.   

Agenda Item 3J     Page 2Packet Page 106



BACKGROUND 
The Public Utilities Commission has ordered that, as part of the effort to create a 
municipal electric utility, the city must construct separate electric facilities to allow Xcel 
to continue serving unincorporated properties, while the city serves annexed properties 
with different electrical facilities.  In analyzing the city maps, staff has discovered that 
this requirement will create expensive additional construction unless the city annexes 
unincorporated properties within the city boundaries.  Staff has analyzed each 
unincorporated enclave and estimates the cost for those located around 55th and Arapahoe 
to be over $3.5 million for construction of separate facilities, and then annexation of the 
properties in the future.  This offers many benefits to the city, particularly in reducing the 
costs of the electrical separation plan, eliminating the need for duplicate facilities, and to 
progress on the goals stated in the Comprehensive Plan to annex all enclaves and Area II 
properties.  

The chart in Attachment D, shows all of the properties to be annexed and the BVCP 
designation and initial zone district for each property. Of the 14 property owners that 
staff was able to reach by telephone, two do not want to be incorporated in the city for 
any reason.  The only residential property of the enclaves has consented to annexation of 
her property.  For the remainder of the property owners, some expected the annexation, 
some were glad to be annexed without having to pay city annexation fees, and others 
were interested in improvements that would be provided by the city, particularly related 
to stormwater improvements.   

Existing uses will be grandfathered as non-conforming uses in the city.  Businesses that 
require licensure will be required to qualify for and obtain city licenses that may apply.  
For most businesses, this means a business license related to sales and use tax which is a 
$25 fee.  There are several marijuana businesses that will require licenses from the city.   

These properties are either part of an existing county enclave or in fully developed Area 
II neighborhoods, thus annexation of the properties would further this policy.  Annexing 
these properties will eliminate the need to construct duplicate facilities to provide electric 
services to these properties, in the event of municipalization.  These annexations will 
eliminate the added cost and construction disruption that would be borne by Boulder 
residents and businesses, if the property were not annexed.  

In order to implement the provision of the annexation ordinance deferring the stormwater 
and flood control plant investment fee, Subsection 11-5-11(a), B.R.C. 1981, must be 
amended as provided in Ordinance No. _______.  A separate ordinance was required, 
because annexation ordinances are not codified and changes to the Code require 
codification.  In addition, prior to providing city water to property, properties are to be 
included in the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District and subdistrict.  In doing 
the research for these annexations, we have discovered that 5565 Arapahoe and 1840 55th 
need to be included in the subdistrict and 5565 Arapahoe also needs to be included in 
NCWCD, because those properties are currently served with water.  The ordinance also 
includes the city’s consent to inclusion of the specified properties that are not currently 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 3Packet Page 107



receiving water from the city into the subdistrict or both the NCWC and the subdistrict, 
as appropriate.   

ATTACHMENT A: Ordinance No. 8139 annexing enclaves in the vicinity of 55th 
and Arapahoe 

ATTACHMENT B: Ordinance No. 8140 amending Subsection 11-5-11(a), 
B.R.C. 

ATTACHMENT C: Map of enclave properties to be annexed  
ATTACHMENT D: Chart of proposed zone district for each parcel 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 4Packet Page 108



ORDINANCE NO. 8139 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
ENCLAVES IN THE VICINITY OF 55TH AND ARAPAHOE, WHICH 
PARCELS ARE SHOWN ON THE MAP INCORPORATED INTO THIS 
ORDINANCE, WITH AN INITIAL ZONING FOR EACH PARCEL 
SHOWN ON THE CHART INCORPORATED INTO THIS ORDINANCE 
AS DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," 
B.R.C. 1981; AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A 
PART OF SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE SAID PROPERTY IN THE 
ABOVE-MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT; CONSENTING TO THE 
INCLUSION OF THE PROPERTY INTO THE NORTHERN 
COLORADO WATER CONSERVANCY DISTRICT AND ITS 
SUBDISTRICT; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The city council of the city of Boulder, Colorado, finds: 

A. All of the parcels depicted in Exhibit A (the "Property") may be annexed by the city council 
as enclaves without a hearing or notice other than by publication; however the city has 
mailed individual notices to the property owners, and is holding a public hearing on this 
ordinance. 

B. The parcels within the Property include 15 parcels in the vicinity of 55th and Arapahoe that 
are completely surrounded within the boundaries of the city, all of which are described more 
particularly on Exhibit B. 

C. All of the parcels have more than one-sixth contiguity with city boundaries as required by 
Colorado law. 

D. It is the intent of the city to include in this annexation all of the Property from the abutting 
incorporated property so that there is no gap of unincorporated property between the parcels 
of the Property to be annexed and the boundaries of the adjacent incorporated property. 

E. The requirements of the Colorado Constitution and the Colorado Revised Statutes regarding 
annexation have been satisfied.  

F. All of the parcels included in the Property are located within Area II as designated in the 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP). 

G. The initial zoning proposed for the 10 properties at 5421and 5485 Western Ave, and 5565, 
5575 and 5595 Arapahoe and 1700, 1750, 1780, 1830 and 1840 N. 55th St is “IG” and for 

Attachment A -
Proposed Annexation Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page 5Packet Page 109



the four properties located at 5320 and 5472 Arapahoe Ave and 1530 and 1595 N. 55th St 
is “BC-1”, and the property at 1415 No. 55th St is “RM-1” all as defined in Title 9, B.R.C. 
1981.   

H. Annexation of the parcels of the Property in Area II and as enclaves is consistent with the 
BVCP, and the annexation policies in Section 1.24 of the BVCP. 

I. The city is not proposing a land use designation change for any of the Property. 

J. The Planning Board has recommended annexation of the Property to the City of Boulder 
and that the Zoning District Map adopted by the City Council be amended to the zone district 
specified in this ordinance, as provided in Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 
1981. 

K. The initial zoning of the Property is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan, and bears a substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property 
and of the residents of the City of Boulder.  

L. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority provided in C.R.S. § 31-12-106(1) 
to annex and zone the Property as enclaves of the city without a hearing and with notice 
only by publication. 

Section 2. The Property shown on the map attached as Exhibit A, and more particularly 

described in Exhibit B be, and the same hereby is, annexed to and included within the corporate 

boundaries of the City of Boulder.  

Section 3. Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the Zoning District 

Map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include each parcel of the 

Property in the zoning district specified in this ordinance.  Uses existing on the properties on the 

date of adoption of this ordinance shall be considered non-conforming uses pursuant to Chapter 9-

10 “Nonconformance Standards” B.R.C. 1981.   

Section 4. Businesses operating on the parcels to be annexed within the Property must 

obtain any city licenses that apply to the particular businesses.  Businesses requiring a business 

license under Section 3-2-11 “Sales and Use Tax License” B.R.C. 1981 must obtain such licenses 

within 30 days of adoption of this ordinance.   

Attachment A -
Proposed Annexation Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page 6Packet Page 110



Section 5.  Existing marijuana businesses within the Property to be annexed are required 

to obtain a marijuana business license in conformance with either Chapter 6-14 “Medical Marijuana 

Businesses” or 6-16 “Recreational Marijuana Businesses” B.R.C. Each marijuana business within 

the Property shall submit a complete application to the City for such license within 60 days of the 

adoption of this ordinance.  Such businesses shall meet all requirements for issuance of such license 

and have been issued such license within six months of the adoption of this ordinance, unless a 

building permit from the city is required to meet the requirements for the license.  If a building 

permit is required to meet the requirements for a marijuana business license, completed application 

for such permit(s) must be submitted to the city within 60 days of the adoption of this ordinance. 

The deadline for issuance of a marijuana business license from the city for those requiring a building 

permit to qualify shall be one year from the date of adoption of this ordinance.  All businesses 

applying for a marijuana business license shall diligently pursue completion of all work, including 

construction, necessary to meet the requirements for such license and each business shall provide 

written reports to the Marijuana Licensing Authority every three months from the date of 

application to the issuance of the license, describing the progress made towards meeting the 

licensing requirements.   

Section 6.  Marijuana businesses existing lawfully within the Property on the date of 

adoption of this ordinance shall not be subject to the density restrictions contained in Section 6-14-

7(f) “Location of Recreational Marijuana Businesses- Separation From Schools, Day Care Centers, 

Addiction Recovery Facilities, or Other Medical Marijuana Uses,” B.R.C. 1981 or Section 6-16-

7(e) “Location of Recreational Marijuana Businesses- Separation From Schools and Other 

Facilities,” B.R.C. 1981, but must comply with all other requirements of Chapter 6-14 “Medical 

Marijuana Businesses” or Chapter 6-16 “Recreational Marijuana Businesses,” B.R.C. 1981, as 

appropriate.  

Attachment A -
Proposed Annexation Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page 7Packet Page 111



Section 7.  The property owners of the Property shall not be required to pay any city 
annexation application costs or fees.  Utility fees, including connection and plant investment fees, 
shall be deferred to the time of connection to the utility or construction that increases the square 
footage of existing development upon a parcel of the Property, whichever occurs first. 

Section 8. The city hereby consents to the inclusion of each parcel of the Property into 
the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District (the “District”)  and the Municipal Subdistrict 
of the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District (the “Subdistrict”), pursuant to C.R.S. 37-
45-136(3.6) upon provision of water to that parcel.  The parcels at 5565 Arapahoe Av and 1840 
55th St are receiving water from the city currently and the staff is directed to take the steps necessary 
to complete inclusion of those parcels into the District and Subdistrict.  Contemporaneous with this 
annexation, the City hereby consents to the inclusion of the parcels at 5565 Arapahoe Ave and 1840 
55th Street into the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District (the “District”)  and the 
Municipal Subdistrict of the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy District (the “Subdistrict”), 
pursuant to C.R.S. 37-45-136(3.6)  Upon inclusion into the District and Subdistrict, said property 
shall be subject to the same mill levies and special assessments as are levied or will be levied on 
other similarly situated property in the District and Subdistrict, respectively.   

Section 9. The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the Boulder 
Revised Code or other City ordinances consistent with this ordinance. 

Section 10. The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the protection of 
the public health, safety, and welfare.  

Section 11. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 
only and directs the city clerk to make available the text of the within ordinance for public 
inspection and acquisition.  
  

Attachment A- 
Proposed Annexation Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page 8Packet Page 112



INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 
Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of September, 2016. 

Mayor 
Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A -
Proposed Annexation Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page 9Packet Page 113



1 2
3

4 5 6
7
8
9

1530

1700

5595

1780

1830

5320

5421

5472

1840

1595

1750

5575

1415

5485

5565
BC-1

RH-4
BC-2

RH-5

IG

IM

RM-1

RM-1

P

RL-2

Arapahoe Av

55
th

 St
55

th
 St

City of Boulder Vicinity Map

1 inch = 350 feet

The information depicted on this map is provided
as graphical representation only. The City of Boulder
provides no warranty, expressed or implied, as to
the accuracy and/or completeness of the information
contained hereon.

N
City of

Boulder
55th and Arapahoe 
Enclave Annexations

10

11 12 13

14

15

Exhibit A to Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page 10Packet Page 114



Exhibit B to Ord. 8139 
Property Descriptions (8/11) 

Property to be Annexed 
(References are to Exhibit A-Map) 

#1 – 5421 Western Avenue 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #02934271 on June 4, 2008, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office, together with all that part of 
the Western Avenue right-of-way between Conestoga Street and 55th Street that is not 
currently annexed to the City of Boulder. 

#2 – 5485 Western Avenue 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #02459482 on June 23, 2003, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office, together with all that part of 
the Western Avenue right-of-way between Conestoga Street and 55th Street that is not 
currently annexed to the City of Boulder. 

#3 – 5575 Arapahoe Avenue 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #03514292 on April 27, 2016, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#4 - 1840 55th Street 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #03051194 on Jan. 4, 2010, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#5 – 1830 55th Street 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #03508527 on March 29, 2016, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#6 – 5595 Arapahoe Avenue 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #03196632 on Jan. 17, 2012, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#7 – 1780 55th Street 
Property described in Deed recorded at Film #2074, Reception #01544560 on Sep. 1, 
1995, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#8 – 1750 55th Street 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #03415159 on Nov. 26, 2014, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#9 – 1700 N. 55th Street 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #03196633 on Jan. 17, 2012, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#10 – 5565 Arapahoe Avenue 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #03196631 on Jan. 17, 2012, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 11Packet Page 115



Exhibit B to Ord. 8139 
Property Descriptions (8/11) 

#11 – 5320 Arapahoe Avenue 
Property described in Deed recorded at Film #1605, Reception #01016212 on Dec. 1, 
1989, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#12 – 5472 Arapahoe Avenue 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #03002018 on May 26, 2009, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#13 – 1595 55th Street 
Property described in Deed recorded at Film #2058, Reception #01524944 on June 20, 
1995, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#14 – 1530 55th Street 
Property described in Deed recorded at Film #2035, Reception #01496348 on Feb. 6, 
1995, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

#15 – 1415 15th Street 
Property described in Deed recorded at Reception #02481604 on Aug. 1, 2003, in the 
records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder’s Office. 

RIGHTS-OF-WAY 
56th Street ROW 
All that part of the 56th Street right-of-way south of the south right-of-way line of the 
Colorado and Southern Railroad and north of the north right-of-way line of Arapahoe 
Avenue, that is not currently annexed to the City of Boulder. 

55th Street ROW 
All that part of the 55th Street right-of-way south of the south right-of-way line of the 
Colorado and Southern Railroad and north of the north right-of-way line of Lodge Lane, 
that is not currently annexed to the City of Boulder. 

Arapahoe Avenue ROW 
All that part of the Arapahoe Avenue right-of-way east of Range Street and west of Old 
Tail Road that is not currently annexed to the City of Boulder. 

Agenda Item 3J     Page 12Packet Page 116



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8140 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SUBSECTION 11-5-11(a), 
B.R.C. 1981, TO PROVIDE METHODS OF ASSESSING AND 
COLLECTING STORMWATER AND FLOOD CONTROL 
UTILITY PLANIT INVESTMENT FEES FOR 
UNILATERALLY ANNEXED PROPERTIES AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Subsection 11-5-11(a), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

11-5-11. - Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Plant Investment Fee. 

(a) Any person desiring to develop property in the city or to annex developed property into 
the city shall pay a storm water and flood management plant investment fee pursuant to 
the schedule of fees set forth in section 4-20-46, "Storm Water and Flood Management 
Utility Plant Investment Fee," B.R.C. 1981.  

(1) In the case of annexation of developed property, the plant investment fee prescribed 
by this section shall be paid prior to the second reading of the annexation ordinance 
annexing the property into the city.  

(2) In the case of unilaterally annexed property, the plant investment fee prescribed by 
this section shall be paid prior to or concurrent with: 
(A) The issuance of a certificate of occupancy for any new building or final 

inspection for any building permit that results in additional floor area for that 
property; or 

(B) The payment of any plant investment fee for water or waste water service for 
that property. 

In the alternative to the timing of payment of the plant investment fee described 
above, the city manager may enter into agreements with the owner of the property 
that results in the payment of the fee that is equivalent in amount and in a manner that 
does not cause a substantial burden to the utility or its rate payers.  

(3) In the case of development on previously undeveloped property, the plant investment 
fee prescribed by this section shall be paid prior to issuance of a certificate of 
occupancy by the city for that property.  

Attachment B -
Proposed BRC Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page 13Packet Page 117



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

(34) In the case of a change or addition to developed property, the plant investment fee 
prescribed by this section shall be paid prior to issuance of a building permit by the 
city for that property.  

Section 2.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of September, 2016. 

____________________________________ 
Suzanne Jones 
Mayor 

Attest: 

____________________________________ 
Lynnette Beck 
City Clerk 

Attachment B -
Proposed BRC Ordinance

Agenda Item 3J     Page 14Packet Page 118



1 2
3

4 5 6
7
8
9

1530

1700

5595

1780

1830

5320

5421

5472

1840

1595

1750

5575

1415

5485

5565
BC-1

RH-4
BC-2

RH-5

IG

IM

RM-1

RM-1

P

RL-2

Arapahoe Av

55
th

 St
55

th
 St

City of Boulder Vicinity Map

1 inch = 350 feet

The information depicted on this map is provided
as graphical representation only. The City of Boulder
provides no warranty, expressed or implied, as to
the accuracy and/or completeness of the information
contained hereon.

N
City of

Boulder
55th and Arapahoe 
Enclave Annexations

10

11 12 13

14

15

Attachment C to Memo

Agenda Item 3J     Page 15Packet Page 119



Parcel Address Owner
Parcel 

Size
Current Tenants BVCP Land Use County Zoning

Proposed 
Initial 
Zoning

Current 
Building 

Size

Development 
Potential

Current City 
Utilities

1 5421 Western Ave. Bruce F. Lindeke 0.35 ac Bolind, Inc. (commercial printing), 
IMAGINE!/CORE Labor 
(employment center for the 
disabled) 

Light Industrial Light Industrial IG 8,088 sq. ft. None sewer

2 5485 Western Ave. Murphy Steele Partners 
LLC

0.63 ac Go Green Flooring (retail); Way of 
the Crane Martial Arts School; 
Boulder Ki Aikido (dojo); Street 
Wiz Self Defense Workshops

Light Industrial Light Industrial IG 10,425 sq. 
ft.

Yes (3,300 
sq.ft.)

sewer

3 5575 Arapahoe Ave. 5575 Arapahoe LLC 1.71 ac Roger Reutimann (sculptor); 
Organo-Lawn (vehicle storage); 
His Way Herbs (marijuana 
manuf.); Redwood Landscape 

Light Industrial Light Industrial IG 15,576 sq. 
ft.

Yes (21,606 
sq.ft.)

none

4 1840 N.55th St. Neal L. Andrews Jr. 0.56 ac Ferguson Plumbing Supplies Light Industrial Light Industrial IG 7,630 sq. ft. Yes (4,669 
sq.ft.)

sewer/water

5 1830 N.55th St. Colorado Green Building 
Company LLC

0.63 ac Appears vacant Light Industrial Light Industrial 13,824 sq. 
ft.

None none

6 5595 Arapahoe Ave. 5595 Arapahoe LLC 0.96 ac Boom Town LLC, Cannixtracts 
LLC, His Way Herbs, Medicine 
Man

Light Industrial Light Industrial IG 26,624 sq. 
ft.

None none

7 1780 N.55th St. 55th Street LLC 1.06 ac Surna (engineerinig systems for 
cannabis); Hydro Innovations 
(climate control systems); Wild 
Goose Engineering (canning 
systems or beer industry)

Light Industrial Light Industrial IG 9,200 sq. ft. Yes (13,843 
sq.ft.)

none

8 1750 N.55th St. Tebo/Kruse LLC 1.06 ac Allen Scientific Glass; Boulder 
Dinner Theater Scene Shoppe

Light Industrial Light Industrial IG 23,000 sq. 
ft.

None none

Attachment D to Memo
Chart of Zone Districts

Agenda Item 3J     Page 16Packet Page 120



9 1700 N.55th St. 1700 N.55th LLC 0.91 ac Audio Information Network; 
Corkscrews Wine Storage; RM3 
Labs (marijuana manuf.); Sweet 
Mary Jane (marijuana products)

Light Industrial Light Industrial IG 16,816 sq. 
ft.

Yes (2,762 
sq.ft.)

none

10 5565 Arapahoe Ave. 5565 Arapahoe LLC 1.90 ac Hospice Care & Share Thrift 
Store; Glass Doctor; Green Tree 
Medicinals (marijuana 
dispensary)

Light Industrial Commercial IG 29,840 sq. 
ft.

Yes (11,593 
sq.ft.)

sewer/water

11 5320 Arapahoe Ave. Herbert Keishold Trust 
et.al.

1.09 ac Boulder Wellness Center 
(marijuana dispensary); Root 
Medical Marijuana (marijuana 
dispensary); Boulder Valley 
Center for Derrmatology; 
Integrative Psychiatric Healing 
Center

Community 
Business

Commercial BC-1 10,519 sq. 
ft.

Yes (15,617 
sq.ft.)

sewer

12 5472 Arapahoe Ave. Arapahoe LLC 0.96 ac Enterprise Rent-a-Car; Auto 
Repair Place

Community 
Business

Commercial BC-1 13,022 sq. 
ft.

Yes (10,008 
sq.ft.)

sewer

13 1595 N.55th St. AJ Investments LLP 0.81 ac Shell Service Station Community 
Business

Commercial BC-1 1,125 sq. ft. Yes (18,386 
sq.ft.)

sewer/water

14 1530 N.55th St. MG Properties LLC 0.95 ac Scott Cox and Associates 
(Engineering/Professional Office)

Transitional 
Business

Transitional BT-1 ? Yes sewer

15 1415 N.55th St. Susan D. Palmer 0.31 ac Single Family Residential Residential - 
Medium Density

Suburban 
Residential

RM-1 ? Yes none

Attachment D to Memo
Chart of Zone Districts

Agenda Item 3J     Page 17Packet Page 121



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE:  AUGUST 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order 
published by title only Ordinance No. 8128 and Ordinance No. 8129 related to the 
annexation and initial zoning of city-owned parcels and rights of way, and Elmer’s 
Two-Mile Park as an enclave. 

PRESENTERS  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
David Driskell, Executive Director 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Chris Meschuk, Senior Planner 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

One issue identified by the city staff in examining maps of the city to prepare a separation 
plan for submittal to the Public Utilities Commission is the number of city-owned 
enclaves and city facilities that have not been annexed.  One of the Annexation Policies 
in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) is to annex enclaves and other areas 
adjacent to the city.  The two ordinances that are part of this item are in furtherance of 
that policy.   

The first, Ordinance No. 8128, annexes city-owned parcels and rights-of-way within and 
around the city.  Some, but not all open space properties are included.  The open space 
parcels included are those that contain facilities which require electric facilities and the 
area around them to provide for efficient emergency, patrol and management 
responsibilities between the city and the county.  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page 122



The second ordinance, Ordinance No. 8129, annexes Elmer's Two-Mile Park south of Iris 
between 27th and 28th Streets.  The park is an enclave, of which the city owns the 
majority.  Xcel Energy owns a 20' x 30' corner of the enclave used for a gas facility.  
Both of these ordinances are to unilaterally annex city-owned property, rights-of-way 
managed by the city, and enclaves pursuant to the Municipal Annexation Act, C.R.S. 31-
12-101 et seq. The initial zone district for all of the properties is Public.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion:  

Consideration of a motion to amend, order published by title only and pass Ordinance 
No. 8128, as submitted in Attachment A with corrected Exhibits A and B, related to 
the annexation and initial zoning of city-owned parcels and rights of way, and 
Ordinance No. 8129, annexing Elmer’s Two-Mile Park as an enclave. 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Open Space Board of Trustees reviewed the annexations on July 28, 2016.  The 
Planning Board considered the annexations and recommended approval by Council on 
July 28, 2016.    

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 

Notice has been provided to Xcel Energy as a private property owner within the Elmer's 
Two-Mile Park enclave by publication and direct communication with Xcel’s Assistant 
General Counsel.  Other than acknowledgement of receipt of the notice, no response has 
been received.   

BACKGROUND 

First reading agenda memo is located here at page 410, Item 3I.  The memo describes 
each parcel on the attached map individually, along with existing and proposed land use 
designations. 

Ordinance No. 8128 is to annex all of the city-owned parcels described in that ordinance. 
Subsequent to the Aug. 2 first reading, revised exhibits to the ordinance (Exhibit A - map, 
and Exhibit B-property descriptions) were completed.  Attachment A to this packet is 
the ordinance, with corrected and final Exhibits A and B.    

Ordinance No. 8129, which is Attachment B, is to annex Elmer's Two-Mile Park, owned 
by the city with a 600 square foot corner owned by Xcel.  

The map in Attachment C shows all of the properties to be annexed that are owned by 
the city, rights-of-way within the city, and Elmer’s Two-Mile Park which is an enclave. 
The colors on the attached map depict which department of the city is responsible for 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page 123

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20160802_Agenda_Packet_final-1-201607291710.pdf


maintenance of the site.  Dark green indicates OSMP, orange indicates Transportation 
and blue indicates Parks and/or Public Works.  The property descriptions for each 
property are referred to in the ordinance by the Group number shown on the map.   

ATTACHMENT A: Ordinance No. 8128 annexing city-owned properties and rights-
of-way, with corrected exhibits 

ATTACHMENT B: Ordinance No. 8129 annexing Elmer's Two-Mile Park as an 
enclave 

ATTACHMENT C: Map of city-owned parcels to be annexed 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page 124



K:\CMEN\o-8128-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8128 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER 
PROPERTY OWNED BY THE CITY OF BOULDER OR RIGHTS-OF-
WAY, INCLUDING ENCLAVES, WHICH PARCELS ARE SHOWN 
ON THE MAP INCORPORATED INTO THIS ORDINANCE, WITH 
AN INITIAL ZONING DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC (P) AS 
DESCRIBED IN CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," 
B.R.C. 1981; AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING 
A PART OF SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE SAID PROPERTY IN 
THE ABOVE-MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT; AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  The city council of the city of Boulder, Colorado, finds: 

A. All of the parcels depicted in Exhibit A (the "Property") may be annexed by the city 
council as municipally-owned land or rights-of-way without notice or hearing; however 
the city has noticed and is holding a public hearing on this ordinance. 

B. The parcels within the Property include, all of which are described more particularly on 
Exhibit B: 

1. City-owned properties managed by Open Space at the southwest corner of the city
boundaries which include city facilities that require electricity and create an
enclave of a small privately-owned parcel with facilities requiring electric service;

2. City-owned properties managed by Open Space in Sunshine Canyon that include
the City's Sunshine Hydro plant;

3. City-owned properties managed by Open Space that are enclaves within existing
boundaries of the city or surrounded on three sides by incorporated property;

4. City-owned properties managed by Parks and Recreation that are enclaves within
existing boundaries of the city or surrounded on three sides by incorporated
properties;

5. The City's Cherryvale Pump Station and the portion of Baseline south of
Cherryvale necessary to obtain contiguity to the Pump Station; and

6. Rights-of-way adjacent to city streets, annexation of which neither the Colorado
Department of Transportation or the County of Boulder have objected to;

Attachment A to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ord. 8128

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page 125



K:\CMEN\o-8128-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

C. Upon annexation of the portion of Cherryvale between the existing city boundaries and 
the Cherryvale Pump Station, all of the parcels have more than one-sixth contiguity with 
city boundaries as required by Colorado law. 

D. It is the intent of the city to include in this annexation all of the Property from the 
abutting incorporated property so that there is no gap of unincorporated property between 
the parcels of the Property to be annexed and the boundaries of the adjacent incorporated. 

E. The Open Space Board of Trustees of the City does not object to  annexation of the open 
space portions of the Property 

F. The Planning Board of the City recommended annexation of the Property with an initial 
zoning of Public. 

G. The requirements of the Colorado Constitution and the Colorado Revised Statutes 
regarding annexation have been satisfied.  

H. Except for the Open Space parcels in Sunshine Canyon and at the southwest corner of the 
city, all of the parcels included in the Property are located within Area II as designated in 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP). 

I. The Open Space parcels in Sunshine Canyon and at the southwest corner of the city are in 
BVCP designation of Area III-Rural Preservation without current or anticipated full 
range of urban services 

J. Annexation of the parcels of the Property in Area II and Area III-Rural Preservation are 
consistent with the BVCP, and the annexation policies in Section 1.24 of the BVCP. 

K. The city is proposing a land use designation change of the parcel open space on east 
Baseline from VLR to OS-A. 

L. The Planning Board supports the annexation of the Property to the City of Boulder and 
that the Zoning District Map adopted by the City Council be amended to zone Public (P) 
zoning district, as provided in Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981. 

M. The initial zoning of Public is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, 
and bears a substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property 
and of the residents of the City of Boulder.  

N. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority provided in C.R.S. § 31-12-
106(3) to annex and zone the Property as city-owned property and right-of-way by 
ordinance without notice and hearing. 

Section 2. The portion of the Property described in B.5. above the right-of-way of 

55th street is intended to provide the contiguity to the parcel on which the Cherryvale Pump 

Station is located, also described in B.5. The two properties are intended to be annexed in a 

Attachment A to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ord. 8128

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page 126



K:\CMEN\o-8128-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

series as described in CRS 31-12-104(1), with the right-of-way annexed by this ordinance 

immediately prior to the annexation of the parcel with the pump station.   

Section 3. The Property shown on the map attached as Exhibit A, and more 

particularly described in Exhibit B be, and the same hereby is, annexed to and included within 

the corporate boundaries of the City of Boulder.  

Section 4. Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the Zoning 

District Map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include the 

Property in the Public zoning district.  

Section 5. The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the Boulder 

Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreements associated with this 

annexation. 

Section 6. The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the protection 

of the public health, safety, and welfare.  

Section 7. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and directs the city clerk to make available the text of the within ordinance for public 

inspection and acquisition.  

Attachment A to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ord. 8128

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page 127



K:\CMEN\o-8128-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 6th day of September, 2016. 

Mayor 

Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment A to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ord. 8128

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page 128



Walnut  St.

Pine  St.

Balsam  Ave. Edgewood D r.

F
ol

so
m

  
S

t.

Iris  Ave.

Le
h

ig
h 

 S
t.

Valmont  Rd.

63
rd

  
S

t.

63
rd

  S
t.

Violet Ave.

Baseline  Rd.

30
th

  S
t.

Kalmia  Ave. Independence Rd.

Arapahoe  Rd.

Jay Rd.

O
ld

e
S

ta
g

e
R

d
.

Broadway

G
re

enbriar B
lv

d
.

55
th

  S
t.

57
th

  S
t.

Baseline  Rd.

Looko
ut Rd.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe Ave.

20th  S
t.

2
8

th
S

t.

3
0

th
S

t.

Moorhead  Ave.

Jay  Rd.

Table  Mesa  Dr.

Valmont  Rd.

55
th

  S
t.

6
3

rd
S

t.

Marshall Dr.

Canyon Blvd.

9t
h

  S
t.

B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

T
ab

le
M

esa Dr.

Canyon  Blvd.

Colorado Ave.

S.  Broadw
ay

9t
h

S
t.

17
th

  S
t.

19
th

  S
t.

N
.

2
6

th
S

t.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe  Rd.

51
st

  
S

t.

F
ooth

ills
P

kw
y.

C
h

er
ry

va
le

  
R

d
.

61
st

S
t.

South  Boulder  Rd.

LindenDr.

University Ave.

Yarmouth Ave.

28th  St.  Ext.

F
ol

so
m

  
S

t.

28
th

  S
t.

S. Foothills
H

w
y.

Dia
go

na
l  

Hwy.

71
st

S
t.

Flagstaff Rd.

Mapleton Ave.

Lee
Hill D r.

N
.

 
 

B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

F
oo

th
ill

s 
 P

kw
y.

47
th

  S
t.

Pearl Pkwy.

Cherryvale Rd.

Baseline  Rd.

Wonderland
 Lake

Boulder Reservoir

Valmont Reservoir

Baseline
Reservoir

Viele
Lake

Sombrero
Marsh

Hayden
  Lake

Reservoir

Leggett-Owen

Hillcrest Reservoir

Sixmile
 Reservoir

Twin     L
akes

City of Boulder - 2016 Annexations

0 1 20.5

Miles
Map date July 28, 2016

Legend
OSMP Properties Annexation

Other City Properties Annexation

Transportation ROW Annexation

City Limits

N

1

2

3

2

3

4

1

5
6

7

8

14

15

16

9

10

12

13

11

Exhibit A to Ord. 8128
Annexation Parcel Map (8/2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page 129



Property to be Annexed 
(References are to Exhibit A-Map) 

MAP GROUP 1 

1. Property described in Deed recorded at Film #869, Reception #00119059 on Oct. 18, 1974, in
the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

2. Parcel 1
A parcel of land in the southwest quarter of Section 25, T1N, R71W of the 6th P.M. described
as follows: That portion of Tract 3258 shown as Boulder County Assessor’s parcel
146125300034 that is south of the right-of-way of Sunshine Road.
Parcel 2
Outlot C, Knollwood First Addition subdivision, plat recorded at Reception #90831672 on Nov.
4, 1966, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.
Parcel 3
That parcel of land described in Quit Claim Deed, Film #898, Reception #00150043 on Sept.
3, 1975, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder, being the certain parcel of
land designated as “park” between Lots 31 and 32 in Knollwood Second Addition subdivision,
plat recorded at Reception #90888310 on Aug. 22, 1968 in the records of the Boulder County
Clerk and Recorder.
Parcel 4
A parcel of land that is south of the south line of the above described Parcel 1 and north of the
right-of-way lines of Canyon Blvd and Pearl Street, except those parcels of land described in
Quit Claim Deeds recorded at Reception #03280966 and #03280965, both on Jan. 9, 2013, in
the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

3. Property described in Warranty Deed recorded at Reception #02192193 on Aug. 31, 2001, in
the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

4. Property described in Warranty Deed recorded at Reception #02569176 on March 24, 2004, in
the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

5. See Ord. 8129 for Elmer’s Two-Mile and Public Service Company of Colorado descriptions

MAP GROUP 2 

6. All the land not currently annexed that is west of the BSNF Railway Company right-of-way,
south of the Diagonal Highway right-of-way, east of 34th St and north of the south right-of-
way line Iris Ave.

7. All the land not currently annexed that is west of Sterling Court, north of Sterling Drive, east
of Wilderness Place and south of north right-of-way line of Valmont Rd.

Exhibit B to Ord. 8128
Property Descriptions (8/2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page 130



8. All the land not currently annexed that is north of the Arapahoe Ave right-of-way, west of the
Foothills Parkway right-of-way and southeast of the Greenbelt Outlot, Eastpark II subdivision,
plat recorded at Reception #00215383 on March 22, 1977, in the records of the Boulder
County Clerk and Recorder.

9.- 

 Property described in Rule and Order recorded at Film #1531, Reception #00923176 on June
8, 1988, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder, identified as Parcels A, B
and C.

 Property described in Deeds recorded at Film #687, Reception #90932756 on Dec. 31, 1969;
and Film #690, Reception #90935385 on Feb. 4, 1970, in the records of the Boulder County
Clerk and Recorder, less any portion already annexed to the City of Boulder.

 Property described in General Warranty Deed recorded at Film #1332, Reception #00660691
on Dec. 6, 1984, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder, identified as Parcel
D (Page 25-7), less any portion already annexed to the City of Boulder.

 Property described in Quit Claim Deed recorded at Film #663, Reception #90908600 on
March 26, 1969, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

 Beginning at a point on the north line of Section 27, T 1 N, R 70 west of the 6th P.M. that is on
the eastern right-of-way line of 55th Street; thence east along said north line to the southeast
corner of the parcel of land described in Quit Claim Deed recorded at Reception #02646356
on Nov. 30, 2004, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder, being the
southeast corner of San Lazaro Mobile Home Park; thence due south along a line that is west
of the bridge over Boulder Creek, to a point on the current city limits; thence southwesterly
along the current city limits and then northerly along the current city limits to the point of
beginning.

 All of the land in the East 1/2 and the SE 1/4 of Section 28, T1N, R70W of the 6th P.M. that is
not currently annexed.

10.- 

 The East 12 acres of the SE 1/4 of the SW 1/4, Section 34, Township 1 North, Range 70 West
of the 6th P.M., County of Boulder, State of Colorado; Less that portion conveyed to the
County of Bolder, a body corporate and politic by instrument, recorded at Film #887,
Reception #00138400 on May 20, 1975, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and
Recorder.

 Property described in Deed recorded at Film #887, Reception #00138400 on May 20, 1975, in
the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

11.- 

 Property described in General Warranty Deed recorded at Film #1383, Reception #00727730
on Nov. 25, 1985, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder, identified as
Parcels 64A, 64B and 64C (Pages 19-9, 19-10 and 19-11)

Exhibit B to Ord. 8128
Property Descriptions (8/2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page 131



 Property described in Deeds recorded at Film #910, Reception #00162567 on Dec. 31, 1975,
and Film #833, Reception #00082537 on Oct. 29, 1973, in the records of the Boulder County
Clerk and Recorder.

12. Beginning at a point on the south right-of-way line of Dimmit Drive and the west right-of-way
line of Cherryvale Road; thence easterly to the point of intersection of the east right-of-way
line of Cherryvale Road and the south right-of-way line of Baseline Road, thence easterly
along the south right-of-way line of Baseline road to the northwest corner of that parcel of
land described at Film #1365, Reception #00703299, on Aug. 2, 1985, in the records of the
Boulder County Clerk and Recorder, commonly known as the Platt Middle School property;
thence north to the north right-of-way line of Baseline Road; thence westerly along the north
line of said right-of-way to the east right-of-way line of Cherryvale Road; thence
southwesterly to the north right-of-way line of Dimmit Drive, thence southerly along the
western line of Cherryvale  Road to the point of beginning.

13. Property described in Warranty Deed recorded at Film #1324, Reception #00650710 on Oct.
5, 1984, in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

MAP GROUP 3 

14. Property described in Deed recorded at Film #1047, Reception #00320793 on Jan. 29, 1979,
in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder.

15. All the land not currently annexed that is south of the north right-of-way line of Table Mesa
Drive, east of Tantra Drive, north of the Walden Subdivision and west of and excluding the
parcel of land owned by the Regents of the University of Colorado at 4886 Table Mesa Drive
also known as Boulder County Assessor’s parcel 157709000027.

16. Parcel 1
All that part of Section 18 T1S, R70W of the 6th P.M. lying south and west of the current City
Limits except that parcel of land in the SW1/4 SW 1/4 of said Section 18 described in Deed
recorded at Film #1310, Reception #00631273 on July 3, 1984, in the records of the Boulder
County Clerk and Recorder.
Parcel 2
All that part of the SW1/4 of Section 7, T1S, R70W of the 6th P.M. lying south of the current
city limits.
Parcel 3
All that part of the SE1/4 of Section 12, T1S, R71W of the 6th P.M. lying south of the current
city limits.
Parcel 4
The NE1/4 NE1/4 of Section 13, T1S, R71W of the 6th P.M.

Exhibit B to Ord. 8128
Property Descriptions (8/2)

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page 132



K:\CMEN\o-8129-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

ORDINANCE NO. 8129 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING TO THE CITY OF BOULDER THE 
ENCLAVE KNOWN AS ELMER'S TWO-MILE PARK OWNED BY 
THE CITY OF BOULDER AND A PARCEL OF 60 SQUARE FEET 
OWNED BY THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMPANY OF COLORADO 
OPERATING IN COLORADO AS XCEL ENERGY (XCEL) ON THE 
SOUTH SIDE OF IRIS STREET BETWEEN 27TH AND 28TH 
STREETS, WHICH PARCELS ARE SHOWN ON THE MAP 
INCORPORATED INTO THIS ORDINANCE, WITH AN INITIAL 
ZONING DESIGNATION OF PUBLIC (P) AS DESCRIBED IN 
CHAPTER 9-5, "MODULAR ZONE SYSTEM," B.R.C. 1981; 
AMENDING THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP FORMING A PART OF 
SAID CHAPTER TO INCLUDE SAID PROPERTY IN THE ABOVE-
MENTIONED ZONING DISTRICT; AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 
DETAILS.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1. The city council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, finds: 

A. Both parcels described in Exhibit A are an enclave within the city, as defined in 
C.R.S. § 31-12-106(1), known as Elmer's Two-Mile Park, (the "Property").   

B. 

All except a 20 foot by 30 foot parcel of the Property is owned by the city and can 
be annexed as city-owned property pursuant to C.R.S. § 31-12-106(3).   

C. The remainder of the Property consists of a parcel of approximately 60 square feet 
within a corner of the Property owned by Xcel and can be unilaterally annexed by 
the city after published notice as provided in C.R.S. § 31-12-106(1). 

D  Notice of this annexation has been published in the Boulder Daily Camera as 
required in C.R.S. § 31-12-108(2), with the first publication on July 17, more than 
30 days prior to final adoption of this ordinance, and three other publications on July 
24, 31 and August 7. 

E. Although not required for annexation of an enclave, the city has provided notice to 
Xcel of the public hearing to be held on this ordinance. 

F. Evidence has been presented to the City Council that the Property has been entirely 
contained within the boundaries of the City of Boulder and has been so surrounded 
for at least three years.  

G. It is the intent of the city to annex these parcels to the boundaries of the adjacent 
property surrounding Elmer's Two-Mile Park to assure that no city-owned property, 

Attachment B to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ord. 8129

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page 133



K:\CMEN\o-8129-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

as it abuts current city boundaries, leaves any gaps of city-owned property between 
the Property annexed herein and the current city boundaries. 

H. The Planning Board of the City of recommended annexation of the Property with an 
initial zoning of Public. 

I. The requirements of the Colorado Constitution and the Colorado Revised Statutes 
regarding annexation have been satisfied.  

I.  The Property is designated as Area II-Park, Urban and Other in the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan of Public 

J. The Planning Board duly proposed that the Property be annexed to the City of 
Boulder with an initial zoning of Public, and that the Zoning District Map adopted 
by the City Council be amended to zone Public (P) zoning district, as provided in 
Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981. 

K. The initial zoning is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, and 
bears a substantial relation to and will enhance the general welfare of the Property 
and of the residents of the City of Boulder.  

L. The City Council has jurisdiction and the legal authority as provided in C.R.S. § 31-
12-106(1) to annex and zone the Property. 

Section 2. The Property be, and the same hereby is, annexed to and included within the 

corporate boundaries of the City of Boulder.  

Section 3. Chapter 9-5, "Modular Zone System," B.R.C. 1981, and the Zoning District 

Map forming a part thereof, be, and the same hereby are, amended to include Property in the Public 

zone district.  

Section 4. The City Council approves any variations or modifications to the Boulder 

Revised Code or other City ordinances that are in the agreements associated with this annexation. 

Section 5.  The annexation and zoning of the Property is necessary for the protection of the 

public health, safety, and welfare.  

Section 6. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and directs the city clerk to make available the text of the within ordinance for public 

inspection and acquisition.  

Attachment B to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ord. 8129

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page 134



K:\CMEN\o-8129-2581.docx 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 
Attest: 

City Clerk 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this 16th day of August, 2016. 

Mayor 
Attest: 

City Clerk 

Attachment B to Agenda Memo - Proposed Ord. 8129

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page 135



K:\CMEN\o-8129-2581.docx 

EXHIBIT A 

(Legal Description for Elmer's Two-Mile Park, an enclave within the City) 

Legal Description – 0 Iris Avenue owned by Public Service Company: 

Commencing at the West quarter corner of Section Twenty, Township One North, Range 70 West 
of the 6th P.M.; thence East along the North line of the Southwest quarter of said Section 20 a 
distance of 448 feet; thence South and parallel to the West line of said Section 20 a distance of 30 
feet to the true point of beginning; thence South and parallel to the West line of said Section a 
distance of 30 feet; thence East and parallel to the North line of the Southwest quarter of said 
Section a distance of 20 feet; thence North and parallel to the West line of said Section a distance 
of 30 feet; thence West a distance of 20 feet to the true point of beginning. 

Parcel Description – Elmer’s Two-Mile city-owned property: 

A PARCEL OF LAND LOCATED IN THE NW 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 OF SECTION 20, T 1 N, 
R 70 W, OF THE 6TH P.M., CITY OF BOULDER, COUNTY OF BOULDER, STATE OF 
COLORADO. 
BEGINNING AT THE W 1/4 CORNER OF SECTION 20, T 1 N, R 70 W, OF THE 6TH P.M., 
THENCE IN 89°45’30” E, 448.00 FEET ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE SW 1/4 OF 
SAID SECTION 20 TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THAT TRACT OF LAND 
CONVEYED IN THE DEED RECORDED IN BOOK 1052, PAGE 133 OF THE BOULDER 
COUNTY RECORDS, BOULDER COUNTY, COLORADO; THENCE S 0°20’00” E, 60.00 
FEET PARALLEL TO THE WEST LINE OF THE SW 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 20 TO THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THAT TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO SAID PUBLIC 
SERVICE COMPANY OF COLORADO AND THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING: 
THENCE N 89°45’30” E, 20.00 FEET PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE SW 1/4 
OF SAID SECTION 20; 
THENCE N 0°20’00” W, 30.00 FEET PARALLEL TO THE WEST LINE OF THE SW 1/4 OF 
SAID SECTION 20 TO A POINT WHICH IS 30.00 FEET SOUTH OF THE NORTH LINE OF 
THE SW 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 20; 
THENCE N 89°45’30” E, 198.25 FEET PARALLEL TO THE NORTH LINE OF THE SW 1/4 
OF SAID SECTION 20 TO THE EAST LINE OF THE W ½ OF THE NW 1/4 OF THE SW 1/4 
OF SAID SECTION 20; 
THENCE S 0°16’50” E, 962.91 FEET ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE W ½ OF THE NW 
14 OF THE SW 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 20; SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE EAST LINE OF 
TRACTS DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NUMBERS 960592, 953968, 945902 RECORDED IN 
THE BOULDER COUNTY RECORDS; 
THENCE S 89°45’52” W, 165.00 FEET; 
THENCE N 0°16’50” W, 661.94 FEET, SAID LINE ALSO BEING THE WEST LINE OF 
TRACTS DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION NUMBERS 960592, AND 953968 RECORDED AT 
BOULDER COUNTY RECORDS; 
THENCE S 89°45’37” W, 52.98 FEET ALONG THE EAST (SIC) LINE OF A TRACT OF 
LAND DESCRIBED AT RECEPTION 945902; 
THENCE N 0°20’00” W, 270.96 FEET ALONG THE WEST LINE OF THE 
AFOREMENTIONED TRACT TO THE TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Exhibit A to Proposed Ord. 8129

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page 136



Walnut  St.

Pine  St.

Balsam  Ave. Edgewood D r.

F
ol

so
m

  
S

t.

Iris  Ave.

Le
h

ig
h 

 S
t.

Valmont  Rd.

63
rd

  
S

t.

63
rd

  S
t.

Violet Ave.

Baseline  Rd.

30
th

  S
t.

Kalmia  Ave. Independence Rd.

Arapahoe  Rd.

Jay Rd.

O
ld

e
S

ta
g

e
R

d
.

Broadway

G
re

enbriar B
lv

d
.

55
th

  S
t.

57
th

  S
t.

Baseline  Rd.

Looko
ut Rd.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe Ave.

20th  S
t.

2
8

th
S

t.

3
0

th
S

t.

Moorhead  Ave.

Jay  Rd.

Table  Mesa  Dr.

Valmont  Rd.

55
th

  S
t.

6
3

rd
S

t.

Marshall Dr.

Canyon Blvd.

9t
h

  S
t.

B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

T
ab

le
M

esa
Dr.

Canyon  Blvd.

Colorado Ave.

S.  Broadw
ay

9t
h

S
t.

17
th

  S
t.

19
th

  S
t.

N
.

2
6

th
S

t.

Pearl  St.

Arapahoe  Rd.

51
st

  
S

t.

F
ooth

ills
P

kw
y.

C
h

er
ry

va
le

  
R

d
.

61
st

S
t.

South  Boulder  Rd.

Linden Dr.

University Ave.

Yarmouth Ave.

28th  St.  Ext.

F
ol

so
m

  
S

t.

28
th

  S
t.

S. Foothills
H

w
y.

Dia
go

na
l  

Hwy.

71
st

S
t.

Flagstaff Rd.

Mapleton Ave.

Lee
Hill D r.

N
. 

 B
ro

a
d

w
a

y

F
oo

th
ill

s 
 P

kw
y.

47
th

  S
t.

Pearl Pkwy.

Cherryvale Rd.

Baseline  Rd.

Wonderland
 Lake

Boulder Reservoir

Valmont Reservoir

Baseline
Reservoir

Viele
Lake

Sombrero
Marsh

Hayden
 Lake

Reservoir
Leggett-Owen

Hillcrest Reservoir

Sixmile
 Reservoir

Twin     Lakes

City of Boulder - 2016 Annexations

0 1 20.5

Miles
Map date July 27, 2016

Legend
OSMP Properties Annexation

Other City Properties Annexation

Transportation ROW Annexation

City Limits

N

Attachment C -
City Property Annexation Map

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page 137



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 16, 2016 

AGENDA TITLE: Update on city prairie dog relocation policies and priorities for 
2016 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning Housing & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, PH&S 
Tracy Winfree, Director of Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Yvette Bowden, Director of Parks & Recreation 
John Potter, Resource & Stewardship Division manager, OSMP 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager, PH&S 
Jeff Haley, Parks Planning Manager, PR 
Heather Swanson, Senior Wildlife Ecologist, OSMP 
Valerie Matheson, Urban Wildlife Conservation Coordinator, PH&S 
Joy Master, Conservation Ecologist, PR 
Don D’Amico, Ecological Systems Supervisor, OSMP 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Prairie dogs are an essential part of the Boulder prairie grassland ecosystem and are 
important to our community for their ecological, aesthetic, intrinsic, spiritual and 
economic values.  Over the years, however, the presence of prairie dogs has at times 
conflicted with human land uses and activities and preservation of other valuable species 
and habitats.  In urban areas, prairie dogs can conflict with planned development and 
delivery of city services such as providing recreational facilities to the community.  On 
open space land, prairie dogs play an integral role in grassland ecosystem functioning and 
supporting desirable species associated with prairie dogs such as burrowing owls.  
However, prairie dog colonies can also conflict with other city charter open space 
purposes such as agricultural use by, for example, disrupting irrigation systems.  Priority 
agricultural uses of open space lands such as organic vegetable production are also 
incompatible with prairie dogs.  Prairie dogs can even conflict with some grassland 
conservation goals of supporting a diversity of habitat types across the open space 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 1Packet Page 138



system.  Prairie ecosystems on city open space support diverse and thriving ecosystems 
associated with prairie dog colonies, but also plant communities like mesic tallgrass 
prairie, and animal species like grasshopper sparrows, that cannot exist where there are 
prairie dog colonies.  Prairie dog removal from these areas, without the use of lethal 
control, requires the ability to relocate prairie dogs from sites where they conflict with 
other priority city land management goals to areas where they can sustainably support 
intact grassland ecosystems.   

Finding relocation sites for prairie dogs to do this is an ongoing challenge.  Limiting 
lethal control on city property has created a backlog of hundreds of acres of prairie dogs 
identified for removal in the Open Space and Mountain Park’s (OSMP) Grassland 
Ecosystem Management Plan (GMAP).  The ability to relocate is also constrained by 
public concerns about relocating prairie dogs near their property, and by state and federal 
regulations that make it difficult to move prairie dogs to optimal, available sites outside 
of the county.   

Although the City has not used lethal control to remove those prairie dog colonies 
designated for removal on open space, the GMAP includes lethal control as a potential 
tool on many of the colonies (approximately 235 acres could be managed with lethal 
control).  No current plans exist to utilize lethal control in these situations, but there is 
potential for its use in the future to allow more timely implementation of the GMAP and 
protection of open space resources that are jeopardized by the presence of prairie dogs.  
There is no easy solution or alternative to removing prairie dogs from areas where they 
are in conflict with other land uses or resources in the absence of receiving sites or use of 
lethal control.   

To compound the problem of moving prairie dogs to better sites within open space 
property, private landowners have approached the city seeking help to relocate animals 
from their properties.  Most recently, the city has received a request from the owner of 
the Armory site to help relocate a prairie dog colony that conflicts with development of 
this property, in lieu of lethal control. 

There is a private land owner in Boulder County that has offered their property 
approximately eight miles up Flagstaff Road as a potential relocation receiving site for 
the Armory prairie dogs.  City staff, the Prairie Dog Coalition, and Colorado Parks and 
Wildlife are currently working with this landowner to assess the habitat suitability and 
feasibility of their property for a relocation.  

The purpose of this memo is to provide council with an update on current plans to 
relocate prairie dogs within Open Space and Mountain Park (OSMP) properties in 2016, 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 2Packet Page 139



and provide information on how relocating the prairie dogs from the Armory site to open 
space would impact the implementation of City of Boulder management plans.  

This memo includes information on: 
• management plans that guide prairie dog relocation in the city;
• an assessment of current relocation needs and available sites;
• proposed relocation priorities for 2016;
• an assessment of impacts to current relocation priorities if the city accepts the

Armory prairie dogs in 2016; and
• additional options for relocation.

Question for council: Does council support the current prairie dog relocation policies 
and practices including recommended relocation priorities for 2016? 

BOARD FEEDBACK 

On July 27, 2016, OSMP staff provided a brief update to the Open Space Board of 
Trustees (OSBT) regarding the upcoming council matter on prairie dogs.  OSBT was 
provided with background information on the issue and prairie dog management in 
general.  OSBT communicated to staff that they are glad the city and OSMP strive to 
reduce the use of lethal control on OSMP and within the city.  They asked about the 
history of open space accepting prairie dogs from other landowners, and about the 
potential for accepting additional colonies.  The OSBT was concerned about the 
likelihood of lethal control at the Armory site, and would like to find options that can 
prevent this, including those involving open space if necessary.  They also expressed that 
they were glad City Council would be discussing the issue. 

BACKGROUND 

The black-tailed prairie dog is an important part of the prairie grassland ecosystem and 
our natural community.  However, in areas of human development and fragmented 
habitat, prairie dog colonies tend to support a less diverse community of plants and 
animals including predators than in larger patches of intact grassland habitat.  In addition, 
over the years the presence of prairie dogs in the city has at times conflicted with human 
land uses and activities.   

In 2005 City Council accepted a collection of ordinances that allow for lethal control of 
prairie dogs (BRC 6-1-12; 6-1-36; 6-1-38; 6-1-39) while emphasizing the humane 
treatment of animals and the specific conditions under which lethal control would be 
permitted. 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 3Packet Page 140



In 2006 City Council accepted the City’s Urban Wildlife Management Plan (UWMP) 
including the Black-tailed Prairie Dog component to identify prairie dog protection 
opportunities in the urban service area and outline strategies for resolving conflicts 
(https://bouldercolorado.gov/wildlife/urban-wildlife-management-plan).   

The UWMP identified the overall vision, principles and goals for managing wildlife in 
the urban service area, in addition to specific goals and strategies for black-tailed prairie 
dog management.  When removal is required, the plan emphasizes humane, non-lethal 
control whenever feasible (balancing intended land uses; environmental, economic, and 
social principles; and an ecosystem approach to land management).  Relocation is the 
primary way to reduce lethal control in areas where prairie dogs are in conflict with other 
land uses, and is part of the UWMP six-step decision-making process that guides prairie 
dog removal in Boulder.   

Prior to 2004, OSMP property was a primary receiving site for relocated prairie dogs.  In 
2003, the department began limiting prairie dog relocation as colony expansion 
compromised the integrity and biodiversity of the grassland ecosystem, leading to decline 
of native plant communities, loss of topsoil, and the need for dust abatement and erosion 
management on some prairie dog colonies.  Development of the OSMP Grassland 
Ecosystem Management Plan (GMAP) was identified as a primary action item in the 
UWMP as critical elements such as habitat suitability and relocation criteria were needed 
to identify relocation opportunities as alternatives to lethal control.  The GMAP was 
adopted in 2010 (https://bouldercolorado.gov/osmp/grassland-ecosystem-management-
plan).   

For additional information on the history of the UWMP, including the plan’s six-step 
decision making process to limit lethal control, and information on how prairie dogs are 
addressed in the GMAP see Attachments A and B respectively. 

Since 2005, the city has received 15 lethal control permit applications from private 
landowners.  Part of the lethal permit application and review process includes exploring 
relocation opportunities.  In the past 11 years, 11 lethal control permits have been issued 
(four others were submitted, but not issued: one was withdrawn because the animals were 
relocated to Arapahoe and 75th street in 2006; one was not issued because passive 
relocation was deemed feasible in 2013; one was withdrawn in 2015; and one is currently 
being reviewed).  All of the lethal control permits were implemented with donation of the 
prairie dogs to an animal recovery program (black-footed ferrets or raptors).  The 
estimated number of animals taken under each of the 11 permits issued was as follows: 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 4Packet Page 141

https://bouldercolorado.gov/wildlife/urban-wildlife-management-plan
https://bouldercolorado.gov/osmp/grassland-ecosystem-management-plan
https://bouldercolorado.gov/osmp/grassland-ecosystem-management-plan


Permit #    Year Issued     Prairie Dogs Removed 
     1 2005      5 
     2 2006    15 
     3 2007  135 
     4 2007    45 
     5 2008    50 
     6 2009  250 
     7 2009    45 
     8 2012    30 
     9 2013    40 
   10 2015    25 
   11 2015    45 

In addition, the city periodically receives requests to receive prairie dogs on city property 
from sites where development has been proposed.  The most recent relocation request is 
for the Armory site at Lee Hill Road and Broadway which includes a monetary incentive 
of $5,000 as well as relocation costs (Attachment C).   

The City of Boulder evaluates potential prairie dog relocation receiving sites on an 
annual basis through two separate processes. OSMP receiving site criteria and suitability 
are evaluated with guidance from the GMAP, referenced above.  Sites are considered 
suitable for receiving prairie dogs when they have evidence of former colonies, not too 
many other prairie dogs already in the area, adequate vegetation, and no recent evidence 
of sylvatic plague.  Opportunities on other city-owned and managed parcels are evaluated 
on a per site basis.   

There are many more acres of prairie dog colonies that are in conflict with human land 
uses or rare plant habitats than there are available and appropriate relocation receiving 
sites.  The City of Boulder (OSMP and Parks and Recreation) has a total of 3,498 acres of 
active prairie dog colonies.  Of these, nearly 750 acres of active prairie dog colonies on 
city-owned land (21%) are identified for removal in the GMAP and UWMP due to 
conflicts with current land uses or management practices (see Attachment D). These 
areas are priorities for the City because they represent portions of City land where prairie 
dog occupation makes it impossible to meet other land management goals such as 
preservation of rare plant communities, ongoing agricultural production, conversion to 
organic vegetable production, construction of park sites and facilities or other identified 
priorities.  Though sending sites are not prioritized (i.e., establishing which prairie dog 
colonies are the highest priority to fill the suitable receiving sites) in these plans, private 
requests for prairie dog relocation on city land have not been accommodated in over 10 
years because the city has so many acres of active prairie dog colonies on city lands in 
need of removal.   

Lack of receiving sites in the last several years has also been compounded due to the 
presence of sylvatic plague epizootic across the southern portion of the OSMP land 
system. Colonies that might otherwise be considered suitable have had plague activity as 
recently as this year. Under the city’s current practices, these sites would not be 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 5Packet Page 142



appropriate for relocation from both a prairie dog survival and relocator safety 
perspective. The city’s current practice is to wait at least one-year post-plague before 
reintroducing prairie dogs into the area.  The use of deltamethrin dust pesticide has been 
suggested as a way to treat receiving sites to allow for relocations more immediately 
following plague and to protect relocated prairie dogs from plague. That suggestion is 
currently being evaluated and weighed with the city objective of limiting the use of 
pesticides when possible. Staff is working with Boulder’s Integrated Pest Management 
Coordinator to evaluate the efficacy and impacts of the insecticide on non-target species, 
ecosystem functioning, and human health.   

ANALYSIS 

This section includes information about the efforts made, and the information gathered to 
develop the city’s relocation priorities.  It also includes information about more broad 
relocation opportunities and relocation practices.  The information includes details on: 

• regional prairie dog management;
• 2016 city relocation plans;
• Extent of suitable prairie dog habitat on OSMP;
• previous success with implementation of the GMAP;
• impacts of accepting prairie dogs from the Armory site;
• options for land developers to find relocation sites; and
• future potential work with Boulder County.

Regional Prairie Dog Management 
The City of Boulder is only one of several non-federal, public land management agencies 
that have prairie dogs and prairie dog habitat on their lands in Northern Colorado.  Within 
Boulder County, the City of Boulder and Boulder County lands are the two largest land 
systems that contain prairie dog habitat.  Combined, the City of Boulder and Boulder 
County had prairie dogs on approximately 5,700 acres in 2015.  Within that, the city 
manages over 3,400 acres of colonies and approximately 2,700 acres are areas where 
prairie dogs and prairie dog habitat are conserved.  The remaining ~700+ acres occur in 
areas where prairie dogs conflict with other open space purposes and land management 
goals, including irrigated agriculture, planned park development sites, and rare plant 
habitat.   

City of Boulder prairie dog management plans, policies, practices and ordinances 
prioritize conservation of prairie dogs and minimization of lethal control.  The City of 
Boulder’s intense focus on minimizing lethal control is unique among land management 
agencies in Northern Colorado.  The prairie dog management policies of ten Northern 
Colorado land management agencies were examined and all use lethal control in prairie 
dog management, many on an annual basis.  Only four - City of Boulder, Boulder County 
City of Fort Collins, and City of Broomfield utilize relocation to address prairie dog 
conflicts.  In addition, only City of Boulder, Boulder County, and City of Longmont 
utilize passive relocation as a way to address conflicts without the use of lethal control.  
Even for other agencies with a focus on prairie dog conservation, prairie dog 
management also features ongoing use of lethal control to address conflicts with 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 6Packet Page 143



agriculture and other uses. On OSMP, lethal control has been used only once since 1999 
to remove three prairie dogs from the Foothills Community Park site following a two-
year relocation effort that was unsuccessful at trapping these individuals.   

2016 Relocation Priorities  
There are currently 685 acres of open space lands occupied by prairie dogs in areas 
designated for removal and 65 acres occupied in Parks and Recreation removal areas.  In 
2016, OSMP is in the process of applying for a State permit to use 16.5 acres for 
receiving relocated prairie dogs. (For additional information on receiving site suitability 
see Attachment E).  Within this 16.5 acres, the city plans on moving prairie dogs from a 
subset of the following locations: 

1. Foothills Community Park-  approximately eight prairie dogs have recolonized
the site which was relocated in 2014.  To minimize the need for lethal control on
the site, the city intends to relocate all animals that can be captured.   Animals that
are not relocated from this site and remain after relocation efforts will be lethally
controlled in keeping with the site plan for the colony and the urban wildlife
protection ordinance.

2. Rolling Rock-  approximately two acres.  This site experienced plague a few
years ago and is at very low occupancy levels.  However, the colony is expanding
and is expected to soon reach its previous extent of approximately five acres with
much higher densities of prairie dogs.  This colony is in a removal area due to
irrigated agricultural conflicts, inconsistency with preservation of tallgrass prairie
in the area (it is within the South Boulder Creek State Natural Area), and
maintenance of regulatory mitigation wetlands that occur on the site.

3. Straty Cline- approximately two acres.  This site is a removal area that is
currently relatively small, making relocation feasible with a small receiving site.
This colony is a transition area due to conflicts with irrigated agricultural
production.

4. Axelson- 3.5+ acres (has grown since last mapping).  This site is growing quickly
and may soon reach its previous size of 36 acres.  This colony is in a transition
area due to current conflicts with irrigated agriculture.  In addition, this colony is
likely to be identified as a best opportunity area for diversified organic vegetable
farming, an activity inconsistent with prairie dog occupation.

5. Teller North- approximately 11 acres.  A portion of this site was relocated in
2014, but the receiving site did not accommodate the full population from this
site.  This site is growing and is a transition area due to conflicts with irrigated
agriculture.

The priority for relocating these colonies is based on their small size, ongoing conflicts, 
and the opportunity to relocate them when relatively few animals need to be moved to 
allow restoration.  Foothills Park is a priority to minimize the use of lethal control on city 
properties.  It is unlikely that all of these priorities will be accommodated on the small 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 7Packet Page 144



receiving site expected to be available in 2016.  However, the City will make final 
decisions on which colonies will be moved based on which would have the highest 
benefits given population estimates and State permitted capacity of the receiving site, 
which has not yet been determined.   

Previous Success with Implementation of the Grassland Plan 
The GMAP provides guidance for management of approximately 25,000 acres of OSMP 
land that fall within grassland ecosystems.  However, only a subset of these could provide 
habitat for prairie dogs.  Within that 25,000 acres, approximately 6,603 acres have good 
or very good habitat suitability for prairie dogs based on modeling undertaken during the 
GMAP creation.    The model includes vegetation type, slope, soil texture and soil depth 
and predicts focus areas for prairie dog conservation where the habitat is most suitable.   
Areas that have rocky soils, are characterized by shrublands, forests, open water, riparian 
areas, developed infrastructure, or other areas in which prairie dogs do not occur or thrive 
are not predicted to be suitable.   In an effort to protect not only suitable prairie dog 
habitat, but also large, heterogeneous habitat blocks, management designations call for 
prairie dog protection on 9,338 acres.  Within the ~6,600 acres of suitable habitat 
relocation receiving sites could be identified on 4,019 acres where prairie dogs have 
previously occupied the area.  Relocation would be allowed when relocation conditions 
are appropriate (low occupancy, absence of active plague, meet GMAP relocation 
criteria).  In 2016, only 16.5 acres meet all these requirements and city staff is currently 
working to secure a State permit permit for the site.  An additional 249 acres meet city 
criteria, but face challenges with state permitting.  Evaluation of the feasibility to pursue 
these additional sites in 2017 is under way.    

Despite success in protecting many acres of prairie dog colonies on suitable habitat, due 
to a number of factors, opportunities to address city plan implementation related to prairie 
dog conflict areas are limited.  Infrequent receiving site availability, permit approval 
challenges, substantial staff and funding resources necessary for relocation, and extensive 
acres of prairie dog colonies in removal areas all create challenges to meeting the goals of 
both the UWMP and the GMAP related to prairie dogs.  Since its adoption in 2010, 
OSMP has relocated approximately 67 acres of prairie dogs from OSMP removal and 
transition areas at a cost of approximately $200,000 (see Table 1).   

Agenda Item 6A     Page 8Packet Page 145



Table 1.  Prairie dog relocations 2010-2016 

Year #of receiving sites 
available 

#of acres of prairie 
dogs relocated 

Reasons/notes 

2011 
1 {Richardson 

Prairie Dog 
Conservation Area 
(PCA) ~84 acres} 

0 Timeframe for 
permit not feasible 

2012 1 (Richardson PCA 
~84 acres) 

0 Permit denied by 
State based on 

adjacent landowner 
concern and 

inability to prevent 
spread beyond 

property boundaries 

2013 1 {Waneka 
Grassland Preserve 
(GP)~150 acres} 

2  Relocation put on 
hold following 

flood 

2014 1 (Waneka GP 
~150 Acres) 

74 (31 Parks, 53 
OSMP)- Foothills 
community park + 

~12 acres on OSMP 
agricultural 

properties (Teller 
and Hartnagle).  
Total of 1,150 

individual p. dogs 

Capacity of 
receiving site was 

insufficient to 
accept all Foothills 

prairie dogs and 
entirety of OSMP 

agricultural removal 
areas- ag colonies 

only partially 
removed 

2015 None 0 Plague active at 
potential sites 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 9Packet Page 146



Impacts of Accepting Prairie Dogs from the Armory Site 
Since the GMAP was accepted in 2010, opportunities to implement prairie dog 
management plans have been limited.  In 2016, OSMP plans to relocate up to five small 
colonies from city open space that will work toward implementing GMAP prairie dog 
management goals.  Although the Armory developer has communicated that prairie dogs 
will be removed in 2016, regardless of receiving site availability, the city plans to move 
forward with internal relocation priorities in an effort to address a very small portion of 
the very large need on city property.  Information from the Armory landowner has 
indicated 50-60 prairie dogs, within nine acres of occupied colony, exist on the Armory 
site, and that 5-10 acres would be needed for a relocation (exact acreage required would 
depend on relocation permit parameters, typically 7-10 p.dogs/acre, and actual population 
numbers at the Armory).   

If 5-10 acres of the city’s identified 2016 receiving site were dedicated to receiving the 
Armory prairie dogs, those acres would not be available to receive prairie dogs from city 
open space lands, thus delaying the implementation of prairie dog management plans.  
Without including the armory prairie dogs, with typically allowed relocation densities, 
which are often much lower than those on the removal sites, the one receiving site would 
allow the city to address only 8-9 acres of prairie dog removal areas from city open space 
in 2016 (there are 685 occupied acres on OSMP that are designated for removal).   If the 
Armory prairie dogs were accommodated at the receiving site, based on likely allowed 
densities at the receiving site, none or only one of the above priority sites could likely be 
moved.  The remaining sites would likely grow and be less feasible, more expensive and 
require a larger receiving site in future years, and continue to conflict with other land 
management goals on the sites including agriculture, vegetable farming, rare plant 
communities and regulatory mitigation wetlands.  In addition, if prairie dogs from 
Foothills Community Park are not accommodated, the entire population in that area 
would be lethally removed this fall.  The eight prairie dogs at Foothills Community Park 
are the only ones on city property that face immediate threat of lethal control under 
current policy. 

Substantial staff time would be required to support and coordinate a relocation effort to 
bring private property prairie dogs to city property. The Armory landowner has offered to 
pay for the relocation of the prairie dogs, although money is already identified in the 
2016 budget to relocate city prairie dogs to the receiving site.  If prairie dogs from the 
Armory were relocated to city land, staff time required to coordinate the relocation could 
end up being more than currently allocated due to additional coordination needs.  Other 
considerations would include equity of opportunities for other private landowners and the 
proper use of public funds.  

Options for Private Property Owners and the City to Find Relocation Sites 
Boulder is a pioneer in limiting lethal control of prairie dogs and effecting large scale 
relocation projects (1,150 prairie dogs relocated in 2013-2014), although even this 
extensive effort addresses only a small percentage of the prairie dogs in conflict areas 
needing to be relocated.  No other community puts as much effort into limiting lethal 
control of prairie dogs.  Because other communities and government agencies in the 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 10Packet Page 147



Front Range and throughout the habitat range of the black-tailed prairie dog use lethal 
control as the primary method of prairie dog removal it is challenging to find suitable 
relocation sites beyond Boulder’s borders. 

Efforts have been made by various parties to find private property owners willing to 
accept prairie dog relocations, but these have been largely unsuccessful, with one 
exception which is currently being evaluated.    The timeline of evaluation for this 
potential option is uncertain and will depend on the private landowners working with 
Colorado Parks and Wildlife to determine suitability of the site.  If the site appears to be 
suitable, then the lethal control permit would not be issued unless a relocation to this site 
turned out not to be feasible.  Minimal staff time would be required to help coordinate 
this option if viable. 

In the case of the Armory, an incentive has been offered to private property owners to 
entice them to offer a receiving site.  With non-irrigated prairie land values running in the 
$4-6,000 per acre range or higher when available in the county, in most cases, an 
incentive to use 5-10 acres might need to be significantly greater than what is currently 
offered ($5,000) to induce participation.  Neighborhood relations for the potential 
receiving landowner could further influence the low desirability of offering a property for 
relocation.  However, higher incentive rates could prove successful in future situations.   

It has been suggested that land developers could contribute to a fund that could be used to 
purchase land where their prairie dogs could be relocated.  Though land for prairie dog 
relocations is limited, and purchasing additional land could be beneficial, if appropriate 
land were identified that could support prairie dogs, acquisition is no guarantee that the 
State will permit relocations to those sites, particularly when there are adjacent neighbors 
that do not support the relocation.  Prairie dog relocations require a permit from Colorado 
Parks and Wildlife and the City of Boulder has previously been denied a permit to move 
prairie dogs within the city’s lands due to neighborhood concerns.  Although this option 
may be possible, it would be a long-term strategy that could not be implemented in a 
timeframe that would address the immediate need for the Armory prairie dogs, and would 
require further evaluation and would be dependent on the availability of suitable land for 
sale. 

It has also been suggested that land developers could pursue out-of-state relocation 
opportunities for the prairie dogs displaced by development.  Though landowners in 
various states may agree to accept prairie dogs, there are significant obstacles to 
implementing out-of-state relocations.  These obstacles include a Certificate of Health for 
each prairie dog transported across state lines and state permits from the sending state and 
receiving state.  Getting permission and required permits from the receiving state might 
be challenging.   

Agenda Item 6A     Page 11Packet Page 148



Future Potential Work with Boulder County 
The City of Boulder is always striving to find the best approach to conserve native 
wildlife while managing conflicts between human land use and wildlife.  Staff will 
continue to evaluate policies and practices of the city to ensure that it is utilizing the best, 
most appropriate methods.  Staff has identified working with Boulder County on prairie 
dog management as one priority in the future.  Overlap in land ownership and spatial 
proximity of properties owned and managed by both the City of Boulder and Boulder 
County present an opportunity to work on collaborative prairie dog protection and 
management to best manage for healthy, thriving grassland ecosystems with prairie dog 
colonies and associated native species and to meet other goals of both entities.     

Agenda Item 6A     Page 12Packet Page 149



NEXT STEPS 

The city is submitting a relocation permit request to Colorado Parks and Wildlife in 
August for OSMP priority properties, expecting a response in September. 

ATTACHMENTS 

A: Urban Wildlife Management history and the UWMP six step decision making 
process 

B: How prairie dogs are addressed in the Grassland Ecosystem Management Plan 

C: Letter from Bruce Dierking 

D: 2016 City of Boulder Prairie Dog Removal Area Summary 

E: 2016 City of Boulder Prairie dog relocation sites and Priorities 

Agenda Item 6A     Page 13Packet Page 150



URBAN WILDLIFE MANAGEMENT BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

History 
Over the past two decades, urban prairie dog management, in particular, has been an on-going 
challenge for the city.  The black-tailed prairie dog is an important part of the prairie grassland 
ecosystem that surrounds Boulder. Where they occur, prairie dogs have far-reaching ecological 
effects upon the landscape. Within the urban area, prairie dogs occur primarily along the edges 
of protected open space and on small, fragmented parcels. As colonies grow and deplete the 
resources on one site, they disperse to other sites and establish new colonies. Prairie dogs will 
readily move from one site to adjacent properties and forage on lawns and established 
landscaping. Prairie dogs can both cause damage to landscaping and building infrastructure in 
the urban area and also be a safety hazard where they occur on public park lands.   

The City has developed management plans, practices, and policies specifically for prairie dogs 
since the late 1970s.  Boulder’s efforts to protect prairie dogs through legislation began in 1999.  
Several events in the 1990’s focused attention upon the importance of prairie dogs as a 
diminishing keystone species in grassland ecosystems. Concerns about the protection of prairie 
dogs arose from several incidents in Boulder and in some surrounding communities where large 
colonies of prairie dogs were poisoned. In addition, the National Wildlife Federation petitioned 
the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service to consider an emergency listing of the black-tailed prairie 
dog (Cynomys ludovicianus) as a threatened species under the Federal Endangered Species Act. 
Although the Service found that the species was warranted for listing, the listing was precluded 
by other, higher priorities.  Since that time, re-examination and updated estimates of population 
size by the US Fish and Wildlife Service found listing to not be warranted under the Federal 
Endangered Species Act.   

On January 18, 2000, City Council adopted Resolution No. 842 regarding the protection and 
management of black-tailed prairie dogs. The resolution emphasized the city’s intent of 
protecting prairie dog habitat on public and private land and that relocation would be the method 
for removing prairie dogs from sites where conflicts occur.  The resolution also stated that 
OSMP properties would be the primary source of receiving sites for relocated prairie dogs.  At 
the same time, City Council passed an ordinance prohibiting the poisoning of prairie dogs.  The 
ordinance was amended July 3, 2001 to prohibit destruction of active prairie dog burrows.  

In 2003, the Colorado Department of Agriculture notified the city that its ordinances prohibiting 
prairie dog and bird poisoning were pre-empted by state law.  The state’s position was that the 
city’s ordinances needed to be repealed or amended so that they did not apply to the activities of 
state-regulated pesticide applicators.  A combination of state pre-emption concerns and the 
scarcity of city land available for relocation triggered a reevaluation of city policies with regard 
to prairie dogs.   

City Council adopted the current Wildlife Protection Ordinance in 2005 after a long and intense 
public process. The ordinance limits the use of lethal control on prairie dogs and wild birds by 
requiring landowners to obtain a permit from the city.  In order for a permit to be issued, the 
landowner must satisfactorily demonstrate that all non-lethal options for managing prairie dogs 
or wild birds on a site were considered, and are not feasible.  

Attachment A - UWM history and UWMP six step decision making process

Agenda Item 6A     Page 14Packet Page 151



Urban Wildlife Management Plan 
The need for the UWMP was recognized during the development of the city’s Wildlife 
Protection Ordinance. Concerns were raised by council during this process about the need for a 
broader look at wildlife relative to urban land uses when making decisions about the 
management of wildlife in specific areas or sites.  

The first phase of the UWMP involved the development of guiding principles for the 
management of wildlife in the city as well as a vision and set of goals for the plan and was 
endorsed by council in January 2006.  The guiding principles for urban wildlife management 
emphasize the use of humane, non-lethal control methods when the presence of wildlife in the 
city is in conflict with human use. This policy document also provides a framework for 
identifying and prioritizing future work including management plans for species, groups of 
species and habitat types.   

The second phase of the UWMP includes the development of species-specific components to the 
plan, starting with the black-tailed prairie dog component in 2006 and followed by a large 
predator (mountain lion and bear) component that staff began last year.   

Black Tailed Prairie Dog Component 
The purpose of the prairie dog management component was to identify prairie dog protection and 
removal areas in the city and outline strategies for resolving short and long-term conflicts with 
human land uses.   

The primary policy framework behind the prairie dog component is the “six-step process” that 
was developed through the adoption of the city’s wildlife protection ordinance in early 2005.  
The “six-step process” involves the following ordered decision-making steps for managing 
prairie dog conflicts:   

1. Minimize conflicts through non-removal methods;
2. Remove prairie dogs on only a portion of a site;
3. Evaluate the potential for relocation;
4. Evaluate the potential for donation to animal recovery programs (which can mean

trapping and lethal control or live transfer);
5. Evaluate the use of trapping and lethal control through carbon dioxide chambers; and
6. If the above steps are not feasible, apply fumigants to the burrows.

The plan also emphasizes the use of live relocation as the primary means of removing prairie 
dogs from sites designated for removal. The plan and the “six-step process” also recognize that 
relocation receiving sites will not always be available and lethal control will sometimes be 
required to remove prairie dogs and reduce conflicts with human land uses.  In these cases, 
donation to wildlife recovery programs (black-footed ferret or raptor) or trapping and 
asphyxiating through the use of CO2 chambers will be the preferred method of lethal control. 

Attachment A - UWM history and UWMP six step decision making process

Agenda Item 6A     Page 15Packet Page 152



1 

Open Space and Mountain Parks  
Grassland Ecosystem Management Plan 

City of Boulder  
Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Grassland Plan 

Conservation of Black-tailed Prairie Dogs 

The Grassland Plan focuses action on eight (8) components of OSMP grasslands including one referred to 
as “Black-tailed Prairie Dogs and Associates”.  The identification of this prairie dog-based target reflects 
the ecological importance of prairie dogs in creating and sustaining distinctive ecological conditions on 
OSMP grasslands.  In order to be successfully implemented, OSMP must take action to conserve prairie 
dogs, their associates, and the seven other conservation targets.  These targets include agricultural 
operations and native grasslands uninhabited by prairie dogs. 

The Grassland Plan provides a framework to conserve prairie dogs and their associates with the other 
conservation targets by: 

1. Establishing viability standards and conservation objectives for all eight targets
2. Defining land management designations and applying them to every prairie dog colony mapped

on OSMP lands
3. Developing criteria to guide relocation of prairie dogs to, from, and within the OSMP land system

Viability Standards and Conservation Objectives 
The Grassland Plan describes acceptable ranges for “key attributes” of all eight conservation targets.  
Key attributes are important characteristics of the targets like: 

 Presence and abundance of rare, sensitive or particularly important plants or animals 
 Amount of exposed bare ground 
 Ground cover by noxious weeds 
 Diversity of grassland birds 
 Size of habitat blocks 

Successful conservation in the Grassland Planning Area occurs when OSMP simultaneously achieves 
the desired conditions for all attributes of all the targets. This means that conservation and 
management actions need to consider the effects on all targets.  Conserving prairie dogs in the 
context of degraded grasslands would not be considered success.  Nor would maintaining the key 
attributes of the mixed grass prairie without ensuring that prairie dogs and their associates are also 
being conserved.  The viability standards for the grassland plan, including the black-tailed prairie 
dog and associates target, are described in Chapter II of the Grassland Plan and described in detail 
in Appendix D. 

Management Designation 

Open Space and Mountain Parks staff defined the following management designations for 
any prairie dog colonies that have been mapped since 1996- whether or not they are 
currently occupied.  These management designations provide a spectrum of protection for 
prairie dogs and the other Grassland Plan conservation targets.  The five management 
designations are attached. 
 Prairie dog Conservation Areas serve primarily to conserve prairie dogs and provide 

receiving sites for colonies in removal and transition areas.  Based on updates following 
the 2015 mapping season, 583 acres are designated as Prairie Dog Conservation Areas. 

 Grassland Preserves comprise approximately 8,000 acres of the Grassland Planning Area. 

Attachment B - Grassland Ecosystem Managment Plan

Agenda Item 6A     Page 16Packet Page 153



2 

OSMP has established a range of acceptable prairie dog occupancy between 10 and 26 
percent.  This means that the Grassland Preserves will provide conservation of between 
800 and 2,100 acres of active prairie dog colonies.  These areas provide the best 
opportunities for natural movement of prairie dogs and support sensitive associated 
species such as Ferruginous Hawk, Golden Eagle and Burrowing Owl.  Grassland 
Preserves also offer the opportunity for accepting relocated prairie dogs if conditions 
meet the viability standards and relocation criteria.   

 Multiple Objective Areas provide locations where prairie dogs will be allowed to persist. 
No relocation is allowed in MOAs.  Following the 2015 mapping effort, 755 acres of 
mapped colonies are included in the Multiple Objective Area designation. 

 Transition and Removal Areas represent properties where conservation or restoration of 
other grassland targets is the primary focus.  Relocation away from these areas will be 
undertaken when receiving sites (PCA or GP) are available and it is feasible.  In removal 
areas, lethal control could be used if other methods of removal are not possible 1,463 
acres included in mapping through 2015 have been designated as Transition (1053) or 
Removal (410) areas.  

The following table summarizes some of the key management actions associated with each of the 
designations. 

Management 
Designation 

Accept 
Relocated 

Prairie Dogs 
Removal 

Removal 
to Protect 
Irrigation 

Actively 
Restore 

Vegetation 

Prairie Dog 
Conservation 
Area 

x - x 

Grassland 
Preserve 

x† x * x x 

Multiple 
Objective Areas 

- - x x 

Transition Areas - X x x 

Removal Areas - X x x 
†If vegetation meets standards set in relocation criteria (see section below) 
*If occupation and vegetative conditions exceed the levels defined in the viability standards

Staff developed criteria to place each prairie dog colony mapped on OSMP into one of the 
designations.  The designation criteria consider the recorded presence of sensitive plant or animal 
species, habitat suitability, conflicts with agriculture, or other city services, and restoration efforts.  The 
designation criteria are below.    

Management designations were developed for the approximately 6237 acres occupied by prairie dog 
colonies since1996.  Lands not occupied by prairie dogs during 1996-2015 or included in the Grassland 
Preserves did not receive prairie dog management designations.  A criteria-based approach provides 
OSMP with the ability to repeat the same method when determining appropriate management for “new” 
colonies that result from dispersal, or new acquisitions. Total acres of designated prairie dog colonies are 
given in the table below 

Attachment B - Grassland Ecosystem Managment Plan

Agenda Item 6A     Page 17Packet Page 154



3 

Prairie Dog Conservation Area ....................................... 583* 
Grassland Preserve ........................................................... 8,000 (3436* of prairie dog colonies have 

been mapped within Grassland Preserves) 
Multiple Objective Area ................................................... 755* 
Transition Area .................................................................. 1053* 
Removal Area ..................................................................... 410* 
* These numbers reflect the Maximum Extent of occupied Black-tailed Prairie Dogs as of the end of the 2015 mapping effort. This is a
conglomeration of all occupation over the past 19  years (1996-2015). This is not a representation of what is actively occupied. 

Recent die-offs due to sylvatic plague have substantially reduced the acres occupied by prairie dogs in 
some parts of the OSMP system.  As a result, the number of occupied acres in these management 
designations is lower than the numbers given in the table above.   In the most recent mapping (Fall 2015), 
Prairie Dog Conservation Areas contained 273 acres of prairie dogs, Grassland Preserves 1,746, 
Multiple Objective Areas 342, Transition Areas 450 and Removal Areas 235 acres.  Experience from 
managing through previous plague cycles suggests that higher levels of occupation will be reestablished 
in the future.   

Relocation Criteria 
OSMP developed relocation criteria to ensure that conditions in areas accepting relocated prairie dogs 
will be able to sustain prairie dog populations, and associated species. Separate relocation criteria were 
developed for Prairie Dog Conservation Areas and Grassland Preserves. 

Prairie Dog Conservation Areas  
Relocation criteria for Prairie Dog Conservation Areas are simple and address the most basic level of 
suitability as a receiving site.  These criteria are: 

1. Existing burrow structure or evidence of previous occupation
2. Relocation will follow regulations set out in City of Boulder’s Wildlife Protection Ordinance and

associated city policies
3. All appropriate state, federal permits obtained and conditions of permits followed

Grassland Preserves  
Criteria developed for Grassland Preserves are more extensive and detailed.  These criteria are 
intended to ensure that relocation into grassland preserves is done in a way that is likely to allow 
vegetation and habitats to recover when necessary from the effects of long-term prairie dog 
occupation.  This will increase the quality of habitat where prairie dogs will be released and increase 
conservation of other grassland plan targets being conserved in the Grassland Preserves.   These 
criteria are: 

1. Existing burrow structure or evidence of previous occupation
2. Relocation will follow regulations set out in City of Boulder’s Wildlife Protection Ordinance and

associated city policies
3. All appropriate state, federal permits obtained and conditions of permits followed
4. Grassland preserve is below 10% threshold occupancy- as identified in Grassland Ecosystem

Management Plan Black-tailed Prairie Dog and Associates viability standards
5. Vegetation and habitat within receiving site meets the following minimum standards based upon

data from at least three transects within each habitat type on the receiving site:
a. Average bare ground no more than 22% cover
b. Average native species richness at least 18 species (with exception of non-native

grassland patches)
c. Average relative cover of native perennial graminoid species at least 60%

Attachment B - Grassland Ecosystem Managment Plan

Agenda Item 6A     Page 18Packet Page 155



4 

d. Average sensitive/conservative species richness at least 4 species (with exception of non-
native grassland patches)

6. Majority of receiving site has been identified as exhibiting Good or Very Good Habitat
Suitability in OSMP’s prairie dog Habitat Suitability Model.  Relocation should begin in areas with
highest suitability.

Attachment B - Grassland Ecosystem Managment Plan

Agenda Item 6A     Page 19Packet Page 156



5 

Description of Prairie Dog Management Designations 

Grassland Preserves (GP)  
Grassland Preserves are areas where prairie dogs and their associated species are part of large and 
ecologically diverse grassland habitat blocks.  These areas are considered the best opportunity to 
conserve prairie dogs and their associated species. In most cases, prairie dogs will be allowed to persist 
without removal in Grassland Preserves.  However, removal will be allowed for the purposes of 
maintaining existing irrigation facilities such as headgates, ditches, lateral ditches, reservoirs and 
irrigated fields.  In addition, to ensure protection of habitat within Grassland Preserves, the need for 
limited removal from a Grassland Preserve will be assessed if prairie dogs occupy more than 26% of the 
Grassland Preserve (i.e. viability drops below “Good”) and indicators of vegetation composition fall 
below thresholds identified in relocation criteria.  Inactive, previously occupied colonies in Grassland 
Preserves could serve as relocation receiving sites (where there is an existing burrow infrastructure) and if 
the area meets relocation criteria.  However, prairie dogs will not be relocated into irrigated fields 
nested within Grassland Preserves.  Following a die-off or other disappearance of prairie dogs from an 
area, prairie dogs could be excluded to allow for habitat restoration or to protect existing habitat 
restoration projects. 

While Grassland Preserves contain significant extents of habitat suitable for prairie dogs, they also 
contain less suitable habitat.  

Prairie Dog Conservation Areas (PCAs)  
PCAs are areas where the conservation of the prairie dog is the primary management objective and are 
managed opportunistically for associated species. These areas would serve as receiving sites for 
relocation with the minimum requirements described in the relocation criteria.  No removal of prairie dogs 
would occur in PCAs except for the purpose of maintaining an existing irrigation facility such as a 
headgate, ditch, lateral ditch, reservoir, or irrigated field.  Prairie dogs will not be relocated into 
irrigated fields within PCAs. 

Multiple Objective Areas (MOA)  
In Multiple Objective Areas, preservation of prairie dogs and their associated community is one of 
several management objectives. Prairie dogs will be allowed to persist without removal except for the 
purpose of maintaining existing irrigation facilities such as headgates, ditches, lateral ditches, reservoirs, 
or irrigated fields.  MOAs will not be used as receiving sites for relocated prairie dogs. Exclusion of 
prairie dogs attempting to re-colonize could occur to allow habitat recovery.  

Transition Areas 
Transition areas are grassland areas where the preservation of conservation targets other than the 
prairie dog and associated community takes precedence.  Prairie dogs may inhabit transition areas, but 
will be relocated away from the property when feasible (i.e. relocation receiving site available).  
Following relocation, die-off, or other natural events such as dispersal, that lead to a reduction of the 
population and result in uninhabited areas, re-colonization could be prevented or discouraged using 
barriers, re-seeding, grading, burrow destruction, passive relocation, or other methods available to the 
department.  After efforts are made to trap and relocate all remaining prairie dogs, removal through 
lethal control will be allowed in accordance with applicable regulations, and policies, and if numbers do 
not exceed 20 individuals.  Removal would be allowed at any time for maintenance of existing irrigation 
facilities such as a headgate, ditch, lateral ditch, reservoir or irrigated field.  Continued irrigation will 
also be allowed in irrigated fields regardless of prairie dog occupancy.   

Attachment B - Grassland Ecosystem Managment Plan

Agenda Item 6A     Page 20Packet Page 157



6 

Removal Areas   
In removal areas, prairie dogs are incompatible with OSMP management objectives.  The designation of 
a property as a Removal Area provides the option to remove prairie dogs from the property in 
accordance with applicable regulations and policies.  Following removal, efforts would occur to prevent 
re-colonization including restoration or irrigation of the property, destruction of burrow system, exclusion 
structures, etc.  Continued irrigation will be allowed in irrigated fields regardless of prairie dog 
occupancy. 

Prairie Dog Colony Designation Criteria 

Criteria for Designation as a Grassland Preserve: 
1. Current or recent history of multiple prairie dog colonies (complex of colonies) within

grassland block
2. Extensive areas of habitat ranked “Good Habitat Suitability” or “Very Good Habitat

Suitability”
3. Large block of grassland habitat
4. Minimal irrigated agricultural use on property that conflicts with prairie dog occupancy
5. Minimal surrounding land use conflicts
6. Minimal conflict with other Grassland Plan targets
7. Distant from urban area (relatively speaking)
8. Not bisected by roads
9. Proximity to other lands managed for grassland conservation, or for prairie dogs and

associated species

Criteria for Designation in Other Management Categories: 
1. Sensitive associated species known to occur or suspected to occur in the colony

(Sensitive associated species are ferruginous hawk, rough-legged hawk, northern harrier,
golden eagle, American badger and burrowing owl.)

2. Good or Very Good Habitat Suitability based on Ecological Habitat Suitability Model
3. No conflict with OSMP irrigated agricultural uses or other city department land uses
4. No significant recent restoration history or investment (completed within past 10 years or

“in-progress” as defined by restoration criteria)
5. Directly adjacent to Grassland Preserve Area
6. No significant or rare plant communities intolerant of prairie dogs

 Multiple Objective Area (MOA) 
5 or more criteria met, or criteria #3, #4, and #6 met,  

or presence of badger or nesting burrowing owls (regardless of number of criteria met) 
 Transition Area 

3-4 criteria met and criteria #3 or #4 or #6 not met 
 Removal Area 

0-2 criteria met  
 Prairie Dog Conservation Area: 

Meets criteria #3, #4, #6, and landscape context, plant communities and other site 
characteristics make it appropriate.  

The following exceptions apply to the designation criteria: 
 If criterion #1 applies, colony cannot be designated a Removal Area.   
 If presence of burrowing owl or badger is confirmed, colony must be designated as a 

Attachment B - Grassland Ecosystem Managment Plan

Agenda Item 6A     Page 21Packet Page 158



7 

Grassland Preserve or Multiple Objective Area*.   
 If colony is irrigated agricultural land and is not embedded in a grassland preserve, it must 

be designated as either a transition area or removal area. 

*Burrowing owls tend to return each spring to the same areas to nest. However, there can be as
much as a five year gap between nesting attempts.  OSMP will annually evaluate prairie dog 
colonies designated under this condition to determine if they should be maintained as a MOA or 
Grassland Preserve.  The determination will be based upon a variety of criteria including but 
not limited to the number of years since last use, reproductive success of last nesting attempt, 
level of human and dog activity. 

Attachment B - Grassland Ecosystem Managment Plan

Agenda Item 6A     Page 22Packet Page 159



Attachment C - Letter from Bruce Dierking

Agenda Item 6A     Page 23Packet Page 160



Attachment C - Letter from Bruce Dierking

Agenda Item 6A     Page 24Packet Page 161



2016 City of Boulder Prairie Dog Removal Area Summary 

Prairie dog removal areas include colonies that have been identified for removal due to conflicts with human land uses or land management 
objectives.  Removal areas in this area have been designated at such in three ways: 

• Grassland Ecosystem Management Plan (GP)
• Urban Wildlife Management Plan (UWMP)
• Private land (PL)

Colony Size in 
acres 
(2014) 

Size in acres 
(2015) 

Management Designation 
Conflict with 
current land use 

(other useful 
information) 

Private Property (Armory) ~3 6 Private N/A 
development 

Private property (Naropa) 2.5 Private N/A 
development 

Valmont Park (South colony #9) 46 54.48 Parks 

Interim 
protection 
(UWMP) 

development 

East Boulder Community Park (#13) 0.19 0.16 Parks 

Near term 
removal 
(UWMP) 

colony 
expansion 

Stazio Ball Fields 3.82 3.8 Parks Undesignated 
colony 

expansion 

Tom Watson Park 4.75 4.2 Parks 

Interim 
Protection 
(UWMP) 

colony 
expansion 

Oasis (#76) 60.53 60.61 OSMP (7) Removal Irrigated ag. 

Steele N (#93) 1.0 5.46 OSMP Transition 

Irrigated ag, 
rare plant 

communities 
Steele S (#94) 43.33 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag, 

Attachment D - 2016 CoB Prairie Dog Removal Area Summary

Agenda Item 6A     Page 25Packet Page 162



47.85 
rare plant 

communities 
Bennett (#123) 52.97 59.17 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 
Abbott (#1) 1.21 1.81 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 
Brewbaker (#126) 87.74 69.03 OSMP (6) Removal Irrigated ag. 

Axelson NE (#20) 1.65 3.48 OSMP Transition 

Irrigated ag. Ag. plan BOA 
div veg 
farming 

Johnson Bldr Res N (#58) 4.76 5.10 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 
Johnson/Dawson S (#30) 6.48 10.55 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 

Johnson Monarch (#60) 11.31 9.97 OSMP Transition 

Irrigated ag. Ag. plan BOA 
div veg 
farming 

Cowles (#26) 31.74 33.22 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 

Johnson Bldr Res S (#59) 54.29 46.81 OSMP Transition 

Irrigated ag. Ag. plan BOA 
div veg 
farming 

Gallagher (#41) 37.25 34.53 OSMP Transition 

Irrigated ag, 
rare plant 

communities 
Ditzel (#31) 12.76 8.94 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 
IBM (#51) 60.80 55.70 OSMP (5) Removal Irrigated ag. 
Minnetrista (#73) 33.61 29.66 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 
Nu West N (#157) 3.27 2.82 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 
Nu West (#75) 6.31 6.51 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 
Belgrove N (#10) 51.94 55.66 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 
Belgrove S (#11) 0.89 0.88 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag.  
McKenzie N (#69) 38.13 29.43 OSMP (4) Removal Irrigated ag. 

Andrus N (#2) 18.93 13.31 OSMP Transition 
Rare plant 

communities 

Andrus Mesa (#3) 5.80 27.15 OSMP Transition 
Rare plant 

communities 

Straty Cline (#97) 3.01 
2.09 

OSMP (3) Removal 
Irrigated ag. Ag. plan BOA 

div veg 

Attachment D - 2016 CoB Prairie Dog Removal Area Summary

Agenda Item 6A     Page 26Packet Page 163



farming 

Hartnagle (#46) 14.71 16.94 OSMP (1) Removal 

Irrigated ag. Partial 
removal in 

2013/14.  Ag. 
plan BOA div 
veg farming 

Teller Farms N (#105) 11.57 10.88 OSMP Transition 

Irrigated ag. Ag. plan BOA 
div. veg 
farming 

Teller Farms S (#107) 18.36 20.89 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 

Rolling Rock (#82) 2.27 1.57 OSMP (2) Removal 

Irrigated ag, 
rare plant 

communities 

Jewel Mtn S (#140) 9.11 6.34 OSMP Transition 
Rare plant 

communities 
Axelson Coot Lake (#7) 0 0.28 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 
BC Hospital (#9) 0.12 0.39 OSMP Transition 
Valmont Butte- west (#110) 0 0.04 OSMP Transition 

Van Vleet- west (#112) 0 

0.07 

OSMP Transition 

Irrigated ag. 
Rare plant 

communities 
Short (#148) 2.68 2.57 OSMP Transition 
Abbot (#149)  2.42 4.75 OSMP Transition 
Teller Farm- middle (#151) 1.12 0.89 OSMP Transition Irrigated ag. 

Attachment D - 2016 CoB Prairie Dog Removal Area Summary

Agenda Item 6A     Page 27Packet Page 164



Update on 2016 City of Boulder Prairie Dog Relocation Priorities 

Executive Summary 
The City of Boulder evaluates potential prairie dog relocation receiving site availability on an annual 
basis.  This year there are approximately 260 acres of city property that meet the Open Space and 
Mountain Parks Grassland Ecosystem Management Plan’s criteria for relocation and have not been 
suspected of plague within the past year.  The properties include the following Grassland Preserve (GP) 
and Prairie Dog Conservation Areas (PCAs): 

Damyanovich (GP) (116) acre colony (~ 109 acres unoccupied, of which 16 acres meet 
GMAP criteria for 2016); 

Aweida II (PCA) 76 acre colony (~ 69 acres unoccupied); 
Marshall (PCA) 60 acre colony (~59 acres unoccupied); 
Ute  (PCA) 74 acre colony (~70 acres unoccupied); and  
Culver (PCA) (85) acre colony (48 acres unoccupied). 

Phased approach for obtaining state relocation permits for prairie dog receiving sites 
The described properties meet the city’s criteria for prairie dog relocation receiving sites, but may not 
meet the criteria the State of Colorado, Colorado Parks and Wildlife (CPW) department.  

Most of the PCAs listed have adjacent neighbors that have previously expressed concern with prairie 
dogs in some form.  It is possible that CPW would deny the city’s relocation permit request for these 
properties, particularly for the PCAs, due to similar obstacles as those experienced with the Richardson 
property in 2011.    In 2011 the State denied the city a relocation permit on the grounds that the city did 
not provide assurances that the prairie dogs would not migrate to adjacent property.  

Due to the sensitive nature of effecting prairie dog relocations in areas where adjacent landowners may 
not be receptive to, or supportive of the relocation, staff is proposing a phased approach to applying for  
state relocation permits.  The phased approach would include applying for the Grassland Preserve site 
(Damyanovich 16 acres) in 2016, and potentially applying for PCA permits in 2017 dependent on 
evaluation outcomes in 2016.  This phased approach would allow staff time to explore the likelihood of 
permitting being successful in PCA colonies by doing outreach to neighbors, discussing sites with CPW, 
and investigating the best way to address concerns.  

Prairie dog colony removal priorities for 2016 and 2017 
The City has numerous prairie dog colonies (approximately 65 acres on Parks and Recreation properties 
and 685 on OSMP ) that are identified for removal because they conflict with management objectives, 
human land uses or development.   

The city will pursue a relocation permit from the state in 2016 to relocate several small colonies on 
OSMP,  including Foothills Community Park, Rolling Rock, Straty Cline, Axelson NE and Teller N if 
sufficient space exists on the receiving site, to the Damyanovich colony on the OSMP Southern 

Attachment E - 2016 CoB Prairie Dog Relocation Sites and Priorities

Agenda Item 6A     Page 28Packet Page 165



Grassland Preserve.  These colonies are identified for removal in the Grassland Ecosystem Management 
Plan.  All of them, with the exception of Foothills Park which where prairie dogs were previously 
removed,  are situated within irrigated agricultural fields and conflict with agricultural management of 
the area.  In addition, Rolling Rock conflicts with rare plant communities and wetland mitigation sites, 
and Axelson NE has been identified as a best opportunity area for conversion to organic vegetable 
production, a council identified priority for OSMP agricultural lands.   

In 2017 the city will relocate prairie dog colonies from city properties based on the acreage permitted by 
the state.  The city relocation sending sites will be chosen from these priority areas: 

Department Colony Colony Size 
(2015) 

Reason for removal 

OSMP Hartnagle 17 acres Irrigated agriculture, identified as best 
opportunity area for organic vegetable 
farming- a city council identified priority 

OSMP McKenzie North 38 acres Irrigated agriculture, directly adjacent to 
current organic vegetable farm and identified 
as area for future expansion of vegetable 
operation 

OSMP IBM 56 acres Irrigated agriculture 
OSMP Brewbaker 69 acres Irrigated agriculture 
OSMP Oasis 61 acres Irrigated agriculture 
Parks and Rec Valmont Park 55 acres Future development site 
OSMP 25 additional 

colonies 
441 acres Irrigated agriculture, some best opportunity 

areas for organic vegetable production 

Prairie dog removal on private property 
The city has received two requests from private landowners over the last 2 years to take prairie dogs 
from areas where land development is planned.  These requests include 10 acres for approximately 100 
prairie dogs on the Naropa East Campus, and 5-10 acres for approximately 60 prairie dogs at the Armory 
site on Lee Hill road.  The city will not be accommodating these requests as part of the 2016-2017 
phased relocation plan due to the numerous acres of prairie dog colonies in removal areas on city 
property. 

Attachment E - 2016 CoB Prairie Dog Relocation Sites and Priorities

Agenda Item 6A     Page 29Packet Page 166



 

  
   

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 16, 2016 

 
AGENDA TITLE 
Appointments to Boards and Commissions for Current Vacancies- Arts & WRAB 

 
PRESENTERS   
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Patrick von Keyserling, Communications Director 
Lynnette Beck, City Clerk  
Heidi Leatherwood, Deputy City Clerk 

         
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Staff is requesting that Council make appointments to the City of Boulder Boards and 
Commissions to fill current vacancies in the Arts Commission and Water Resources Advisory 
Board (WRAB). Since the 2016 Annual Recruitment process where Council made appointments 
on March 15, 2016, two members have resigned.  Richard Turbiak resigned on June 17, 2016 
from the Arts Commission and Mike Barnes resigned on July 12, 2016 from WRAB. 
 
The Boards and Commissions Subcommittee met on July 12, 2016 and recommended qualified 
applicants (those with approved applications and attendance at the required board interview) 
would be considered for the appointments providing they still meet requirements as listed on the 
application and are still interested in the seat. 
 
The following is an excerpt from the BRC, 1981 Title II, Appendix – Council Procedure, IX – 
Nominations and Elections, outlines the process for nominating and appointing board and 
commission members.   
 
IX. NOMINATIONS AND ELECTIONS 
 
E. Nominations. At the conclusion of public testimony, council will consider nominations for 
mayor and mayor pro tem. Any council member may nominate anyone that expressed an interest 
and made a speech at the second Tuesday in November, including himself or herself, for either 
position. Provided, however, that the requirement of prior expression of interest shall be waived 
for any council member whose election was not decided before the second Tuesday in 

Agenda Item 8C     Page 1Packet Page 167



 
November. Nominations for mayor and acting mayor (generally referred to as mayor pro tem) 
are made orally. No second is required, but the consent of the nominee should have been 
obtained in advance. Any person so nominated may at this time withdraw his or her name from 
nomination. Silence by the nominee shall be interpreted as acceptance of candidacy. 
 
F. Order of Vote. A motion then is made and seconded to close the nominations and acted on as 
any motion. The voting is accomplished by raising of hands unless there is only one nomination 
and a unanimous vote for the candidate. The names shall be called in alphabetical order or 
reverse alphabetical order depending upon a flip of a coin by the clerk, who shall thereafter 
alternate the order for all further election ballots during the same meeting. 
 
G. Ballots. If it is the desire of the council to use paper ballots rather than a voice vote, such a 
procedure is proper. However, since there is no provision for a secret vote, each ballot must be 
signed by the council member casting the vote. 
 
H. Elimination Process. If any of the candidates nominated receives five votes on the first 
ballot, such person is declared elected. If none of the candidates receives five votes on the first 
ballot, the candidate (plus ties) receiving the lowest number of votes is dropped as a candidate 
unless this elimination would leave one candidate or less for the office. If this elimination would 
leave one candidate or less for the office, another vote is taken, and once again the candidate 
(plus ties) receiving the lowest number of votes is dropped as a candidate unless this elimination 
would leave one candidate or less for the office. In the event that one candidate or less is left for 
the office after the second vote, a flip of a coin shall be used in order to eliminate all but two 
candidates for the office. 
 
I. Impasse Process. In the event that neither of the two final candidates receives five votes on 
the first ballot on which there are only two candidates, another vote shall be taken. If no 
candidate receives five votes on the second such ballot, the candidate who receives the votes of a 
majority of the council members present shall be declared elected. If no candidate receives such 
a majority vote, the meeting shall be adjourned for a period not to exceed twenty-four hours, and 
new nominations and new ballots shall be taken. If no candidate receives five votes on the first 
ballot at the adjourned meeting on which there are only two candidates, another vote shall be 
taken. If no candidate receives five votes on the second such ballot, the candidate who receives 
the votes of a majority of the council members present shall be declared elected. If no candidate 
receives a majority vote on the second such ballot at the adjourned meeting, a flip of a coin shall 
be used to determine which of the two final candidates shall be declared elected as mayor or 
mayor pro tem. 
 
J. Appointment of Board Alternates. In the event that the Boulder Revised Code provides for 
the appointment of temporary alternate board members, such members shall be appointed as 
follows: The most recently departed member of the board needing a temporary alternate, who is 
eligible and able to serve, shall be appointed. In the event that more than one member departed at 
the same time, alternates shall be chosen in reverse alphabetical order, with appointments 
alternating between the eligible and able former members who departed at the same time. In the 
event that the most recently departed member is not eligible or able to serve, the next previously 

Agenda Item 8C     Page 2Packet Page 168



 
departed member shall be chosen, applying the procedure above if there is more than one 
potential appointee. No person shall be eligible for a temporary alternate appointment if he or she 
was removed from the board by the council. A temporary alternate shall be appointed only when 
a member's absence either results in the lack of a quorum or may prevent the board from taking 
action. No person appointed as a temporary alternate shall serve at two consecutive meetings of 
the board to which he or she is appointed unless it is necessary to complete an agenda item that 
has been continued to another meeting. 
K. Boards and Commissions. Elections to fill positions on boards or commissions shall be 
conducted in the same manner. However, a majority of the council members present rather than a 
majority of the full council is sufficient to decide an election of this nature. Each board or 
commission vacancy shall be voted on separately. 
 
L. Advertising of Vacancies After Partial Terms. Prior to advertising board and commission 
vacancies, when a person has already served on the board or commission and is seeking 
reappointment, council should make the decision of whether or not to advertise that particular 
vacancy. 
 
LIST OF BOARD AND ACTION NEEDED: 
Arts Commission 
 
 
 

Appoint one Resident Member to fill a vacancy 
through March 31, 2018. 
 
 

  
Water Resources Advisory Board Appoint 1 Resident Member to fill a vacancy 

through March 31, 2020. 
 

 
ATTACHMENTS       
Attachment A -  Current Roster and Vacancy for Arts and WRAB 
Attachment B -  Qualified Applicants for Arts and WRAB  

Agenda Item 8C     Page 3Packet Page 169



Boulder City Council
Boards and Commissions Database8/10/2016 Page 1 of 2

2016 Boards and Commissions 
Appointment Guide

Arts Commission

Appoint one new Resident Member to a two year term through March 31, 2018.
Council Action Requested:

Current Members: Occupation: Status:
Mark Villarreal2021 Professional Artist/Home Studio Occupied

Tamil Maldonado Vega2020 Director, Barrio E' Occupied

Felicia Furman2019 Self Employed - documentary filmmaker Occupied

A. Richard Turbiak2018 Director Community+Creatives Partnership Resigned 6/17/2016

Ann Moss2017 Landscape Architect/City and Regional Planner Occupied

Agenda Item 8C     Page 4

Attachment A- Roster and Vacancies

Packet Page 170



Boulder City Council
Boards and Commissions Database8/10/2016 Page 2 of 2

2016 Boards and Commissions 
Appointment Guide

Water Resources Advisory Board

Appoint one new Resident Member for a four year term through March 31,  2020.
Council Action Requested:

Current Members: Occupation: Status:
Kirk Vincent2021 Research Geologist/retired - US Geological Survey Occupied

Mike Barnes2020 Engineer Resigned 7/31/2016

Lesley Smith2019 Reesearch Scientist Occupied

Mark Squillace2018 CU/Law School, law professor Occupied

Daniel Johnson2017 Water Resources Engineering - Tetra Tech Occupied

Agenda Item 8C     Page 5

Attachment A- Roster and Vacancies

Packet Page 171



ARTS COMMISSION

Annual Application - 2016

Date

The Arts Commission consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to a five-year term. The Commission
promotes and encourages programs in the performing, visual and literary arts.

Staff Liaison:  Matt Chasansky (303) 441-4113

Meetings are held the third Wednesday of the month at 6:00 PM in the Main Boulder Public Library.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

02/16/16

Alan O'Hashi

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
CO

Postal / Zip Code
80304

Country
USA

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)* 
Street Address

Address Line 2

303-910-5782

adoecos@yahoo.com

filmmaker

self

Yes No
Agenda Item 8C     Page 6

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 172



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What art discipline(s) do you represent? How would you fairly consider the needs of the entire arts
community?*

6. What are your ideas to (a) support the visual and performing artists in our community (b) encourage
artistic innovation and (c) increase awareness of, participation in and access to the arts?*

5/15/1993

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

I am an artist; I previously have served on the city of Boulder Planning Board; city of Boulder Planning Board
liaison to the Landmarks Board; the city of Boulder Human Relations Commission; the city of Boulder
Technical Review Committee; the city of Boulder Housing Working Group; Board of Directors - Boulder
International Film Festival; Director of the Cheyenne International Film Festival and the Fast F.I.L.M. Making
Festival and the Whistle Stop F.I.L.M. Festival

Yes - I produced a short docu-drama funded iin part by a Boulder Arts Commission grant. "Cordially, Georgia
O'Keeffe" about the summer of 1917 when Georgia O'Keeffe and her sister spent time in Ward, Colorado.

I've had quite a bit of experience with city of Boulder Boards and Commissions and in all the years I served, I
haven't been involved with any conflicts among board or commission members. But maybe there's something I
don't know about the Arts Commission! I also happen to be a trained facilitator, which may be a skill that I bring
to groups around me. I'm a lover, not a fighter!

At the current time, I don't have any conflicts of interest. If I apply for funding from the BAC, I would declare a
conflict and recuse myself. Over the years, what I have learned and experienced is, if I feel like I have a conflict
of interest, then I I likely do. I declare it, recuse myself, leave the room and wait for someone to come to get me
after the deliberation and vote.

I'm a filmmaker and writer, but have knowledge and experience in the arts, generally. I'm more of a three-ring-circus
artist. I'm writing two books, produced film festivals; music concerts; art shows; produced and written stage plays;
played violin in a community orchestra.

If I do have a bias, it's favoring the individual artist who can leverage resources and make them go a long way.

I'm now producing two documentaries about the arts:
The New Deal is a Big Art Deal (working title) Some Post Offices constructed during the New Deal era are in danger.
In addition to the structures, themselves are the public art that were commissioned by several New Deal programs
and created by artists and sculptors to tell the stories of the times - social realism - through their art. This project has
taken me to learn at the Thomas Hart Benton Museum and Home in Kansas City; to seven post offices in Wyoming
and Illinois.

Art of the Hunt (working title) There continue to be artisans who create art related to hunting - Indian beadwork; hand
made bows; hand made fishing rods and flies; tooled leather belts. The project interviews these artisans about their
art and attached to those art forms are folk loric stories about hunting traditions.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 7

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 173



7. How should the city promote multicultural expression and participation in the arts? *

8. The Voters just approved an additional $600,000 for public art. How should the City spend this money?*

9. If Boulder were to implement 1% for the arts, how do you recommend that the funding be deployed?*

Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019

I see arts and culture as an overlay to an entire community and should be an integral part of all aspects of the
community and city government, as opposed to being just an 'add-on'. I also see arts a business and want to provide
guidance to artists about that 'dark side' of the arts.

a) I tend to see more of a convergence among arts and culture, museums, historic and cultural preservation, parks
and recreation, social and economic development. i like to take art to places where it isn't normally found. As an
example, I played in a classical string trio. We took our act to local bars and played after Lions Club meetings. This
was an audience that otherwise wouldn't have heard Mozart unplugged within five feet of them.

b) For the individual artist, it boils down to money. Like most places, there's too little money and artists scramble
around picking up the crumbs that are on the ground. I'd like to see a clearing house for people who may want to
donate to support the arts, particularly those who want to support individuals and broad grassroots arts groups.

c) The arts should be appreciated or celebrated where ever they are made. Art shouldn't always have to be taken to
galleries or music happen in music halls, or plays in performance spaces. Arts can be exclusionary if they can only
be enjoyed by people who can afford tickets to a symphony, or stage play, or movie.

People need places to talk about their positive and negative community issues and concerns and those
conversations can take place within the safe space of the arts.

There are a number of multi-cultural organizations in town who are engaged through the city of Boulder Human
Relations Commission. I've always thought there should be intential cross-pollination between the arts and human
relations commissions.

This is a tight rope to walk because the trick is to avoid mixing up inclusion with tokenism. If the commission is
invested in multicultural expression, then cultural competency should be integrated, not be an 'add-on' but integrated
within all programs.

The surest way is to put diverse people into positions of influence so that they can be good gatekeepers, instead of
being on the outside forcing the gates open.

This isn't a new idea, and there is no need to reinvent the wheel. There are any number of communities the size of
Boulder which have public art programs and how they determine at what level they fund and what types of art that
are pursued for indoors and outdoors etc. I was asked to make some video for a Wyoming State Park visitor center,
as an example of non-traditional public art.

The state of Colorado has a public art program for its projects. There may be a way to use city of Boulder funds to
leverage state public art funds for public art at construction projects in Boulder.

The 1% program also isn't new and there are numerous states and communities that have similar programs. It
would be simple enough to contact a bunch of places and find out how their programs are set up.

Along that same vein, city of Boulder capital projects that are let for bid could include an option/requirement
for public art that could be matched with the voter approved funding. Don't hold me to this, just an idea and a
way to leverage the taxpayer funds.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 8

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 174

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


ARTS COMMISSION

Annual Application - 2016

Date

The Arts Commission consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to a five-year term. The Commission
promotes and encourages programs in the performing, visual and literary arts.

Staff Liaison:  Matt Chasansky (303) 441-4113

Meetings are held the third Wednesday of the month at 6:00 PM in the Main Boulder Public Library.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

02/18/16

Benita Duran

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
COLORADO

Postal / Zip Code
80304

Country
United States

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)* 
Street Address

Address Line 2

303-447-2242 303-350-6963

bduran80304@comcast.net

project consultant, independently employed

Duran Consulting

Yes No
Agenda Item 8C     Page 9

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 175



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What art discipline(s) do you represent? How would you fairly consider the needs of the entire arts
community?*

7/1/1993

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

-Over 25 years of experience in working on public art integration in public facilities - from DIA, to Dairy Center
for the Arts,to new Denver schools
-As employee on City, worked on establishing the first lease and tenant agreements for The Dairy and staffed
the establishment of the first tenants in the facility, including CATV;
-Recently served on selection committee for major art installation project at Denver central recreation center; 
-Experienced in integration of art donations for large school district (Denver Public Schools);
-Extensive knowledge of Colorado art, artists, and history as a 5th generation native; 
-Served on numerous non-profit community based boards and foundation in Boulder and Denver, including
grant program structuring and award processing. Was once the president of the board of the Colorado Dance
Festival.
-A consumer of the arts in Boulder - season ticket holder, gallery event attendee, film lover, art collector

I have been aware of the development of the recently adopted cultural plan - have followed it with interest and
see the great energy and momentum behind this effort. My most recent direct experience has been in
brainstorming discussions and project shaping for a project I envision (as a Newlands neighbor and community
volunteer) related to the former BCH site on Broadway and building on story telling/memories sharing of the
hospital. Utilizing this story telling project to connect people to a place that is soon to take on a different
chapter of uses for the city's benefit, could help connect all of Boulder to the efforts of the city and engage
many people in an opportunity to do something fun, creative and life generating on this site. There is interest
in the arts community to pursue this and I have found this to be very inspiring. I'd like to be a part of the
commission to be involved in these types of community engaging efforts throughout Boulder.

I have many experiences in working with groups that don't always agree. I believe what has made these efforts
a win/win has been listening and learning about different views and in the end, producing a better outcome
with compromise and balance. I strive for concensus-building conversations but know that they don't always
work this way. I believe in hearing all voices and points of view and at the end of discussion, it comes to a vote,
and I know that I can stand alone with a 'no' vote and move on to the next matter or project. I believe if the
rules of engagement are clear on the front end, then a group can function most efficiently and effectively.

I have no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the work of this board. I think that board members should
provide statements ofany potential conflicts on an annual basis; and if a member is a candidate for public
office, they must resign from this and any other public/appointed board they serve on.

I believe in a previous life I was an acrylic painter and a novelist. Today and in 'real life', I am a Libra and thus a lover
of the creative spirit and the arts -- all mediums and disciplines. I create clothing and fine meals. I craft many of the
clothes I wear and have done so since the days of 'home economics' at my high school in Pueblo, CO. I am a skilled
crafter in the kitchen. I love to create meals. Additionally, I am a collector of folk art and my home is filled with art
collected in the southwest and throughout the world. 

I find art to be a great way to build community and engage people from all walks of life. I appreciate people and the
talents that they wish to share and would be sure all views were heard and considered. You have my word on this. To
have the opportunity to help bring the Boulder Community together through the celebration, procurement, creation of
art is what excites me about this opportunity!

Agenda Item 8C     Page 10

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 176



6. What are your ideas to (a) support the visual and performing artists in our community (b) encourage
artistic innovation and (c) increase awareness of, participation in and access to the arts?*

7. How should the city promote multicultural expression and participation in the arts? *

8. The Voters just approved an additional $600,000 for public art. How should the City spend this money?*

9. If Boulder were to implement 1% for the arts, how do you recommend that the funding be deployed?*

Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019

Learning from the experiences and the priorities of the current BAC would inform my ideas on any of these areas.
This would be a first step for me before jumping into ideas and brainstorming. 

a) I would want to understand in depth the issues and perhaps barriers involved in/for visual and performing artists. I
would want to engage in discussions about needs and vision and build a plan around these discussions.

b) I believe an open and transparent process of the commission encourages artistic innovation and support.
Additionally, an efficient way to engage artists is key to success. Processes and proposals should not be
cumbersome.

c)Understanding that there are public dollars involved in these efforts, I think it is important to be strategic in
representing the investments in the arts -- to appreciate the fact that Boulder voters support arts initiatives and make
these investments possible. I think there are many opportunities to broaden messaging and outreach to increase
awareness of, participation in and access to the arts by linking to other department's efforts and integrating art into
efforts like the BVCP, Resilience Forum, municipalization and to engage in a 'arts component' to inform, educate and
engage with a slightly different/creative spin. Arts shouldn't be seen in a silo, and stand separate from the other
departments/divisions of the city. I think it is an exciting time for Boulder in the arts and expression arena!

I think there are many ways to add and enhance efforts here. I believe in being accountable to the public's
investments and would want to advise on broad communication and engagement at all levels. (Please also see
response to 6c above which is related response.)

With great care and consideration..... I think there should be an informed and transparent process of engagement
that the BAC participates in for this effort of the city. I would be willing to advise and assist in offering suggestions
and feedback to the decision makers.

It is complicated by other pressing needs of the city and not sure it would be appropriate to presume that this
would be the direction of the city/city council. I do bring experience and perspective in working on Denver's
Percentage of the Arts implementation program, if that background information would be of interest in the
future.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 11

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 177

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


ARTS COMMISSION

Annual Application - 2016

Date

The Arts Commission consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to a five-year term. The Commission
promotes and encourages programs in the performing, visual and literary arts.

Staff Liaison:  Matt Chasansky (303) 441-4113

Meetings are held the third Wednesday of the month at 6:00 PM in the Main Boulder Public Library.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

02/16/16

Ellie Swensson

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
CO

Postal / Zip Code
80302

Country
USA

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)*
Street Address

Address Line 2

Apt 208

404-663-0757 303-443-4430

ellie@highlandcityclub.com

Program and Content Director

Highland City Club

Agenda Item 8C     Page 12

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 178



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What art discipline(s) do you represent? How would you fairly consider the needs of the entire arts
community?*

Yes No

8/5/2013

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

I have been leading and planning community arts and service projects and organizations since 2006. As a
junior in high school I led the school's arts and literature magazine, Hurricane Katrina Relief trips, student
newspaper, and creative writing club. This dedication to arts and service continued through my undergraduate
years at Denison University (2007-2011), and since I moved to Boulder in 2013 to attend the MFA program in
Writing and Poetics at Naropa University, I have been deeply involved in the Boulder arts community through
planning events, community organizing, small press publications, and more. My experience ranges from
managing budgets, creating effective agendas, delegating tasks, and planning group trips to booking
professional speakers and planning, promoting and curating arts events including the successful monthly
reading series called Bouldering Poets. After completing my MFA in 2015, I joined the Jaipur Literature
Festival at Boulder Steering Committee and the Boulder Fringe Staff, assisted BMoCA in curating their
Biennial of the Americas cafe performances, and have worked with members of the Boulder Public Library, CU
Art Museum, and Boulder Creative Collective staffs on various program initiatives (both in the community and
at Highland City Club). My most recent project is spear-heading and organizing the Boulder poetry community
into a council to pool our resources and possibly pursue non-profit status. All of these experiences have given
me the opportunity to collaborate and establish relationships with a wide variety of arts and cultural
organizations in Boulder, and I believe the diversity of these relationships in addition to my professional and
creative skills would serve well in committee discussions.

While I have yet to have personal experience with the Boulder Arts Commission, I have worked closely with
groups that have benefitted from its resources. My main passion lies in helping artists connect with established
resources, communities and infrastructures that can further their work, and by serving on this commission I
hope to gain knowledge and experience that can help extend the BAC's reach and connect our thriving
creative community to the multiple support systems our city offers.

Through my various experiences of conflict management, I have learned that a combination of deep listening
and setting clear expectations is extremely effective. There is often a great deal of compromise that must take
place for organizations to put initiatives into action, and being clear about that which cannot be compromised
(i.e. the overall mission of the group, a set budget, etc) in addition to remaining open to those aspects that can
adapt based on the community's needs is crucial. In my role as Program and Content Director at City Club, I
have often come up against the limitations of hourly-paid staffing and overhead costs. I have worked with our
City Club founder, manager, executive chef, and support staff to create a plan that allows us to provide events
for community organizations such as Watson University, Jaipur Literature Festival at Boulder, Grillo Health
Information Center, Boulder Creative Collective, CU Leeds School of Business, and BMoCA at a minimal cost
while maintaining City Club's bottom line. I held meetings and assigned tasks within the City Club staff to
establish our base costs and develop a culture of self-sustaining funds (instead of profits) then worked with
the community organizations to create a format that met everyone's needs.

My strong personal and creative involvement with Boulder's writing community and its current goal of becoming
a non-profit may seem a conflict of interest. This conflict, however, is mitigated by my demonstrated dedication
to interdisciplinary collaborations and my passion for the creative community as a whole. I do not see the
poetry community as a group that is in competition with other organizations, rather it is an emerging force that
is actively seeking points on intersection and collaboration. I deeply believe that furthering the diversity of
Boulder's arts and culture offerings is the first and foremost priority.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 13

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 179



6. What are your ideas to (a) support the visual and performing artists in our community (b) encourage
artistic innovation and (c) increase awareness of, participation in and access to the arts?*

7. How should the city promote multicultural expression and participation in the arts? *

I strongly represent the poetry and literature communities of Boulder. As addressed in the previous question, I am
proud of my leadership roles in the writing community, but I believe that leadership is all for naught if it does not also
serve artists of all kinds in Boulder and the Front Range. There are struggles that all artists share: affordability of
studio and event space, access to grants and professional development programs, navigation of government and
educational resources, grant writing, fellowship and residency applications, and perhaps most importantly the need
to feel in communication and collaboration with other creatives. These struggles are not exclusive to any discipline or
level of artistry; they are felt across all mediums, all ages, all locales. While the majority of my experience lies within
the written word, my efforts are always reaching towards the larger goal of finding and/or creating ways for all artists
to come together and support one another to keep the arts alive and thriving in our community.

A) To support the visual and performing artists in our community, I think there is an ongoing need for affordable and
accessible studio and event venues that needs to be addressed. Through my experience with curating Bouldering
Poets, I have found an ever growing list of local businesses that want to host and support the arts in various ways.
Before I led this project, however, I was completely unaware that so much support existed for artists in Boulder. I want
to help individual artists and arts organizations connect with these businesses. I think Boulder Arts Week has an
incredible database of spaces that support exhibitions and performances throughout their week-long calendar, but I
would love to see this database extended on a city wide, year-round basis to facilitate relationships between Boulder
businesses and artists. The issue of affordable and accessible spaces for artists is by no means particular to
Boulder, but we have seen multiple opportunities lost to the aggressive housing issues our city also faces. The
Armory project in North Boulder is a potent example of a potential arts space that was overshadowed by zoning and
other restrictions, and we have also seen significant turn over in artist warehouses and storefronts due to dramatic
increased rent and competition. I believe that this commission has the opportunity to help the artistic community
navigate this climate and work to establish solutions that can work to strengthen the arts' physical presence in our
city.

B) Artistic innovation is dependent upon collaboration. Establishing avenues for artists to find one another and
create new interdisciplinary work is incredibly important. These collaborations also must push beyond conventional
partnerships; EcoArts and its projects pairing scientists with artists is a great example of what can happen when
different disciplines come together for a larger purpose of education and community engagement. The infrastructure
of a database for businesses and artists described in part A is a great step towards building systems that empower a
diversity of thought leaders and creators to be in conversation and create surprising, challenging, and necessary
work that reaches a wide audience. Boulder is privileged to serve as a hub of innovation in a wide range of sciences,
therapies, health and wellness practices, and artistic endeavors, and this wealth of passion and expertise must be
tapped through connection and collaboration.

C) Awareness, participation, and access to the arts hinges on word of mouth and overall visibility. There is ample
quantitative data that proves that advertisements (print and digital) do not do the trick. We are in the midst of a new
marketing climate which values personal connection and narrative over commercial value, and while this new
paradigm strongly aligns with the arts community it also presents a steep learning curve for individuals and
organizations. The arts need to be embedded in the culture and a part of the daily conversation and experience of a
city, and I believe the physical spaces I discussed in part A of this response in addition to the emphasis on
collaborations in part B will help establish this presence in Boulder.

Multiculturalism and diversity are huge concerns for Boulder. We live in a city that is over 80% White and has a
median household income that doubles the national average. Although I have only lived in Boulder for three years, I
have seen racial and economic tensions rise in our community, and I believe that the arts has a unique and powerful
responsibility to support expression and visibility of minority communities. I am particularly inspired by the work of the
OneAction project in its emphasis on collaboration to curate a year of arts programs dedicated to the theme of
immigration. I think that this group, as well as organizations like Boulder Fringe, who emphasize unjuried, accessible,
and uncensored work from artists of all disciplines and involvement from established and emerging organizations
alike are making great strides to close the gaps of racial and economic privilege in Boulder. I believe supporting and
seeking out groups with these focuses, in addition to developing city-sponsored programs that address these
specific issues of access and visibility, will elevate Boulder's artistic and civic engagements overall. The precise "how"
of this process is malleable; it could be found in individual and organizational collaborations, public forums, themed
exhibitions, interactive performances, and more. That "how", I think, will emerge through further conversation with
commission members and community leaders because its efficacy hinges on a multiplicity of voices and perspectives
being present and heard. It is my personal, professional, and creative experience that there is an invisible but very
felt wall between minority communities and the arts in Boulder, and I would like to see this commission make active
strides towards breaking this barrier.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 14

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 180



8. The Voters just approved an additional $600,000 for public art. How should the City spend this money?*

9. If Boulder were to implement 1% for the arts, how do you recommend that the funding be deployed?*

Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019
 

First and foremost, the City should spend this money how the community most needs. As articulated in my previous
answers, I believe the commission has a responsibility to increase access and visibility for minority communities and
collaborative projects. I am not sure, but am anxious to learn, what the stipulations of "public art" are, but if possible I
think these funds would serve the community well as an endowment towards public space in which artists could
create, teach, exhibit and perform. The creation of a dedicated arts space that values accessibility for a diversity of
artists and audiences would be an incredible contribution to the Boulder arts community. I believe that a place where
the dynamic energies of creation and interaction are open to the public add exponential value to an arts culture and
community. If "public art" is limited to stationary works or installations, however, I believe these projects should be
focused on interdisciplinary, intergenerational, and multicultural work.

Based on the posted 2016 Boulder budget, 1% of the overall Boulder budget would be $3,270,000. I must be
honest and say that with my experience as a recent graduate student, small business employee, and grass-
roots arts event organizer, such a number is staggering to me, but it is an incredible source of inspiration and
motivation. If that kind of funding is available, I would recommend the database and infrastructure development
I described in earlier answers with a focus on physical space, collaboration projects, minority communities, and
accessibility. Knowing first-hand the amount of events, workshops, publications and more that the Boulder
writing community has been able to accomplish without any sort of established funding, I am confident that the
arts community as a whole would be able to increase its reach exponentially with such a resource. 

In order to effectively delegate these funds, I would focus first on web development to ensure artists ease of
access to information and opportunities with established businesses and venues. Since this web and database
development would only account for a few thousand of the overall budget, I would then turn attention to
acquiring a city funded, rent-secured, multi-use space which could facilitate studios, workshops, and events
with an established system of set rental rates, studio hours, and volunteer-based staffing for facilities. There
are multiple buildings (especially old gas stations and auto-repair facilities) in Boulder that are currently
available and could be easily transitioned into arts spaces at low cost because of their open floor plans.
Throughout my involvement with various arts organizations in Boulder, I have been continuously impressed
and inspired by their innovation and ingenuity to transform spaces. Based on this first-hand experience I know
that flexibility, communication, and collaboration -- not square footage -- are the keys to make a facility work
for a diversity of disciplines. $3,270,000, if thoughtfully and thriftily applied, is enough to establish a web
infrastructure, a physical space, and a support system which can facilitate the kind of presence the Boulder
arts community needs to thrive.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 15

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 181

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


ARTS COMMISSION

Annual Application - 2016

Date

The Arts Commission consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to a five-year term. The Commission
promotes and encourages programs in the performing, visual and literary arts.

Staff Liaison:  Matt Chasansky (303) 441-4113

Meetings are held the third Wednesday of the month at 6:00 PM in the Main Boulder Public Library.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

02/13/16

Jeptha Sheene

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
CO

Postal / Zip Code
80301

Country
USA

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)*
Street Address

Address Line 2

303-881-4147 303-449-7000

jsheene@jepthasheene.com

Real Estate Agent

RE/MAX of Boulder

Yes No
Agenda Item 8C     Page 16

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 182



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What art discipline(s) do you represent? How would you fairly consider the needs of the entire arts
community?*

3/1/2014

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

Training/Education: I studied ballet, modern and jazz dance from a young age. I also studied painting and
commercial art at the Colorado institute of Art in Denver. Later, I specialized in fashion design at the Fashion
Institute of Technology in New York City.

Experience: An important part of the experience I bring is that I grew up in Boulder in the 1980s with a mother
who is a fiber arts professional, who nurtured a love of creativity and of the arts of all kinds. My perspective is
also informed by having lived in two major cultural centers where the arts are held in high regard, New York
and San Francisco.
I worked as a photographer’s stylist on advertising, on publicity for Mesa College, and on an awareness
project involving the homeless for United Way.
In New York City, in the fashion business, I was involved in designing, merchandising and coordinating the
creation of special products. I worked closely with a design team to create new lines of clothing and
accessories.

Arts commission board service: I served for several years on the Board of the City of Grand Junction
Commission on Arts and Culture. This Board was responsible for promoting diversity in the projects it
supported.

My interest was again sparked by the recent exhibit at Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCa) by
Susan Wick: Wild Women Never Get the Blues which used everyday objects to create playful art. I am also
pleased to see the Free Saturdays program which encourages the public to view art.

Five years ago I returned to Boulder, where I grew up. Being back in Boulder also has inspired me to continue
engaging my passion for bringing art to a broad public.

I have extensive experience negotiating contracts and working to bring parties together for a successful deal in
my 13 years of work as a residential and commercial real estate agent. I find that modeling clear
communication, ensuring that both sides are truly heard, and clarifying goals, with a set time frame for
completion, are keys to achieving agreement. I have a reputation in the real estate business for being an
exceptionally creative facilitator, and for my success with unusually challenging deal circumstances.

I am aware of no conflicts of interest.
I believe Board members should remove themselves from decision-making votes and from exercising influence
on any matters where therare possible conflict of interest concerns.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 17

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 183



6. What are your ideas to (a) support the visual and performing artists in our community (b) encourage
artistic innovation and (c) increase awareness of, participation in and access to the arts?*

7. How should the city promote multicultural expression and participation in the arts? *

8. The Voters just approved an additional $600,000 for public art. How should the City spend this money?*

9. If Boulder were to implement 1% for the arts, how do you recommend that the funding be deployed?*

Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019
 

As an amateur performer, I danced, sang, acted, designed costumes, directed, painted, and made collage and fiber
art. I am an avid reader. At home and when I travel, museums and concerts are highlights of my planning.

I am an enthusiastic audience member.

As an arts lover, I would say that I am responsive to and can advocate for a range of the arts: theatre, literature,
dance, fiber arts, fashion design, painting, sculpture, music and photography, for example.

Since I appreciate many art forms, it is natural for me to consider the needs of the entire art community. I want them
all to flourish.
As a woman, I am sensitive to the still imbalanced, male-centric art world bias.
Integrity is a key calling card in my work as realtor. This is ongoing training in fairly considering and balancing diverse
needs.

I would say generally that thinking small can be a way to deploy resources efficiently for maximum impact.

I would suggest support for:

i) Traveling public-space performances of music, theatre, poetry, mime and dance. Possible settings would include
the 30th street mall, parks, retirement homes, schools and grocery stores.
ii) Changing exhibits at public and highly trafficked private spaces such as building lobbies to expose art to people
who might not go to a museum.
iii) Juried shows to encourage and reward artistic innovation.
iv) Integrating art events into public ceremony agendas. These might be poetry readings, brief theatrical
performances, and so on.

Multicultural expression and participation can be promoted most fundamentally by defining clear goals and guidelines
as part of overall policy.

I think it would be interesting to combine multiple artist's work from different cultural backgrounds in one
exhibit/performance with a focus on how each of their cultures inspired and influenced there work.

Spend the $600,000 on art commissioned for publicly owned high-traffic locations where Boulderites pass by—along
pathways and in parks, for example. The art commissioned should ideally invite the viewer/auditor to engage by
being in some way interactive and dynamic.
The Denver airport is a successful example of integrating art into a highly trafficked space--in floors, walls and
ceilings, although some of it might be more interactive.

I think these resources should be thought of as a kind of investment, with the return on investment measured
in terms of how many people are touched by the art. The goal, naturally, is to reach a large and varied group.

A portion of those funds ought, in my opinion, to be directed at the young both as audience and artists. It is
important to nurture a love of the arts in the young.

We should provide affordable or free workshops to all age groups. A focus sometimes missed is re-introducing
adults to their own artistic side and encouraging them to express or return to passions they may have had as a
young person.

In summary, funding should support the interest of the young, support artistic production for public works,
support all ages as amateur creatives, support artistic awareness, and encourage all age groups to be
audience members and art appreciators.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 18

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 184

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


Agenda Item 8C     Page 19

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 185



ARTS COMMISSION

Annual Application - 2016

Date

The Arts Commission consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to a five-year term. The Commission
promotes and encourages programs in the performing, visual and literary arts.

Staff Liaison:  Matt Chasansky (303) 441-4113

Meetings are held the third Wednesday of the month at 6:00 PM in the Main Boulder Public Library.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

02/17/16

Kathleen McCormick

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
Colorado

Postal / Zip Code
80304

Country
USA

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)*
Street Address

Address Line 2

303-442-8020 303-817-2088 303-442-8020

fonthead@indra.com

Writer/editor

Fountainhead Communications, LLC

Yes No
Agenda Item 8C     Page 20

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 186



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

5/1/1993

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

Thank you for this opportunity to apply for the Boulder Arts Commission. I respectfully request City Council’s
support. I understand the importance of arts and culture to the economic, environmental, and social aspects of
creating a sustainable Boulder, and I believe I have the skills and experience to make a valuable contribution
to the Arts Commission. I support the goals and strategies of the Community Cultural Plan and I look forward to
helping the city achieve the plan’s vision.

As co-founder and principal of Fountainhead Communications, LLC, I’ve worked since 1995 as a writer, editor,
and editorial consultant for nonprofit organizations, professional firms, and public agencies, with a focus on the
design and development of livable, sustainable, and resilient communities. I’ve written many articles and
special reports for the Urban Land Institute, as well as books, reports, and master plans for government
agencies and nonprofits (these include the 2006 Parks and Recreation Master Plan for the City of Boulder). I
was a journalist for 12 years in Washington, D.C., working as an education reporter/editor, contributing editor
for Preservation, and a senior editor at Garden Design. As a freelance writer, I’ve written for The New York
Times, USA Today, Planning, Landscape Architecture, and other national publications, and have won several
national awards for reporting and writing.

I earned a Masters degree with honors in Journalism at Boston University, a Bachelors degree with honors in
English at Boston College, and earned credits at the School of Irish Studies in Dublin. I’ve been an instructor
of Design Communications in the graduate program in architecture, landscape architecture, and planning at
the University of Colorado-Denver, and instructor of Advanced Editing at Georgetown University. I’m also a
certified Master Gardener. My professional affiliations: The Urban Land Institute, ULI-Boulder Steering
Committee (2009-present), Congress for the New Urbanism-Colorado Board Member (2012-2015)

My arts, education, and civic leadership in Boulder includes serving as a Cantabile Board Member (2012-
2015), Newlands Neighbors Association Co-Founder, Steering Committee, and Newsletter Editor (1993-2003),
Boulder Valley School District Parent Advisory Committee (2000-2003), Foothill Elementary School
Improvement Team (1997-2007: Co-Chair, Principal Search Committee), Centennial Middle School Leadership
Team/PTO (2004-2010). I’ve also volunteered for organizations including Boulder Food Rescue, the
Emergency Family Assistance Association, Boulder Shelter for the Homeless, Boulder High School Adalante
Program, and (currently) Intercambio.

I have experience with writing and reviewing grants; these include successful grants from the Science and
Cultural Facilities District (SCFD) and for an elementary school landscape project. I also was a judge for
several years for a national education reporting awards competition.

I attended the 1.17.16 Arts Commission meeting at which large grants were awarded for 2016, and was
impressed both with the depth of talented and deserving arts organizations considered for these grants, and
with the thoughtful observations and hard work of the commission members in choosing grant recipients. I’ve
enjoyed discussing the arts in Boulder with friends and colleagues who have been on the commission. I
participated in the Community Cultural Plan’s “culture kitchen” activities and summit, and I support the plan’s
goals of for investing in and creating awareness for arts and culture organizations for the benefit of Boulder’s
creative identity, enrichment, economic development, and sustainability. As a creative professional, amateur
but avid choral singer, and Boulder arts supporter, I have experience with many of the kinds of arts
organizations and services that the commission oversees.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 21

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 187



4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What art discipline(s) do you represent? How would you fairly consider the needs of the entire arts
community?*

6. What are your ideas to (a) support the visual and performing artists in our community (b) encourage
artistic innovation and (c) increase awareness of, participation in and access to the arts?*

I’ve been involved in numerous conflict situations on professional and community boards and as a BVSD
parent advocate and school representative. I’ve found small “listening” circles helpful for boards and for
smaller-scale discussion in large public meetings. Everyone at the table has a minute or two to express their
ideas and concerns about a specific issue; someone takes notes and recaps what we all “heard” and then
mediates a discussion about areas of agreement and solutions for bridging the disagreement gaps. Or a
facilitator (could be the chair or another skilled person from the group) records expressed ideas and concerns
for follow-up research and discussion. I’ve also found physical movement helpful to change up the at-odds
energy of a group; brief stretching/movement breaks and, if appropriate for the group, standing or walking
meetings encourage fresh perspectives and solutions.

I’m familiar with the Boulder Revised Code rules regarding conflict of interest, and I believe I would have few
conflicts. I would recuse myself from any decision involving "substantial interest.” Depending on circumstances,
that might involve a potential grant or other assistance for Cantabile, the community chorus in which I sing. I
also have a family membership to the Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA). If needed, I could drop
my museum membership, but not my participation in Cantabile.

Since moving to Boulder 23 years ago, I’ve been involved continuously in Boulder’s arts community, primarily with
choral groups, but also through participation in a variety of arts organizations and events. My husband and I have
raised two children (now 23 and 20) in Boulder, and I’m familiar with arts offerings for kids and families. 

I’ve sung for several summers with the Colorado Music Festival, 12 years with the Bach Festival, one year plus
additional performances with Ars Nova, two years with the Boulder Chorale, and for the past five years have been
honored to sing with Cantabile, an auditioned 40-member chorus in Boulder. I also served on the Cantabile Board of
Directors (2012-2015). I previously sang for many years with the Chorale Arts Society of Washington (chorus for the
National Symphony Orchestra), and with a chorus in Boston, so I’m familiar with the joys and challenges of presenting
compelling and successful arts programs in bigger cities as well as in Boulder. 

As a professional writer/editor, I’m always interested in literary events, such as the Jaipur Literature Festival in
Boulder last year (which I loved) and Boulder’s One Book program a few years ago. I’ve been an avid supporter of
the Colorado Music Festival, Boulder International Film Festival, Boulder Philharmonic, KGNU, Shakespeare Festival,
Fringe Festival, Open Studios, and First Friday gallery tours. I see most exhibits at BMoCA and many exhibits,
performances, and films at the Dairy Center for the Arts. I attend arts events in Denver—festivals, opera, and as a
member of the Denver Art Museum and the Museum of Contemporary Art--as well as concerts throughout the
Boulder-Denver region. I also seek out arts and culture venues when I travel for work or leisure.

I appreciate art in all its forms and would like to see the arts become a bigger part of the Boulder scene. I believe I’d
give thoughtful consideration to the needs of the whole arts community and the wider Boulder community.

For a city our size, we have an abundance of talented artists and (perpetually underfunded) community arts
organizations. Taking cues from the Community Cultural Plan, the city should set community priorities and
government strategies for expanding cultural offerings and the creative economy. 

A. Some ideas to support the visual and performing arts in our community:

- Expand opportunities for innovation in the arts with mini and pop-up arts festivals that are free and open to the
public. These could feature local and guest artists selected to perform and exhibit newer art forms, such as electronic
music, hip-hop dance, digital art, slam poetry, multimedia shows, and other artistic expressions that showcase young
people and different cultures.

-Support, brand, and market the NoBo Arts District. Provide mini-grants to NoBo artists, and support an annual NoBo
Arts Festival or enhanced gallery tours. Include NoBo Arts District information about artists’s studios, art tours,
events through the city’s Arts + Culture and Convention and Visitors Bureau websites.

-Support the development of more affordable artist housing and studios to prevent “artist drift” from Boulder. Art
should be considered a community benefit, and variances related to performance space and subsidized studios and
housing would help retain artists and grow arts and culture.

-Work with the business community to expand support for the arts through a business and arts alliance groupAgenda Item 8C     Page 22

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 188



-Work with the business community to expand support for the arts through a business and arts alliance group
including leaders like the Boulder Chamber, the Latino Chamber of Commerce, Social Venture Partners, and others.
Collaborate with the Office of Economic Vitality and other city agencies to explore economic incentives and support
for the arts among the creative sector.

-Partner with Boulder’s nationally recognized arts organizations, such as the Colorado Music Festival, Boulder
Philharmonic, eTown, and Shakespeare Festival to offer mini performances and/or mentoring (ie, master classes) for
Boulder youth.

B. Encourage artistic innovation:

-Create artists-in-residence and artist-exchange programs that could bring in talented artists and innovative ideas
from other U.S. or international cities by offering stipends to live, work, study, and create art. Likewise, offer Boulder
artists grants/stipends to live and create in a different culture and bring back innovative ideas.

-Invite Techstars and local and national tech companies as art partners to demonstrate new technology in events
that are combined with art, music, dance, film, and other art forms.

-Partner with the science institutions like the National Center for Atmospheric Research, Ball Aerospace, and CU to
produce an experiential arts program around themes such as weather or space travel.

-Create a temporary digital art installation. Wow Boulder with a digital art show, like a scaled version of San
Francisco’s catalytic digital art project in which the Bay Bridge was outfitted with LED lights in an amazing undulating
computerized light show.

-Sponsor youth competitions in music composition and performance, theater, dance, and visual arts and crafts that
link young people with opportunities to perform and display their work with local arts groups.

-Partner with organizations and events related to cycling, running, and other sports. Capitalize on the Thursday Night
Cruiser Ride with a “bike-in movie series” (kudos to Denver) for cycling enthusiasts and others using alternative
modes of transportation. Bolder Boulder attracts some 50,000 people to the city, and could provide multiple
opportunities to showcase art and culture.

C.Increase awareness, participation, and access to the arts:

-Offer free public art and culture tours, supported by apps and digital maps.

-Create an arts information hub within the Arts + Culture office to function as a clearinghouse for artists, art and
culture groups, venues, events, and arts achievements, education, and funding opportunities. 

-Increase access to information about arts and culture via Channel 8, city websites, and social media. Work with the
Boulder County Arts Alliance and others to provide a comprehensive list of events and activities, accessible on the
Arts + Culture website, linked to the Convention and Visitors Bureau. Work with the Boulder Camera, KGNU, KBCO,
and other local and national media to publicize events, opportunities, and achievements.

-Organize a “Summer Nights” film festival, like the Boulder Outdoor Cinema, but free and open to the public at the
Civic Center, Chautauqua, or a city/neighborhood park. Films could be screened outdoors weekly or over a weekend
and feature a theme, a variety of genres, or work by local filmmakers. 

-Celebrate with a “Light Festival” at the Civic Center, Chautauqua, Valmont, or other city park to showcase lighting
art and multimedia music and light shows. This could expand on the Parks and Recreation Department’s recent
exuberant and playful holiday light show in Central Park. 

-Hold a “First Night” New Year’s celebration in the Civic Center or other downtown venue to celebrate the arts, music,
holiday lighting, and community as a fun event for families and people of all ages.

-Schedule “Art Saturdays” at the Civic Center for local artists and craftspeople to show and sell their work at no
charge on the Saturdays when the Farmer’s Market is open.

-Hold a “Plein Air Festival “at Chautauqua for visual artists, especially painters, to create mountain and meadow
scenes and teach about some aspect of expressing nature. This could be a one-day, weekend, or weekly event
through the summer or early fall. Combine with storytelling or mini music or dance performances.

-Include a “mini Boulder Arts Festival” within the Jaipur Festival to extend a welcome to international visitors and
showcase local writers, visual artists, and performers.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 23

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 189



7. How should the city promote multicultural expression and participation in the arts? *

showcase local writers, visual artists, and performers.

-Offer summer arts programs for elementary and middle-school school kids, expanding the Parks and Recreation
department’s programs at rec centers and using the city and neighborhood parks.

-Install more art in the Civic Center and along the Boulder Creek Path. A “living wall” of water and/or plants, like
installations in New York, Paris, and Madrid, would draw visitors, as would temporary outdoor exhibits and a
renovated and enhanced Charles E. Haertling sculpture garden.

- Link with the University of Colorado and Naropa music, visual arts, theater, and dance programs to offer events and
mini performances in Boulder’s public spaces. Collaborate to offer special classes and experiences for young artists,
families, and seniors, as well as performances and exhibits through the Boulder Library Arts + Culture office and
Parks and Recreation programs. 

-Link the Boulder Valley School District to CU, Naropa, and others to enhance arts education.

-Partner with other public and private venues in Boulder, such as CU’s ATLAS, Grusin, and Museum spaces, eTown,
the Boulder and Fox theaters, and other venues to provide free or low-cost space for artists to perform and exhibit.

-Bring the arts to seniors at senior centers, senior housing, and assisted-living facilities.

-Encourage community sing-alongs. Staged or pop-up sing-alongs on the Pearl Street Mall, at Chautauqua, city
parks, and other civic places with local choral groups leading community caroling or popular songs (ie, The Beatles),
are healthy and fun events for people of all ages.

-Schedule more community dance parties. Boulder loves dancing at the Band on the Bricks, and more frequent
staged or informal dance parties could encourage healthy fun activity for people of all ages. Collaborate with local
dance groups such as the Boulder Dance Coalition, and the 1750 Dance Collaborative to plan and lead themed
dance parties (ie hip-hop, salsa, ‘70s, Big Band).

-Offer bundled marketing, discounted membership opportunities, and free memberships for publically subsidized arts
venues, such as BMoCA and the Dairy.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 24

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 190



8. The Voters just approved an additional $600,000 for public art. How should the City spend this money?*

The city could promote multicultural expression, diversity, inclusion, and participation in the arts by linking arts
groups and individual artists with cultural groups through collaborations, partnerships, and funding opportunities.
The city should begin by reaching out to different cultural groups to find out what they would like to experience and
participate in. As an Arts Commission member, I would welcome the opportunity to meet with individual and groups.
Other ideas:

-Create arts collaborations with social service agencies and community organizations, such as Boulder Housing
Partners, Community Foundation, Meals on Wheels, Emergency Family Assistance Association, Family Learning
Center, Attention Homes, Out Boulder, Intercambio, Boulder Food Rescue, and others. 

-Invite residents of low-income housing to participate in the arts through programming at recreation and community
centers, or bring mini programs to them. Bring Boulder’s artists and art and culture groups into Boulder Housing
Partners housing for education and arts events.

- Work with cultural groups in Boulder to organize celebrations around cultural holidays. I recently saw costumed
dancers perform in celebration of Chinese New Year in front of a Boulder restaurant. This kind of spontaneous
celebratory art in our downtown and in other public places would help showcase different cultures. Partnerships
between the city and cultural groups could lead to celebrations of cultural holidays, such as Cinco de Mayo and Dia
de los Ninos.

-Expand Boulder’s mural program. Cities such as Los Angeles have reached out to residents in the Latino community
and other cultural groups with mural competitions and programs that transform blank city walls, bridges, and
gathering spaces. The murals have drawn visitors, supported local businesses, and created identity and pride for
these communities. Boulder’s Public Works department has installed some murals on underpasses and along creek
paths, but we could use more murals as temporary or permanent art and culture pieces.

-Support arts co-ops that celebrate emerging arts and diversity. The Block 1750 nonprofit dance collaborative, for
example, is home to the Colorado Hip-Hop Collective and provides a dance studio where kids can go to study, relax,
hang out with friends, and build leadership skills through dance. 

-Organize a street-art festival. I attended a sidewalk art festival in LoDo last summer with chalk artists creating street
paintings while musicians performed and people danced and enjoyed food truck fare. I could see this happening at
North Boulder, Valmont, or Carpenter Park, or in a blocked-off street section of East or West Pearl. The festival also
could be a boon for local restaurants and businesses.

Expand the scope, frequency, and marketing for Cyclovia. Cyclovia, a community event popular in cities around the
world, is a celebration of walking, biking, skating, and rolling. Ciclovia encourages art, dance, music, food, fitness,
cultural expression, community, and carless transportation in the city center. This is a fun multicultural event in
Boulder, and could be expanded and held more frequently.

-Require grant recipients to give back with outreach performances, exhibitions, and educational efforts within the
Boulder community. Applicants for grants could indicate their target audiences, such as preschool or after-
school/summer programs, senior centers, programs for people with disabilities, or low-income housing. The city’s arts
office could also maintain a clearinghouse of outreach opportunities. 

-Create arts partnerships and exchanges with Boulder’s Sister Cities.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 25

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 191



9. If Boulder were to implement 1% for the arts, how do you recommend that the funding be deployed?*

This is a good time for the arts in Boulder, particularly with the approval of $600,000 for public art, including new
projects and maintenance. More than 130 cultural organizations are headquartered in Boulder, the top 50 of which
had a direct economic spending of approximately $20 million, which translates through sales tax into significant
support for city programs and services. Art and culture increase the attractiveness of our (already amazing)
environment for the purpose of cultural tourism.

Art and culture also are accelerators for the creative economy. The creative sector represents nearly 8 percent of
Boulder’s economy and $2.3 billion in sales. Considering the contributions of arts to enriching the community spirit
(my first priority) and the value of arts for supporting local businesses and developing a culturally creative economy,
the money derived from the 2A tax should be used to benefit the entire community. The Cultural Plan notes that
social offerings and a sense that the community is open and welcoming are areas that need improvement; public art
can be used to create a sense of place that is more welcoming, attractive, thought-provoking, inspiring, and fun.

The Community Cultural Plan provides six priorities related to sustainable cultural organizations, supportive
environments for artists and creative professionals, civic dialogue, creative identity, creativity in the public realm, and
cultural destinations. Some ideas for spending the public art money:

-Invest in art for public spaces, and include a broad range of the arts in public-art funding and display. Program
temporary installations and performance art for the Civic Center, Pearl Street Mall, libraries, rec centers, city parks,
University Hill, NoBo Arts District, and other places to create a sense of Boulder as a city committed to the arts and
creative expression.

-Plan for capital projects such as more museum and performing arts space. A performing arts center, perhaps in the
Civic Center, is needed to accommodate a larger theater and a variety of other arts spaces needed to attract
national performance groups and provide more space for local groups.

-Create a city maker space that provides space and support for experimentation in different media. Locate a maker
space and staff support in a city building, or partner with an arts institution to offer dedicated space for arts
experimentation.

-Offer subsidies for more performing groups to rent venues. Rental costs and lack of available venues of different
sizes (other than churches) are a perpetual issue for Boulder’s many performing groups.

-Provide educational stipends, grants, scholarships, and/or internships in which students could work with professional
visual artists, craftspeople, musicians, theater crews, dancers, writers/poets, film makers, digital and multimedia
artists, and others. Encourage cultural field trips as part of this support.

-Provide grants to Boulder performing arts organizations to support programming and paid internships for students
and young professionals to develop art organization leadership skills and experiences.

-Provide fellowships to individual artists to support creativity and help keep (generally underpaid) artists in Boulder.

-Provide grants to encourage neighborhood arts events, such as Mapleton’s annual Porchfest.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 26

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 192



Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019

One percent for the arts programs have been successful in many cities in the U.S. and Colorado, including
Fort Collins, Loveland, and Denver. Boulder spends just over $6 per person on cultural affairs,
compared to an average of over $33 in comparable cities, so we have some catch-up to do, as the Cultural
Plan notes. 

In addition to my suggestions for the previous question, I would like to see the City use a sustainable stream of
funding to acquire, exhibit, and maintain public art throughout the city—in downtown and the civic core, in
neighborhood parks, at rec centers and facilities, along multiuse paths, and so on--to delight people and
provide a cultural context for our evolving city. I’d also like to see investments in capital projects such as more
museum and performing arts spaces. A performing arts center, perhaps in the Civic Center, is needed to
accommodate larger performances and event space and provide more options for performing groups. 

I enjoy art and culture on daily walks, thanks to Public Works’ use of a portion of project funding for historic
storytelling signage and urban artifacts at bus stops on Broadway and for murals on the walls of underpasses.
I’d like to see more neighborhoods in Boulder benefit from the City’s future arts and culture expenditures, not
only for permanent pieces but also for events and opportunities. 

The Project for Public Spaces offers examples of funding sources and effective programs for municipalities,
including public/private sector endeavors, percent and nonpercent-for-art programs, developer participation,
and local funding sources. Percent-for-art ordinances, for example, guarantee a funding stream for public art
projects regardless of what happens to city budgets or arts funding. The policy also guarantees that public art
projects are planned each year, as long as capital improvement projects are underway and municipal
construction continues. Some cities use sales tax revenue or a portion of hotel/motel taxes for art. Others
solicit private developer support for public art through incentives or as a “community benefit” mitigation
involving a set-aside percentage of construction costs dedicated for public art in their projects. 

The City should look into alternatives for securing stable funding and present an analysis to the Arts
Commission and City Council to determine the best way to fund the arts and culture in Boulder. The City
should then determine how funds will be distributed—through the Arts Commission or another city entity. Fort
Collins has an Art in Public Places Board (in addition to a Cultural Resources Board) that advises and makes
recommendations to the City Council regarding works of art in construction projects and offers to donate art
for public areas, as well as rules, regulations, policies, and budgets. Looking at funding alternatives and
finding the best choice or combination for Boulder’s particular needs and then defining how those funds will be
distributed will be important as the City develops into an even more creative place.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 27

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 193

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


ARTS COMMISSION

Annual Application - 2016

Date

The Arts Commission consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to a five-year term. The Commission
promotes and encourages programs in the performing, visual and literary arts.

Staff Liaison:  Matt Chasansky (303) 441-4113

Meetings are held the third Wednesday of the month at 6:00 PM in the Main Boulder Public Library.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

02/17/16

Kristen Demaree

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
Colorado

Postal / Zip Code
80303

Country
United States

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)* 
Street Address

Address Line 2

253-332-2845 253-332-2845 253-332-2845

kristen.demaree@gmail.com

Dancer, Musician, Choreographer, and Film maker

Boulder Ballet, Longmont Dance Theater, and Self-Employed

Yes No
Agenda Item 8C     Page 28

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 194



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What art discipline(s) do you represent? How would you fairly consider the needs of the entire arts
community?*

6. What are your ideas to (a) support the visual and performing artists in our community (b) encourage
artistic innovation and (c) increase awareness of, participation in and access to the arts?*

8/24/1971

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

I hold an MFA in Dance and a BFA in Film Studies from the University of Colorado. I served as the production
manager for the Boulder Ballet from 2000-2003. I sat on an arts grants committee during my graduate studies
at the University of Colorado. I also studied music while at CU for violin performance.

I have received grants for my production company "Delusions of Grandeur Productions" as well as having
fiscal sponsorship through the Boulder County Arts Alliance. During my work as production manager for the
Boulder Ballet, I started "Ballet in the Park" which now receives funding through the SCFD.

As production manager at the Boulder Ballet some years ago, I had the unique experience of working for Peak
Association of the Arts, where four separate organizations attempted to share the same 501c3: Boulder Ballet
Company, Peak Arts Academy of music and ballet, and the Boulder Philharmonic. I was responsible for
communicating the needs of ballet productions to the executive director, and each portion of the organization
had their own board. It was a very difficult time, because everyone wanted their own organization to flourish,
and were not very considerate of other's. This was particularly upsetting to many of the ballet dancers whose
budget was cut in favor of the orchestra's guest artist. Needless to say that this organization no longer exists,
but what I learned during this time was how to listen to both sides of a story carefully and not to make
emotional rash judgments merely based on whose "team" you are on. Diplomacy is an art that I have learned
through ballet. Teaching a ballet class, being in a ballet class, there are many emotions and egos, but I have
learned that at its core, ballet is a diplomatic art. It has taught me how to negotiate kindly, peacefully, and
confidently with others. But to be specific, identifying the real cause of conflict is of utmost importance, and in
the case that I described, it was that the organization lacked proper checks and balances. Once that was
revealed it became easier to discuss the problem without being emotional, but more rational.

I am a working artist in Boulder. I work for two different ballet schools: Boulder Ballet and Longmont Dance
Theater. I create my own dance works and also work as a freelance musician and dance teacher. I am unsure
as to if this constitutes a conflict of interest. My passion for all arts to flourish overrides any perceived bias that
might occur. I would not expect any special treatment or perks due to being on the board.

I represent dance, music, theater, film, and visual arts. Specifically in dance I am involved in ballet, modern and folk
dancing. In music, I am a folk musician, classical musician as well as having a family history of jazz in Boulder.
Regarding film, I studied with the late Stan Brakhage and have a deep appreciation for local filmmakers. Regarding
the visual arts, I am a performance and installation artist, filmmaker, and costume designer. 

The need of our entire arts community is to pool our resources and support each other by sharing space, creating
better networks, and arts funding so that artists are not forced to move elsewhere. 

We have an immense wealth of talents in our community, but why do so many of us struggle to survive? The main
problem that I see is that because there are limited resources. The many artists in our community fight to obtain
those resources and it creates an environment where the arts are not sharing with one another in a flourishing way.
By finding a better way to pool and collaborate with all the arts, we not only support artists better but we give them
fertile ground on which to create.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 29

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 195



7. How should the city promote multicultural expression and participation in the arts? *

a) The greatest need we have for visual and performing artists in this community is space. I was fortunate to grow up
under the wing of my mother, Barbara Demaree, who owned and operated Ballet Arts Boulder above Tom's Tavern
on 11th and Pearl for 35 years. Tom Eldridge kindly rented this beautiful space to her for a low price. Without his
philanthropy, we would not have the Boulder Ballet, as it grew out of this space. Sadly, today this beautiful studio is
occupied by a software company. When Tom passed away, the property was bought up and the rent sky-rocketed
and Boulder Ballet was forced to move out of the space. Fortunately, the Dairy provides adequately priced space for
the Boulder Ballet as well as other organizations. I am aware that there are many other artists that struggle to find
adequate space for rehearsing, teaching and performing when the Dairy space is not available or suitable. 
We do not have a moderate to large concert venue that can benefit large orchestras, dance companies, and theater
productions. The largest venue, Macky Auditorium, is rarely available or affordable for local organizations, and the
Dairy's large performance space is limited in its ability to hang sets and other theatrical assets, for example. 
E-town is a lovely venue, but it is rarely available for local artists and not at all suitable for dance or theater. Boulder
Ballet uses the Boulder Theater once a year, but the stage is tiny, not suitable for dancing (not sprung and no wing
space). 
High school auditoriums are subject to school district regulations and staff when utilizing the space as well as limited
availability. If it were possible to use these spaces better for local artists, it could be something that could benefit
students as well ( holding workshops for students for example).

Other CU venues such as the ATLAS Black box, College of Music, Theater and Dance Building are rarely available
for local artists. 

Affordable space that can be rented hourly for music lessons, dance classes, recitals, bands, choirs, is something
that is greatly needed as well. 

To summarize: artists need to have space, without it they cannot do their work, and they also can't find each other as
easily with out a communal space. 

Other than space, visual and performing artists need funding to create and show their creations. To better support
the funding that Boulder already has through grants, doubling up on collaborative endeavors could help to support
artists as they grow in our community. An artist-run venue would be an idea that could serve to support artists by
providing income through a regular job, space for creating work and teaching classes. 

b) Artistic Innovation: Boulder does not seem to have any local curated events. This could provide motivation and
increased income for artists by providing or promoting curated events throughout the year based on what artists are
creating. It could be a public voting curated process, where patrons of the arts could cast votes for their favorite
performances or visual arts, or one by a selected committee. This could give artists incentive to push their artistic
vision. 

Collaboration is key to building artistic innovation. Artists feed off of each other so promoting collaborative work
supports this type of innovation.

c) I have lived in Boulder my whole life, and began spending time at the Dairy in the 1980's. I often run into people
who have never been there, even though they grew up in Boulder. Venues that support local art need to have more
free community events to introduce the public to the spaces. They will most likely return to those spaces once they
have found out where they are. Art needs to be part of the flourishing existence in the heart of our community, not
just something we squeeze in here and there. As I mentioned before, I created "Ballet in the Park" for Boulder Ballet,
where 500 people showed up for the first show. It was the biggest audience we had had outside of Macky. It was a
free event. 

Online presence is crucial for creating awareness for the arts. I recently started a facebook page "Boulder Dances"
that supports promoting local dance events. Other pages in Boulder such as "Boulder Arts" is an example of another
place where artists can freely promote their work.

Providing free advertising resources for artists is also a way to support local arts. In addition to making it more visible,
it gives the public a better sense of the arts "scene", which makes people want to join in the fun, even if only as a
spectator.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 30

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 196



8. The Voters just approved an additional $600,000 for public art. How should the City spend this money?*

9. If Boulder were to implement 1% for the arts, how do you recommend that the funding be deployed?*

The city can best serve multicultural expression by providing a space for artists. The most marginal groups are those
who cannot afford space. The city should not decide what is multicultural per se, but should provide the opportunity
to anyone who feels they have something to offer. The arts arise out of community organically, if they are given the
resources to do so. 
Through providing the space, it would then be possible to create events such as would benefit various groups such
as the Chicano population through folklorico dance and music, for example. 

Participation in the arts is crucial and must be promoted in various ways for the artistic community to flourish.

1. Commissioning collaborative, multicultural and interdisciplinary works will increase audience awareness in aspects
they might not have experienced before. It also encourages artists to support each other.

2. Giving artists incentives like a publicly voted curated event can provide some motivation towards creating new and
exciting works. 

3. Pairing businesses with artists - can a business provide some needed help to artists - do they have space that can
be utilized after hours? Can they help with administration, health benefits, in exchange for art (classes for employees,
a music concert for lunch). 

4. Pairing non-profits and those in need with artists. Providing workshops,classes, and performances for the
underprivileged, developmentally disabled communities, elderly, indigent, and mentally ill. 

5. Inviting arts organizations from other counties and cities in Colorado to do exchange of work.

I feel in order to answer this question, I would want to know more about this funding. Is it for one year only? Is it
intended for some sort of permanent art like a sculpture or a painting? Can it include performance arts? Does public
denote public spaces like parks, creek path, parks, etc? Does public mean free of charge? 

1. Split the money between all arts: music, dance, theater, film, visual, and literary. $100000 each over 5 years in the
form of grants. There could be various amounts awarded, depending on the needs. 

2. Split the money between a new permanent art space, and grants for art to fill the space.

3. Create an artist lottery for collaborations. Artists submit applications and they are randomly paired with other
artists to make a collaborative work. 

4. New works/artists only: use the money to promote up and coming artists, musicians, dancers, choreographers,
theater companies who often don't qualify for larger grants or who have never received a grant before.

As you may well guess by now, my answer is space. 

While the Dairy Arts Center is a wonderful venue, it is fully occupied by resident organizations. It is somewhat
difficult for individual artists to use the spaces there. It is up to the discretion of the resident organizations as to
if they want to rent or make their space available to others. The Dairy administration and resident
organizations don't consult the public as to what they might need or desire from that space as much as is
needed. 

Ideas: 

1. A moderate to large performance venue with orchestra pit, sprung stage floor and lighting would be an
asset not only to Boulder, but to the entire county and front range area. 

2. An art space that provides a gallery, classrooms to rent hourly, including dance studios with sprung floors,
sound proof rooms for music recordings, would be a huge asset to this community.

3. Upgrading spaces in the high schools, such as Fairview and Boulder High in order for them to be better
used for the arts. There is no adequate dance space in either school, and both the stages could both use
repair as well as upgrade in equipment. 

4. Create new grant opportunities for local artists
Agenda Item 8C     Page 31

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 197



Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019

Agenda Item 8C     Page 32

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 198

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


ARTS COMMISSION

Annual Application - 2016

Date

The Arts Commission consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to a five-year term. The Commission
promotes and encourages programs in the performing, visual and literary arts.

Staff Liaison:  Matt Chasansky (303) 441-4113

Meetings are held the third Wednesday of the month at 6:00 PM in the Main Boulder Public Library.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

02/15/16

Lynne Ida

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
CO

Postal / Zip Code
80301

Country
USA

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)* 
Street Address

Address Line 2

303-332-8001

lynneida@gmail.com

Office Administrator

PeopleForBikes

Yes No
Agenda Item 8C     Page 33

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 199



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What art discipline(s) do you represent? How would you fairly consider the needs of the entire arts
community?*

6. What are your ideas to (a) support the visual and performing artists in our community (b) encourage
artistic innovation and (c) increase awareness of, participation in and access to the arts?*

6/29/2012

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

My qualifications and background include a Bachelor of Fine Arts from the University of Colorado. I served
briefly on the SCFD board in the early 80’s (Scientific and Cultural Facilities District) In 1984 I owned a
contemporary art gallery in Denver for a few years, but it became financially difficult to remain open. In 2010, I
was employed at The Foothills Art Center as the Office and Executive Coordinator. The Foothills Art Center is
governed by a Board of Directors. I currently work for a non-profit in Boulder, which is also governed by a
Board of Directors. In between various jobs, I have worked as a video producer for over 20 years. I feel I have
good decision-making skills. It is something I have learned over the years and have become more proficient at,
because of my past experiences. I believe you have to go through a mindful and thoughtful process in order to
determine, and make the right decisions, and you have to trust your choices. In the past, I have not been
opposed to consulting with neutral experts on topics in order to get all of the best information needed before
making important decisions.

I have not had any experience with The City of Boulder boards. I am interested in board membership because I
want to be more involved in the community that I live and work in. I have lived in other cities, but Boulder is
truly the place I love and the city I will eventually retire in. I am a member of Downtown Boulder through my
work. I appreciate the dedication that Downtown Boulder puts into enhancing the community through their
events, commerce, and culture. My interest in the board is because I want to help enrich the Boulder
experience for residents and visitors.

I think it goes without saying that the most effective way to resolve conflict is to have open communication
between all parties involved. I haven’t been directly involved in any disagreements or conflicts recently, either
because it didn’t relate to my job, or I wasn’t asked to help mediate. As a former business owner, I experienced
many staff conflicts within my businesses. Ultimately, I was the person who had the final say in resolving
situations. In my experiences, I would sit down and talk individually with people, and then bring all parties
together for group discussions, facilitating the conversation before making any decisions.

I do not have any conflicts of interest in working with the Arts Commission board. In situations where there are
conflicts of interest, I think the board should evaluate how serious those interests are to determine whether or
not a project should or should not be allowed to participate. There should be no question or doubt in
determining conflicts. I am not a big fan of allowing for “gray” areas in making decisions. There are always
certain circumstances, which of course would be open for discussion.

I respect and admire all disciplines of art. As a former gallery owner, I was exposed to, and viewed many styles of art.
As a college student, I have had experience in printmaking, photography, and painting. To fairly consider the needs
of the art community, I think one has to take into account many factors. To be fair, one should listen to the community
and ask the community what they want, rather than give them something you think is good for them. Art that I may
purchase for my living room, may not necessarily be good or desirable for someone else. You really need to take
your personal tastes out of the equation and look at the big picture.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 34

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 200



7. How should the city promote multicultural expression and participation in the arts? *

8. The Voters just approved an additional $600,000 for public art. How should the City spend this money?*

9. If Boulder were to implement 1% for the arts, how do you recommend that the funding be deployed?*

Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019
 

I think there are several ways to support the visual and performing artists in our community. More venues to show art
would be wonderful, however the Boulder real estate market is a tough situation for owning and operating galleries
due to price. I think by giving artists the ability to show their art at special events, helps them get their art viewed
since there aren’t many galleries in Boulder. The FireFly art market during Christmas is a wonderful way for artists to
show their work. The Boulder Farmer’s market is another excellent venue. We have wonderful venues here in
Boulder such as The Dairy Center for Arts and The Boulder Contemporary Art Museum. I think these are all good
places and provide good experiences for artists. I think we need to continue to support these ideas and open more
places like this so that artists stay in the community. We need artists, but artists also need communities and
organizations that recognize their value and support them. 

If you provide places in need of interesting art, I don’t think artists need much encouragement if they are provided a
“canvas” to work with. To inspire and motivate artists, it’s more exciting for them to create original ideas, but
sometimes ideas are ridiculed or rejected. I think a good arts council should be open to ideas and evaluate the pros
and cons of each piece of art. 

One way to increase awareness of art and allow people to participate and have access to art is by making places for
art into more of a gathering place. Sometimes art is seen as something only accessible by privileged and wealthy
people, which inhibits some people from exploring. On a recent trip to Europe, I loved how in town squares where
there were sculptures, the city had placed benches and tables in the square so that people could sit and admire the
art. There were also tables made for chess or checkers available where people could actually sit all day. If there were
more furniture in museums and galleries, or outside, you could make places to be with art, which would become
gathering places, which would increase awareness and require participation. A great recent example is the wall
sculptures installed along the Goose Creek bike path near the old train depot (now a restaurant) It is such a beautiful
addition that cyclists who ride by everyday appreciate. It’s probably more appreciated there then it would be in a
museum. Art really brings people together and connects them.

One way to promote multicultural expression and participation in the arts would be to perhaps provide grants and/or
commissions to artists or groups, who are creative, but don’t have the financial ability to realize their art. You could
create themes for events and festivals that would encourage artists to participate in. I think it would be worth
researching what kinds of groups were under represented. It would be wonderful to have another venue like the
Dairy Center where even more artists could participate. There is a wonderful museum in Baltimore called the
American Visionary Museum, where art is shown by self-taught individuals, individuals that have no formal training.
It’s a very diverse group of artists that also have very interesting backgrounds.

Spending money allocated for art is a big responsibility. Art truly can shape a city and it’s important that it is visually
appealing and that it fits in with the environment. Art can be incorporated into the design and construction of new
buildings and outdoor urban spaces. It can commemorate history, or celebrate stories that encourages artists of
diversity to share their culture and history. Art can be incorporated into landscapes. The Dale Chihuly show at The
Botanic Gardens a few years ago, showcased beautiful blown glass scattered within the grasses and flowers of the
gardens. In some cities, artists have created their version of bike racks. Art can also educate to interpret a sense of
place, or make a comment. Again, I love the Goose Creek bike path and the recent wall sculptures that were recently
installed. I don’t believe there is meaning in the installation, but it is appealing and I hear people talk about it all the
time. It has created conversation. People ride by it on their bicycles everyday, and it makes them smile.

In order for funding to be deployed responsibly, asking the community and residents what they want is
important. Outside consultants and advisors can provide great insight as well, as well as community group
discussions. This type of investment in the community is an ongoing process, not a one time project and
should be given much care and thought as to how funds will be spent.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 35

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 201

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


ARTS COMMISSION

Annual Application - 2016

Date

The Arts Commission consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to a five-year term. The Commission
promotes and encourages programs in the performing, visual and literary arts.

Staff Liaison:  Matt Chasansky (303) 441-4113

Meetings are held the third Wednesday of the month at 6:00 PM in the Main Boulder Public Library.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

01/13/16

R. Alan Rudy

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
CO

Postal / Zip Code
80302

Country
US

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)* 
Street Address

Address Line 2

303-579-3316

alanrudy@comcast.net

Retired

Yes No
Agenda Item 8C     Page 36

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 202



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What art discipline(s) do you represent? How would you fairly consider the needs of the entire arts
community?*

6. What are your ideas to (a) support the visual and performing artists in our community (b) encourage
artistic innovation and (c) increase awareness of, participation in and access to the arts?*

7. How should the city promote multicultural expression and participation in the arts? *

8. The Voters just approved an additional $600,000 for public art. How should the City spend this money?*

1/12/1997

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

I served 9 years as a special assistant to Mayor Whitmire of Houston. During the time I, among other things,
chaired the task force the built the convention center and a strategic planning process for the City and County
that developed a plan for the arts. In Boulder I served 10 years on the board of CMF and chaired a strategic
planning process. I served 12 years on the Advisory Board of the CU Art Musuem and chaired that board for 4
years. I served on the Dean's Advisory Board of School of A&S at CU and Advisory Board of the Institute of
Humanities and the Arts at CU

I served on the Board in the early 2000s. It was, in my opinion, dysfunctional. Since then, much appears to
have been done to create some structure. My interest was regenerated by a City Council Member who urged
me to apply, because he thought my experience could add value to the Arts Commission's implementing the
recently completed Community Cultural Plan

As chair of the task force that created a Cultural Arts Plan for the Houston/Harris County Region I was
confronted by large arts groups who thought the process was designed by the mayor to take their money and
give it to small arts groups. Small arts groups thought the mayor wanted their money for the large arts groups.
The issue was resolved, over time, as each realized they were mistaken and that the plan would benefit all
members of the greater arts community

My wife, Stephanie is involved with the BOE theater ant the Dairy. Not sure if that's a conflict. If so, I could
recuse myself from consideration of grants to the BOE

I don't represent any discipline, however Stephanie and I are art collectors, we are involved with the opera program
at CU and enjoy and contribute to the Boulder Phil, Colorado Music Festival (I serve on their Advisory Committee)
and various arts organizations and museums.

I am really impressed with the Community Cultural Plan. i think it provides a wonderful road map to elevating Boulder
to prominence as an art centric community. I would work to influence voters to pass taxes necessary for its successful
implementation. I think the Bouder arts community, including individuals and organizations would need to be
educated about opportunities offered by the CCP. I would also attempt to organize and support group efforts toward
cross discipline arts projects. I suspect that the Commission process could be enhance by development of SCFD like
guidelines for funding. I'm throwing out thoughts without the benefit of recent Arts Commission experience so I
suspect some or all of what I'm suggesting has been thought of or is unworkable.

By utilizing the talent and networks of current leaders within the various communities and reaching out to schools,
social clubs and civic organizations. The Commission should be prepared to fund seed money for projects that
conform to thoughtfully constructed guide lines. Mentors should be assigned to projects to provide guidance and
oversight.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 37

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 203



9. If Boulder were to implement 1% for the arts, how do you recommend that the funding be deployed?*

Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019

RFPs could be issued for site specific projects. The public should be asked to recommend people to serve as
judges. The judges should be approved by mayor and council. The judges should make final decisions. There
should be a written protocol for the process which would include number of judges, detailed process for submission,
etc.

I won't make a recommendation here. It's too big a question. 
I think a comprehensive process could be followed to develop a plan. For instance:
What is taxed? Public streets, fire trucks, buildings, all buildings or just some kind (what kind?), play ground
equipment?
Should an effort be made to charge 1% for private development? Apartments? Shopping centers? Above a
certain size? Voluntary? How would private sector tax be used? On site? In public spaces?
Should 1% be used for structures? Interior art? Performance art? Performing art? Individual projects?
What guide lines are there for those requesting funds? 

There are, in my opinion, many more questions to be asked/answered before answering question #9.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 38

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 204

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


WATER RESOURCES ADVISORY BOARD

Mid-Year Application - 2016

Date

The Water Resources Advisory Board consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to five year terms. The
Board reviews Capital Improvement Programs, the Community and Environmental Assessment Process, and utilities
master plans and advises City Council, Planning Board and staff. Additionally, the Board may provide recommendations
concerning policy issues on operating programs.

Staff Liaison: Jeff Arthur (303)441-4418

Meetings are held the third Monday of the month at 7 PM in the 13th Street Conference Room.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

01/28/16

Don Cote

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
Colorado

Postal / Zip Code
80303

Country
United States

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)* 
Street Address

Address Line 2

303-440-4152

doncote07@gmail.com

retired

Retired

Agenda Item 8C     Page 39

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 205



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What are the new priorities that emerged in the wake of the 2013 rain and flood related to water,
wastewater, and storm water, and flood management in the community?*

6. The Water Resources Advisory Board is responsible for making annual recommendations to City Council on
the Utilities Capital Improvement Program or CIP. In considering the CIP, how would you balance the need
to maintain, replace, and rehabilitate existing critical infrastructure and assets valued at over $1B with other
community needs?*

7. What types of operational/policy changes might be appropriate given the increasing uncertainty of
weather conditions and the increasing likelihood of extreme events due to climate change?*

Yes No

10/3/1980

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

I have a Master’s of Science Degree in Electrical Engineering. I have decades of experience as Director of
System Engineering with the Oceanographic Office, the National Weather Services , NOAA’s Environmental
Research Laboratories, and the Colorado Alliance for Science. As director I was responsible for a number of
multi-million dollar development programs, that involved interdisciplinary teams, and required balanced
decisions on allocation of resources, trade-offs in conflicting performance specifications,etc.

I, as all of Boulder, am impacted by the services WRAB oversees. From the clean water flowing from my taps
and the efficient removal of waste water, to the protection of lives and property during flood conditions. The
past few years have exposed serious lack of attention to all of these services. And while much has been
changed, I want to ensure that conditions do not return to the state of neglect that had existed. At the board
meeting attended, I was underwhelmed by the City presentation and response of the Board.

While Director of System Engineering at NOAA’s Environmental Research Laboratories, I prepared NOAA’s
Report to Congress on it’s environmental data management. In doing so, I had to work with 5 distinct line
organizations( Weather Service, Ocean Service, Marine Fisheries, Satellite Service and Research Service), 12
unique Research Laboratories. 3 National Forecast Centers( Climate, Hurricane, and Severe Storms) and 4
National Data Centers(Climate, Ocean, Geophysical, and Ice). All handling their data differently and I had to
produce a single coherent document where all were in agreement.

I have no potential conflict of interest and I believe anyone who has should recluse themselves from those
meeting where the conflicting issues will be discussed.

First, ensure continuous operation of City facilities, it was unconscionable that the water plant had no power back up.
I know is fixed now but the thinking that allowed that condition to exist must be changed. Second the interconnections
between wastewater and storm systems are not acceptable. Toilet exploding and sewer water filling living spaces is
disgusting and unacceptable. Just as the lack of maintenance of the waste water system is.

It is an exceeding difficult challenge to balance all the City’s needs and desires. What you can expect from the WRAB
is thoughtfully prepared request , based upon rigorous analysis and verified data. However, past flood management
failed our residents miserably in many areas. We were fortunate that lives were not lost. All parts of the city saw
damage but the South Boulder Creek exposed problems that had been ignoring for a long time. The flood waters that
breeched US 36 was not the first time,it occurred in the 60s, and fifty years later we still haven’t corrected the
problem.. Much too much of East Boulder has been build up without proper consideration of the flood plain issues.
And the failure to clear waterways has exacerbated the problems, For example . Bear Creek between Wellman Ditch
and Arapahoe was cleaned up this year, the first time ever, Even though it has flooded 3 times in the past 35 years.
An I am sure that this is not an isolated incident.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 40

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 206



8. Boulder charges for water using a water budget rate structure with increasing block rates based on water
usage. The annual water fund budget depends upon revenue from all five billing blocks, including the
“penalty” blocks for overuse. What are your thoughts about how users, both residential and commercial,
should be equitably charged for water and wastewater use, and what changes, if any, should be made to our
current system?*

Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019

Climate change is responsible for hundreds of thousand of tons of water vapor being added to the atmosphere.
When storms come , they are much more likely to produce flooding as we recently experienced. In turn, creating a
greater urgency for our actions. We have made a good start,but it is a lengthy and expensive effort. I fear that as the
flood dims in our memory (it is only 2 years past) , our conviction may wane and our attention turn to more exciting
projects for Boulder but we must finish the corrections needed for the recently exposed deficiencies. 

And we must perform regular maintenance of the existing infrastructure. And the waterways must also be cleared on
a regular schedule. Trees and scrubs grow and trash accumulates. Yes, even in Boulder.

I believe that the current system is sound. However as water becomes our most precious resource, we need to
continue to look for more and better ways to conserve. As usage expands and the availability becomes more
irregular, changes may be needed. Regardless, yearly analysis should be performed on the water usage and
availability. Data projections should also analyzed against past projections. Input from residential and commercial
users would be encouraged and then decision could be formulated based on the aggregate of the information.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 41

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 207

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


WATER RESOURCES ADVISORY BOARD

Mid-Year Application - 2016

Date

The Water Resources Advisory Board consists of five members appointed by City Council, each to five year terms. The
Board reviews Capital Improvement Programs, the Community and Environmental Assessment Process, and utilities
master plans and advises City Council, Planning Board and staff. Additionally, the Board may provide recommendations
concerning policy issues on operating programs.

Staff Liaison: Jeff Arthur (303)441-4418

Meetings are held the third Monday of the month at 7 PM in the 13th Street Conference Room.

The City of Boulder believes that a diverse work force adds quality and perspective to the services we
provide to the public. Therefore, it is the ongoing policy and practice of the City of Boulder to strive for

equal opportunity in employment for all employees and applicants. No person shall be discriminated against
in any term, condition or privilege of employment because of race, national origin, religion, disability,
pregnancy, age, military status, marital status, genetic characteristics or information, gender, gender

identity, gender variance or sexual orientation.

The Boulder City Charter requires representation of both genders on City Boards and Commissions.

First Name * Last Name *

Best phone number where you can be reached

Home Phone (?) Mobile Phone (?) Work Phone (?)

E-mail Address*

Occupation

Place of Employment/Retired

Do you reside within the city limits?*

02/15/16

James Saunders

City
Boulder

State / Province / Region
CO

Postal / Zip Code
80304

Country
USA

Home Address (Not available to the public unless you are appointed.)* 
Street Address

Address Line 2

303-444-2064 303-906-0407

kannahfish@comcast.net

water quality scientist

CDPHE Water Quality Control Division; formally retired, but working half-time through July 2016

Agenda Item 8C     Page 42

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 208



When did you become a resident of Boulder?*

1. What technical/professional qualifications, skill sets and relevant experiences do you have for this position
(such as educational degrees, specialized training, service on governing or decision-making boards, etc.)?*

2. Have you had any experiences with this Board or the services it oversees that have sparked your interest in
becoming a member of the Board, and, if so, please describe the experience(s) and what insight you gained.*

3. Describe a situation where you were involved with a group and had to work through a disagreement or
conflict among the members. What techniques or specific actions did you find to be most effective in
mitigating or resolving the disagreement/conflict?*

Yes No

9/1/1975

ANSWER ALL OF THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS

I have been involved in water quality issues in Colorado for the last 40 years. For much of that time I
participated in basic and applied research projects, many of which addressed concerns of Front Range
communities. For the last 10 years, at CDPHE's Water Quality Control Division (WQCD), I have worked on a
wide range of regulatory issues including standards development (surface waters and drinking water) and
permitting (NPDES and 401 certification). The WQCD serves as staff to the Water Quality Control Commission,
which means frequent testimony at public hearings and extensive contact with stakeholder groups. Working at
the interface between the technical and policy realms has been very rewarding.

I have advanced degrees (MS and PhD) in aquatic science and extensive work experience in related fields
(e.g., hydrology and statistics). The work has included multidisciplinary projects involving scientists, engineers
and policy-makers. Recent experience with the 401 certification process has given me a much greater
appreciation for the water quality implications of large water-resource projects, as well as considerable
exposure to the political dimensions of water projects.

I have served on boards (as president, secretary, treasurer, etc) for community musical organizations and for
a regional professional organization.

I have been aware of the board's work for some time, and the nature of the work appeals to me because of my
professional background. I spoke with Lesley Smith about her experience on the board and gained a much
better understanding of the functioning of the board and its role in the public policy process. I have also
reviewed board packets from previous meetings to get a sense of the topics and concerns that the board has
had to address recently. What I learned from Lesley and from the information available on-line was sufficient to
convince me that it could be a good fit and a useful contribution to the community.

To confirm my initial impression, I attended a board meeting last year. It was the meeting itself that helped me
decide to apply. I was very impressed with staff presentations both in terms of technical content and
responsiveness to questions from the board. Furthermore, there was clearly a good working relationship
between the board and the staff, and that is something I can appreciate from my own experiences with the
state Water Quality Control Commission. I thought the board members demonstrated command of current
water issues and employed that knowledge to ask thoughtful questions of the staff.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 43

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 209



4. List all potential conflicts of interest you might have with respect to the work of this board, and explain how
you think any potential or perceived conflicts of interest should be handled by Board members.*

5. What are the new priorities that emerged in the wake of the 2013 rain and flood related to water,
wastewater, and storm water, and flood management in the community?*

6. The Water Resources Advisory Board is responsible for making annual recommendations to City Council on
the Utilities Capital Improvement Program or CIP. In considering the CIP, how would you balance the need
to maintain, replace, and rehabilitate existing critical infrastructure and assets valued at over $1B with other
community needs?*

I have participated in a lot of contentious meetings as part of outreach efforts to discuss statewide regulatory
proposals with stakeholder groups. These meetings are usually replete with consultants and lawyers, and
discussions can become heated. I have found that a certain amount of mitigation is possible by remaining calm
and listening carefully as stakeholders voice their comments and concerns. Also, I think it has been helpful to
aim for complete transparency by distributing relevant materials to stakeholders before the meeting in order to
avoid surprises. However, resolution of conflicts is often elusive because goals may not be aligned, which
makes it difficult to find common ground.

My previous experience as an election judge offers a more hopeful model for dealing with conflicts. It was
surprisingly common for voters to show up and learn they were not registered in my precinct. You can imagine
their consternation, which often led to some tense moments filled with angry questions. In that situation, the
key to resolving the conflict was conveying the message that we shared a common goal. The voter wanted to
cast a ballot, and I made it clear that I would help them find a [legal] way to do so. This was a situation where
mitigation began by demonstrating my interest in solving their problem. It might take some time and a few
phone calls, but eventually I could dispel the notion that I was an obstacle. I had a job to do that entailed
procedural responsibilities, but we could work together to find a way for them to vote if at all possible. I wish I
could say that all such interactions were resolved favorably, but it simply wasn't possible to resolve all
procedural issues for everyone. Of course, times have changed and the advent of computers in the voting
arena has eliminated a lot of these issues.

I am not aware of any potential conflicts of interest that might arise if were to be a member of the board. At the
same time, as long as I am still working for the Water Quality Control Division (through July 2016), there is
some potential for awkwardness in the sense that I am helping to develop water quality standards that may
affect decisions regarding upgrades to the wastewater treatment plant, for example.

A strict legal interpretation of COI may be less important than public perception about COI. Is there a
convincing argument that the Board member can render an impartial decision on the issue? The occasional
recusal for perception of conflict is a small price to pay for maintaining public confidence in the board's
endeavors.

The flood of 2013 caused an immense amount of damage along the Front Range, and it tested preparedness on a
scale usually reserved for model simulations. Following the flood, recovery needs prompted a change in priorities for
funding projects. Some planned projects were deferred or subsumed in broader repair work, and funding for other
identified projects was re-directed to the recovery effort. These were necessary changes in near-term priorities.

Even as recovery efforts were underway, Boulder initiated evaluations of the effects of the flood and what steps
would be needed to be better prepared in the future. In general terms, capital investments were needed to reduce
vulnerabilities and improve “resilience” in anticipation of future disasters (including, but not limited to flood events).
Subsequently, there has been a shift in priorities for investment including several projects added to the latest CIP.

The manifestations of the new priorities are seen in numerous ways. Flood plain mapping and flood mitigation plans
have been revised. A better understanding of infrastructure vulnerabilities was reflected in the large (75%) increase
in the storm water/flood management rates in 2015. The rate increase is weighted for impervious area, which affects
commercial customers by accounting for the role of large parking areas in contributing runoff. There is also an
important dimension of planning that was highlighted by staff at a WRAB meeting last year. Modeling for storm water
events has been expanded to include once-in-25-year events in addition to the usual once-in-10-year event. Staff
explained that although there was no formal regulatory guideline for the recurrence interval, they could benefit from
learning more about vulnerability. That seems like the essence of resilience.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 44

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 210



7. What types of operational/policy changes might be appropriate given the increasing uncertainty of
weather conditions and the increasing likelihood of extreme events due to climate change?*

8. Boulder charges for water using a water budget rate structure with increasing block rates based on water
usage. The annual water fund budget depends upon revenue from all five billing blocks, including the
“penalty” blocks for overuse. What are your thoughts about how users, both residential and commercial,
should be equitably charged for water and wastewater use, and what changes, if any, should be made to our
current system?*

CIP guiding principles establish the basis for prioritizing investments. The principle that deals with achieving
community sustainability goals makes it clear that recommendations for infrastructure investments must be made in
the context of other community needs. The WRAB has an opportunity to consider the "balance" question when the
CEAP findings are submitted. I see this step as critical for shaping the WRAB's recommendations because it reveals
the relative merits of alternatives and it encourages public comment. My previous experience in evaluating
Environmental Impact Statements and in the certification process for permitting federal projects would be helpful in
this regard.

Although there is clearly a role for the WRAB to consider the balance question, I see it as limited mainly to evaluation
of alternatives within the Utilities CIP. In the broader scheme, the task of balancing recommendations with other
community needs is more appropriately within the sphere of policy decisions handled by City Council. The WRAB can
be helpful to the Council by providing a clear explanation of direct and indirect benefits of infrastructure investments
to the community and by considering the importance of timing in setting priorities. In addition, the WRAB may hear
public comment - as it did regarding South Boulder Creek floodplain issues - and those comments could inform the
board's recommendations. Ultimately, however, decisions weighing community needs are for the Council.

Uncertainty about the nature, direction, and magnitude of climate change impacts is unlikely to be resolved in the
near-term. We could have more precipitation or less; precipitation could be focused more in a particular season or
elevation range; the timing and amount of runoff could change; the recurrence interval for a catastrophic flood event
could become shorter or longer. The same can be said of wildfires. The list of possibilities is quite long, and, without
much certainty yet regarding any type of event, the task of planning for these events is particularly challenging.

In concept, resilience seems like the best policy. Boulder's participation in the 100 Resilient Cities program is a clear
signal of policy direction, and it affords the best opportunities to learn from the experiences of other cities. Of course,
the act of participating in a group like this does not guarantee successful implementation, but it is a sign of
commitment that the City now has a Chief Resilience Officer.

An active role for the WRAB seems essential. There is an opportunity to cast CIP recommendations in terms of
resilience, but that may not be enough in itself. Part of the task for dealing with the uncertainty about climate change
is to deal with expectations. Changes to infrastructure cannot completely insulate us from unexpected disasters.
Instead, more emphasis can be placed on preparedness and ensuring that recovery efforts are efficient and
effective.

The current rate structure for single-family residential seems appropriate for discouraging excessive water use. It is
less clear how this works for commercial users. One area where there appears to be a disparity is the allocation for
outdoor use, which is tiered by irrigable area for single-family residential, but not for other user categories. On the
surface, this does not seem equitable, but perhaps it reflects what is known about typical irrigable area for those
other categories.

There has clearly been a lot of thought devoted to establishing a structure that seems equitable. Furthermore, the
scheme for making adjustments provides considerable flexibility for accommodating circumstances that differ from the
typical model. However, the real question about the adjustment process is the extent to which it provides relief to
those who need it. Equitability is not served if most eligible families are unaware of the opportunity for adjustment or if
those aware of it are thwarted by process. I don't have any answers to this question, but am certainly curious about
what is known and if there are opportunities for improvement.

Equitability also can be judged through comparisons of our rates with those of neighboring communities. The data
available on the web suggest that we are not out of line, and I find that reassuring.

Although the current rate structure may discourage excessive water use and support voluntary conservation, it would
seem to be problematic with respect to revenue in times of drought. Especially when watering restrictions are
mandatory, revenue is likely to fall quite a bit. Consequently stabilizing revenues should be an important
consideration in any changes to the rate structure.

Evaluating alternatives for rate structure will require modeling and other expertise beyond my ability. Fortunately, I
see that the WRAB is about to engage a consultant to do the work. I look forward to seeing the results.

Agenda Item 8C     Page 45

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 211



Questions Regarding Applications:
Boulder City Council

Attention: City Council Support
cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov

303-441-3019

Agenda Item 8C     Page 46

Attachment B- Applications

Packet Page 212

mailto:cityclerkstaff@bouldercolorado.gov


Packet Page 213



Packet Page 214



Work Plan Summaries by Department by Quarter

City Attorney’s Office ‐  Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Cooperative Housing
Code Changes

  Council Study Session  Draft Code changes first
reading

 Finalize code changes   

 Marijuana Code Changes   Council approval of charter
and panel

 Possible first reading of
priority items

 Implement Marijuana
Panel Recommendations

   

 Open Space Land
Transfer Ordinance

  OSBT Hearing

 Introduction and first
reading

 Second reading and
adopting

    

 Election Code Revisions   Introduction and first
reading

 Second reading and
adopting

    

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 1Packet Page 215



Work Plan Summaries by Department by Quarter

City Manager’s Office Resilient Boulder Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 City Resilience Strategy
draft, completion, and roll
out. The City Resilience
Strategy provides a
roadmap for building
resilience in the city. The
strategy should trigger
action, investment, and
support within city
government and from
outside groups. It will be
published in print and
online.

 Contract Graphic
Design

 Contract Printing
Services

 Contract Web design
services

 Community event
support

 Impacts to other
departments include
content
contributions, review
and revisions, and
implementation
activities as
appropriate

 Drafts 1‐3 – content,
graphics, layout,
web design

 Council Study Session
– Big Sort interactive
exercise

 2 large public
workshops in
cooperation with CU

 Resilience metric,
valuation and
scenario planning
methodology
development

Council Study Session  Final strategy approval
and release

 

 Resilience Americorps
community preparedness
volunteer program
development

 Time and
management impacts
primarily to the
Neighborhood
Liaison, Fire/Rescue,
OEM, and climate
commitment



 Project initiation,
foundational
research, project
scoping

 On‐going program
design

 On‐going program
design

 Present project
proposal  to Council

 Recruit year 2
Americorps
volunteers



 Implementation
activities per
proposed program
design

 Implementation
activities per
proposed program
design

 CityLinks – Shimla,
India Climate
Adaptation Exchange
Program

 Project design
alignment with
Climate Commitment
and scenario activity
development

 Draft and finalize
climate impacts on
water sector public
participation
workshop and
supporting science
materials

 Exchange trip

    

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 2Packet Page 216

BurnT1
Highlight



Work Plan Summaries by Department by Quarter

 100 Resilient Cities
programmatic elements,
network contributions, and
partner management

 Multiple resource
contributions via
technical partners to
various departments
including IR, Climate
Commitment, BVCP,
OSMP, Economic
Vitality

 Economic resilience
analysis draft

 BVCP resilience
assessment and
recommended
integration actions

 Community ‘Safe
Haven’ network
design draft

 Urban Forest Canopy
analysis

 Foundational
research on
resilience metric,
valuation, and
scenario planning
methodology

 100RC Network peer
exchange

 100RC technical
partner platform
local showcase and
recruitment event

 Presentation on
resilience metric,
valuation, and
scenario planning
methodology

 Partner alignment
with strategy
initiatives

 Development of
resilience metrics

 Development of
community scenario
planning activities
and exercises

 Partner alignment
with strategy
initiatives

  

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 3Packet Page 217



Communication Department Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Community Newsletter –

The City of Boulder
community newsletter
would be an 8 to 24-page
bimonthly product mailed
to postal route residences
within the city and
additional copies available
in public buildings

 Contract Graphic
Design

 Contract Printing
Services

 Contract Mailing
Services

 Impacts to other
departments include
content contributions
and artwork

 Hire a Communication
Specialist 2 to
implement newsletter

 Hire a contract
graphic designer

 Solicit print bids and
secure printer

 Secure mail house
services

 Design newsletter
templates

 Develop Volume 1‐
issue 1 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐issue 1
 Develop Volume 1‐

issue 2 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐issue 2

 Develop Volume 1‐
issue 3 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐ issue
3 

 Develop Volume 1‐
issue 4 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐issue 4
 Develop Volume 1‐

issue 5 editorial slate,
write content, print
newsletter

 Mail Volume 1‐issue 5

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 1
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 1

 Develop Volume
2‐Issue 2
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 2

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 3
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Assess
Newsletter for
2018 budget
consideration

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 3

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 4
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 4

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 5
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 5

 Develop Volume
2‐issue 6
editorial slate,
write content,
print newsletter

 Mail Volume 2‐
issue 6

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 4Packet Page 218



Community Vitality Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

University Hill Reinvestment Strategy  Planning, Housing & 
Sustainability; Boulder Police 
Department; Library Arts; 
Finance; City Attorney’s Office; 
Public Works 

 RSD evaluation

 Draft transients policy
handout for businesses

 2A‐funded tree irrigation
improvements
implementation

 Coordination of
Hillanthropy cleanup
program

 Engage consultant to
prepare National Register
Historic District Application

 Initiate Hill Employee
EcoPass Program

 Coordinate design of 2A‐ 
funded event street

 Coordinate
recommendation for long‐ 
term Hill governance and
funding

 Prepare funding options for
public improvements

 Draft 2017 HRS Work Plan

 Coordinate with CU to
determine overall
process and schedule

 Compile data & analyze
preliminary options  to
address city goals re: CU
conference center/hotel

 RSD recommendation

 Start enforcement of
commercial bear‐proof can
requirements

 Hillanthropy cleanup of Hill
Commercial Area

 Submit National Register
Historic District application

 Initiate planning process
for Hill Commercial Area
(HCA) façade improvement
program

 Implementation of Hill
Employee EcoPass
Program, cont.

 Coordinate
recommendation for long‐ 
term Hill governance and
funding, cont.

 Present funding options for
public improvements to
Council

 Draft 2017 HRS Budget

 Provide input to CU’s
conference center/hotel
design development
process & explore
possible city investments

 Enforcement of
commercial bear‐proof can
requirements, cont.

 Hillanthropy cleanup of
Residential Service District

 Revise HCA façade
improvement program

 Implementation of Hill
Employee EcoPass
Program, cont.

 Coordinate
recommendation for long‐ 
term Hill governance and
funding, cont.

 Pursue funding options for
public improvements

 Refine & analyze city
investment options
relative to CU
conference center/hotel

 Seek Council direction on
city investment options
relative to CU conference
center/hotel

 Enforcement of
commercial bear‐proof can
requirements, cont.

 Hillanthropy cleanup with
Parks Department

 Implementation of Hill
Employee EcoPass
Program, cont.

 Coordinate
recommendation for long‐ 
term Hill governance and
funding, cont.

 Pursue funding options
for public improvements,
cont.

 Draft Phase Two HRS
Work Plan, 2017‐2019

 Implementation of CU
conference center/hotel
tasks TBD depending on
Council direction and CU’s
issues and schedule

 Work Plan to be
determined in 2016

 Work plan to be
determined  in 2016

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 5Packet Page 219



Access Management and Parking 
Strategy (AMPS) 

Public Works, 
Transportation; Planning, 
Housing + Sustainability; City 
Manager’s Office 

• CAMP: Planning, process
and research on the
Chautauqua Access
Management Plan (CAMP)

• Parking Code: next steps;
data collection

• Civic Area Access/Parking
implementation

• TDM plans for new
development, draft refined
options

• Update downtown (CAGID)
development and
accessprojections including
parking supply/demand and
TDM  strategies

• CAMP: Data collection

• Parking Code: data
collection; analysis;
research coordination with
other initiatives

• Satellite Parking evaluation
of options, including BCH,
outreach

• Civic Area Access/Parking
evaluation

• Pricing (including
fines0: goals, research,
outreach

• TDM plans for new
development, review
options

• Downtown  development
and  access  projections  –
outreach to boards

• AMPS Strategy
Document  outline

• CAMP:  Data
c o l l e c t i o n
a n d
e v a l u a t i o n ,
o u t r e a c h

• NPP: Scope and analysis,
outreach

• Parking Code: Analysis,
data collection, best
practice research, ,
memos; coordination

• Hill Alleys Master Plan
scope and consultant
selection

• Satellite Parking –
develop
recommendations,
outreach

• Civic Area Access/Parking
evaluation

• Pricing: practitioners
panel,  outreach

• TDM plans for new
development: draft
recommendations

• Downtown
development and
access projections
– program
recommendations 

• Car Share: develop
options and draft
recommendations
for pilot  program

• AMPS Strategy
Document
development

• CAMP: Develop scenarios,

outreach

• NPP:  Options
development,
outreach

• Parking Code: study off
street parking regulations;
coordinate with TDM plan
recommendations ,memo
prep, research  new NPP’s;
analysis

• Hill Alleys Master
Plan  – plan
development,
recommendations
, outreach

• Satellite Parking
pilot
implementation

• Pricing: identification
of options, outreach

• Market downtown
parking cash‐out pilot
in conjunction with
EcoPass renewal

• Car Share proposal for 2017
pilot program

• AMPS Strategy Document
draft

• CAMP: evaluate and
select pilot scenario 

• NPP: program
recommendations

• Draft/finalize Parking
Code  and TDM
standards  ordinance,
Strategy Document
evaluation  criteria;
memo prep

• Pricing: Memo prep,
outreach

• Market
downtown
parking cash‐out
pilot in
conjunction with
EcoPass renewal

• Car share pilot
program (if approved)

• Finalize AMPS
Strategy Document

• CAMP: Pilot
implementation 

 Code/TDM: prepare
for 
implementation 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 6Packet Page 220



Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Key 2016 and 2017 Work Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 

to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Legal and regulatory filings  City Attorney’s Office
in lead, support from
Energy Strategy and
Electric Utility
Development

 Prepare for filing of
transfer of assets
supplemental
application, including
negotiations with Xcel
Energy to provide the
city data (the model)

 Preliminary discovery
(Xcel) for Colorado
Public Utilities
Commission  (PUC)
filing of transfer of
assets supplemental
application

 File transfer of assets
supplemental
application with the
Colorado PUC

 Colorado PUC discovery
process, prepare for
PUC hearing and
rebuttal

 Hearing on transfer
of assets application
 PUC decision on the
transfer of assets
 Based on PUC
outcome, update
appraisals and
negotiate with Xcel to
acquire the assets; if
negotiations are not
successful, prepare to
re‐file condemnation
with the Boulder
District Court
 Continue acquisition
process by agreement  or
re‐file condemnation
petition with the Boulder
District Court
 File transition plan with
the PUC

 Condemnation
court  (if necessary)

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 7Packet Page 221



Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development Key 2016 and 2017 Work  Transition work plan 
implementation ‐
including analysis of
information provided
through discovery and
PUC decisions. Key areas
of focus: Information
Technology systems,
Operations and
Maintenance, Customer
Service, Power Supply,
Energy Services, Finance
and Accounting, and
other  support functions

 Energy Strategy and 
Electric Utility 
Development 
Department 

 IT Department

 PW Department

 Utility Billing

 Development
Review

 Planning, Housing +
Sustainability
Department

 Finance Department

 Budget

 Finance

 Accounting

 Purchasing

 Risk Management
 HR Department
 Legal

 Develop 2017 budget 
and financial forecast
 Develop agreement with
Xcel  Energy for discovery
information provided for
PUC filing and to inform
system capital
investment and
operations planning
 Information Technology
Systems: Define scope
and budget of
Information Technology
systems needed for Day
1 operations
 Customer Service:  Initiate
a work plan for  system
modifications to  the
city’s existing customer
billing and  information
system, continued work
on the key account
program, and develop
policies and procedures
to support a  customer
focused  organization
 Operations and
Maintenance: Select
potential vendors for
operations and
maintenance of the
electric system
 Power Supply: Continue
to work with Xcel to
develop terms and
conditions that could
support power supply for
the city
 Energy Services: Continue
development of energy
services for a new utility,
work with  the Energy
Services Working Group
to  assist in this process,
Energy  Services with
existing  Planning,
Housing +  Sustainability
work

 Develop 2017 budget
and financial forecast
 Begin analysis of Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
for PUC filing and to
inform system capital
investment and
operations planning
 Information Technology
Systems: Refine scope
and budget, evaluate
Information Technology
systems  needed for Day
1 
 Customer Service:
Continued work on the 
key account program, 
and refine policies and 
procedures to support 
a customer focused 
organization 
 Operations and
Maintenance: In 
discussions with 
selected vendors for 
operations and 
maintenance of the 
electric system, 
evaluate options and 
refine operations, 
maintenance, 
construction, reliability 
and safety policies, 
procedures, standards 
and requirements   
 Power Supply:
Continue to work with 
Xcel to develop terms 
and conditions that 
could support power 
supply for the city  
 Energy Services:
Continue 
development  and 
implementation of 
interim energy 
services,  coordinated 
with  Planning, 
Housing + 
Sustainability work 

 Continue analysis of Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process
 Information Technology
Systems: Refine scope
and budget, evaluate
Information Technology
systems  needed for Day
1 operations based on
Xcel Energy discovery
information provided
for PUC filing
 Customer Service:  Refine
the work plan  for system
modifications to the
city’s existing  customer
billing and  information
system based on Xcel
Energy discovery
information  provided for
PUC filing,  continued
work on the key account
program, and refine
policies and procedures
to support a  customer
focused  organization
 Operations and
Maintenance: Further
refine scope for vendors
and policies/ procedure
for the utility
 Power Supply: Continue
to work with Xcel to
develop terms and
conditions that could
support power supply  for
the city, evaluate Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process, work
with the Resource
Working Group to
monitor market
conditions, explore
resource opportunities
and review potential
agreements with power
producers

 Continue analysis of  Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process

 Information Technology
Systems: Implement
Information Technology
systems needed for Day 1
operations based on Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process

 Customer Service:
Implement the work  plan
for system modifications to
the  city’s existing customer
billing and information
system based on Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process, continued
work on the key account
program, and refine
policies and procedures to
support  a customer
focused organization

 Operations and
Maintenance: Further
refine scope for vendors
and policies/procedure for
the utility

 Power Supply: Continue  to
work with Xcel to  finalize
terms and  conditions that
could  support power
supply  for the city, evaluate
Xcel Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process, work with
the Resource Working
Group to monitor market
conditions, explore
resource opportunities  and
review potential
agreements with power
producers, develop a
resource modeling tool to
evaluate power supply
options

 Work with Xcel to
negotiate a smooth
transition of  operations
and file  plan with the PUC
 Develop 2018 budget and
financial forecast
 Information Technology
Systems: Continue
implementation of
Information Technology
systems needed for Day 1
operations based on PUC
decision regarding  transfer
of assets,  additional IT
support  staff on‐board to
assist with implementation
 Customer Service:
Implement the work  plan
for system modifications to
the  city’s existing customer
billing and information
system based on Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process,  continued
work on the key account
program, and refine
policies and procedures to
support  a customer
focused organization
 Operations and
Maintenance: Finalize
contract negotiations with
selected vendors and work
with vendors  to define
operations of  the electric
system, evaluate options
and refine operations,
maintenance,  construction,
reliability  and safety
policies,  procedures,
standards  and
requirements based on
based on PUC decision
regarding  transfer of assets
 Power Supply: Finalize
terms and conditions  for
power supply for  the city
based on PUC decision
regarding  transfer of assets

 Information
Technology
Systems: Continue
implementation of
Information
Technology systems
needed for Day 1
operations
 Customer Service:
Implement the work
plan for system
modifications to the
city’s existing
customer billing and
information  system
based on PUC
decision regarding
transfer of assets,
Operations and
Maintenance:
Continue to work with
selected vendors to
define operations of
the electric system,
evaluate options and
refine operations,
maintenance,
construction,
reliability  and safety
policies,  procedures,
standards  and
requirements
 Power Supply:
Continue to work
with  Xcel to support
power supply for the
city and  coordinate a
power delivery
schedule and
ancillary services,
work with the
Resource Working
Group to monitor
market conditions,
explore resource
opportunities and
review potential
agreements with
power producers

8Packet Page 222



 Finance and Accounting:
Continue development
of the cash flow and
budget model, explore
methodologies for
designing rates for a new
utility with the Rates
Working Group
 Ongoing work with risk
management, safety,
finance, accounting, and
human resources to
identify needs and
resources to support an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies and procedures

 Finance and
Accounting:
Refinement of the cash
flow and budget
model,  continue to
explore methodologies
for designing rates for
a new utility with the
Rates Working Group,
begin to develop utility
chart of accounts for
tracking and reporting
 Ongoing work with  risk
management,  safety,
finance,  accounting,
and human resources
to  identify needs and
resources to support  an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies  and procedures

 Energy Services:
Continue development
of energy services for a
new utility, work with
the Energy Services
Working Group to assist
in this process,
coordinate Energy
Services with existing
Planning, Housing +
Sustainability work
 Finance and
Accounting: Use cash
flow model to  refine
cost estimates  based
on Xcel Energy
discovery information
provided through PUC
transfer of assets
process, continue to
explore methodologies
for designing rates for a
new utility with the
Rates Working Group,
continue to develop
utility chart of accounts
for tracking and
reporting
 Ongoing work with risk
management, safety,
finance, accounting, and
human resources to
identify needs and
resources to support an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies and procedures
as informed by Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process

incorporating 
renewable resources 
and carbon reduction 
 Energy Services:
Continue development
of energy services for a
new utility, work with
the Energy Services
Working Group to assist
in this process,
coordinate Energy
Services with existing
Planning, Housing +
Sustainability work
 Finance and
Accounting: Use cash
flow model to  refine
cost estimates  based
on Xcel Energy
discovery information
provided through PUC
transfer of  assets
process, continue to
explore methodologies
for designing rates for a
new utility with the
Rates Working Group,
continue to develop
utility chart of accounts
for tracking and
reporting
 Ongoing work with risk
management, safety,
finance, accounting,
and human resources
to identify needs and
resources to support an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies and procedures
as informed by Xcel
Energy discovery
information provided
through PUC transfer of
assets process

 Energy Services:
Finalize energy services
including costs,
implementation plans,
rate structures, and
measurement and
verification guidelines,
continue work with
working group and
coordinate efforts with
the Rate Working
Group
 Finance and
Accounting: Use cash
flow model to refine
cost estimates based on
PUC decision regarding
transfer of assets,
finalize rates for a new
utility with the Rates
Working Group
 Ongoing work with risk
management, safety,
finance, accounting,
and human resources
to identify needs and
resources to support an
electric utility,
development of  safety
and risk management
policies and procedures
based on PUC decision
regarding transfer of
assets, hire key
positions  including
chief  engineer and
energy financial and
regulatory analyst

 Energy Services:
Finalize energy
services including
costs, implementation
plans, rate structures,
and measurement and
verification guidelines.
Continue work with
working group and
coordinate efforts
with rate working
group
 Finance and
Accounting: Use cash
flow model to refine
cost estimates, work
on financing of
transition efforts and
acquisition, potential
debt issue to finance
utility
 Ongoing work with
risk management,
safety,  finance,
accounting, and
human resources  to
identify needs and
resources to support
an electric utility,
development of
safety and risk
management policies
and procedures, hire
key positions
including customer
service manager, and
energy resource
specialist
 Governance: potential
appointment of utility
advisory board

9Packet Page 223



 Resilient Energy –
Resilient Electricity
Delivery  Infrastructure
(REDI) DOE Grant

 Energy Policy
Reform Coalition

 Solar Development

 City Manager’s
Office

 Planning, Housing +
Sustainability

 Public Works

 Utilities

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE Grant:
Refine scope

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Focus on
recruiting coalition
members to Colorado
Communities for Climate
Action (CC4CA), begin
formulating policy
agenda for regulatory
and  legislative changes
that  support reducing
emissions and climate
initiatives

 Solar Development:
Begin development of a
comprehensive solar
strategy, evaluation of
potential solar garden
opportunities, other
recommendations from
the Solar Working Group

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Continue to
refine scope, issue
an RFP and hire
contractor

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Develop RFP
and hire lobbying firm
to represent CC4CA at
state capital, continue
development of policy
agenda

 Solar Development:
Continue
development of solar
strategy, evaluation
of potential  solar
garden
opportunities,
evaluate other
recommendations
from the Solar
Working Group

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Project
Implementation

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Develop RFP
for firm to represent
CC4CA at PUC and other
regulatory bodies, work
with legislators between
sessions to develop
name recognition

 Solar Development:
Continue development
of solar strategy,
evaluation of potential
solar garden
opportunities, evaluate
other
recommendations from
the Solar Working
Group

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Project
Implementation

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Engage in key
legislative and
regulatory proceedings
concurrent with mission

 Solar Development:
Finalize solar strategy,
align targets with
Climate Commitment
Goals, implement
recommendations from
the Solar Working
Group

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Project
Implementation

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Ongoing work
at the local and state
level for regulatory and
legislative changes that
support reducing
emissions, local
decision making and a
new energy future

 Solar Development:
Work with the Solar
Working Group to
develop solar projects
and generation
strategies to further
expand solar in the city

 Resilient Energy
Infrastructure DOE
Grant: Project
Implementation

 Energy Policy Reform
Coalition: Ongoing
work at the local and
state level for
regulatory and
legislative changes
that support reducing
emissions, local
decision making and a
new energy future

 Solar Development:
Work with the Solar
Working Group to
develop solar
projects  and
generation
strategies to
further expand
solar in the city

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 10Packet Page 224



Finance Key  2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts to 
other 

depts.

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Annual  Budget Process  Finance in collaboration with all city 
departments update Council regarding 
how previous year finished; serves as 
early warning if there are economic red 
flags or new concerns 

 Supplementary
Appropriations
(Adjustments to Base)

 Strategic Planning for
financial operations and
capital

 Supplementary
Appropriations
(Adjustments to Base)

 Strategic Planning

 Budget Development

 CIP Development,
Preparation and Review

 Strategic Planning

 Budget Development,
Preparation and Review

 CIP Review

 Study Session on the
budget

 Budget Review and
Adoption

 Adjustments to Base

 Strategic Planning

 Adjustments to Base

 Strategic Planning

 Adjustments to Base

 Strategic Planning

 Budget Development

 CIP Development,
Preparation and
Review

 Strategic Planning

 Budget
Development,
Preparation and
Review

 CIP Review

 Budget Review and
Adoption

 Adjustments to Base

 Strategic Planning

Ballot Items  CMO/CAO/Finance/Communications/City 
Clerk’s office, and Departments gather 
ballot items 

 Gathering information
and background on
potential ballot items for
the city and what other
governmental entities
may bring forward in
November

 May study session and
council meeting on
potential ballot items.

 Final ballot items have to
be passed by council by
last meeting in August to
meet County deadlines

 Ballot questions are
voted on first Tuesday in
November.

 Gathering
information on
potential ballot items

 May study session
and council meeting
on potential ballot
items.

 Final ballot items
have to be passed by
council by last
meeting in August to
meet County
deadlines

 Ballot questions are
voted on first
Tuesday in
November

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 11Packet Page 225



Fire Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department Resource 
needs and impacts  to other 

depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Fire Station
Relocation  Project

 Fire
 FAM
 Purchasing
 Finance
 Public Works

 Legal
 CMO

 Property Search  Property

search

 Develop

funding

strategy

 Property

search

 Develop funding

strategy

 Property search

 Develop funding strategy

 Confidential memo to

council

 Emergency Medical Services  Fire
 Police
 Purchasing
 Legal
 CMO
 Information Resources

 EMS service
delivery  report
preparation

 EMS service delivery
report preparation

 EMS service delivery
report preparation

 Bid evaluations and
award for medical
direction and
ambulance services

 Solicitations for
medical direction and
ambulance service

 Presentation to
council

 Draft plan for EMS
delivery

 Complete
Ambulance
specifications

 Negotiations
with  Local 900

 EMS delivery IP to
city manager and
city  council

 RFP development
for box   t ype
ambulance

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 12Packet Page 226



Human Services Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Human Services Strategy 
Update  and Adoption 

 Communications, Police,
Parks and Recreation,
Library, Planning, Housing,
Transportation, FAM/PW,
Budget/Finance

 Library Commission,
Human Relations
Commission, Parks and
Recreation  Advisory Board,
Immigrant Advisory
Committee, Youth
Opportunity Advisory
Board,  Human Services
Fund Advisory Committee

 Civic Area Plan staff
coordination

 Resilience Strategy
coordination

 Community Engagement
 Community Funding

Options Development
 Assess partnerships

 Community engagement
 Development of

community funding and
direct services options

 Internal and external
partnerships assessments
and projects

 Community engagement
 Budget, Capital Program
 Development of

community funding and
direct services options

 Internal and external
partnerships assessments
and projects

 Draft strategy
 Strategy adoption
 Organizational Strategy
 Implementation Plan

 Implementation
 Metrics and evaluation

plan

 Implementation
 Metrics and evaluation

Homelessness Strategy 
and Action Plan Adoption 

 Communications, Police,
Municipal Court, Parks and
Recreation, Library

 Library Commission,
Human Relations
Commission,  Immigrant
Advisory Committee

 Community Engagement
 Homelessness Action

Plan Project
Implementation

 Community Engagement
 Portland/Eugene Trip
 New projects ‐ TBD

 Community
Engagement

 Draft Strategy

 Strategy adoption
(PH)

 Continued
implementation of
Action Plan

 Homelessness Action
Plan Projects
Implementation

 Homelessness Action
Plan Projects
Implementation

Options to Expand Living 
Wage Resolution 926 
Council  Consideration 

 HR, CAO, Finance, FAM
 Human Relations

Commission

 Analysis of
recommendations

 City Council: Feb. –
Options  to  Expand
Resolution 926

 Analysis of Council
direction

 Development of
options

 City Council: June
update on analysis
and direction

 TBD‐ Analysis of  Council
recommendations  as
part of 2017 budget

 Final adoption of Living

Wage changes

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 13Packet Page 227



Human Services Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items (page 2) 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Safe + Welcoming Community   City Manager ‘s Office,
Police Dept, Human
Relations Commission,
CAO

 HRC Meetings (3)
 Report to City Council on

Independent Analysis of
Police Data and Review
of Professional Police
Complaint Processes

 Community Perceptions
Survey contract
development

 Survey implementation

 Report to City Council on
results of Community
Perceptions Survey

 HRC Work Plan
Recommendations to
Council

 HS Work Plan and
Strategy
recommendations

 Adoption of strategy
 Implementation of work

plan

 Implementation of work
plan

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 14Packet Page 228



Information Technology  Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Community Broadband
and Wi‐Fi Initiatives

  Continue consultant‐ 
assisted needs assessment

 Wrap up needs
assessment

 Present findings and
recommendations

 TBD – dependent on
outcome of council review
of findings and
recommendations

 TBD – dependent on
outcome of council
review of findings and
recommendations

 TBD – dependent on
outcome of council
review of findings and
recommendations

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 15Packet Page 229



 

 

 

Library Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Library Master Plan Update – 
This  includes: 
 A needs assessment 
 A robust community 

engagement process 
 Update of the library’s 

mission, vision, and guiding 
principles for decision 
making 

 Development and financial 
analysis of service delivery 
model options 

 Development of 
performance measures and 
service standards 

 An action plan and 
implementation strategy 

 Consultants and a 
professional 
facilitator will be 
engaged for parts of 
the project 

 The project manager 
will consult colleagues 
in Parks and Rec, 
Human Services, 
Planning and Public 
Works on project 
process development. 

 Members of the City 
Managers and Budget 
Teams will serve on 
the staff Technical 
Advisory Group 

 The Library’s 
Communications 
Specialist III will assist 
with public 
information & 
document review 

 The Library’s Budget 
Analyst will assist 
with the financial 
analysis & budget 
planning 

 Selected M‐Team 
members will be 
asked to review the 
final draft plan & 
offer constructive 
feedback on 
presentations to 
Planning Board and 
City Council 

 Facilities and Asset 
Management will be 
consulted on the 
aspects of the plan 
that address capital 
and facilities 
maintenance. 

 Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings   

 Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings   
 

 Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings   
Communications 
support for 
outreach, education, 
& promotion kick off 

 Technical Advisory 
Committee meetings   

 Communications 
support for public 
information for 
community 
engagement process 
including surveys 

 December City 
Council Study Session 
– Communications & 
M‐Team support 

 Technical Advisory 
Committee 
meetings (up to 24) 

 Communications 
support for public 
information for 
community 
engagement process 

 Budget Analyst 
support for financial 
analysis 

 Consult with 
Facilities and Asset 
Management on the 
aspects of the plan 
that address capital 
and facilities 
maintenance. 

 Technical
Advisory 
Committee 
meetings  

 July Planning 
Board 
Presentation ‐ 
Communications 
& M‐Team 
support 

 October City 
Council Final 
Presentation & 
Plan adoption – 
Communications 
& M‐Team 
support 

 Budget Analyst 
support for 2018 
budget and 
Capital 
Development 
Program 
planning 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 16Packet Page 230



Work Plan Summaries by Department by Quarter

Library Arts Key 2016 and 2017 Work 

 

 

 
Work Plan Item 

and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 Public Art Policy 
Drafting and operation of a new 
policy to govern municipal 
commissioning, maintenance and 
legacy of public art. 

 Consultation with Boards 
& Commissions including 
the BAC, BDAB, Boulder 
Junction, Downtown, 
Landmarks, Library, PRAB, 
Planning, Transportation, 
and Univ. Hill Boards and 
Commissions. 

 Consultation on legal and 
budget matters. 

 Consultation with staff 
across city agencies. 

 Once adopted, the 
program will require the 
investment of staff from 
the P&R, Planning, 
Transportation, 
Community Vitality, Public 
Works, FAM, and other 
agencies as a team to 
support Office of Arts + 
Culture staff on all steps in 
the public art process. 

 Drafting, vetting, and 
adopting the Public Art 
Policy 

 Installations for 
Experiments in Public Art 
begin. 

 Other commissioning and 
maintenance projects 
continue. 

 Inquiry for the Public Art 
Policy drafting. 

 Drafting, vetting, and 
adopting the Public Art 
Implementation Plans. 

 Commissioning begins for 
new projects. 

 New maintenance 
projects begin. 

 Events to launch the 
Public Art program. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions begins. 

 Commissioning continues 
for new projects. 

 Continuing events to 
launch the public art 
program. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions continues. 

 Investigation of sustainable 
funding for Public Art 
begins. 

 Commissioning continues 
for new projects. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions continues. 

 Annual Report. 

 Options for 
sustainable public art 
funding developed 
and vetted. 

 Commissioning 
continues for new 
projects. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions 
continues. 

 Proposal for 
sustainable funding 
finalized. 

 Language for new 
rules, policies, 
procedures or 
ordinances finalized. 

 Community 
engagement on 
sustainable funding. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions 
continues. 

 Adoption of new 
rules, policies, 
procedures or 
ordinances. 

 Budget integration. 
 Commissioning 

continues for new 
projects. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions 
continues. 

 Preparations for 
implementation of 
sustainable funding in 
Q1 2018. 

 Commissioning 
continues for new 
projects. 

 A public vote may be 
required in the Nov 
election. 

 Public Inquiry for new 
commissions 
continues. 

 Annual Report. 

 Policy on Murals and Art in 
Public Places 
A guidance document to align 
city staff for the encouragement 
of the commissioning of artworks 
for the public by private 
individuals, businesses, 
developers, and others. 

 Consultation with Boards 
& Commissions including 
the BAC, BDAB, 
Landmarks, PRAB, 
Planning, and 
Transportation Boards and 
Commissions. 

 Consultation on legal and 
budget matters. 

 Consultation with staff 
across city agencies. 

 Once adopted, the 
program will require the 
investment of staff from 
the Planning and Public 
Works departments. 

   Drafting and vetting of the
Murals and Art in Public 
Places Policy. 

 Inquiry for the draft policy. 

 Policy Adoption   Public communication. 
 Annual Report. 

   

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 17Packet Page 231



 New Cultural Grants Program
A new series of grants for cultural
organizations, arts education,
and creative professionals.

 Facilitation of the process
with the Boulder Arts
Commission is required.

 Consultation with staff in
the Economic Vitality
office will enhance the
program.

 Deadline for Operational
Grants.

 Deadline for Community
Projects and Arts Ed.
Grants.

 Launch of Professional
Development Scholarships.

 Launch of Macky Rental
Grants.

 Launch of Innovation Fund.
 Second 2016 Grants

Workshop.

 Deadline for Innovation
Fund.

 Ongoing evaluation and
inquiry with grant
recipients.

 Design of 2017 Grants
Program begins.

 Ongoing evaluation and
inquiry with grant
recipients.

 Design of 2017 Grants
Program continues.

 Ongoing evaluation and
inquiry with grant
recipients.

 Operational Grant
Reporting.

 Launch of 2017 All Grants.

 2017 Grants Workshop.
 Annual Report.

 Recertification of
Operational Grants.

 Deadline for
Community Projects
Grants.

 Deadline for Art
Education Grants.

 Ongoing evaluation
and inquiry with grant
recipients.

 Deadline for
Innovation Fund.

 Operational Grant
Reporting.

 Ongoing evaluation
and inquiry with grant
recipients.

 Design of 2018 Grants
Program begins.

 Design of 2018
Grants Program
continues.

 Ongoing evaluation
and inquiry with
grant recipients.

 Operational Grant
Reporting.

 Launch of All 2018
Grants.

 2018 Grants
Workshop.

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 18Packet Page 232



 

 

 

Open Space and Mountain Parks:  Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

 

1st quarter 2016 

 

2nd quarter 2016 

 

3rd quarter 2016 

 

4th quarter 2016 

 

1st  half 2017 

 

2nd  half 2017 

 North TSA Plan 
The North TSA plan sets the 
community vision for 7,700 acres of 
OSMP‐managed lands north of 
Linden Avenue and the Diagonal 
Highway. The plan seeks to improve 
visitor experiences and increase the 
sustainability of trails and trailheads 
while conserving and restoring the      
area’s natural, cultural and 
agricultural resources. 

 OSMP 
 Operating 

Costs: 2016: 
$25,000 2017: 
$10,000 

 Capital Costs: 
2016: 
$100,000 
2017: 
$200,000 

 CAO 

 Draft plan document 

 Recommendation that 
Open Space Board of 
Trustees approve and 
recommend City Council 
acceptance 

 City Council review of 
and acceptance of North 
TSA plan. 

 Integration with 2016 
work plan (early 
implementation actions) 

 Integration with 2017 
operating budget 

 Integration with 2017‐ 
2022 CIP and 

 Integration with 2016 
work plan (early 
implementation actions) 

 Integration with 2017 
operating budget 

 Integration with 2017‐ 
2022 CIP 

 Implementation of 
priority plan actions 
(specific actions 
dependent upon 
timing of plan 
acceptance and 
content of accepted 
plan) 

 Implementation of 
priority plan actions 
(specific actions 
dependent upon 
timing of plan 
acceptance and 
content of accepted 
plan) 

 Agricultural 
Resources 
Management Plan 

 

The OSMP “Ag Plan” provides the 
framework for OSMP actions to 
ensure  the long‐term sustainability 
of  agricultural operations, the 
ecological health of OSMP lands, 
and for fostering community 
connections with  local agriculture 
systems. 

 OSMP 
 Operating 

Costs: 2016: 
$5,000 2017: 
$5,000 

 Capital Costs: 
2016: $  
60,000 2017: 
$170,000 

 Plan element 
development 

o Evaluate alternative 
lease rate polices & 
financing structures 

o Develop monitoring 
protocols 

o ID and prioritize 
infrastructure 
improvements 

o Evaluation of 
community 
farming 
  

 Develop Draft Plan 
  Create Plan 
Outline and 
internal review of 
chapters 

 Create content 
including overview 
and strategies 

 Draft Internal 
Review Plan 
Document 

 Internal review 
 Draft Public 
Review Plan 
Document 

 Public Review 
Develop OSBT draft Plan 
Document for July or Aug 
meeting 

 Staff recommendation to 
OSBT to approve plan 
and recommend 
acceptance by  City 
Council 

 Oct:  2hrs 
Recommendation to City 
Council to accept plan 
Nov: 1 hr 

 Integration with 2017 
operating budget 

 Integration with 2017‐ 
2022 CIP 

 Implementation of 
priority plan actions 
(specific actions 
dependent upon timing 
of plan acceptance and 
content of accepted 
plan) 

 Implementation of 
priority plan actions 
(specific actions 
dependent upon timing 
of plan acceptance and 
content of accepted 
plan) 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 19Packet Page 233



 Visitor Master Plan
Update /  OSMP
Master Plan

The Open Space and Mountain 
Parks (OSMP) Visitor Master Plan 
(VMP) was accepted by City Council 
in 2005 with a 10‐year planning 
horizon. The new Master Plan will 
include updating/refreshing the 
Visitor Master Plan component and 
also will take a comprehensive look 
at delivering on all chartered 
purposes for the OSMP system 
including inventory and analysis, 
evaluation of options and the 
development of policy and 
strategic direction to guide the 
department for the next ten years. 
The planning process will also 
consider City Council identified 
priorities from previous retreats,  
including incorporating overarching 
issues (carrying capacity, night‐time 
use, temporal use, etc) and climate 
change/adaptation. 

 OSMP
 Operating Costs:

2016: none
2017: none

 Capital Costs:
2016: $252,000
2017: $200,000

 2018: $100,000
 2019: $100,000

OSMP Leadership team will 
work across department 
divisions and with 
representation from across 
the city to discuss plan at 
periodic meetings.  
Additional  consultation likely 
with Parks  and Recreation, 
Transportation, Greenways 
and Housing. 

 Background Information
Gathering

 Begin inventory and

analysis

 Identify inventory

gaps and needs

 Continue inventory,

surveying and analysis

 Compile inventory

information into

dataset with prioritized

critical needs

 Continue Inventory,

Compilation and Analysis

 Begin

development of

MP scope, budget

and schedule for

plan

 Begin

development of

community

engagement plan

 Develop initial

staff and partner

project team

formation

 Release initial findings

from inventory and

analysis in terms of

portfolio document for

OBST, Council and

Public

 Finalize MP

scope, budget

and schedule for

plan

 Finalize

community

engagement

plan

 Finalize staff

and partner

project team

formation

 OSBT Study Session

on  scope

 City Council

study  session on

scope

 Develop
community
outreach
schedule
beginning 3rd Qtr
17.

 Prepare for community
listening sessions
beginning in 3rd Qtr 17,
send out notifications

 Seek review/feedback

 Ask for partner input on
engagement with city
department, other
government originations,
non‐profits, and CBO’s

 Develop initial
needs,
opportunities and
benefits analysis
in geographic
focus areas

 Public hearing with
OSBT.

 Study session with or IP
for City Council.

 Develop project
management plan for
MP and community
engagement

Project   continues 
into 2018 
 Complete plan during 
2019

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 20Packet Page 234



 

 

 

Parks and Recreation Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 
 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts to 
other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Boulder Urban Forestry Master 
Plan ‐ In 2015, the Parks and 
Recreation Department (Forestry 
Group) presented to Council a 
proposed strategy to address the 
on‐going Emerald Ash Borer 
infestation anticipated to affect 
roughly 11% of Boulder’s urban 
tree canopy over the next 
decade.  As supported by Council 
(September 8, 2015), the strategy 
called for a series of efforts aiding 
in long‐term tree care, directed 
treatment standards for public 
trees, community education 
initiatives, aggressive tree 
planting and the development of 
a comprehensive Urban Forestry 
Master Plan which would aid in 
the sustainability of Boulder’s the 
urban tree canopy.  The 
development of that Master Plan 
is the addressed in this project 
scope. 
 

Comprehensive Master Plan 
document contributing to the 
sustainability of Boulder’s urban 
tree canopy.  Plan will include 
and address: 

 Establishment of a 
baseline figure for urban 
tree canopy and long 
term canopy goals; 

 Tree diversification goals; 

 Urban heat island 
mitigation; 

 Prioritization of tree 
planting activities; 

 Pesticide use guidelines 
for public trees; 

 Appropriate pesticide use 
guidelines for private 
property owners treating 
public street trees; 

 Placement and selection 
of tree species that are 

Key work items include Plan Scope 
Definition, RFP for related Plan 
Development and Outreach, Contract 
for Services, Facilitated Community 
Outreach Sessions and Mechanisms 
including but not limited web and print 
materials, PRAB presentation and 
Council update.  Project can launch and 
continue within the approved 2016 
budget and should be concluded within 
the year.  Launch of contract cannot 
proceed without purchasing approval. 
Contract for services will be vetted by 
CAO.  Other Parks & Recreation work 
(including that of the Forestry group) 
will not largely be affected by the 
launch of this project except that the 
Forestry Manager must devote time to 
development of the scope and 
monitoring of the consulting services 
throughout the year. 

 Scope 
proposal/definition 

 Development of 
potential 
contractor’s list 

 Prep of RFP (with 
Purchasing) 

 RFP Issuance and 
selection of 
consultant 

 Update website  to 
announce scope of 
project 

 Submit 
application for 
grant to 
supplement 
outreach/engage
ment and 
planning efforts. 

 Coordination with 
Community Building 
Plan (tree plantings) 

 PRAB presentation 
(public meeting) 

 PRAB Update 
Presentation (45 
minutes) 

 Preparation for 
Council Memo 

 Website Update with 
potential social 
media feedback 
option 

 Consulting services 
and development of 
the plan 

 Documenting 
recommendations 
and strategies 

 Development of 
summary (primary 
findings and plans) 

 Community updates, 
input sessions 

 CU or other entity 
involvement 

 

 Communications 
update 

 Regular updates via 
social media and web 

 Exploration of 
discount program 

 n/a   n/a 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 21Packet Page 235



compatible with 
optimizing rooftop solar 
capture capacity; 

 Coordination with
vegetation management
for potential
municipalization of the
electric utility;

 Public outreach and
education regarding the
benefits of the urban
canopy; and

 Reforestation of creek
corridors with native
species.

Capital Project Activity ‐ The 
department master plan and 
community input identified the 
need to keep existing assets at a 
high quality while also providing 
for enhanced and new recreation 
facilities and parks to meet the 
growing needs of the community. 
With the adoption of Asset 
Management best practices the 
department is working to develop 
a capital investment strategy plan 
that will reinvest in existing 
critical assets while developing 
new facilities and services within 
a sustainable framework. 

The Capital Investment Strategy 
will provide a development 
framework plan with specific, 
implementable urban park design 
and development 
recommendations for the 
enhancement of Boulder’s urban 
park system. The strategy will 
address the need to investment 
up to 40 million in existing assets 
as well as $24 million in critical 
aging infrastructure as well as the 
desire to invest up to $50 million 
in enhanced and new facilities as 
identified in the department’s 
Master Plan over the next ten 
years. The plan identifies three 
investment scenarios that follow 
the master plan framework of 
fiscally constrained, action plan 

The development of a data driven 
capital investment strategy requires 
that the asset management best 
practices are implemented on existing 
assets to allow for accurate and data 
driven decisions on what assets are 
most critical to the system and which 
assets may be removed from the 
inventory to address limited financial 
resources. In addition the investment 
strategy relies on a variety of site plans 
and studies that identify upgrades and 
new facilities including the master plan, 
Valmont City Park, Reservoir Master 
Plan, urban forest management plan, 
the aquatics facility study as well as 
plans for Scott Carpenter, Mapleton, 
Tom Watson and the recreation facility 
condition report. Finally to be 
successful the department’s capital 
investment plan must align with overall 
city goals for enhanced capital spending 
to allocate limited resources to those 
city wide services that are most critical 
to the community. This process should 
be coordinated with the larger CIP 
effort. 

 Draft CIS report
 Internal staff review
 PRAB meetings – 4

hours
 PRAB review and

recommendations
on the CIP

 Final CIS report
 manager position
 Planning Board

meeting 2 hours
 Planning Board

review and
recommendation of
CIP

 BVSD Joint Use
Agreement

 

 Implementation
strategy

 Council meetings  4
hours as part of CIP
budget

 Council acceptance
of CIP through the
budget process

 Council study session
and budget meetings

 Hire capital
investment planning
support  as part of
asset

 Review and revisions
as required to CIS
report

 Meetings with
stakeholders and
potential donors

 Develop Funding
Strategy

 Implement
funding strategy
for key projects

 Community
Survey  and
outreach

 Continued
partnership
development

 PRAB
 Planning Board
 Council Study

Session

 Implement
 Implement –

possible  city
wide bond

 Partnership
development

 Partnership
development

 Council CIP

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 22Packet Page 236



 

 

 

and vision plan.               

Commercial Use of Public Space ‐ 
Consistent with examination of 
the Civic Area’s potential and the 
City’s continuing evolution of 
Special Events policies, the 
department will explore policies 
and practices related to 
commercial use of public spaces, 
including those efforts that 
support the local economy and 
the vibrancy of our communities. 
This will include examination of 
policies, practices, permitting and 
pricing related to in‐park 
concessions, ticketed‐gated 
activity, facility rental and the 
appropriate balance of protected 
general public use and city park 
infrastructure. 

 
By the end of the Q3 (2016), 
develop policies and practices 
that clearly establish the 
department’s approach to the 
commercial use of public spaces. 

 In response to the evolution of 
the Civic Area and in 
anticipation of changes 
necessary to sustainably and 
responsibly operate the City’s 
Parks and Recreation venues, 
the department will evaluate 
practices concerning: 

 
o Commercial vending 
o Ticketed‐gated activity 
o Public private 

partnerships 

 Review and analysis of 
existing policies and 
industry best practices 

 Community 
engagement and 
outreach to 
stakeholders 

 Hold meeting, round 
tables, focus groups 
with stakeholders 
including DBI, 
Farmers Market, 
concessionaires, and 
existing commercial 
use permit holder 
(15‐20 hours) 

    Present policies and 
practices to Parks 
and Recreation 
Advisory Board 
(PRAB) 

 Public hearing at 
September 26, 2016 
PRAB meeting 

 n/a   n/a 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 23Packet Page 237



Community Building and 
Partnerships ‐ The parks and 
recreation department will 
continue to foster community 
building and pursue/enhance 
partnerships critical to our 
sustainable provision of quality 
spaces and programming meeting 
the community’s needs for 
recreation and respite.  Included 
in this work will be successful 
conclusion of our department’s 
negotiations with the Boulder 
Valley School District defining the 
joint use of facilities/amenities 

This work is interrelated to almost all 
projects in the department in order to 
identify scope of need and areas of 
opportunity.  Internal sponsor and 
donor recognition guidelines need to 
first be established to ensure consistent 
and appropriate action. 

Through the implementation of the 
departments Service Design and 
Delivery Model, partnership building 
will focus on mutually beneficial, 
mission focused and connection of 
guiding principles as demonstrated in 
parks, facilities, and programs.  By 

 Review/recommend
changes to
sponsorship/donor
recognition
policy/practice

 Review, renew,
discontinue 2015
program partnerships
through evaluation and
service delivery initiatives

 Grant and sponsorship
solicitation

 Activate ongoing
community program
volunteers

 Pursue partnership
opportunities for
identified capital projects
and programming needs

 Identify and evaluate
2016 program
partnership contractual
scope of works

 Implementation of
service partnership

 Grant and sponsorship
solicitation

 RFP Issuance (concessions
@ Golf and Res)

 Pursue partnership
opportunities for
identified capital projects
and programming needs

 Evaluate JUA between
COB and BVSD

 10‐15 pre‐planned
community volunteer
events (tree plantings,
clean ups, park
constructions); 3hr/event

 Grant and sponsorship
solicitation

 Pursue partnership
opportunities for
identified capital projects
and programming needs

 Final evaluation of
program partnerships
from 2016 performance

 Finalize program
partnership agreements
for 2017

 Evaluate JUA between COB
and BVSD

 Issue calendar of
2017 BPR Community
Building Events

 Capital Project
opportunities list
finalized

 Develop 2017 pre‐ 
planned volunteer
events and ongoing
programs

 2‐3 outreach
meetings re. park
renovations; 2‐3 hrs

 Volunteer
Appreciation event;

 Grant and
sponsorship
solicitation

 Pursue partnership
opportunities for
identified capital
projects and
programming needs

 5 pre‐planned
community volunteer
events (tree
plantings, clean ups,
park openings);
3hr/event

 3 department hosted

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 24Packet Page 238



owned by each organization.  We 
will also explore the impact of 
existing programming 
partnerships (dance, tennis, 
biking instruction and community 
gardening, for example) and 
evaluate the viability of 
partnerships to support expanded 
service reach to the underserved 
and contributions to parks and 
recreation capital improvements. 
OUTCOMES: Through strategic 
development of public‐public or 
public‐private partnerships, the 
parks and recreation department 
will be able to leverage its 
resources to increase the service 
reach, programming impact and 
sustainability of public amenities. 
The creation of more strategic 
and meaningful volunteer 
opportunities and events will 
encourage a culture of 
stewardship and leadership in the 
Boulder community. 

The department is 
focused on Master Plan 
recommendations to shift 
the practices that 
facilitates the delivery of 
high‐quality programs 
with community partners 
where most effective and 
limits the direct delivery 
of programs to those that 
align with the highest 
community values. 

considering each individual service’s 
alignment with mission; financial 
viability; market position; and the 
competitors that provide a similar 
service, the department will begin to 
identify those services that organization 
should be in the business of providing 
and how best to provide those services 
effectively and efficiently. 
Collaborative partnerships are 
opportunities to eliminate unnecessary 
duplication of service while providing 
for efficient and effective utilization of 
recourses. 

 Volunteer team
restructure and new hire

 Grant and sponsorship
solicitation

 Solidify urban forest
outreach strategy for
2016 

 Issue calendar of 2016
BPR Community Building
Events

 Capital Project
opportunities list finalized

 2‐3 outreach meetings re.
park renovations; 2‐3 hrs
Volunteer Appreciation
event; 3‐4 hrs

orientations 

 Issue calendar of
partnership milestone
dates

 Identify 2017 partnership
RFP processes

 Evaluate JUA between
COB and BVSD

 3 department hosted
community events; 3‐
5hr/event (Creek Fest –
multiday)

 Donor/sponsor
recognition policy to
PRAB; April, 5 hrs

 Public private partnership
opportunity listening
sessions re. concessions
at Golf Course, Res., Civic
Area

 Host 2 PPP listening
session; 4 hrs total




 Roll out urban forest
outreach program;
ongoing

 5 pre‐planned community
volunteer events (tree
plantings, clean ups, park
openings); 3hr/event

 3  department  hosted
community events; 3‐
5hr/event

 Ongoing volunteer
projects

 PPP PRAB review and
liaison selection



  Implementation of
JUA  between COB 
and BVSD 

3‐4 hrs 

 Grant and
sponsorship
solicitation

 Activate ongoing
community program
volunteers

 Pursue partnership
opportunities for
identified capital
projects and
programming needs

 3  department  hosted
community events; 3‐
5hr/event
10‐15 pre‐planned
community volunteer
events (tree
plantings, clean ups,
park constructions);
3hr/event

community events; 3‐ 
5hr/event 

 Ongoing volunteer
projects

 5 pre‐planned
community volunteer
events (tree
plantings, clean ups,
park openings);
3hr/event

 3  department  hosted
community events; 3‐
5hr/event

 Ongoing volunteer
projects

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 25Packet Page 239



Planning, Housing and Sustainability Key 2016 Work Planning, Housing and Sustainability Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 
to other dept.s 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Comprehensive Plan – This 
includes four major work tracks, 
plus renewal of the city/county 
Intergovernmental Agreement 
(IGA). Tracks include: 

 Areas of Focus (i.e., core
values, resilience/climate,
jobs/housing balance,
affordable housing including
middle income, built
environment, subcommunity/
neighborhood issues, BCH
coordination, CU South
suitability analysis).

 Plan Policy Integration

 Plan “clean up” and
organization

 Public change request analysis

 PH+S comprehensive  planning
team  leads

 Major citywide
Interdepartmental effort,
including necessary
communications support and
CAO from time to time.

 Will need consultants for
technical analysis, survey work
and community engagement
support

 Significant coordination with
Housing Boulder and BCH Site
Planning efforts

 Jan. 5 – Council action on
public requests in Area I
and Area II enclaves and
policy changes

 Feb. 2 – Joint Council and
Planning Board public
hearing for public
requests in Area II and III

 Coordinate with
Resilience Study Session
(Feb. 9) and Middle
Income Housing Study
Session (Mar. 29)

 Begin analysis of land use
change requests

 Start analysis of areas of
focus; develop options
(See Middle Income
housing below).

 Community engagement:
Continued discussion of
survey results

 Study Session (May 24)

 Areas of focus –
options/scenarios
analysis (including land
use analysis related to
housing and jobs, and 3d
modeling and
visualization)

 Review further analysis
for  focused topics ‐
continue –
options/scenarios
analysis

 Complete plan
organization and “clean
up” (e.g., non substantive
updates and graphic
improvements)

 Community engagement:
Possible focus groups
regarding focused topics;
local listening sessions;
possible survey #2

 Prepare draft plan  including the
areas of  focus topic policy
updates; map changes; and
actions,  strategies, and metrics

 Community  engagement:  draft
plan workshops and open house

 Council Study Session

 Approve draft plan
 Begin
implementation of
BVCP  including
possible area
planning

 IGA renewal
Implementation of
BVCP, including
possible area
planning

 Implementation of
BVCP, including
possible area planning

Development‐Related Impact Fees 
& Excise Taxes Studies ‐    
four  components: 

 Update current capital
facilities impact fee/excise tax
studies

 Multi‐modal Transportation
fee analysis for capital and on‐ 
going operating costs

 Commercial linkage fee for
affordable housing

 PH+S in lead.

 Interdepartmental staff team
of all departments with capital
assets; includes significant
staff resources needed in:

 Finance

 CAO

 PW: Transportation,
FAM, and Development
Review

 Planning

 Consultant team
preparing studies

 Technical Working
Group Meetings (2)

 Public outreach ‐ 101
seminar

 Technical Analysis

 Policy options
development

 City Council Study
Session (April 12)

 Technical Working
Group meeting

 Technical Analysis

 Policy options
development

 Public outreach

 Draft reports on fees and
programs

 City Council Study
Session (June 14)

 City Council Public
Hearing (July 19)
(decision)

 Implementation and
phase in preparation for
2017 budget

 Implementation and phase in
preparation for 2017 budget

 Scoping next steps with
Transportation Operations &
Maintenance

 Implementation and
phase in

 Implementation
and phase in

Form‐Based Code (FBC) for 
Boulder  Junction Phase I pilot 
project 

 Development and adoption

of a new form‐based code as

an appendix in the Land Use

Code including new process

and review criteria.

 PH+S in lead with support
from:

 CAO

 Public Works

 Work on final draft of
FBC

 Prepare final draft of
FBC  and staff memos
for adoption hearings

 Public outreach,

meetings and online

materials

 Planning Board and City

Council adoption

hearings

 Prepare  for
implementation with
new worksheet
materials

 FBC training sessions
with staff, review boards
and local design
professionals

 TBD based on evaluation of pilot

and Council  direction

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 26Packet Page 240



 

 

 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 
to other dept.s 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 
Site Review Criteria ‐ update Site 
Review criteria to: 

 Include new minimum design 

standards 

 Be more prescriptive, specific 
and clear 

 Address when/ if additional 

community benefit should be 

required (e.g. for height 

modifications) 

 PH+S in lead with support 

from CAO 

 Receive 

recommendations from 

DoverKohl 

 Develop work 
plan including 

outreach plan 

 Review DoverKohl 
recommendations 

 Develop goals and 
objectives 

 Research and analysis 
 Solicit input from 

Planning Board and DAB 

 Create & convene 
stakeholder group 

 Develop options 

 Meet with stakeholder group 

 Planning Board and DAB 

check in 

 Begin drafting code 

changes 

 Planning Board 

and DAB check in 

 City Council 
check in (matters 
or Study Session) 

 Meet with the 

stakeholder 

group 

 Public 

outreach 

 Finalize proposed 

code changes 

 Host open house 

 Planning Board and 
City Council 

consideration of 

changes 

 Prepare for 
implementation 

Update to the Downtown 
Urban Design Guidelines 

 Revisions to the guidelines for 
better usability and clarity 

 PH+S in lead with support from: 

 CAO 

 Communications 

 Finalize draft document 
and prepare ordinance 

 Planning Board, 
Landmarks Board and 
City Council adoption 

 Amend height ordinance 
map to exempt 
downtown 

         

Civic Area Implementation 

 Final design and construction 
of Phase I – Park at the Core 

 Long‐Term Studies of East & 
West Bookends to determine 
future improvements: 

 Comprehensive Flood 
Analysis 

 Market Hall Feasibility 
Study 

 Urban Design Plan/ 
Guidelines 

 Coordination with Canyon 
Complete Streets (includes 
Bandshell) and Municipal 
Facilities Study & BCH 

Civic Use Pad ‐  Discussions with 
St.  Julien to construct 

 Interdepartmental Team with 
leads from Parks, Public Works 
and PH+S 

 Consultant support. 

 Final design Phase I park 
improvements 

 Flood Analysis 
 Market Hall Preliminary 
Feasibility Analysis 
(Phase I) & Working 
Group Meeting 

 Market Hall 
Preliminary Space Test 
Fit (Phase II) 

 Collect data on parking 
changes 

 
Civic Use Pad 
 Preliminary design work 

 Financial analysis 
 

 Permitting & bidding for 
park construction 

 Public Open House (4/4) 
 Council Meeting 
Matters  (4/5) 

 Coordinate w/ Canyon 
Complete Streets – 
Design Alternatives – 
May Open House; 
Joint Board / 
Commission Mtg; 
Council Study Session 
5/31 

 Continued analysis of 
capital projects 
Civic Use Pad 

 Preliminary design work 

 Negotiation of 
management 
agreement 

 Financial analysis 

 Public outreach to 
potential users 

 Park construction begins 

 Coordinate w/ Canyon 
Complete Streets – 
Design Options Analysis 

 Continued analysis of 
capital projects 

 
 
 
 

 
Civic Use Pad 
 Design work 

 Negotiation of 
management 
agreement 

 Financial analysis 

 Public outreach to 
potential users 

 Continued park construction 

 Coordinate w/ Canyon 
Complete Streets – Design 
Recommendation 

 Coordinate w/ Municipal 
Facilities Study & BCH 

 Continued analysis of capital 
projects 

 
 
 

Civic Use Pad 
 Council consideration of 

management agreement 

 Design work 

 Continued park 
construction 

 Tasks related to 
Civic Area 
bookends are 
dependent on 
outcomes in 2016 
& 2017 

• Begin Urban Design 
Plan for East 
Bookend & 
Outreach to Boards 

 
Civic Use Pad 

 Construction 
activities begin (St. 
Julien lead) 

 Park construction 
complete in 2017 

 East Bookend 
Urban Design 
Plan/ 
Guidelines – 
Present to Boards & 
Council 

 West Bookend 
Urban Design Plan – 
Begins in 2018 

 
 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 27Packet Page 241



Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 
to other dept.s 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

BCH Site & Municipal 
Facilities  Planning 

 Establish land use and urban
form characteristics taking into
consideration the site’s
interrelation with the larger
Broadway corridor, Downtown,
Civic Area and University Hill

 Develop  short  and  long‐term
municipal facilities needs and
locations

 Develop site specific goals and
redevelopment options

 Implementation Plan

 PH+S and Public Works in lead.
Multi‐departmental effort:

 Community Vitality

 Parks and Recreation

 City Attorney

 Finance

 Consultant support

 Develop 2016 Project
Scope & Schedule

 Coordination  with
BVCP Update

 Begin  development  of
Performance  &  Design
Guidelines for Facilities

 Conduct BCH Rehab
analysis

 Consultant RFP
& Selection for city
facilities study &
urban design
framework

 Context Analysis – past
history  and current
conditions of BCH & its
larger context including
Downtown, Civic Area,
and Uni‐Hill

 Begin “storytelling”
campaign to share
memories of BCH

 Conduct city space
needs & analysis

 Begin visioning of
Future Municipal
Facilities

 Continue work on Context
Analysis

 Define boundary for
specific BCH Site/Area
Planning work

 Synthesize city space
needs in coordination
w/Civic Area

 Develop Planning & Design
Framework to illustrate the
desired future for BCH and larger
context, relationship/ roles
relative to other areas.

 Adopt Guiding Principles for
area wide goals and objectives
to inform the future of BCH site
(land use, urban form,
connections, cultural and other
facilities, etc.)

 Oct. 25 Study Session

 Begin Municipal Facilities
Master Plan

 Adopt Guiding Principles for
City Facilities

 Site/Area Planning

 Space planning
program for city
departments and
facilities

 Final determination
of facilities &
locations

 Continue
Municipal
Facilities
Masterplan

 Begin site/area
planning
(w/consultant
support)

 Continue
Municipal
Facilities Master
Plan

 Develop
Performance &
Design
Guidelines for
Facilities

 Continue work on
Site/Area Planning
including evaluation
of  options &
selection of
preferred plan

 Complete Land Use
Change & Zoning
Designation

 Continue with
Municipal Facilities
Masterplan

30th and Pearl 

 Analyze options for moving
forward with redevelopment of
the site

 Select and refine preferred
option

 PH+S in lead.
Multidepartment effort
including:

 Public Works:
Transportation, Utilities

 Parks

 Procure  consultant
services for options
analysis.

 Begin building
scenarios..

 Refine scenarios and
options analysis.

 Develop draft success

criteria for redevelopment.

 Refine preferred option

 Potential RFP for sale,
redevelopment, or partnership.

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 28Packet Page 242



 

 

Middle  Income Housing  Strategy 
‐  To include: 

 BBC study of  what market is 
currently producing to serve 
the middle; how unit size and 
location affect pricing over 
time 

 Identification of potential land 
use and other market 
interventions to produce 
desired housing types 

 Identification of effective 
mechanisms to support middle 
income affordability 

 Methodology to monitor key 
indicators to measure progress 

 PH+S in lead. 

 Citywide Interdepartmental 
effort. 

 Need communications support 

 Will need CMO and CAO 
support from time to time. 

 Consultant support for analysis 
and facilitation. 

 Finalized consultant study

 Identified key 
policy  questions 

 Analyzed projected 
housing – what do we 
expect based on current 
trends (feeds into BVCP) 

 Identified range of 
potential interventions 

 Feb. 18 Planning Board 
Feb. 23 CC Study Session 
 

 BVCP: analysis of 
potential land use 
changes to produce 
desired middle income 
housing types (e.g., 
duplexes and triplexes, 
townhomes, courtyard 
apartments, bungalows) 

 Form Council and 
Planning Board working 
group to identify goals, 
analyze key policy 
questions, and 
recommend 
interventions 
(programmatic, funding, 
and regulatory) 

 Draft potential policy 
changes for community 
conversation 

 Draft potential 
interventions 
(programmatic, funding, 
and regulatory) for 
community engagement 
with associated work plan 
for each. 

 Full Board and Council 
check‐  in 

 Identify and monitor key market 
indicators to measure progress 
on Middle Market housing 
provision 

 Refine potential interventions 

 Draft strategy 

 Adoption of policy 
changes 

 Adoption of 
interventions 

 

Other  Housing  Boulder  priorities 
–  Potential  work  efforts  to 
prioritize  include: 

 Housing Strategy Governance 
(Housing Board) 

 Neighborhood Pilot 

 Co‐operative Housing 

 Mobile Home Parks 

 PH+S in lead. Multi‐ 
departmental  effort 

 Need communications support 

 Will need CMO and CAO 
support from time to time. 

 Consultant support for analysis 
and/ or facilitation 

 Jan. 26 CC Study Session 
on Co‐ops 

 Jan. 5 Palo Park Annex 
and Concept Plan 

 Ongoing MHP work, 
including Ponderosa 

 TBD based on Council 

direction 

 TBD based on Council 

direction 

 TBD based on Council 

direction 

 TBD based on 

Council direction 

 TBD based on 

Council direction 

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 29Packet Page 243



Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 
project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and impacts 
to other dept.s 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Climate Commitment 

 Coordination of community
efforts to achieve 80%
emissions reduction by 2050.

 Coordination of city
organization efforts to achieve
80% or more emissions
reduction by 2050

 Coordination of city
organization efforts to prepare
for climate change‐resilience
capacity building

 PH+S (Climate and
Sustainability) in lead.

 Multi‐departmental effort:
 CMO (CRO)
 Public Works (Water

Resources, Utilities,
Transportation)

 PH+S (Comprehensive
Planning, P+DS)

 Energy Future
 Parks and Recreation
 OSMP
 Finance
 Communications

 Coordinate community
engagement

 Facilitate city
organization staff
training

 Begin planning for
community  action
campaigns

 Launch “whole system
energy transformation”
and “thermal strategy”
work

 Coordinate  April  “Earth
Futures Week” focus on
climate action

 Coordinate staff training
on local climate change
impacts

 Finish revisions of
Climate Commitment
document and present
for approval by City
Council

 Launch community
action campaigns

 Conduct climate
extremes staff training
exercise

 Coordinate
departmental level
assessments of emission
reduction/clean energy
transition options

 Complete “whole
energy system
transformation” and
“thermal strategy” work

 Coordinate community climate
action campaigns

 Lead city organization scenario
planning on multi‐factor change
scenarios

 Continue
community action
campaigns

 Coordinate
implementation of
city organization
energy transition
implementations

 Launch second
round of staff
climate change
training

 Continue
community climate
action campaigns

 Continue
implementation of
city org emissions
reduction/clean
energy
development
projects

 Continue staff
climate
mitigation/climate
adaptation trainings

Energy Codes: Short Term 
Updates  and Long Term Strategy 

 Improving compliance of
current commercial and
residential energy codes;

 Integrate with new Building
Performance Ordinance (BPO);

 Updating the residential and
commercial energy codes for
adoption in 2016 and
implementation in 2017; and

 Long term strategic planning
for energy codes updates to
reach net zero by 2031.

 Public Works (Building Code
Compliance) in lead, support
from PH+S (Climate +
Sustainability)

 Staff resources needed in:

 CAO

 Development Review
Engineering

 Zoning

 Select consultant thru
RFP process

 Develop special
lighting permit
application for BPO

 Develop options for
short term code
updates

 Draft
recommendations for
long term plans

 (4) Public Meetings for
community
engagement

 EAB Feedback

 CAO Review Needed

 Revise short term
options and make final
recommendations

 Finalize long term strategic
plan recommendations

 City Council meeting for short
term code updates

 Evaluate ways to improve
compliance in the field

 Update website
and provide
education
materials for new
code changes

 Implement
changes to
improve
compliance

 Stakeholder
working group –
long term strategic
plan

 Develop proposal
for long term
strategic plan out
to 2031

 City Council Study
session

 Begin
implementation of
long term strategic
plans

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 30Packet Page 244



Police  Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

Professional Standards Review Panel   Feb 9th Council Study
Session on HH report

 Feb 23rd Council
Study Session, HH
presented their
report and PD staff
discussed
recommendations
and moving forward.

 PD staff working with
CMO, Human Services and
other stakeholders on HH
recommendations.

 PD staff working on
recommendations and
providing an update to
council.

  

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 31Packet Page 245



Public Works Key 2016 and 2017 Work Items 

Work Plan Item 
and short description/ 

project  outcome 

Project Department 
Resource needs and 

impacts  to other depts. 

1st quarter 2016  2nd quarter 2016  3rd quarter 2016  4th quarter 2016  First half 2017  Second half 2017 

 2A Implementation – a
temporary 0.3% tax increase
to fund key community,
culture and safety
infrastructure projects as
approved by voters in the
2014 ballot measure.

2A is a multi‐departmental 
effort that requires close‐ 
interdepartmental 
coordination to  create 
opportunities and 
efficiencies and reduce 
impacts to the community. 

Project  
Coordinators:  Joanna 
Crean & Joel Wagner 

Note: Civic Area project hours 
are included in the separate 
Civic Area section. 

Key Tasks: 
 Public outreach/open

houses 
 Project design
 Project construction
 Civic Area Open House
 Landmarks Board

Presentation
(Chautauqua)

Key Tasks: 
 Public outreach/open

houses 
 Project design
 Project construction

 Project completion (Hill
Irrigation, Eben G. Fine)

 Open house to present
final design (Chautauqua)

 CEAP Committee Review
 Board/Commission

meetings:
TAB/OSTB/PRAB

 Landmarks Board Notice
of Disposition to City
Council for Potential call‐ 
up (Chautauqua)

Key Tasks: 
 Public outreach/open

houses 
 Project design
 Project construction
 CEAP w/TAB & PRAB

recommendation to City
Council for potential call‐ 
up (Boulder Creek
Arapahoe Underpass)

 Board/Commission brief
presentation & review &
recommendation joint
meetings: TAB/ PRAB
(Boulder Creek Arapahoe
Underpass)

Key Tasks: 
 Public outreach/open

houses 
 Project design
 Project construction
 Project completion (Dairy

Center for the Arts)
 Public Open House

(Boulder Creek Arapahoe
Underpass)

Key Tasks: 
 Project construction
 Project completion

(Chautauqua)

Key Tasks: 
 Project construction
 Project completion

(Boulder Creek
Path & Lighting,
Hill Event Street,
Civic Area, Public
Art)

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 32Packet Page 246



TMP Implementation: 

 Complete Streets:
On‐going O&M, Safety 
Corridor Plans 
Capital Projects 
Renewed Vision for Transit 

 Regional

 TDM

 Funding

 Integrated Planning

*This Section is now combined
with : 
Capital Improvement Projects 
for PW  ‐Transportation 

 PW‐Transportation
Division plus
Communications,
Comprehensive Planning,
Community Vitality,
Finance,
City Attorney’s Office

 Transportation Report on
Progress

 Corridor Plans – East
Arapahoe, Canyon, 30th &
Colorado

 Capital projects –
construction on  Diagonal,
28th, and Baseline

 Pavement/Asset
Management Program

 Bikeways Enhancements,
Maintenance

 North Broadway
reconstruction project –
planning/design phase

 US36 BRT and FLEX transit
service begins

 Local transit: HOP Study;
mobility hub plans; first &
final mile connections,
analysis of transit service
delivery models with
agency partners

 Regional transit: SH7 &
SH119 BRT studies; joint
maintenance facility
planning with agency
partners

 Safe Streets Boulder
Report

 Corridor plans
 Capital projects

 Pavement/Asset
Management Program

 Bikeways Enhancements,
Maintenance

 Living Lab program report
 Local & regional transit

planning
 Community‐wide Eco Pass

analysis
 Analysis/review options for

updating TDM plans for
new development with
stakeholders (coord with
AMPS)

 DRCOG funding for railroad
quiet zones, comments to
Federal Railroad
Administration on
national train horn rule

 Transportation impact fee
analysis, coordinate
milestones with city’s
broader impact fee study

 Board/Commission/Council
updates on Civic Area
access/parking/TDM
programs

 Community event with
national panel of Complete
Streets practitioners

 Corridor Plans

 Capital projects

 Pavement/Asset
Management Program

 Bikeways Enhancements,
Maintenance

 Local & regional transit
planning, including
eastside circulator study
with CU

 Community‐wide Eco Pass
analysis

 Refine options for
updating TDM plans for
new development with
stakeholders/boards
(coord with AMPS)

 Transportation impact fee
analysis, coordinate
milestones with city’s
broader impact fee study

 Outreach,  agency/BNSF
coordination for quiet
zones

 ADA transition plan

 Monthly TAB updates

 Corridor Plans

 Capital projects

 Pavement/Asset
Management Program

 Bikeways Enhancements,
Maintenance

 Local & regional transit
planning

 Community‐wide Eco Pass
study complete

 Present revised/refined
options for updating TDM
plans for new
development with
boards/Council (coord
with AMPS)

 Transportation impact fee
analysis, coordinate
milestones with city’s
broader impact fee study

 Outreach, agency/BNSF
coordination for quiet
zones

 ADA transition plan

 Monthly TAB updates
 City Council Study Session

– TMP Implementation
Overview: Highlight
Complete Streets,
Funding, and Integrated

 Corridor plans
 Capital projects

 Pavement/Asset
Management
Program

 Bikeways
Enhancements,
Maintenance

 Local and regional
transit planning

 Community‐wide
Eco Pass next steps
based on outcomes
of 2016 study

 TDM plans for new
development based
on outcomes from
2016 

 Transportation
impact fees – next 
steps based on 2016 

 Develop plans for
quiet zones based on 
outcomes from 2016 

 Report on
completion of TMP 
action plan items 
from  2014‐2016 

 Monthly TAB updates
 City Council Study

Session – TMP

 Continuation and
completion of
existing projects,
plans, and programs
from 2016‐17

 Pavement/Asset
Management
Program

 Bikeways
Enhancements,
Maintenance

 Begin work plan
items based upon
TMP “near term”
Action Plan (2017‐
2020) based on work
program capacity
and available
funding.

 Prepare next edition
of  Transportation
Report on Progress
(draft Dec 2017, final
document Feb 2018)

 Monthly TAB updates
 City Council Study

Session – TMP
Implementation
Overview: Highlights
include status report
on TMP “near‐term”

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 33Packet Page 247



 Community‐wide Eco Pass
analysis with County/RTD

 Update TDM plans for new
development (coord with
AMPS)

 Transportation Impact Fee
analysis (coord with city‐ 
wide broader impact fee
study)

 Civic Area access,
parking/TDM program
monitoring

 Monthly TAB updates

(Spring) 
 Monthly TAB updates
 City Council Study Session

– TMP Implementation
Overview: Highlight on
Complete Streets,
including Canyon
Corridor study, Living
Lab Phase II – Folsom
St. pilot project, and
check‐in on 2016‐17
Renewed Vision for
Transit work program

 City Council Study Session
– TMP Implementation
Overview: Highlight on
Renewed Vision for Transit,
including Community‐wide
Eco Pass update

Planning Focus Areas  Implementation 
Overview: Highlights 
include status report 
on TMP ”immediate” 
action items (2014‐ 
2016) 

action items (2017‐ 
2020) 

Valmont Butte 
o Annexation
o BVCP Land Use Change

 PH&S Annexation

Process

 PH&S BVCP Land Use

Change Consideration

 Outreach to

stakeholders support

 Stakeholder outreach
 Joint hearings on

BVCP requests
 Historical and Open

Space Analysis


 Historical and Open
Space Analysis

 Meets and Bounds
Survey

 Stakeholder outreach



 Historical and Open
Space Analysis



 Landmark Submission
& potential call‐up



 

 Water, Wastewater,
Stormwater and Flood
Utility Rate Study

 A project manager has
been dedicated, key
SMEs are engaged,
and funds are
available.

 No impact to other
departments.

 Consultant contracting.

 Data analysis and WRAB
consultation.

 Data analysis and WRAB
consultation.

 Data analysis and WRAB
consultation.

 Possible implementation of
certain recommendations
through 2017 budget
process.

 Refine
recommendations
and WRAB
consultation.

 Implementation
through 2018
budget process.

 Citywide Special Events ▪ Project Manager and

Staff Time for event
policy, review and
operations

▪ Project Manager and

Staff  Time  for
meetings  and
collaborations

▪ IT Staff Time for

SharePoint and
Software
development

 Purchase of Software,
Memberships and
Operational Tools

▪ Complete criteria and

standards for all
events including rest
periods, capacity, etc.

▪ Strengthen CU / City

Collaboration  with
regular event mtgs
(ongoing)

 City Council Events
Update and review of
the 2017‐2018
Ironman Agreement
renewal; Policy
update under Matters
from CMO  with
Council.

▪ Complete Interim
Special Event Policy

▪ Suggest Code and

Policy changes for
2017 

 Develop short and long
term resource needs 
for 2017 budget 

▪ Develop cost

recovery, cost and
data collection
methods

▪ Clarify city
sponsorship policy

▪ Finalize 2017 budget

 City Council Events
Update

 Review special events
policy, applications,
event documents and
websites for changes
and updates

▪ Complete

updates to 2017
Special Event
Policy

▪ Update criteria

and standards
for all events
including rest
periods,
capacity, etc.

 City Council
Events Update

▪ Finalize Special

Event web‐based
application and
payment system

 City Council
Events Update

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 34Packet Page 248



 Capital Improvement
Projects for PW  ‐
Utilities

 Bear Canyon Creek
Flood Mitigation Study
‐ Multi‐year process.

 Stormwater Collection
System Master Plan
Update  ‐ Multi‐year
process

 Wastewater
Collection System
Master Plan Update ‐
Multi‐year process,

 Skunk Creek, Bluebell
Canyon Creek, and
King’s Gulch
Floodplain Mapping
Study ‐ Multi‐year
process

 Fourmile Canyon
Creek  Mitigation
CEAP‐ Multi‐year
process

  Four mile Canyon Creek
Mitigation CEAP Call Up 
Opportunity

  Bear Canyon Creek 
Flood Mitigation 
Study  ‐ Public 
Hearing/Action to 
Accept Study 

 Skunk Creek, Bluebell
Canyon Creek, and
King’s Gulch
Floodplain Mapping
Study ‐ Public
Hearing/Action Item

 Stormwater Collection
System Master Plan
Update ‐ Public
Hearing/Action  Item
to Accept Study

 Wastewater
Collection System
Master Plan Update ‐
Public Hearing/Action
Item

 

 Capital
Improvement
Projects for PW  ‐
Transportation

 Asset/Pavement
Management Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways Maintenance
and Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado

 Transportation Capital
Projects ‐ Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management
Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program
Bikeways
Maintenance and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado

 Transportation
Capital Projects ‐
Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways Maintenance
and Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado

 Transportation Capital
Projects ‐ Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management
Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways
Maintenance and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado
Transportation
Capital Projects ‐
Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management Program
Sidewalk Repair
Program
Bikeways
Maintenance and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies for

Canyon Blvd/30th and
Colorado
Transportation Capital
Projects ‐ Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management
Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways Maint
and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies
for Canyon

Blvd/30th and
Colorado
Transportation
Capital Projects ‐
Various

 Asset/Pavement
Management
Program

 Sidewalk Repair
Program

 Bikeways Maint
and
Enhancements

 Corridor Studies
for Canyon

Blvd/30th and
Colorado
Transportation
Capital Projects ‐
Various

2016 Mid-Year Work Plan Update (June 2016) 35Packet Page 249



COUNCIL MEMBERS 

Suzanne Jones Mayor 
Mary Young Mayor Pro Tem 

Matthew Appelbaum 
Aaron Brockett 

Council Member 
Council Member 

Jan Burton Council Member 
Lisa Morzel Council Member 

Andrew Shoemaker Council Member 
Sam Weaver Council Member 

Bob Yates Council Member 

COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 

Thomas A. Carr City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke Municipal Judge 

KEY STAFF 

Mary Ann Weideman 
Bob Eichem 

Assistant City Manager 
Chief Financial Officer 

Lynnette Beck City Clerk 
Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 

David Driskell Executive Director for the Department of Planning, Housing 
Sustainability 

Molly Winter  Director of Community Vitality 
Heather Bailey  Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 

Development 
Michael Calderazzo  Fire Chief 

Joyce Lira Human Resources Director 
Karen Rahn Human Services Director 

Don Ingle Information Technology Director 
David Farnan Library and Arts Director 

James Cho  Municipal Court Administrator 
Tracy Winfree Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Yvette Bowden Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa Police Chief 

Maureen Rait Executive Director of Public Works 
Cheryl Pattelli Director of Fiscal Services 
Mike Sweeney  Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 

Packet Page 250



Approved 1/19/16 

2016 City Council Committee Assignments 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 

Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel (Castillo – staff alternate) 

Boulder County Consortium of Cities Young, Burton (alternate) 

Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones, Appelbaum (Castillo – staff alternate) 

Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Brockett, Appelbaum (alternate) 

Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 

Metro Mayors Caucus Jones 

National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum 

Resource Conservation Advisory Board (RCAB) Morzel 

Rocky Flats Stewardship Council Morzel, Weaver (alternate) (Castillo – 2nd staff 
alternate) 

University of Colorado (CU)/City Oversight Committee Weaver, Yates, Burton 

US 36 Mayors/Commissioners Coalition (MCC) Jones 

US 36 Commuting Solutions Burton, Morzel (alternate) 

Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Young 

LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 

Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Shoemaker 

Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Burton, Yates (alternate) 

Colorado Chautauqua Board of Directors Morzel 

Dairy Center for the Arts Brockett 

Downtown Business Improvement District Board Weaver, Yates 

INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 

Audit Committee Shoemaker, Yates, Weaver 

Boards and Commissions Committee Appelbaum, Burton 

Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) Yates 

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Process Sub-Committee Brockett, Weaver 

Charter Committee Morzel, Weaver, Young 

Civic Use Pad/9th and Canyon Morzel, Young 

Council Retreat Committee Morzel, Yates 

Council Employee Evaluation Committee Morzel, Shoemaker 

Housing Strategy Process Sub-Committee Morzel, Young, Burton 

Legislative Committee Jones, Weaver, Appelbaum 

School Issues Committee Morzel, Shoemaker, Young 

SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 

Jalapa, Nicaragua Brockett 

Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 

Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 

Dushanbe, Tajikistan Yates 

Yamagata, Japan Burton 

Mante, Mexico Young 

Yateras, Cuba Weaver 

Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, Burton, Young 

Packet Page 251



DRAFT
2016 Study Session Calendar

Date Topic Time Location Contacts Materials Due

Draft 2017 to 2021 Capital Improvement Program 6;00-8:00 Chambers Peggy Bunzli/Devin Billingsley 07/28/16
Civic Area update and direction
Energy Codes 8:00-9:00 Chambers Kendra Tupper

8/23/2016 Update from Marijuana Advisory Panel 6:00 - 9:00 Chambers Sandra Llanes 08/11/16

Homelessness Strategy Draft and Homeless Action Plan 
Update 6:00-8:00 Chambers Karen Rahn/Corina Marin 08/18/16
Development Related Impact Fees and Excise Tax 8:00-9:00 Chambers Chris Meschuk

BRIEFING: BVCP Update 5:30-6:30 Chambers Lesli Ellis/E Richardson 09/01/16
09/13/16 2017 COB Recommended Budget 6:30-9:00 Chambers Peggy Bunzli/Devin Billingsley 09/01/16

30th and Pearl Redevelopment Options 6:00-7:30 Chambers Eric Ameigh/Emily Richardson 09/15/16
Middle Income Housing Strategy Subcommittee Report 7:30-9:00 Chambers David Driskell/Melinda Melton 09/15/16

Thurs,10/13/2016
Joint "Special Meeting" with Planning Board for the BVCP 
update on Scenarios 

6:00-9:00
Chambers Lesli Ellis/Emily Richardson 09/29/16

10/25/2016 Renewed Vision for Transit Update 6:00-9:00 Chambers 10/13/16

Thurs 11/10/2016 Joint "Study Session" with Planning Board BVCP update 6:00-9:00 Chambers Lesli Ellis/Emily Richardson 10/27/16

11/29/16 Human Services Strategy Draft 6:00-9:00 Chambers Patrick Mulcrone/Corina Marin 11/17/16

12/13/16 Community Perception Assessment Report
6:00-9:00 Chambers

Tammye Burnette/Dianne 
Marshall 12/01/16

12/22/16
12/29/16

Update Regarding Community Survey 6:00 - 6:15 Chambers Patrick von Keyserling IP   7/19/16
Residential and Commercial Energy Codes: Long Term Strate7:45 - 9:15 Chambers Kendra Tupper/M Melton IP   7/19/16
Check in for 100 Resilient Cities 7:30-9:00 Chambers Greg Guibert/Dianne Marshall IP   8/2/16
Briefing - Community Dashboard 5:30-6:00 Chambers TBD
Middle Income Housing Strategy Subcommittee Report 8-9:00 Chambers David Driskell/M Melton SS 9/27/16
Community Perception Assessment Report? 6:00-7:30 Chambers Tammye Burnette/D Marshall SS  12/13/16
Human Services Strategy Draft 7:30-9:00 Chambers Karen Rahn, Corina Marin SS 11/29/16
Framework for Lease Negotiations (BMoCA and the Dairy Arts6:00-7:30 Chambers Joe Castro/Celia Seaton CC   11/15/16
AMPS and CAGID Development Projections 7:30-9:00 Chambers Jay Sugnet/Ruth Weiss IP - TBD

Added Development Related Impact Fees and Excise Tax 7:30-9 Chambers Chris Meschuk SS 8/30/16

08/09/16

Moved/Changed 
Items

9/27/2016

8/30/2016

No Meeting
No Meeting

Packet Page 252



City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, September 6, 2016

8/25/2016
8/31/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact

6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

6:05 PM 6:10 PM 5 min 0:05 Boulder Pollinator Appreciation Month Declaration Rella Abernathy

6:10 PM 6:55 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE

6:55 PM 7:10 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA
Third Reading Amendment to BRC 12-2-4, Landlord Disclosures Janet Michels/Mary Bisset
1st Rdg 2949 Broadway- Landmark Designation James Hewat/E Richardson

Consideration of a motion to adopt Resolution No. XXX to carry 
forward the COB 2016 private Activity Bond Allocation to support the
creation or retention of permanently affordable rental housing.

Y Kristin Hyser/E Richardson

1st Rdg 479 Arapahoe- Landmark Designation James Hewat/E Richardson

7:10 PM 7:15 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN

PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:25 PM 7:55 PM 30 min 0:30
Second modification to mobile food vehicle ordinance to include pedal
powered vehicles

Y Y Lane Landrith/Ruth Weiss

7:55 PM 10:55 PM 180 min 3:00 Cooperative Housing Ordinance Tom Carr/M Bissett

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

10:55 PM 11:35 PM 60 min 0:40 Hill Hotel Letter of Intent and Update Y N Sarah Wiebenson/Ruth Weiss

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

ADD 5 min
Consideration of a motion to approve the order of the ballot measures 
in the 2016 Special Municipal Coordinated Election

Lynnette Beck/H Leatherwood

CALL-UPS

Total 5:25

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 
hours, please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is 
that all meetings be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, 
Council Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.- NO NEW ITEMS

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 253



City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, September 20, 2016

9/8/2016
9/14/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact

6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE
6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

Study Session Summary for 30th and Pearl Redevelopment Options
Eric Ameigh/E. 
Richardson

1st Rdg disposal of Open Space lands when mgmt is transferred from OSMP to 
another city department

N Y
Janet 
Michels/Mary 
Bisset

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN

PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:10 PM 7:25 PM 15 min 0:15 2nd Rdg 2949 Broadway for Landmark Designation Y N
James Hewat/E 
Richardson

7:25 PM 7:40 PM 0:15 2nd Rdg 479 Arapahoe for Landmark Designation Y N
James Hewat/E 
Richardson

7:40 PM 7:55 PM 0:15 Motion for Final Direction on the Development Related Impact Fees and Excise Taxes Y N
Chris Meschuk/E. 
Richardson

7:55 PM 8:25 PM 0:30 96 Arapahoe Annexation Y N
E. McLaughlin, E 
Richardson

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

8:25 PM 9:05 PM 30 min 0:40
Update and request for Council direction regarding implementation of Ord No. 8050 
regulating short term rentals

Y N
Tom Carr/M 
Bissett

9:05 PM 9:25 PM 20 min 0:20 Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Annual Report to Council Y N Molly Winter
MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

9:25 PM 10:10 PM 45 min 0:45 Council Evaluation Committee - Council Employee Evaluations y n Aimee Kane
10:10 PM 10:25 PM 15 min 0:15 Discussion on action IP

CALL-UPS

Total 4:25
If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, please 
choose another meeting date "The council's goal is that all meetings be

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 254



City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, October 4, 2016

9/22/2016
9/28/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact

6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

6:05 PM 6:20 PM 15 min 0:15 Quarterly Update with Municipal Court Judge James Cho

6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE

6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN

PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:10 PM 9:10 PM 120 min 2:00
First Reading 2017 COB Budget Ordinances: Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations, Fees

Y N
Peggy Bunzli/Devin 
Billingsley

Second Reading Ordinance regarding disposal of Open Space lands when 
management is transferred form OSMP to another city department

Janet Michels/M Bissett

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS

Total 3:25

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 
hours, please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that 
all meetings be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council 
Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 255



City Council/PLANNING BOARD SPECIAL Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Thursday, October 13, 2016

10/3/2016
10/7/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council/PLANNING BOARD SPECIAL Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact

6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE

6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN

PUBLIC HEARINGS - SPECIAL MEETING WITH PLANNING BOARD

7:10 PM 10:10 PM 180 min 3:00
Public Hearing to consider public requets for map changes as part of the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan

Y N Lesli Ellis

Council will adjourn after public hearing
MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER (if any, place prior to PH)

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY (if any, place prior to PH)

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL (if any, 
place prior to PH)

CALL-UPS

Total 4:10

If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, 
please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings 
be adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 
1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 256



City Council Meeting
DRAFT Meeting Agenda - 6 p.m.

Tuesday, October 18, 2016

10/6/2016
10/12/2016

Gray cells will be calculated for you. You do not need to enter anything in them. City Council Meeting DRAFT Calendar

Start End Min Time Item PP CAO Contact

6:00 PM 6:05 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

6:05 PM 6:50 PM 45 min 0:45 OPEN COMMENT AND COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE

6:50 PM 7:05 PM 15 min 0:15 CONSENT AGENDA
1st Rdg Boulder Community Hospital Riverbend facility at 4801 Riverbend-
Rezoning and Height ord

N Y Karl Guiler/ E. Richardson

7:05 PM 7:10 PM 5 min 0:05 CALL-UP CHECK IN

PUBLIC HEARINGS

7:10 PM 8:40 PM 90 min 1:30
2nd Reading of 2017 COB Budget Ordinances: Budget, Mill Levy, Appropriations, 
Fees

Y N
Peggy Bunzli/Devin 
Billingsley

UHGID2 2017 Budget Hearing and Resolution: Budget, Mill Levy, appropriations Same

CAGID 2017 Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, Appropriations Same

Forest Glen GID Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations

Same

BJAD- Parking GID Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations

Same

BJAD TDM GID Budget Hearing and Resolutions; Budget, Mill Levy, 
Appropriations

Same

BMPA Budget Resolution Same

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

30 min
Special Presentation from Hillary Hall regarding Election information and Boulder 
County

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY

MATTERS FROM MAYOR AND MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS

Total 2:40
If adding your item would bring the total estimated time to over 4 hours, 
please choose another meeting date.  "The council's goal is that all meetings be 
adjourned by 10:30 p.m." - Title 2 Appendix, Council Procedure, B.R.C. 1981.

Preliminary Materials Due
Final Materials Due

Packet Page 257



 

 

           TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council 

     FROM:  Jordan Matthews, City Clerk’s Office 

      DATE:  August 16, 2016 

SUBJECT:  Information Packet 
 

 

1. CALL UPS 
 A. 4750 Broadway Site Review (LUR2015-00012), The Armory Community  
 B. Vacation of a 200 square foot utility easement along the southwest property line of 

4500 Brookfield Drive (ADR2016-00143) 
 C. Vacation of a 10,076 square foot emergency access easement located along the 

east property line of the property located at 4525 Palo Parkway (ADR2016-00167)
2. INFORMATION ITEMS 

 Internal 
 A. 2016-2017 Youth Opportunities Program Annual Grant Allocations 
 B. Boulder’s Energy Future – Municipalization Transition Plan and Budget Update 
 C. BVCP Schedule and Community Engagement Plan 
 D. Gross Reservoir Enlargement – Project Update 
 E. U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition Policy Agenda 
 External 
 F. Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report 

3. BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 
 A. Beverage Licensing Authority – July 20, 2016 
 B. Environmental Advisory Board – July 6, 2016 
 C. Human Relations Commission – July 25, 2016 
 D. Open Space Board of Trustees – July 27, 2016 
 E. Planning Board – July 14, 2016 
 F. Planning Board – July 21, 2016 

4. DECLARATIONS 
 A. Support of Boulder Members of the 2016 United States Olympic Team 

 

Packet Page 258



 
 

 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

  
To:  Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
  David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing + Sustainability 
  Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing + Sustainability 
  Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager  
  Karl Guiler, Senior Planner 
 
Date:   August 16, 2016 
 
Subject:  Call-Up Item:  4750 Broadway Site Review (LUR2015-00012), The Armory 
Community  
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
On Aug. 4, 2016, the Planning Board unanimously approved (6-0) the above-referenced 
application with conditions as provided in the attached Notice of Disposition (Attachment A), 
finding the project consistent with the Site Review Criteria of Land Use Code sections 9-2-14(h), 
B.R.C. 1981. Approval of the application would permit a mixed-use project with up to 200 
dwelling units and 8,400 square feet of storefront retail along Broadway and two new street 
connections (13th Street and Zamia Avenue) consistent with the guidelines and required 
transportation connections of the NoBo Plan. The proposal includes a 23 percent parking 
reduction request to permit 261 parking spaces where 341 are required, but otherwise contains no 
other modifications to the Land Use Code. 
 
The Planning Board decision is subject to City Council call-up within 30 days concluding on 
Sept. 6, 2016.  There are two City Council meeting within this time period for call-up 
consideration on:  Aug. 16th and Sept. 6th.  Staff will be available for questions on Aug. 16th. The 
staff memorandum of recommendation to Planning Board, the project plans, design guidelines 
and other related background materials are available on the city website here. Draft minutes from 
the hearing can be found in Attachment B. 

 
BACKGROUND 

 
The 8.55-acre project site is located in North Boulder at the southeast corner of Broadway and 
Lee Hill, a prominent corner near the northern gateway to Boulder (please see Figure 1 above 
for a vicinity map). Existing uses surrounding the site include the single-family Holiday 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 1

Packet Page 259

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/136366/Electronic.aspx


 
 

neighborhood adjacent to the east, the mixed-density Dakota Ridge neighborhood a few blocks 
to the north and west, Main Street North retail and restaurants immediately to the south on 
Broadway, and Uptown Broadway/Village Center two blocks to the south.  
 
On the east side of Broadway there is the Holiday Inn Express hotel, light industrial and 
service-oriented businesses. To the north and northwest of the site are the Boulder Housing 
Partners offices at 1325 Lee Hill and the transitional housing facility at 1175 Lee Hill Road.  

 
Development of the site and 
surrounding properties is guided by 
the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan (BVCP) and more 
specifically, the North Boulder 
Subcommunity Plan (NoBo Plan).  
 
As shown in Figure 2 below, the 
BVCP land use designation for the 
site is split between Mixed Use 
Residential on the western 75% of 
the site and Mixed Density 
Residential on the eastern portion 
of the site.  
 
Per the 2010 BVCP, the purpose of 
the Mixed Use Residential 
designation is to encourage 
development wherein “residential 
character will predominate, 
although neighborhood scale retail 
and personal service uses will be allowed,” with zoning and other regulations defining “the 
desired intensity, mix, location and design characteristics of these uses.”  The Mixed Density 
Residential designation is “applied in some areas planned for new development where the goal 
is to provide a substantial amount of affordable housing in mixed density neighborhoods that 
have a variety of housing types and densities. The density in the mixed density designation in 
newly developing areas is from six to 18 units per acre.” 
 
The subject site is 
identified in the 
NoBo Plan as part 
of the Yarmouth 
North 
neighborhood. The 
NoBo Plan calls for 
a mix of office and 
residential on the 
western portion of 

Figure 1- Vicinity Map 

Figure 2- BVCP Land Use Map 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 2

Packet Page 260

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-2010-1-201410091122.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-2010-1-201410091122.pdf


 
 

the site and mixed residential on the eastern portion. The Yarmouth North area is intended to 
be a mixed-use, walkable neighborhood with buildings built up to the street and pedestrian 
connections to surrounding development including the Village Center area to the south. 
 
The site is split zoned, with the western 75% of the site zoned MU-1 (Mixed Use – 1) and the 
eastern 25% of the site zoned RMX-2 (Residential- Mixed 2). These zoning districts are 
defined as follows: 
 
MU-1: Mixed use areas which are primarily intended to have a mix of residential and 
nonresidential land uses within close proximity to each other and where complementary 
business uses may be permitted. 
 
RMX-2: Medium density residential areas which have a mix of densities from low density to 
high density and where complementary uses may be permitted. 
 
PROPOSED PROJECT 

 
The Armory Community project is proposed as a mixed use development consistent with the 
underlying MU-1 (Mixed Use -1) and RMX-2 (Residential Mixed – 2) zoning districts. A prior 
proposal submitted as a Concept Plan included a significantly greater amount of floor area 
(e.g., 1.0 FAR (floor area ratio) where 0.6 FAR is the maximum), more residential units than 
permitted on the mixed density portion and uses (e.g., outdoor performance space, larger scale 
retail etc.) that would have required a rezoning or a special ordinance. The proposal would also 
have required a height modification to permit buildings at 55-feet. To justify the exceptions, 
the Concept Plan proposal included options for additional amenities for the arts community, 
such as art spaces, a plaza for performances, etc., but due to complications in legally requiring 
some of the proposed community benefits and some opposition to the proposed intensity, the 
applicant opted to reduce the scale of the project and conform to the underlying zoning, which 
sets the FAR at 0.6 FAR and two stories on the MU-1 side and a by-right density of 10 
dwelling units per acre on the RMX-2 side and three-stories.  The following was approved by 
Planning Board: 
 
Residential- A total of 200 dwelling units are proposed – 182 attached rental units on the MU-
1 side of the development and up to 18 for sale townhouse and single-family homes on the 
RMX-2 side of the site. Detailed site plans and elevations of the 16 new buildings are provided 
within the plan set and demonstrate compliance with the zone’s height, setback and building 
size limitations (15,000 square feet maximum per building). All buildings are proposed to face 
the street and include building entries as required by the zoning.  
The residential units on the east side of the site by Holiday are illustratively shown, but not 
detailed within the package and rather, would be subject to the implementation of residential 
design guidelines and the zoning standards of the RMX-2 zone. This approach is identical to 
how buildings were reviewed and approved in the adjacent Holiday neighborhood, also under 
the same zoning. Based on the lot size of areas within the RMX-2 zone, at least two housing 
types are required. The guidelines specify the basic characteristics of the permissible housing 
types with more detailed sections on building form, materiality, and façade organization. The 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 3

Packet Page 261



 
 

guidelines also cover site access, open space, landscaping and building fenestration. The 
proposed guidelines can be found within the Planning Board memorandum. 
 
Non-residential- 8,400 square feet of convenience retail/office/restaurant space is proposed on 
the ground floor of buildings fronting on Broadway. The uses in the spaces are proposed to be 
consistent with the permitted uses (including Use Review uses) of the MU-1 zoning district. 
 
Vehicular and pedestrian connections- As required by the NoBo Subcommunity Plan 
transportation connections plan, Zamia would be extended east-west through the project site 
out to Broadway and 13th Street would be extended north-south connecting to Lee Hill Drive. 
Pedestrian connections are provided throughout the site as shown in the site plan. 
 
Open space and landscaping- 
The project would exceed 
landscaping standards per the Site 
Review criteria and open space 
amounts would exceed the 15 
percent minimum required at 
over 20 percent.  
 
Parking- All off-street parking 
has been provided behind 
buildings and away from 
streetscape within a variety of 
structured, surface or tuck under 
locations.  The applicant is 
requesting approval of a parking 
reduction to permit 261 off-street 
parking spaces where 341 is 
required. This does not include 
the 84 on-street spaces that would 
also be provided within the 
development. This necessitates 
approval of a 23 percent parking reduction and is the only exception requested as part of this 
Site Review. A parking study demonstrating that the parking needs will be met on the site is 
attached to the Planning Board memorandum. 
 
Landmarking of Armory Mess Hall building- The approval also includes a condition of 
approval that would require the landmarking of the existing Armory Mess Hall Building. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS 
 
Site Review was required for the project due to the number of units proposed (> 20 units) and the size 
of the site (> one acre). The project was referred to the Planning Board by staff given the previous 
interest in the project at the Concept Plan stage. Required public notice was given in the form of 
written notification mailed to all property owners within 600 feet of the subject site and a sign posted 

Figure 3- Site Plan 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 4

Packet Page 262



 
 

on the property for at least 10 days.  All notice requirements of section 9-4-3, B.R.C. 1981 have been 
met. The applicant has also held several community meetings prior to submitting the Concept Plan 
review package.  
 
Most of the public comments related to the submitted lethal control permit for the prairie dog colony 
of the site, which is subject to the city manager review and approval. The public comment period for 
that permit ends on Aug. 22, 2016. City Council, Planning Board and staff received a significant 
number of emails from Boulder citizens and people from around the world about the proposal to 
remove the prairie dogs. City Council has scheduled a discussion of the city’s prairie dog relocation 
policies and priorities at its August 16, 2016 meeting.  
 
Other comments on the proposal indicated objection to the proposed parking reduction and general 
opposition to the development of the site. Some neighbors expressed disappointment in the reduced 
amenities of the current plan as compared to the Concept Plan that included more art related uses and 
spaces. As previously stated, the Concept Plan proposal did not conform to the underlying zoning and 
would have required either a rezoning or a special ordinance. 
 
Four individuals spoke at the Planning Board hearing with two expressing concern over the prairie 
dogs, one objecting to the parking reduction and one speaking in favor of the project. 

 
PLANNING BOARD HEARING 
 
At the Aug. 4, 2016 Planning Board hearing, the board found that the application is consistent with the 
BVCP, the NoBo Plan, and the applicable Site Review criteria of the Land Use Code sections 9-2-
14(h), B.R.C. 1981 and approved the project unanimously with conditions of approval. 
 
The Planning Board discussion focused primarily on the city’s regulatory permitting process for 
prairie dog removal, which was clarified in the meeting by staff that the decision with regard to permit 
issuance is at the discretion of the City Manager. The board also had detailed questions for staff about 
the differences between public right-of-way and public access easements and what can be considered 
for the purposes of calculating overall density for the site. In the case of the Armory Community, 
streets were required to be dedicated to the city as fee simple, public right-of-way whereas the tree 
lawns and sidewalks were permitted as public access easements (where the city maintains property 
rights that provide the same benefits as fee simple dedication).  
 
Some board members were concerned about this since the city’s code allows property area within 
easements to be allotted into the floor area and density calculations for the site.  
 
The board also discussed the general design of the buildings within the MU-1 portion of the 
development, which it found to be consistent with the criteria. Relative to site design, the board 
expressed some concern about the amount of surface parking, but understood that it was balanced with 
the need to place parking in areas not visible from the streetscapes and the requested parking 
reduction, which the board supported based on the amount of on-street spaces and shared parking that 
would occur on the site. To strengthen the multi-modal aspects of the development with respect to the 
parking reduction, the board amended a condition of approval that would require Eco-Passes be 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 5

Packet Page 263



 
 

allotted to residents and employees of the development for a period of five years instead of three years, 
unless a community pass is approved within that time frame.  
 
Lastly, the board requested changes to the proposed design guidelines for the RMX-2 portion of the 
development to remove renderings that were not found to be consistent with the simpler, elegant 
design of building on the MU-1 side. Further, the board added a guideline that would reinforce that the 
example pictures within the guidelines should be an important guide to inform how RMX-2 buildings 
should be designed. A condition of approval was added to require these changes. 

 
 CONCLUSION 

 
By a unanimous vote (6-0) the Planning Board approved the application with conditions.  Consistent 
with the land use code section 9-4-4(c), B.R.C. 1981, if the City Council disagrees with the decision of 
the Planning Board, it may call up the application within a 30-day call up period which expires on Sept. 
6th, the City Council may consider this application for call-up at the Aug. 16, 2016 City Council 
meeting. 

 
           ATTACHMENTS: 
 

A.  Planning Board Notice of Disposition dated Aug. 4, 2016 
  B. Draft minutes from the Aug. 4th public hearing 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 6

Packet Page 264



Attachment A - PB Notice of Disposition 8/4/16

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 7

Packet Page 265



Attachment A - PB Notice of Disposition 8/4/16

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 8

Packet Page 266



Attachment A - PB Notice of Disposition 8/4/16

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 9

Packet Page 267



Attachment A - PB Notice of Disposition 8/4/16

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 10

Packet Page 268



Attachment A - PB Notice of Disposition 8/4/16

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 11

Packet Page 269



 

CITY OF BOULDER 
PLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES 

August 4, 2016 
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers 

  
A permanent set of these minutes and a tape recording (maintained for a period of seven years) 
are retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-3043). Minutes and streaming audio are also 
available on the web at: http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 
  
PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
John Gerstle, Chair 
Liz Payton, Vice Chair 
Bryan Bowen 
Leonard May 
Crystal Gray 
Harmon Zuckerman 
 
PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT: 
John Putnam 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning 
Thomas Carr, City Attorney 
Cindy Spence, Administrative Specialist III 
Karl Guiler, Senior Planner / Code Amendment Specialist 
David Thompson, Civil Engineer II / Transportation 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Chair, J. Gerstle, declared a quorum at 6:02 p.m. and the following business was conducted. 
  

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
On a motion by L. Payton and seconded by H. Zuckerman the Planning Board voted 6-0 (J. 
Putnam absent) to approve the July 14, 2016 and July 21, 2016 minutes as amended. 

  
3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

No one spoke. 
 

4. DISCUSSION OF DISPOSITIONS, PLANNING BOARD CALL-UPS / 
CONTINUATIONS 

 
5.   PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

A. AGENDA TITLE:  Public hearing to consider Site Review application, LUR2015-00012, 
to develop the Armory site (The Armory Community), an 8.55-acre site located at 4750 
Broadway (the southeast corner of Broadway and Lee Hill Dr.), with a mixed-use project 
with up to 200 dwelling units and 8,400 square feet of storefront retail along Broadway 

Attachment B - Draft minutes from the 8/4/16 public hearing 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 12

Packet Page 270

https://webmail.bouldercolorado.gov/owa/redir.aspx?C=I5NO4b26akWhgmZpN9k_L3ln-0EqYNAIb3BQVECXatq4pRtRPkpbxOOxLA_bEvetV-NSpTIFrBA.&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.bouldercolorado.gov%2f


 

and two new street connections (13th Street and Zamia Avenue). The proposal includes a 
23 percent parking reduction request to permit 261 parking spaces where 341 are 
required, but otherwise contains no other modifications to the Land Use Code. 

 
Applicant:              Bruce D. Dierking 
Property Owner:    The State of Colorado 

 
Board members were asked to reveal any ex-parte contacts they may have had on this item. 
J. Gerstle disclosed that he visited the site in connection with the maintenance on the Silver 
Ditch Lateral and had brief conversations with the public in person and on the telephone 
regarding this issue. He feels he can deal with this issue on a fair and objective manner. B. 
Bowen has had numerous conversations with residents in the Holiday neighborhood over the 
years regarding this project. None would cause him to be biased over this project. C. Gray has 
attended a site tour. L. Payton attended a site visit and reviewed numerous emails which all 
Planning Board members received. Also recently received a phone call regarding the prairie dog 
issue and asked the caller to send an email. H. Zuckerman currently sits on the board of the 
Colorado Prairie Initiative which is a small non-profit group dedicated to the conservation and 
rehabilitation of Colorado’s prairies. The prairie dogs issue does come up from time to time but 
he believes that he can be fair and impartial with the review of this project. 
 
Staff Presentation: 
D. Driskell introduced the item. 
K. Guiler presented the item to the board. 
 
Board Questions: 
K. Guiler, T. Carr, D. Driskell and D. Thompson answered questions from the board. 
 
Applicant Presentation: 
Liz Peterson, with The Mulhern Group, Ltd, the applicant’s representative, presented the item to 
the board. 
 
Board Questions: 
Liz Peterson, with The Mulhern Group, Ltd, and Bruce Dierking, with the Armory 
Community, answered questions from the board. 
 
Public Hearing: 

1. Kristen Marshall spoke concerning the existing prairie dogs at the Armory location 
and requested they be live-trapped and relocated. 

2. Carse Pustmueller spoke concerning the existing prairie dogs at the Armory location 
and requested they be live-trapped and relocated. 

3. Dave Waller spoke in opposition to the project in regards to the proposed parking 
reduction. 

4. Terry Palmos, the developer of Violet Crossing, spoke in support to the project. 
 
 
 

Attachment B - Draft minutes from the 8/4/16 public hearing 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 13

Packet Page 271



 

Board Comments: 
Key Issue #1:  Is the proposed project consistent with the BVCP? 

• L. May, B. Bowen and H. Zuckerman all agreed that the proposed project is generally 
consistent with the BVCP. 

• C. Gray also agreed that the proposed project is generally consistent, but added that she 
may add a motion to further recommend Council to consider the southern grassland 
habitat conservation area for the relocation of the displaced prairie dogs. 

• L. Payton stated that the project is generally consistent with the Comp Plan and the Land 
Use Map. She expressed concern regarding density and the method of calculating net area 
which determines the amount of square footage can be placed on the site. In addition, she 
has concern that the project has no on-site affordable housing. 

• J. Gerstle agreed that this project complies with the Comp Plan. He agrees with L. 
Payton’s concerns surrounding the calculation of area and right-of-way. With respect to 
the prairie dogs, he can be sympathetic.  

• H. Zuckerman, in regards to the density calculation and affordable housing issues, 
added that since the proposed project will be offering a large number of one-bedroom 
units and pricing will be at the low end of the market, affordable housing may arise 
which does not currently exist. He stated that the calculation of net area used was not 
inappropriate and compliant.  

• B. Bowen explained that in density impact situations, one will get a fair amount of 
surface parking and no structured parking. If the buildings are kept at two-story, 0.6 FAR, 
and meet parking requirements, those areas add up and will reduce consolidated open 
space. If a building were allowed to be taller and denser, it may actually result in a better 
public realm and more shared open space. He agreed with L. Payton that this method 
should be reviewed in the Land Use Code because the 0.6 FAR, a two-story cap, and a 
15% open space requirement may not be giving the results that are desired.   

• C. Gray disagreed with B. Bowen that the public realm was lost with the lower 
buildings. 

 
Key Issue #2:  Is the proposed site design, open space, street configuration and pedestrian 
connections consistent with the Site Review criteria of Section 9-2-14(h)(2), B.R.C. 1981? 

• H. Zuckerman agreed that the staff report showed compliance with the site design, open 
space landscaping and circulation and parking design criteria. The only issue is whether 
the parking reduction meets the criteria for a reduction.  

• L May supports the parking reduction and site design. It satisfies many community 
policies. 

• C. Gray suggested that if the project had less density, then perhaps there would be less 
parking and more green space. The design is otherwise excellent. There could be more 
gathering spots to enhance the public realm. She would like to have the retail on the 
lower floor as it would enliven the neighborhood. She sees the parking as problematic. 
She would like to offer a condition that the EcoPasses be offered longer than three years. 
Finally, she suggested more vegetation on the interior area, especially Block 1. 

• B. Bowen site design is simple and good. He is pleased that the existing Mess Hall 
building will be saved.  The streetscapes and the southern paseo are all positive. The uses 
are arranged well on the site. He stated that he is missing the previously proposed plaza 
from the Concept Plan; however, he finds the parking reduction acceptable.  

Attachment B - Draft minutes from the 8/4/16 public hearing 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 14

Packet Page 272



 

• L. Payton agreed with the other board members. She finds the layout satisfactory. The 
proposed plan fits within the height limits and setbacks. She mentioned that the existing 
plan has a lot of hardscape and needs more greenspace. She questioned if parking options 
for future employees with the Holiday Inn across Broadway have been explored. She 
supports the parking reduction. 

• J. Gerstle agreed with the proposed site plan and found it reasonable and attractive. He 
stated that there seems to be a lack of greenspace. He questioned if the previously 
proposed plaza could remain on the plans and parking could be moved underground. He 
supports the parking reduction. 

• L. May explained that this current proposed plan, in comparison to the Concept Plan, has 
many smaller buildings at lowered heights and follow the contour of the site. What comes 
with that more desirable scale is to give up more greenspace. If the buildings were 
increased in height, then more open greenspace might exist.  Regarding balance on the 
site, the proposed plan is more desirable than what was seen in the Concept Plan. 

• H. Zuckerman stated that the project is proposing 20% open space where 15% is 
required. The board agreed that the proposed project meets the open space criteria within 
the Comp Plan and the Code. 

 
Key Issue #3:  Are the proposed building designs consistent with the Site Review criteria of 
Section 9-2-14(h)(2)(F), B.R.C. 1981? 

• B. Bowen stated that the Design Advisory Board (DAB) did a good job reviewing this 
project and the applicant did a good job taking direction from them. He offered no 
changes in regards to building design. The work performed by the Landmarks DRC in 
regards to Building E was successful. In regards to the Design Guidelines in the RMX-2 
zone, they need to be interpreted by staff used to ensure a positive outcome.   

• H. Zuckerman echoed B. Bowen and he supports the fenestration and solidity of the 
project. 

• L. Payton reviewed the individual elevations of the buildings. Overall, she approved of 
the elevations along Broadway. She expressed concern with the RMX-2 buildings using 
too many materials, plains and roof levels. She suggested they be simpler and refined. 
She approves of Building T. She added that the elevations along the southern elevation 
seems chaotic and simplified. 

• C. Gray added that the buildings are properly broken up and scaled for the site. She 
approves of the entry to the residences off the street. 

• L. May added that the simple design along Broadway of the proposed plan achieves 
elegance.  He stated the buildings along Lee Hill appear less composed. The proposed 
Hardy Panel material does not read well. Would not want to approve these plans with 
these Design Guidelines as they currently read. 

• H. Zuckerman disagreed with L. May regarding the Design Guidelines and would be 
happy to approve the project with the Guidelines as they are currently written. He 
approves of architectural variation. Also approves of Building T. 

• J. Gerstle suggested the applicant consider roof-top access to residents.  Roof space that 
is below the maximum height should be put to good use. He added that the permeability 
of site is successful. 

 

Attachment B - Draft minutes from the 8/4/16 public hearing 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 15

Packet Page 273



 

Key Issue #4: Does the 23 percent parking reduction meet the parking reduction criteria of 
Section 9-2-14(h)(2)(K), B.R.C. 1981? 

• The board had already discussed the parking reduction under Key Issue #2. 
 
Key Issue #5: Historic Preservation 

• L. May suggested that rather than a “good faith effort” to pursue landmarking, a 
requirement to support landmarking should be done.  
 

• T. Carr responded by stating that this with this project, the applicant has already 
filed the individual landmark designation application and it is being considered. It 
is currently active. In addition, the landmarking actually has to be complete before 
they applicant can received their permit. 

 
Key Issue #6: Design Guidelines 

• L. Payton mentioned that she has concerns with the with Design Guidelines and some of 
the suggested buildings appear complicated and chaotic. She suggested flexibility exists 
for each element of the buildings. She questioned if the board can make a condition that 
the Design Guidelines for the RMX-2 buildings be reviewed by DAB or staff. 
 

• K. Guiler suggested the board add a condition stating that “the Design Guidelines 
shall be revised to address the following…” and to be very specific as to changes 
so it can be submitted at time of TEC doc. Therefore, when the revised Design 
Guidelines are received, staff will have specific things to look for.  
 

• B. Bowen explained that he had the same concerns regarding the Design Guidelines but 
he is not prepared to state any specific changes. 

• L. Payton added that developers focus on the images and character designs of Design 
Guidelines and are critical. Perhaps a condition could be made regarding the 
Supplemental Information (A through E) within the Design Guidelines to be revised to 
reflect simpler forms and materials or stricken completely.  

 
Motion: 
On a motion by B. Bowen seconded by H. Zuckerman the Planning Board voted 6-0 (J. 
Putnam absent) to approve Site Review application LUR2015-00012, incorporating this staff 
memorandum and the attached Site Review criteria checklists as findings of fact, and subject to 
the recommended conditions of approval. 
 
Friendly amendment made by L. Payton to remove the “Supplemental Information” pages A 
through E within the Design Guidelines and replace the interior image for the Loft Building 
Type B on page 13 to show an exterior picture of an example loft. Passes unanimously. 
 
Friendly amendment made by C. Gray to extend the EcoPasses for a period of five years 
unless, a community pass is offered sooner. Passes unanimously. 
 
Friendly amendment made by L. May to revise the Design Guideline 2.1 on page 7 to include 
the following additional statement: “The design should pay special attention to the quality of 

Attachment B - Draft minutes from the 8/4/16 public hearing 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 16

Packet Page 274



 

images provided in this document with respect to simplicity of building form and simplicity of 
building materials.” Passes unanimously.  
 
 
 
6. MATTERS FROM THE PLANNING BOARD, PLANNING DIRECTOR, AND CITY 

ATTORNEY 
A. Recommendation to City Council regarding Prairie Dogs 

• Motion: 
On a motion by C. Gray seconded by L. Payton the Planning Board voted 5-1 
(H. Zuckerman opposed, J. Putnam absent) further recommended the City 
Council pursue finding an appropriate site for displaced prairie dogs. 
 

B. Net Area Calculation Method  
• L. Payton suggested to recommend to City Council impose a moratorium 

regarding this process of density calculation until it has been vetted through the 
public and City Council. 

• After discussion, the board agreed to schedule this topic for a future Planning 
Board agenda. Staff will prepare a history of using this method to present to the 
board.  

 
C. Planning Board Calendar Review / August Meetings 

• C. Spence reviewed the upcoming Planning Board meetings with the board. She 
will send an email to the board with all the dates, times and locations.  

 
7. DEBRIEF MEETING/CALENDAR CHECK 

A.  
 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The Planning Board adjourned the meeting at 9:49 p.m. 
  
APPROVED BY 
  
___________________  
Board Chair 
 
___________________ 
DATE 
  

Attachment B - Draft minutes from the 8/4/16 public hearing 

Call Up 
4750 Broadway

 
1A     Page 17

Packet Page 275



INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

To: Members of City Council 

From: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Caeli Hill, Associate Planner 

Date:  August 16, 2016 

Subject: Call-Up Item: Vacation of a 200 square foot utility easement along the southwest 
property line of 4500 Brookfield Drive. (ADR2016-00143). 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
In order to develop the property consistent with the zoning, the applicant requests vacation of a 
200 square foot public utility easement located at 4500 Brookfield Dr. (refer to Attachment D for 
exact location). The easement was dedicated on the plat of the First Addition to Majestic Heights 
subdivision recorded in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder at Plat Book 8, Page 
32 on September 29, 1961 (Reception No. 90684085). This easement has never been used, and 
there are no utilities located within it. There are no indications that it will be needed in the future 
creating no further public need for the easement. The proposed vacation was approved by staff on 
July 25, 2016. There are two scheduled City Council meetings within the 30-day call-up period on 
August 2, 2016 and August 16, 2016. 

CODE REQUIREMENTS:  
Pursuant to the procedures for easement vacations set forth in subsection 8-6-10(b), B.R.C. 1981, 
the city manager has approved the vacation of a 200 square foot utility easement. The date of staff 
approval of the easement vacation was July 25, 2016 (refer to Attachment E, Notice of 
Disposition). This vacation does not require approval through ordinance based on the following 
criteria:  

• It has never been open to the public; and
• It has never carried regular vehicular or pedestrian traffic.

The vacation will be effective 30 days later on August 24, 2016 unless the approval is called up by 
City Council.  

Call Up 
4500 Brookfield Drive

 
1B     Page 1

Packet Page 276



FISCAL IMPACTS: 
None identified. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS:  
Economic: None identified. 
 
Environmental: None identified. 
 
Social: None identified. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The subject property is approximately 8,263 square feet in area located in South Boulder (refer to 
Attachment A, Vicinity Map). The site is located in a Residential-Low 1 (RL-1) zone district. The 
owner is requesting the easement vacation so that the property can be fully developed including a 
small shed in the backyard which is common site development for a low density, single-family 
dwelling unit. The easement was originally established on the plat of the First Addition to Majestic 
Heights subdivision recorded in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder at Plat 
Book 8, Page 32 on September 29, 1961 (Reception No. 90684085). There have never been any 
utilities located in this easement and there are no plans to locate utilities in this easement in the 
future. Additionally, approval of the easement vacation has been received from electric/gas, 
telephone and cable company representatives. There is no further public need for this easement. 
 
Given that there is no public need for the easement for which it was intended, failure to vacate the 
requested easement would cause hardship to the property owner by limiting the development 
potential of the property.    
 
ANALYSIS:  
Staff finds the proposed vacation of a utility easement consistent with the standards set forth in 
subsection (b) of section 8-6-10, “Vacation of Public Easements”, B.R.C. 1981. Specifically, staff 
has determined that no public need exists for the easement to be vacated because new easements 
will be dedicated to replace the function of the current easement. 
 
No vacation of a public easement shall be approved unless the approving agency finds that: 
 
    1. Change is not contrary to the public interest. 
    2. All agencies having a conceivable interest have indicated that no need exists, either 

in the present or conceivable future, for its original purpose or other public purpose. 
    3. Consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulations. 
    a. Failure to vacate the easement would cause a substantial hardship to the use of the 

property consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulations; or 
This property is designated Low Density Residential per the Boulder 
Valley Comprehensive Plan and is being developed to be consistent 
with that designation. 

 
 N/A  b. Would provide a greater public benefit than retaining the property in its present 

status. 

Call Up 
4500 Brookfield Drive

 
1B     Page 2

Packet Page 277



 
PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS:  
Notice of the vacation will be advertised in the Daily Camera within the 30-day call up period. 
Staff has received no written or verbal comments adverse to the vacation.  
 
 
NEXT STEPS:  
If the requested vacation is not called up by City Council then the Deed of Vacation (Attachment  
C) will be recorded. If the requested vacation is called up, and subsequently denied, the applicant 
will be limited to development on the property outside of the easement area. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment A:   Vicinity Map 
Attachment B:   Site Plan 
Attachment C:   Deed of Vacation 
Attachment D:  Exhibit A 
Attachment E:  Notice of Disposition 

Call Up 
4500 Brookfield Drive

 
1B     Page 3

Packet Page 278



 

 
 

 

4500 Brookfield Dr. 

Attachment A - Vicinity Map 

Call Up 
4500 Brookfield Drive

 
1B     Page 4

Packet Page 279



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Subject Easement 

4500 Brookfield 

Existing Easements to Remain 

Attachment B - Site Plan 

Call Up 
4500 Brookfield Drive

 
1B     Page 5

Packet Page 280



 

Attachment C - Deed of Vacation 

Call Up 
4500 Brookfield Drive

 
1B     Page 6

Packet Page 281



 
 

 
 

Attachment D- Exhibit A

Call Up 
4500 Brookfield Drive

 
1B     Page 7

Packet Page 282



Attachment D- Exhibit A

Call Up 
4500 Brookfield Drive

 
1B     Page 8

Packet Page 283



Attachment E - Notice of Disposition 

Call Up 
4500 Brookfield Drive

 
1B     Page 9

Packet Page 284



INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

To: Members of City Council 

From: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Planning, Housing and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, Housing and Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Caeli Hill, Associate Planner 

Date:  August 16, 2016 

Subject: Call-Up Item:  Vacation of a 10,076 square foot emergency access easement located 
along the east property line of the property located at 4525 Palo Parkway. (ADR2016-
00167). 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
The applicant requests vacation of an existing 10,076 square foot emergency access easement 
located along the east property line located at 4525 Palo Parkway (refer to Attachment D for exact 
locations). This easement was dedicated on the final plat of Palo Park Filing No. 4 (Reception No. 
00614474), recorded in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and Recorder on April 11, 1984.  

This easement vacation is requested in order to develop the property to be consistent with the 
Conditions of Approval (Attachment F, Notice of Disposition for Site Review) for a Site Review 
(LUR2016-00027) approving 44 permanently affordable housing units. A new configuration for 
emergency access has been approved through the Site Review process. This emergency access 
easement has never been open to pedestrian or vehicular traffic and is not recognized by 
emergency services creating no further public need for it. The proposed vacation was approved by 
staff on August 2, 2016. There are two scheduled City Council meetings within the 30-day call-up 
period on August 2, 2016 and August 16, 2016. 

CODE REQUIREMENTS:  
Pursuant to the procedures for easement vacations set forth in subsection 8-6-10(b), B.R.C. 1981, 
the city manager has approved the vacation of a 10,076 square foot emergency access easement. 
The date of staff approval of the easement vacation was August 2, 2016 (refer to Attachment E, 
Notice of Disposition). These vacations do not require approval through ordinance based on the 
following criteria:  

• It has never been open to the public; and
• It has never carried regular vehicular or pedestrian traffic.

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 1

Packet Page 285



 
This vacation will be effective 30 days later on September 1, 2016 unless the approval is called up 
by City Council.  
 
FISCAL IMPACTS: 
None identified. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS:  
Economic: None identified. 
 
Environmental: None identified. 
 
Social: None identified. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The subject 3.2-acre property is located in Boulder County at the eastern terminus of Palo Parkway 
(refer to Attachment A, Vicinity Map). The subject property is undeveloped and has been vacant 
since at least the 1940s. The subject easement was dedicated on the final plat of Palo Park Filing 
No. 4 (Reception No. 00614474) recorded in the records of the Boulder County Clerk and 
Recorder on April 11, 1984. 

On May 26, 2016 Planning Board approved a Site Review (LUR2016-00027) for the 
redevelopment of the subject vacant parcel into 44, 100% affordable, residential units jointly 
managed by Boulder Housing Partners and Flatirons Habitat for Humanity. The approved site 
design provides for a continuous 20-foot wide drive lane around the entirety of the site which 
meets emergency services’ standards for a typical emergency vehicle’s movements through the site 
(Attachment B, Site Plan). 
 
Given that the vacation of the subject easement was a requirement of a Site Review approval and 
that there is no public need for this easement, failure to vacate the requested easement would cause 
hardship to the property owner by preventing the owner from fulfilling the requirements of their 
site approval and would limit the development potential of the property.    
 
ANALYSIS:  
Staff finds the proposed vacation of these emergency access easements consistent with the 
standards set forth in subsection (b) of section 8-6-10, “Vacation of Public Easements”, B.R.C. 
1981. Specifically, staff has determined that no public need exists for the easements being vacated. 
 
No vacation of a public easement shall be approved unless the approving agency finds that: 
 
    1. Change is not contrary to the public interest. 
    2. All agencies having a conceivable interest have indicated that no need exists, either 

in the present or conceivable future, for its original purpose or other public purpose. 
    3. Consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulations. 
N/A  a. Failure to vacate the easement would cause a substantial hardship to the use of the 

property consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Use Regulations; or 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 2

Packet Page 286



  b. Would provide a greater public benefit than retaining the property in its present
status.

This property was approved for annexation into the City of Boulder on 
January 5, 2016 to allow for the construction of a 100% permanently 
affordable family housing development. The site review (LUR2016-
00027) was approved on May 26, 2016. By vacating the current 
emergency access easement, the site can be developed in accordance 
with the approved site review and continue to further the City’s housing 
goals as outlined in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP). 

PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS:  
Notice of this vacation will be advertised in the Daily Camera within the 30-day call up period. 
Staff has received no written or verbal comments adverse to the vacation.  

NEXT STEPS:  
If the requested vacation is not called up by City Council then the Deed of Vacation (Attachment 
C) will be recorded. If the requested vacations are called up, and subsequently denied, the
applicant will be limited to development on the property outside of the easement areas. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
Attachment A:   Vicinity Map 
Attachment B:   Site Plan 
Attachment C:   Deed of Vacation 
Attachment D:  Exhibit A & Exhibit B 
Attachment E:  Notice of Disposition- Easement Vacation 
Attachment F:  Notice of Disposition- Site Review Approval 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 3

Packet Page 287



 
 

 

4500 Palo 
Pkwy 

Palo Pkwy 

Ridgeway St. 

Attachment A - Vicinity Map 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 4

Packet Page 288



 
 

Subject Easement 

Dimensioned 
Width of Drive 
Lane- 20 feet 

Attachment B - Site Plan 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 5

Packet Page 289



Attachment B - Site Plan 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 6

Packet Page 290



 
 
 

Attahcment C - Deed of Vacation 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 7

Packet Page 291



 
 

Attachment D - Exhibit A 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 8

Packet Page 292



 

 

Attachment D - Exhibit A 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 9

Packet Page 293



Attachment E - Notice of Dispo - Easement Vacation 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 10

Packet Page 294



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Attachment F - Notice of Dispo - Site Review Approval 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 11

Packet Page 295



 
 
 

Attachment F - Notice of Dispo - Site Review Approval 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 12

Packet Page 296



 

Attachment F - Notice of Dispo - Site Review Approval 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 13

Packet Page 297



 

Attachment F - Notice of Dispo - Site Review Approval 

Call Up 
4525 Palo Parkway

 
1C     Page 14

Packet Page 298



INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

To: Mayor and Members of Council 

From: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Karen Rahn, Human Services Director  
Allison Bayley, Youth Opportunities Program Coordinator 

Date: August 16, 2016 

Subject: Information Item: 2016 - 2017 Youth Opportunities Program Annual Grant 
Allocations  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
This memorandum presents the allocation of the 2016-2017 Youth Opportunities Program 
(YOP) Annual Grants Fund. A total of $116,000 has been allocated to ten community 
agencies. Funding recommendations were developed by the Youth Opportunities Advisory 
Board (YOAB), comprised of 16 Boulder-resident high school students. Youth benefiting 
from the programs supported by the Annual Grants Fund typically perform local volunteer 
work in exchange for the grant funding to the organization.  

FISCAL IMPACT  
The Youth Opportunities Fund (YOF) allocated $116,000 for annual grants, which was 
appropriated in the 2016 budget. There are no additional fiscal impacts.  

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Social: All funds provide social, cultural and educational opportunities for middle and high 

school-age city youth. Some grantees provide after-school and summer opportunities for 
youth whose life circumstances present barriers to success, including immigrant and low-
income youth. Research has shown that the greater the number of out-of-school activities a 
young person is involved in, the less likely s/he is to engage in risk behaviors. The YOP 
fosters strong relationships between youth and the community, which research has shown to 
serve as a protective factor for youth. This increased resiliency supports increased high 
school graduation rates, improved earnings potential, less involvement with law enforcement 
and increased self-sufficiency. 

Information Item 
YOP Annual Grant Allocations

 
2A     Page 1

Packet Page 299



BACKGROUND 
The Youth Opportunities Fund was established in 1992. The YOP’s mission is to strengthen the 
community through empowering youth, providing enrichment opportunities, encouraging civic 
participation and community service and advising city government. Funds are allocated each 
year to provide social, cultural and educational opportunities and services for city resident 
middle and high school-age youth.  

Using guidelines and priorities identified in the Human Services Master Plan, bi-annual Healthy 
Kids Colorado Surveys (HKCS, formerly known as the Youth Risk Behavior Survey) and the 
city’s Social Sustainability Strategic Plan, the YOP has identified the following focus areas to 
address community needs. Annual grant applicants addressed at least one of these goal areas:  
 Address key issues identified in the HKCS results. For example: mental health, substance

use, harassment and health disparities based on sexual orientation or ethnicity;
 Promote youth voice by engaging youth in structured aspects of civic life and/or in

community dialogue on social issues;
 Provide after-school, evening, and/or summer opportunities that likely would not otherwise

be available to youth;
 Provide targeted services, particularly to middle school or Latino youth;
 Provide transportation to help youth access cultural, educational or recreational opportunities

or employment;
 Provide employment-related education opportunities for youth; and
 Support city-sponsored after-school activities.

The priority for all YOP funding is to support programs serving low-income, at-risk or 
differently-abled youth. Programs must use Positive Youth Development (PYD) practices and 
specifically engage youth as partners, be inclusive and use a strengths-based approach in their 
programming. 

ANALYSIS  
Seventeen annual grant proposals totaling $189,250 were received. Ten proposals were fully or 
partially funded, totaling $116,000 (Attachment A).  

Seven proposals totaling $73,250 were not funded (Attachment B). Proposals were reviewed by 
YOAB members and scored using the following criteria:  
 Evidence of community need;
 Organizational capacity;
 Youth input into proposal and program development;
 Integration of PYD principles; and
 Quality of program components, evaluation and budget.

Youth and adult representatives from each organization attended in-person interviews to present 
their proposals and answer questions from YOAB members. Final allocation decisions were 
made to ensure a wide variety of youth would be served by quality PYD programs that value and 
incorporate youth input.  

The recommendations for allocations were presented to the city manager by representatives of 
the YOAB on June 15, 2016. The city manager approved the recommendations. 

Information Item 
YOP Annual Grant Allocations

 
2A     Page 2

Packet Page 300



NEXT STEPS  
 Contracts with successful applicants will be executed in July 2016. 
 Funded programs will receive half of their funding in September 2016.  
 Agency mid-year reports are due in January 2017. On approval of the mid-year report, 

agencies receive the second half of their funding in February 2017. Final reports are due in 
September 2017. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: YOP grant allocations 
Attachment B: YOP grant requests not funded 
 
 
 
  

Information Item 
YOP Annual Grant Allocations

 
2A     Page 3

Packet Page 301



          Attachment A: YOP grant allocations 
 
Chart 1: 2016-2017 Youth Opportunities Program Annual Grant Allocations  
Agency Project  Amount 

Awarded  
Arapahoe 
Ridge High 
School 

REAL Program 
Support student leadership and positive youth-adult 
relationships by funding staff support and supplies to 
implement a Positive Behavioral Intervention Support program. 

$14,939 

Attention 
Homes 

GED Instruction  
Provide instructor and materials for residents of Attention 
Homes in need of GED instruction. 

$15,000 

Boulder High 
School 

Si Se Puede 
Provide staffing and test fees for college preparation and 
college application support for juniors and seniors at Boulder 
High School who are first generation college students.  

$12,590 
 

Boulder Judo 
Training 
Center  

The Aim Higher Project  
Provide instructors, uniforms and other supplies for participants 
in sports-focused alternative community placement program for 
at-risk youth. 

$14,966 

Boulder Valley 
Women's 
Health  

SHAPE (Sexual Health & AIDS Awareness Peer Education)  
Provide educators, supplies and retreat costs to train youth to 
educate their peers to reduce their risk of sexually transmitted 
diseases or unwanted pregnancies. 

$9,174 

Growing 
Gardens 

Cultiva Youth Project 
Provide stipends to involve diverse teenagers in organic 
gardening as a means to teach sustainable agriculture, 
leadership, entrepreneurial and life skills. 

$8,500 

Mountain 
Flower Goat 
Dairy 

Hooves to Hands Entrepreneur Program 
To provide the opportunity for entrepreneurship and increase 
employment skills for youth. Support for staffing and supplies. 

$10,120 

Natural Highs Natural Highs 
Provide education and safe space for youth to seek healthy 
alternatives to drugs and alcohol. Support staffing and supplies 
for community-wide youth events, drop-in workshops and 
classes at New Vista High School. 

$14,973 

Out Boulder Boulder Out Leadership Development  
Offer leadership development and community building through 
funding staff and supplies for art and activism and community 
events for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer and allied 
youth. 

$8,290 

Parks & 
Recreation: 
Youth Services 
Initiative  

Getting Fit Program 
Facilitate the positive development of low-income youth by 
connecting them to experiences that will empower them to 
make positive choices for healthy lifestyle. Provide funds for 
access to outdoor recreation opportunities such as skiing, 
camping and sailing. 

$7,448 

Total Requests Funded $116,000 

Information Item 
YOP Annual Grant Allocations

 
2A     Page 4

Packet Page 302



          Attachment B: YOP grant requests not funded 

Chart 2: 2016-2017 Youth Opportunities Program Annual Grant Requests Not Funded 
Agency Project  Amount 

Requested 
Boulder 
Museum of 
Contemporary 
Art  

The Studio Project and Art Lounge Program  
Engage and connect middle and high school youth with 
contemporary art, visiting artists through leadership 
development and youth events. Funding requested for staffing, 
supplies and artist fees.  

$14,966 

Boulder 
Philharmonic 
Orchestra  

Music Mentors – Music Outreach & Education 
Host opportunities for youth involved in school music 
education programs to learn from professional musicians. 
Requested funding for staff.  

$15,000 

Colorado Film 
Society 

Youth Advisory Council and Youth Pavilion 
Funding for personnel and supplies to support the Youth 
Advisory Council for the Boulder International Film Festival 
and the Cinema to Schools Program. 

$3,180 

Greater 
Boulder Youth 
Orchestra  

Community, Careers, Collaborations 
Provide funding for professional musicians to partner with 
youth involved in the Greater Boulder Youth Orchestra to and 
to learn and perform music in smaller chamber concerts.  

$15,000 

I Have a 
Dream 
Foundation 

Dreamer 2 Dreamer Mentoring Program 
Support a mentoring program between high school and middle 
school-age Dreamers. Funding for personnel, field trips and 
transportation.  

$8,550 

Parlando 
School for The 
Arts  

BVSD Music Support Program 
Provide funding for professional musicians to teach middle and 
high school students enrolled in the BVSD music program and 
provide free in school private lessons to students in need. 

$9,600 

Wildlands 
Restoration 
Volunteers 

Youth Stewardship Program 
Support the Youth Leadership Certificate, High School Crew 
Leader Training and projects involving middle school-age 
youth in outdoor stewardship and restoration. Requested 
support for personnel and supplies for restoration projects. 

$6,954 

Total Requests Not Funded $73,250 
 

 

Information Item 
YOP Annual Grant Allocations

 
2A     Page 5

Packet Page 303



  

  
INFORMATION PACKET 

MEMORANDUM   
To: Members of City Council 
 
From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 Heather Bailey, Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 

Development  
 
Date:   August 16, 2016 
 
Subject: Information Item: Boulder’s Energy Future – Municipalization Transition Plan and 

Budget Update 
 

 
A. Municipalization Transition Plan Update  
The Municipalization Transition Work Plan serves as a working tool for the city that will be 
updated on a regular basis as regulatory and legal issues are addressed, tasks are refined, and 
work is completed. It is designed to manage the risks of acquisition while prioritizing the 
fundamentals of an electric utility: safety and reliability. Significant work and accomplishments 
completed since the last update to council include: 
  Pursued discovery process with Xcel to obtain information needed to prepare 

supplemental application to the Colorado PUC for transfer of assets  Continued work on supplemental application to the Colorado PUC for transfer of assets, 
including responding to answer testimony and discovery requests  Ongoing development of separation alternatives consistent with the Colorado PUC order 
of December 30, 2015  Evaluated annexation options for city-owned properties  Ongoing evaluation and engagement with Xcel on their response to the power supply 
request for proposal.  Continued evaluation and discussions with various vendors who provided qualification 
statements for ongoing operation and maintenance services  Continued integration of information from the Information Technology roadmap project 
in the transition work plan and budget  Ongoing development of the cash flow model and updated modeling of electric system 
costs 

Information Item 
Boulder's Energy Future - Municipalization Transition Plan and Budget Update

 
2B     Page 1

Packet Page 304



ATTACHMENT A 

 Continued implementation and evaluation of energy services related to solar, electric 
vehicles, and nanogrids, including launching a Solar + EV group purchase program in 
partnership with Boulder County  Participated as intervenors in several Xcel Energy proceedings at the Public Utilities 
Commission including the Phase 2 Rate Case, Solar*Connect, Renewable Energy 
Standard Compliance Plan, Electric Resource Plan, Rush Creek Wind, Decoupling, 
Demand-Side Management Plan and a recently filed grid modernization proceeding  Ongoing development of operations, maintenance, construction, and safety policies and 
procedures  Continued work on the key accounts program, including ongoing development of a 
customer service policies and procedures manual and customer service meetings with 
large commercial businesses in Boulder  Continued to meet with the Energy Services, Rates, Reliability and Safety and Resource 
Acquisition working groups as necessary  Ongoing communication and outreach work, including ongoing public information 
support via the city’s various communication channels (social media, press releases and 
the website), connecting climate commitment goals with energy future objectives, and 
creation of print and digital outreach materials to present in meetings with large 
commercial businesses in Boulder  Participated in a number of regional, national and international collaborations in support 
of the Boulder community’s climate and energy goals (Attachment A) 

 
B. Budget Update   
The municipalization work plan represents a significant undertaking. In particular, the legal and 
technical work necessary to prepare for the potential acquisition of the local distribution system 
and launch of a municipal utility will be a considerable investment. Recognizing this, in 2011, 
city voters approved an increase to the Utility Occupation Tax in the amount of $1.9 million a 
year. The use of this tax revenue has been allocated to the following categories:  Legal services (PUC, condemnation and FERC Counsel)  Consulting services related to municipalization and separation of Xcel’s system 

(engineering and appraisal services)  Salary and benefits (Energy Strategy and Electric Utility Development)  Purchased services and supplies (office space and supplies) 
 
City staff is managing spending on transition plan activities such that significant investments are 
deferred until such time as there is a decision from the Colorado Public Utilities Commission on 
the separation of the electric system from Xcel. At that time, staff will be able to better assess the 
overall impact on the longer term budget and funding. 
 
Budget 
In 2014, council approved a multi-year 2015-2017 project budget to ensure that resources were 
available to meet the legal/regulatory challenges and fluctuations in the transition work plan 
schedule. The 2015-2017 total budget (Chart 1) of $7,880,327 is primarily funded from the 
Utility Occupation Tax, part of which was prefunded through an advance from the general fund 
which is being reimbursed as the Utility Occupation Tax is collected for 2016 and 2017. The 

 

Information Item 
Boulder's Energy Future - Municipalization Transition Plan and Budget Update

 
2B     Page 2

Packet Page 305



ATTACHMENT A 

multi-year budget also includes a one-time general fund request of $712,877; 2014 encumbrance 
carryover of $495,731; and 2014 Operating Carryover of $441,361.  These funds have been 
allocated for salaries, benefits, and services which support legal and operations work related to 
the development of an electric utility.  
 
The primary sources of funding for 2016-2017, $5,858,836, include the unspent amounts of the 
2015 budget of $5,490,553, and the 2015 encumbrance carryover of $368,283, as indicated in 
Chart 1 below. 
 
Chart 1 – 2015-2017 Budget Sources              * GF reserves were approved in 2015 to bridge the timing difference in cash flow of an anticipated accelerated work plan and unpredictable legal costs. As actual UOT revenue collections occur in 2016/2017, they will return to the GF reserves.  Chart 2 depicts the 2016 Utility Occupation Tax (UOT) budget and project expenditures. 
Expenditures through 2nd Quarter 2016 total $804,938 and are below year to date budget targets.   
 Chart 2 – Utility Occupation Tax 

2016 USES 2016 Budget Expenditures Encumbrances Balance 
Staffing (includes salary and benefits) 1,107,323 441,414 0 665,909 
Consulting and Contract Services - Transition Plan  965,500 529 0 964,971 
Consulting and Contract Services - Legal and Regulatory 1,350,000 340,697 514,772 494,531 
Consulting and Contract Services 2,315,500 341,226 514,772 1,459,502 
Systems 280,000 0 0 280,000 
Capital 33,063 0 0 33,063 
Purchased Services and Supplies 216,252 22,298 13,115 180,839 
UOT Subtotal 3,952,138 804,938 527,887 2,619,314 
Future Planned Expenditures  1,906,698 
TOTAL 5,858,836 

 
In addition to the 2015-2017 approved project budget, council approved a $1 million 
contingency, out of the City Manager fund, to help supplement the Energy Future UOT budget 
for additional unplanned expenses. The contingency fund has been used to help supplement staff 

2015-2017 Sources 
2015 Utility Occupation Tax (UOT) Base Allocation 2,015,710 
General Fund (GF) Reserves*  4,214,648 
One-time request from General Fund 712,877 
2014 Encumbrance Carryover 495,731  
2014 ATB Carryover Request 441,361  
TOTAL APPROVED BUDGET (2015-2017) 7,880,327   
2015 Expenditures 2,021,490 
2015 Year-end Balance 5,490,553 
2015 Encumbrance Carryover 368,283 
2016 Beginning Balance 5,858,836 

 

Information Item 
Boulder's Energy Future - Municipalization Transition Plan and Budget Update

 
2B     Page 3

Packet Page 306



ATTACHMENT A 

salaries in 2016 (Chart 3). The projected budget for the 2016 contingency fund is $447,639. 
Expenditures through 2nd Quarter 2016 total $117,457 and are below year to date budget targets.   
 
Chart 3 – $1 Million GF Contingency 

2016 Uses  ($1 Million GF Contingency) 
 2016 Budget Expenditures Balance 

STAFFING TOTAL (includes salary and benefits) 447,639 117,475   360,165 
 
Below is a chart (Chart 4) of the expenditures spent on this project through 2nd Quarter 2016, 
since the approval of the Utility Occupation Tax.  
 

Chart 4 – Expenditures to Date  2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total 
Energy Future Project - Actual Expenditures  1,033,762 2,512,615 1,942,452 2,021,490    804,938 8,314,257   
$1 Million Contingency - Actual Expenditures  - - - 134,709  117,475 252,184  
TOTAL (2012-2016) 1,033,762 2,512,615 1,942,452 2,156,199   922,412   8,567,440 

 The City of Boulder provides a wide range of core services and community projects on behalf of 
the community each year. In 2015, approximately 85% of city resources, including personnel and 
non-personnel expenditures, across the organization, focused on core services including 
maintenance, operations and public safety, and approximately 15% of city resources focused on 
community projects outside the delivery of core services including, the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan, Housing Boulder, the Civic Area Plan, the Homeless Strategy, the North 
Trail Study Area, and the Boulder Energy Future Project.  
 
The Boulder Energy Future Project is one of the high profile community projects and is a top 
priority for City Council. Resources dedicated to this project represents approximately 6% of city 
resources spent on community projects. The level of indirect staff resources contributing to the 
Boulder Energy Future Project is commensurate with resources contributed to other city-wide 
community projects, and are indicated in Chart 5 below. 
 

Chart 5 – Other Contributing Resources 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Total 
Other Staff Resources Contributing to the Project (includes salary and benefits) 577,303 644,924 840,452 728,905  334,882 3,126,466 

 
Staff resources who contributed to the project in 2016, the estimated percentage of staff time 
spent on the project and associated budget allocation is provided in Attachment B. 
 
 
Attachments: Attachment A: Regional, National and International Collaboration 
Attachment B: Staffing Resources 
  
 

 

Information Item 
Boulder's Energy Future - Municipalization Transition Plan and Budget Update

 
2B     Page 4

Packet Page 307



ATTACHMENT A 
 

Regional, National and International Collaboration 
    

Area of Collaboration Relevant Activities in 2016 
Legislative & Regulatory  Colorado Public Utilities Commission (PUC)  

Early in 2016, the Public Service Company of Colorado (PSCo) began filing a series of proceedings at the PUC that are intended to begin the company’s transition to the company’s “Our Energy Future described in recent public statements.  Each proceeding is being evaluated for its impact on Boulder’s energy future, potentially requiring intervention by staff. To date, staff has intervened in or is monitoring the following PUC proceedings:  
- PSCo Phase 2 Rate Case (16AL-0048E) 
- Solar*Connect (16A-0055E) 
- Depreciation Schedule 
- Technical inputs 
- Renewable Energy Compliance Plan 
- 2017 Electric Resource Plan 
- Decoupling 

Additional proceedings expected in the coming months include: 
- Grid Security and modernization 
- Natural Gas 

 Monitored Bills introduced in 2015/2016 Legislative Session.  Staff testified on several climate-related Bills specifically aimed at the Clean Power Plan and the requirement for the PUC to include the full cost of carbon in utility resource planning processes.  
 In partnership with Boulder County, developed the Colorado Communities for Climate Action Coalition (CC4CA) to lead efforts to advocate for policy and regulatory changes that promote and support local decision making in pursuit of a low carbon energy future including those that would simultaneously promote community resilience, economic vitality and job creation. The local governments that have signed up as CC4CA members are Boulder County, Fort Collins, Boulder, Eagle County, Golden, Pitkin County, San Miguel County, , Vail, Aspen, Telluride, Mountain Village and Summit County . Other jurisdictions are expected to soon join the coalition. Recruitment efforts continue in 2016, and a 2016 work plan is being developed. The Coalition has hired Frontline Public Affairs to represent the group on legislative matters, and recently interviewed firms for regulatory representation.  
 EPA Clean Power Plan- In partnership with 17 US states and four cities, Boulder intervened in the DC District Court case.  The Coalition is being led by the New York Attorney General’s office and was formed to defend the Clean Power Plan against motions to stay the rule.  Boulder submitted a Declaration from the Mayor which was submitted as testimony in the case.  Boulder will continue to be an active party as the Supreme Court address the existing stay on the rule, and the disposition of the case during 2016. 

Information Item 
Boulder's Energy Future - Municipalization Transition Plan and Budget Update

 
2B     Page 5

Packet Page 308



ATTACHMENT A 
Regional Technical and Outreach Working Groups 

 Colorado Climate Networking Steering Committee—The Colorado Climate Network and the Colorado Municipal League are convening a statewide Local Resilience Project and the Northern Front Range Resiliency Project o help improve the resilience of Colorado local governments and local resources to possible climate change impacts. The Network released the final report available at: http://www.coclimatenetwork.org/resilience.html.  Additionally, the CCN will perform the administrative functions for the Colorado Communities for Climate Action Coalition mentioned above. 
 Colorado Clean Energy Cluster—Colorado Clean Energy Cluster (CCEC) is a project-driven, nonprofit economic development organization aimed at growing primary jobs in Colorado in the area of clean energy through formal partnerships between clean energy companies, the public sector and higher education. The board is made up of cities, businesses and universities – the city’s membership includes board seats for the city, Boulder Chamber, and the University of Colorado Boulder. The city is collaborating with CCEC on the following efforts: 

- Managing a Department of Energy grant funded project to increase energy resilience at the city’s Water Treatment plant 
- Organizing and tracking the local clean tech energy sector 
- Identifying and developing high profile/high impact pilot projects that engages our local clean energy companies 
- Ensuring the success of the Boulder Energy Challenge grant recipients 

 Local Government Working Group on Public Utilities Commission Issues—Developed strawman community energy report and participated in meetings with Xcel Energy technical staff to refine list of energy consumption and programmatic metrics that will be provided to local governments for climate and energy planning.  
 Boulder Sustainability Alliance—Representatives from CU Boulder, BVSD, Boulder County and the city have continued to meet to discuss sustainability related issues; particularly issues associated with energy. On May 4 the Alliance was the primary topic at the Town/Gown event at CU Boulder.  Leadership from each of the four Alliance organizations spoke about efforts relate to climate, energy and sustainability.  
 Boulder, Boulder County & City/County of Denver Collaboration—Staff from the four agencies meet quarterly to discuss ongoing issues related to energy and climate, waste reduction and transportation alternatives. 
 Renewable Diesel 

- Convened group of regional sustainability directors and fleet managers to evaluate the potential to integrate renewable diesel into fleet operations 
- Submitted grant application to RAQC to fund feasibility analysis of renewable diesel pilot in the Front Range 

 Solar and EV Benefits Program—work with Boulder County on the Solar and EV Benefits program to expand rooftop solar and EVs in Boulder.   

Information Item 
Boulder's Energy Future - Municipalization Transition Plan and Budget Update

 
2B     Page 6

Packet Page 309



ATTACHMENT A 
National/ International Technical and Outreach Working Groups 

 iUrban Smart City Advisory Group—Participated in two collaborative webinars with international advisory group members. 
 USDN Utility-Data User Group—Participated in bi-monthly webinars on topics from EPA Portfolio Manager to an overview of ACEEE tools and resources. 
 Carbon Neutral Cities Alliance—CNCA is a network of 17 international cities who have all made a commitment to 80% emissions reduction or greater by 2050 or sooner.  The city has been an active participant and secured 2 of the first 7 grants issued by CNCA for innovative pilot projects designed to significantly reduce emissions.  This two projects are: 

- Thermal decarbonization: Boulder and San Francisco are working jointly to develop strategies to transition off natural gas in the residential and municipal building infrastructures. 
- Whole Energy System Transition: Boulder, Minneapolis and Seattle are collaborating on a project to develop a range of different tools and strategies to support larger sub-community scale energy transition planning and strategy development. 

 Urban Sustainability Directors Network—City staff are taking part in a number of different USDN related working groups including accelerated net-zero building codes; emissions reduction projection tool development; ecodistrict planning, carbon tax strategies and other emerging topics. 
Conferences & Presentations  January 13, 6th Annual Electric Energy Storage Conference Presentation 

 February 20, Young Elected Officials (YEO) Network’s Clean Energy and Environmental Justice Policy Summit Presentation 
 March 9, Open Boulder Presentation 
 March 17, Maui Energy Conference Steering Committee and panels 
 March 28, University of Denver Environmental Law Workshop 
 March 29, CU Policy Class Presentation 
 April 22, Presentation to Rocky Mountain Green   
 May 2, Presentation to Martin Acres Neighborhood 
 June 13-15, APPA National Conference 
 July 15, Presentation to Scottish Leaders and Parliament Delegation 

                 

Information Item 
Boulder's Energy Future - Municipalization Transition Plan and Budget Update

 
2B     Page 7

Packet Page 310



ATTACHMENT A 
Boulder’s Municipalization Exploration Project 2016 Staffing Resources 

January - June, 2016 
 

Energy Future Budget: Utility Occupation Tax (UOT)/One-time General Fund $ 
Name % of Time Dedicated to Project 
Heather Bailey 100 
Robert Harberg 90 
Elizabeth Hanson 50 
Heidi Joyce 100 
Emily Sandoval 100 
 $441,414 

 
Energy Future Budget: $1 Million Contingency 
Name % of Time Dedicated to Project 
Yael Gichon 50 
Matt Lehrman 100 
Lex Telischak 100 
 $117,475 

 
Staffing Resources Allocated Within Existing Budgets, Separate From Energy Future 
Name % of Time Dedicated to Project 
Jeff Arthur 1 
Sarah Bennett 50 
Jane Brautigam 11 
Sandi Calhoun 3 
Tom Carr 15 
Gina Coluzzi 5 
David Driskell 3 
Francis Duffy 1 
Bob Eichem 1 
Daniel Fairchild 1 
David Gehr 28 
Yael Gichon 50 
Kathy Haddock 40 
Brett Hill 1 
Sarah Huntley 25 
Don Ingle 5 
Elesha Johnson 1 
Deb Kalish 46 
Jonathan Koehn 85 
Joyce Lira 2 
Sandra Llanes 25 
Sean Metrick 2 
Laurie Nading 83 
Cheryl Pattelli 1 
Maureen Rait 5 
Penn Richman 4 
Kendra Tupper 2 
Elizabeth Vasatka 4 
Patrick von Keyserling 2 
Mary Ann Weideman 3 
 $334,882 

ATTACHMENT B 

Information Item 
Boulder's Energy Future - Municipalization Transition Plan and Budget Update

 
2B     Page 8

Packet Page 311



 
 
 

INFORMATION PACKET 
      MEMORANDUM 

 
 

TO:  Members of City Council 
 
FROM:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
 David Driskell, Executive Director, Planning, Housing & Sustainability (PH&S) 
 Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Planning, PH&S 
 Lesli K. Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager, PH&S 
 Jean Gatza, Senior Planner, PH&S 
 Caitlin Zacharias, Planner I, PH&S 
 
DATE:  August 16, 2016 
 
RE: Information Item: Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Update (BVCP) Schedule 

and Community Engagement Plan  

 

PURPOSE 
As requested by the Council Agenda Committee, the purpose of this memo is to provide information to 
City Council on the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) Update schedule (Attachment A) and 
upcoming community engagement for Phase 3 (Attachment B)  

BACKGROUND 
The BVCP is the community’s plan for the future. Its policies are intended to guide decisions about 
growth management, development, preservation, environmental protection, economic vitality, 
transportation, housing and neighborhoods, arts and culture, and other topics. The Land Use and Area I, 
II, III Maps define the desired land-use pattern and location, type, and intensity of development. The 
BVCP is updated every five years to respond to changed circumstances or evolving community needs and 
priorities.   

Project Timeline  
The BVCP update has four phases, each with extensive community dialogue and engagement. The 
webpage for the project is: www.bouldervalleycompplan.net, which also includes a link to the 2010 
plan and maps.  Attachment A includes the project timeline and schedule.   
 

Phase 1—Foundations and Community Engagement Plan (completed)  
Phase 2—Issues Scoping with Community (completed) 
Phase 3—Analyze and Update Plan Policies and Maps (spring-fall 2016) 
Phase 4—Prepare Draft Plan for Adoption, Extend IGA (fall 2016/early 2017) 

 
Information Item 

BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan
 

2C     Page 1
Packet Page 312

http://www.bouldervalleycompplan.net/


Currently, Phase 3—Plan Analysis and Updated Policies and Maps are in progress.  As with the first 
two phases, Phase 3 entails multiple opportunities for community engagement, described in detail below.  
To update the plan, the planning team and consultants will:  
 

- address policy refinements and additions to better align the plan with master plans and adopted 
city and county policies,  

- develop land use choices and policy analysis, advancing the 3D modeling and visualization tools 
to help convey options and tradeoffs, and do further research and analysis to support a community 
conversation, 

- prepare analysis and site suitability for University of Colorado (CU) south campus to inform 
potential land use changes and agreements between the city and CU, 

- identify metrics to measure plan outcomes, and  
- update the Land Use Plan and Area maps, reflecting input and analysis from the public request 

process as well as the scenario analysis.  
 
A joint Board and Commission discussion will occur, as well as additional localized (subcommunity) 
public events, pop up meetings, and a second survey in the fall.  Detailed milestones for each task and 
plan component are also identified in Attachment A.  
 
Next is Phase 4—Draft Plan and IGA (Fall 2016 – Early 2017).  Phase 4 will synthesize all the 
previous phase deliverables into a draft plan for consideration/adoption, include metrics and 
measurements, and will have further opportunities for public review and engagement.  Additionally, the 
“Comprehensive Development Plan Intergovernmental Agreement” (IGA) between the city and county 
(valid through Dec. 31, 2017) will need to be updated.     

Community Engagement 
Staff, with feedback from the process subcommittee, have refined the approach for community 
engagement for the remainder of the update process. This is described in more detail in Attachment B, 
which describes the approach to share information and gather feedback about preferences around type and 
location for potential land use changes in different scenarios as well as policies regarding community 
benefits, growth management, and housing and neighborhood character.  Engagement includes:   
 

• Joint Advisory Board Meeting (Aug. 29) - The meeting will include presentation of initial land 
use scenarios and policy choices with small group discussion among board members.  

• Targeted Outreach to Community Groups - Staff is reaching out to civic and neighborhood 
organizations and joining them to share information and get input about scenarios and policy 
choices. These meetings are being scheduled through October. 

• Pop-Up Meetings – Staff will schedule “pop-up” meetings in local gathering places (coffee 
shops, parks, etc.) in September.  

• Statistically-Valid Survey (Oct./Nov.) – City Council and others will be able to review the draft 
survey and provide feedback beginning Sept. 22 through Sept. 30, 2016.  Staff will provide 
information at the briefing on Sept. 13, 2016.  

• Local Area Meetings (Sept./Oct.) – Building on the Listening Sessions that occurred in fall 
2015, a series of four to five meetings will be hosted to share land use scenarios and policy 
choices and facilitate discussions among community members to gather feedback. 
 

  

Information Item 
BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan

 
2C     Page 2

Packet Page 313



Public Request Land Use Changes 
• Open Houses (Aug. 8 and Sept. 26) – Staff will share information and draft recommendations 

and gather feedback on public request land use changes. 

NEXT CITY COUNCIL EVENT 
Sept. 13, 2016  City Council briefing  

ATTACHMENT(S) 
A. BVCP Work Plan Timeline & Schedule of Milestones 
B. Community Engagement Plan for Phase 3 

 

Information Item 
BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan

 
2C     Page 3

Packet Page 314



Detailed Schedule for Phases 3 and 4 and Approval Process
Updated - Aug. 8, 2016

2016 2017
July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb

Track and Deliverable

Public Land Use Requests (Approvals - Aug. to Nov.)
A - Two Body Review

Naropa (#1)

South Boulder properties (385 Broadway #3, Table Mesa #12, 

Stanford, #13)

B - Four Body Review

3261 3rd St (#25)

2801 Jay Road (#29)

Twin Lakes (#35, 36)

Policy Updates and Integration (Approvals - Oct. - Dec.)
Introduction and core values chapter update

Policy edits to sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9 

Amendment Procedures clarification and edits

Urban Services Criteria edits

Add resilience strategies to sec. 3-9

Trails and open space map changes 

CU South Land Use Change (Approvals Feb.)
Field Analysis/Site Suitability Study

Additional analysis and land use recommendations 

Annexation agreement recommendations

Focus Areas:  Land Use Scenarios, policies for housing, jobs, design, etc. (SS Nov., Approvals Feb.)
Land Use Scenarios

Built environment and community benefit policies (sec. 2)

Land use map changes from scenarios 

Housing edits and updates (sec. 7)

Additional climate or resilience policies 

Land use description edits

Policies and principles related to BCH (Alpine-Balsam site)

Subcommunities/Area Plans 
Implementation chapter of plan 

Suggested priorities for subcommunity or area planning

  

3-Land Use Request Analysis, Policy Updates, Focus Areas:  Land Use 4-Draft Plan and IGA

Analysis

Analysis

Report/
Memo

Report/Memo

Joint Boards/
open house

8/29

Initial Draft Revised
Draft

Approval 
Draft

Analysis and field work

Public Meeting
9/26

localized public events
10/10- 10/26

Prepare Scenarios and Analysis and Draft Policies

Study - 7/28

CC

PB Hearing
- 10/20

PC/BOCC -
Hearing TBD 
Nov-Dec

PB
/CC

PB/CC - Hearing on 10/13 
PB decision 10/13

PB/CC - Hearing on 10/13  
PB decision 10/13

PB
/CC

open house
8/8

Initial findings

Initial findings

PC
/BOCC

PC/BOCC 
Hearing

Initial
Draft

OSBT

8/10

Recommendation

PB
/CC

PB
/CC

Joint SS on 11/10
County later in Nov.  

Scenarios, draft
policies 

and analysis

public event
online info

OSBT 9/14

Report

Joint SS on 11/10
County later in Nov.  

Joint SS on 11/10
County later in Nov.  

carry forward work from listening sessions and fall survey

Policy directions from 
scenarios; map changes, 
incl. CU South
Reorganized chapters 
with approvals from Sept.
Metrics 
Glossary
Action Plan

Initial 
draft plan

open house 
and online

Adoption
draft plan

Draft IGA with 
questions

Recommendations
Synthesizing

PB

Hearings Feb. TBD

PC
/BOCC

PB
/CC

PB
/CC

PB
/CC

PB

pop ups

CC

PB

CC

CC

CC

CC decision on 11/1

CC decision on 11/1

CC approval 
11/1

BOCCPC

Decision
9/21

Decision
9/27

OSBT

Open 
house 
9/26

8/10

PC
/BOCC

PC
/BOCC

PC
/BOCC

9/14OSBT

Briefing 9/138/25

PB

Scenarios 
and 
draft 

Survey 10/17-11/18

8/11

PB

Joint Boards/
open house

8/29

9/15PB

Attachment A - BVCP Work Plan Timeline & Schedule of Milestones

Information Item 
BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan

 
2C     Page 4

Packet Page 315



Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
Schedule of Milestones 
Updated – Aug. 9, 2016 

Check www.BoulderValleyCompPlan.net webpage for current information on times and locations.  
Dates may be subject to change, and additional events will be scheduled. 

BVCP Process Subcommittee  
The process subcommittee, consisting of city and county members, guides the process.  Currently, all remaining 
2016 meetings are scheduled in the Municipal Building, 1777 Broadway, in the west conference room from noon 
to 1:30 p.m. Meeting dates include: 

 Aug. 17, 2016  
 Sept. 21, 2016    
 Oct. 19, 2016  
 Nov. 16, 2016 
 Dec. 21, 2016  

City Council Meetings 
This list outlines the City Council meetings.  More detail about the tasks is provided on the following pages.  

 Sept. 13, 2016 City Council Briefing on land use scenarios, key policy options, CU South, discussion of   
   Survey #2, and other aspects of the project 

 Sept. 22, 2016 BY EMAIL - Staff requests review of draft Survey #2 and input by Sept. 30   
 Oct. 13, 2016   Joint Public Hearing of City Council and Planning Board for all public land use requests, 

   eight total; four go to county first in August and Sept., as noted below 
 Nov. 1, 2016   City Council Agenda Item (public hearing closed on Oct. 13) - Decision on the land use  

   requests (after Planning Board decision on Oct. 13) 
 Council also gives direction and approval regarding Policy Integration:   
   core values, Sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9 (Note:  may get rescheduled in Dec.) 

 Nov. 10, 2016 Joint Study Session of City Council and Planning Board to review scenarios, analysis,  
    community engagement results from Oct., and initial online input from Survey #2  
    (non-statistical), ideas for draft plan 

 Dec. TBD City Council receives Survey #2 results  
 Feb. 2017 TBD City Council Study Session re: Draft Plan and Focus Areas 

  

Attachment A - BVCP Work Plan Timeline & Schedule of Milestones

Information Item 
BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan

 
2C     Page 5

Packet Page 316

http://www.bouldervalleycompplan.net/


Public Land Use Requests  
Includes final analysis and recommendations for land use changes, some which require approval by all four 
bodies (city and county), and some of which require only city approval.  

Four-Body (City and County) Approval (i.e., 3261 3rd St. (#25), 2801 Jay Road (#29), 6650, 6655 Twin Lakes 
Rd. and 0 Kalua Rd. (#35 and 36)) 
 Aug. 8, 2016   Public Open House, 5-7 p.m. 
 Aug. 22, 2016 Memo and recommendation 
 Aug. 30, 2016  Joint Public Hearing of Planning Commission and Board of County Commissioners  

Sept. 21, 2016   Planning Commission Decision  
 Sept. 27, 2016   BOCC Decision 
 Sept. 28, 2016  Send Planning Commission and BOCC Decisions to Planning Board and City Council  

Two-Body (City only) Approval (i.e., Naropa properties at 2130 Arapahoe Ave. and 6287 Arapahoe Ave. (#1), 
385 Broadway (#3), 0, 693 and 695 S. Broadway, Table Mesa (#12), and 3485 Stanford Ct. (#13)) 
 Sept. 26, 2016   Public Open House for four city properties and CU South 
 Oct. 3, 2016 Memo and recommendation 
 Oct. 13, 2016   Joint Public Hearing of City Council and Planning Board for all requests 
 Oct. 13, 2016   Planning Board Decision 
 Nov. 1, 2016   City Council Decision  

Policy Integration  
Includes:  

 Updates to Introduction and Core Values 
 Policy edits to Sections 3-Natural Environment, 4-Energy and Climate, 5-Economy, 6-Transportation, 8-

Community Well-Being, and 9-Agriculture and Food to reflect master plans, including some new 
resilience strategies 

 Amendment Procedures clarification and edits 
 Urban Service Criteria edits 
 Trails and Open Space map changes 

Dates:   
 July 28, 2016  Planning Board discussion regarding core values; Sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, and 9;  

    and Amendment Procedures 
 Aug. 8, 2016 Transportation Advisory Board (TAB) review of Section 6 
 Aug. 10, 2016 Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) review of Sections 3 and 9 
 Aug. 11, 2016   Planning Board continues discussion regarding core values, Sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9   
 Aug. 29, 2016 Public Open House to review revised sections 
 Aug. 29, 2016  Joint Boards and Commissions review of revised sections 
 Sept. 14, 2016 OSBT review of trails and open space map changes  
 Oct. 7, 2016 Approval draft, sections noted above 
 Oct. 20, 2016   Planning Board direction and approval regarding core values, Sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9   
 Nov. 1, 2016   City Council direction and approval regarding core values, Sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9 

   (Note:  may get rescheduled to Dec., depending on public request hearings)  
 TBD – Nov. County PC and BOCC direction and approval regarding same 

Attachment A - BVCP Work Plan Timeline & Schedule of Milestones

Information Item 
BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan

 
2C     Page 6

Packet Page 317



CU South Land Use Change  
Intended to complete Site Suitability Study for University of Colorado property on US 36, recommendations for a 
land use change, and recommendations for City/CU agreements for future use and services on property. 

Dates: 
 Aug. 10, 2016 Open Space Board of Trustees (OSBT) discussion of process  
 Sept. 14, 2016 OSBT reviews and gives input on initial Site Suitability study 
 Sept. 15, 2016  Planning Board reviews and gives input on initial Site Suitability Study 
 Sept. 26, 2016  Public open house to review and give input on initial Site Suitability Study  

   and recommendations for property 
 TBD – Oct.  Update for County Planning Commission and BOCC 
 Oct. 10, 2016 Staff and consultant analysis complete; initial recommendation  
 (Oct. 10-26) TBD Local South meeting, additional public input 
 Nov. 10, 2016 Joint Study Session of Planning Board and City Council to review and discuss initial  

    recommendation for land use change and City/CU agreement(s)   
 TBD - Nov. County Planning Commission and BOCC discussion  
 Feb. 2017 Final Recommendations and Approvals 

Land Use Scenarios and Key Policy Changes for Focus Areas 
To address: 

 Land use scenarios that may result in changes to Land Use Designation map and land use descriptions 
(e.g., industrial and mixed use designations)  

 Key policy options and analysis that may result in changes to Section 2, Built Environment and 
community benefit or job/housing balance policies, Section 7, Housing policies; and any additional 
climate or resilience policies  

 Housing prototypes (e.g., single family small lot, ADU, rowhouse, townhome, etc.) 
 Visualization to support built environment choices 
 Analysis of jobs/housing mix and other impacts and benefits of scenarios 
 Policies related to Alpine-Balsam site and urban design principles 

Dates: 
 Aug. 19, 2016 Draft scenarios and prototypes - materials from consultant for Planning Board  
 Aug. 25, 2016 Planning Board initial input on scenarios and prototypes 
 Aug. 29, 2016  Public open house and online information for draft scenarios and prototypes  
 Aug. 29, 2016 Joint Boards and Commissions input on draft scenarios and prototypes  
 Sept. 13, 2016 City Council briefing on topics noted above and draft survey topics 
 Sept. 15, 2016  Planning Board input on draft survey topics  
 Sept. 22, 2016 City Council and Planning Board – Electronic review of draft Survey #2 review  

   (final comments due to staff Sept. 30) 
 Sept. 22, 2016 Initial visualizations and analysis complete for scenarios and survey (i.e., fiscal, 

   transportation, energy, housing, etc.) 
 Oct. 3, 2016 Analysis complete for public events and survey 
 Oct. 10, 2016 Survey #2 Ready for Online and Print 
 Oct. 10-26  4-5 Local community engagement sessions – East, South, North, Central, Gunbarrel 

Attachment A - BVCP Work Plan Timeline & Schedule of Milestones

Information Item 
BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan

 
2C     Page 7

Packet Page 318



 Oct. 17, 2016 BVCP Survey #2 (through Nov. 18).  Two postcards.  Online version, week of Oct. 10 
 Wk of Oct. 31 Community event to review feedback from local sessions and initial input around  

  scenarios and policy choices 
 Nov. 10, 2016 Joint City Council and Planning Board Study Session to review scenarios, analysis,  

    community engagement results from Oct., and initial online input from Survey #2  
    (non-statistical), ideas to produce draft plan 

 Dec. 12, 2016 Survey #2 Report completed and distributed to City Council, Planning Board and County 
 TBD  Planning Commission and BOCC study session to review scenarios and analysis and  

  community engagement results  
 Nov/Dec  Other boards and commission input on remaining sections 
 Jan-Feb TBD Initial draft plan 

Attachment A - BVCP Work Plan Timeline & Schedule of Milestones

Information Item 
BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan

 
2C     Page 8

Packet Page 319



Community Engagement Planning for 
BVCP Update - Phase 3 
Updated Aug. 9, 2016 

August – December 

Building on the goals and framework outlined in the BVCP Engagement Plan, guidance specific to Phases 3 and 4 
includes: 

• Early Input Reflected in Options
• Understanding of Analysis and Trade-offs
• Common Ground Solutions
• Citywide and Local Scale
• In-Person & Online Engagement Venues

• Input from Targeted Groups
• Ample Time for Review and Feedback
• Easy to Find, Relevant Information
• Fun Factor

The purposes of Phase 3 include building on what was heard in earlier phases of the update, and sharing options, analysis 
and recommendations. This work will inform final changes to the plan and adoption in Phase 4.  

I. BVCP Scenarios, Trade-Offs and Built Environment Questions 

The areas of focus related to design, housing and the jobs-housing balance may lead to land use or policy changes in 
the plan.  Initial scenarios with analysis of outcomes and trade-offs will be ready to share with the community in late 
August, and analysis will be complete in September.  It is anticipated that all of the following engagement approaches 
and events would provide opportunities for community members to provide feedback on their preferences based on 
scenarios and analysis. 

A. Update Advisory Boards at a Proposed Joint Meeting – August 29, 6:30-8:30 
Purpose: invite members from most city advisory boards and commissions to get an update about the status of 
the BVCP update, present information about the land use scenarios and gather feedback.  Most of the meeting 
will be designed for small group discussions of mixed board members to garner feedback on key questions. 
Feedback will inform scenario and policy analysis as well as decision-makers.  

B. Open House – August 29, 6:30-8:30 
Purpose: invite public to see an update about the status of the BVCP update including initial policy updates, 
information the land use scenarios, and what to expect in September.  

C. Pop-ups -  September-October 
Purpose: gather feedback from people not typically involved in planning processes about specific land use 
changes in places near the opportunity areas. Staff members will host times at coffee shops, parks (using 
Neighborhood Block Party Trailer), ice cream stores, and other gathering places to ask people questions about 
their preferences for land use changes in that area. These preferences will be recorded on paper or in online 
questionnaires and compiled with other feedback for decision-makers. Locations might include: 55th and 
Arapahoe, Diagonal Plaza or other areas with proposed changes. Two to three pop-ups per area are anticipated, 
and people who live in the area would be alerted to these opportunities through the project website, the weekly 
planning e-mail, Next Door or other communications tools.  

Attachment B - Community Engagement Plan for Phase 3

Information Item 
BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan

 
2C     Page 9

Packet Page 320

https://bouldercolorado.gov/pages/2015-bvcp-community-engagement


 

 

 
D. Local Area Meetings – October  

Purpose: examine scenarios, analysis and trade-offs in depth and identify common ground on proposed changes 
to the plan among community members with a variety of interests.  Each meeting would have area-specific 
materials as well as citywide information. Similar to the early local listening sessions, the primary focus will be on 
the comp plan with opportunities for facilitated small group discussions around proposed changes and scenarios. 
The discussions would be designed to help people identify areas where they agree and where they do not and 
potentially the need for additional analysis. Meetings would also provide opportunities to share information 
about other city projects in an open house.  Venues would need to be capable of comfortably hosting a significant 
number of people and staff or outside facilitators will be employed to assist in the small group discussions.  

1. Central / Crossroads  
2. South / Southeast / East  
3. North / Palo  
4. Gunbarrel  

 
E. Statistically-Valid Survey – October-November 

Purpose: gauge community preferences for specific changes to the comprehensive plan. Topics for the survey 
questions may include but are not limited to: preferences around type and location for potential land use changes 
as identified through land use scenarios, growth management, and policies regarding community benefits, urban 
design quality, and housing and neighborhood character. Questions would be limited and focused on pivotal 
topics and choices for changes.  
 

F. Community Event – Late October   
Purpose: summarize and share feedback about the land use scenarios in an open house format. The event would 
serve as the culmination of community feedback on the scenarios, trade-offs and built environment issues before 
meeting with the decision-making bodies for direction on these choices.  

 
G. Meetings with community organizations – July – October 

Purpose: seek feedback from groups of community stakeholders at their regular meetings (e.g. Boulder Chamber, 
Future-oriented Community Organizations).  

 
H. Targeted and Culturally-Sensitive Outreach – August – October 

Purpose: gather feedback from immigrants.  Staff will work with community partners to organize and host at least 
three focus groups in partnership with immigrant-serving organizations (Immigrant Advisory Committee, Family 
Resource Center, Latino Task Force) to ask questions about preferences around the scenarios.   

 

II.  Land Use Public Requests & CU South – August & September 
 

A. Area-Specific Open Houses – to provide feedback on land use change requests.  
• August 8 – focusing on Area II properties: 3261 3rd Street; 2801 Jay Road and 6500 and 6655 Twin Lakes 
• September 26 – focusing on Area I properties and CU South  

B. Public Hearings – both the county and city will hold joint public hearings on these public request land use changes 
a. August 30 – Boulder County Planning Commission and Board of County Commissioners 
b. October 13 – City Planning Board and City Council  

Attachment B - Community Engagement Plan for Phase 3

Information Item 
BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan

 
2C     Page 10

Packet Page 321



INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

To: Mayor and Members of Council 

From: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 
Tracy Winfree, Director of Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
John Potter, Resource and Stewardship Manager, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Joe Taddeucci, Water Resources Manager, Utilities 

Date:  August 16, 2016 

Subject: Gross Reservoir Enlargement - Project Update 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Denver Water is in the process of obtaining project approvals and permits for enlargement of 
Gross Reservoir as part of its Moffat Collection System Project. The project will raise the 
existing dam by 131 feet, resulting in an 18,000-acre-foot increase in the annual firm yield1 of 
Denver Water’s supply. The expanded Gross Reservoir includes capacity for a 5,000-acre-foot 
environmental pool, which constitutes about 6 feet of the increased dam height. The 
environmental pool will contain water supplied by Boulder and Lafayette, based on agreements 
with Denver Water, and will be used to enhance stream flows in South Boulder Creek, below 
Gross Reservoir. 

This memo provides a brief overview and update on the project. It also presents information 
about potential effects on summertime water temperatures in South Boulder Creek, a current 
topic of public interest, including key findings from the recent conditional Clean Water Act 
Section 401 Certification from the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment.

1 The firm yield of a reservoir is typically defined as the maximum yield that could have been delivered without 
failure during the historical drought of record. 

Information Item 
Gross Reservoir Enlargement - Project Update

 
2D     Page 1

Packet Page 322



FISCAL IMPACT 
As part of intergovernmental agreements (IGA) signed in 2010, council authorized the Open 
Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) Water Rights Acquisition Capital Improvement Fund to pay 
$2 million to create the environmental pool. In addition, OSMP will construct flow bypass and 
measurement structures on South Boulder Creek that will cost as much as $200,000. The total 
expenditure from OSMP will be approximately $2.2 million. Similarly, Lafayette will pay $2 
million for construction of the Environmental Pool and up to $200,000 for additional bypass and 
measurement structures.   

Boulder has identified the city owned Wittemyer Ponds (Utilities Division) as a reservoir in 
which to capture and reuse water released from Gross Reservoir. Wittemyer Ponds is located 
adjacent to Boulder Creek at the Boulder-Weld County line. In order to store water in Wittemyer 
Ponds for future exchanges, the city must construct an impermeable liner in the ponds, which is 
budgeted for roughly $5 million in 2021. The lined ponds will also be used to capture Boulder’s 
other reusable municipal water for exchange back into the city water system. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic: South Boulder Creek flows through a significant amount of city open space.
Increased stream flows in South Boulder Creek will support local ecosystems and enhance a
quality of life that attracts visitors and helps businesses to recruit and retain quality
employees.

 Environmental: The addition of the 5,000-acre-foot environmental pool to the Gross
Reservoir enlargement will enhance stream flows in South Boulder Creek. In its April 2014
Final Environmental Impact Statement, the US Army Corps of Engineers noted that the
changes in flow from the environmental pool would provide beneficial impacts to aquatic life
in South Boulder Creek, downstream of Gross Reservoir. In its June 2016 conditional Clean
Water Act (CWA) Section 401 Certification, the Colorado Department of Public Health and
Environment (CDPHE) Water Quality Control Division noted that enhanced winter flows
provided by the environmental pool would improve fish habitat in South Boulder Creek.
CDPHE also noted potential temperature impacts to South Boulder Creek, and prescribed
future monitoring and potential future remediation as described in this IP memo.

 Social: Creation of an environmental pool in Gross Reservoir, and the associated increased
stream flows in South Boulder Creek, will improve the aesthetics of hiking trails and aquatic
habitat for fishing. These benefits will be available to all community members and visitors.

BACKGROUND 
The City of Boulder, in cooperation with numerous other agencies and entities, has an extensive 
history of prioritizing and planning for instream flows necessary to sustain healthy aquatic 
habitat in the Boulder Creek basin. In 1990, the city entered into an agreement with the Colorado 
Water Conservation Board (CWCB) for an instream flow program in North Boulder and main 
Boulder creeks. The program included a city donation of an estimated $12 million in municipal 

Information Item 
Gross Reservoir Enlargement - Project Update

 
2D     Page 2

Packet Page 323



water rights to the CWCB. Since the late 1970s, the city has also been planning an instream flow 
program to address critically low flows on South Boulder Creek. The associated need for such a 
program has been identified as a priority in a number of City Council-approved planning 
documents, including OSMP’s 1998 South Boulder Creek Area Management Plan and 2010 
Grassland Ecosystem Management Plan, as well as in the Utilities Division’s 2009 Source Water 
Master Plan.  

In order to address the low flow issue on a regulated stream such as South Boulder Creek, 
reservoir storage space and water rights are needed so that releases can be made when stream 
flows fall below levels critical for aquatic habitat. Given the cost and environmental impacts 
associated with building its own new reservoir for such purposes on previously undisturbed land, 
the city has instead explored storage space in existing reservoirs where the ground disturbance 
has already occurred. As a result, the city has investigated options with Denver Water to 
implement an environmental pool into Gross Reservoir since the late 1990s.   

Gross Reservoir is located on South Boulder Creek, in the foothills southwest of Boulder, and is 
owned and operated by Denver Water. Completed in 1954, the reservoir currently has a volume 
of about 42,000 acre-feet and receives water from the western side of the Continental Divide 
through the Moffat Tunnel. For the last decade, Denver Water has been seeking approval for an 
enlargement project for Gross Reservoir that would provide additional supplies to the 
northwestern portion of its service area. In 2010, two IGAs were signed by Denver Water, 
Boulder and Lafayette, detailing the implementation of a permanent, 5,000-acre-foot 
environmental pool for the sole purpose of enhancing stream flows in South Boulder Creek.     

Per the agreements, water stored in the environmental pool would be released at times when 
stream flow in South Boulder Creek falls below minimum target levels, as shown in the 
following table (flows described in cubic feet per second [cfs]): 

STREAM SEGMENT 

SUMMER SEASON 
(May- Sept) 

WINTER SEASON 
(Oct – Apr) 

Average year 
flow Dry year flow 

Average year 
flow Dry year flow 

Gross Reservoir to South 
Boulder Road (“Upper 
Segment”) 

10 cfs 7 cfs 7 cfs 5 cfs 

South Boulder Road to 
confluence with Boulder 
Creek (“Lower Segment”) 

4 cfs 2 cfs 2.5 cfs 1.5 cfs 

The environmental pool would be filled exclusively by Lafayette and Boulder, either from 
existing water rights or from new water rights to be obtained as conditions of the IGAs. No water 
rights owned by Denver Water would be used for the environmental pool and conversely, 
Lafayette and Boulder’s respective water rights would not be available for use by Denver Water. 
The physical water supply for the environmental pool would come from South Boulder Creek.  
No water from west-slope diversions—including from Denver Water operations of Gross 

Information Item 
Gross Reservoir Enlargement - Project Update

 
2D     Page 3

Packet Page 324



Reservoir and the Moffat Tunnel system or by exchange from the Northern Colorado Water 
Conservancy District (a source of Boulder’s drinking water supply)—will be used for the 
environmental pool. 

ANALYSIS 
Denver Water plans to enlarge Gross Reservoir by 77,000 acre-feet by raising the existing 
concrete gravity arch dam by 131 feet, from 340 to 471 feet high. The increased storage includes 
72,000 acre-feet necessary to provide 18,000 acre-feet of new firm yield and includes 5,000 acre-
feet of storage for the environmental pool.  

In order to obtain necessary environmental clearances, Denver Water has obtained or is seeking 
approvals and permits according to the following schedule: 

Process Milestones Completed 
Publish Notice of Intent to Prepare EIS 2003 
Publish Notice of Availability of Draft EIS 2009 
Fish and Wildlife Mitigation Plan 2011 
Colorado River Cooperative Agreement (describes West Slope 
mitigation measures) 

2013 

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Biological Opinion 2014 
Publish Notice of Availability of Final EIS 2014 
CDPHE Water Quality Control Division Clean Water Act (CWA) 
Section 401 Permit 

Conditional Certification – 
June 2016 

USACE Permit Decision (often referred to as Record of Decision or 
ROD) 

Est. Release End of 2016 

Final FERC License Amendment Application September 2016 
FERC License Amendment 2018 

The most recent process milestone was the issuance of a conditional Clean Water Act (CWA) 
Section 401 Certification by CDPHE. The CDPHE reviewed the project to determine compliance 
with applicable water quality requirements, and its review included analysis of water quality 
impacts to South Boulder Creek, including temperature effects, which is the subject of recent 
community interest. CDPHE’s conditional certification included the following key excerpts 
(verbatim with footnotes added by city staff): 

 Operation of the project, with or without the Environmental Pool, will contribute to an

existing impairment with respect to the narrative temperature standard.

 After the reservoir is enlarged, the larger volume of cold water in the hypolimnion2 will

extend the period of time in which cold water will be released during the summer.  Model

results predict that maximum summer temperatures with operation of the project will be

about six degrees colder than the current maximum temperatures. The lower summer

2 The hypolimnion is the lowest portion of the reservoir. 

Information Item 
Gross Reservoir Enlargement - Project Update

 
2D     Page 4

Packet Page 325

http://www.coloradoriverdistrict.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/Colorado-River-Cooperative-Agreement.pdf
https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/sites/default/files/Moffat%20Collection%20System%20Final%20401%20Certification.pdf
https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/sites/default/files/Moffat%20Collection%20System%20Final%20401%20Certification.pdf


temperatures mean that degree-days3, which are already much less than is normal, will be 

further reduced by about 30%. 

 According to model results, installation of the MLOW4 would fully mitigate the temperature

impact predicted with operation of the project. In other words, the project would no longer

be expected to contribute to an existing impairment of the narrative temperature standard.

Furthermore, the MLOW would also serve as an enhancement measure because it would

yield a gain in degree-days of approximately 30% above current conditions.

 Installation of the MLOW is feasible, but operation of the MLOW would interfere with

hydropower generation. There are technical and safety considerations, as well as concerns

about fish entrainment5, that combine to make it impracticable for water from the upper

layer of the lake to be routed through the existing penstock. According to the Applicant,

operating the MLOW would result in the loss of approximately 7.9 million kilowatt-hours of

power production, which would mean an annual revenue loss of about $450,000.

 The potential for environmental benefit from the MLOW applies to a relatively short stream

reach (about 5 miles in length6), and recent data suggest that the water warms noticeably

over that distance.  Therefore, a condition for monitoring will be imposed in order to

document the longitudinal extent of impact from temperature to the aquatic communities in

South Boulder Creek.

 The Environmental Pool provides compensatory mitigation by improving fish habitat with

increased winter flows that are expected to reduce or eliminate dry-up points downstream.

Therefore, the Environmental Pool is not mitigation from the perspective of this certification,

although it can be considered an enhancement. At the same time, the Division sees potential

for the Environmental Pool to contribute to temperature impacts, as described previously.

 If monitoring of aquatic life demonstrates that the project is responsible for degradation of

aquatic life (as indicated with the MMI7 ), the Applicant will be required to develop a

Category 4b Plan that will define the actions necessary to bring water quality back to

attainment of the standard.

 The Division concludes that the conditions imposed on the Applicant provide reasonable

assurance that the commitments to mitigation and enhancement measures are sufficient to

result in net environmental benefit. Therefore, the finding in regard to the significance

determination is: no significant degradation.

In summary, CDPHE concluded that increased storage capacity at Gross Reservoir would impact 
summertime temperature on South Boulder Creek downstream from the dam. As a result, it 

3 Degree-days refers to the number of days in which water temperature is within a range that supports fish growth 
and development. 
4 MLOW stands for “multi-level outlet works.” 
5 Fish entrainment in this case refers to fish being transported through hydroelectric conveyance features of the dam. 
6 The 5 miles spans roughly from Gross Reservoir to Eldorado Canyon State Park. 
7 MMI stands for “multimetric index”, a tool used to assess biological condition of aquatic habitat. 

Information Item 
Gross Reservoir Enlargement - Project Update

 
2D     Page 5

Packet Page 326



required future monitoring and specified a future process to address the impacts, if necessary. 
CDPHE did not include outlet works modifications as a condition of the 401 certification and 
concluded that the net benefit of such an outlet works did not outweigh the associated 
operational constraints, safety concerns, cost and negative impacts to hydropower generation. By 
signing the 2010 IGAs, Denver Water, Lafayette and Boulder agreed that the environmental pool 
would adequately address impacts to South Boulder Creek aquatic resources. Should new 
temperature information raise concerns about effects to aquatic resources, the city would work 
with Denver Water and Lafayette to either amend or work within the existing parameters of the 
IGAs to address the issues.  

NEXT STEPS 
Remaining major steps in Denver Water’s approval process include a Record of Decision from 
the US Army Corps of Engineers and a license amendment from the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission. Boulder’s next steps related to the Environmental Pool, such as water rights 
applications, planning for construction of fish passage and bypass and measurement structures 
and lining of Wittemyer Ponds as required by the 2010 IGAs, will depend on the timing and 
outcome of Denver Water’s approvals. 

Information Item 
Gross Reservoir Enlargement - Project Update

 
2D     Page 6

Packet Page 327



INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

To: Mayor and Members of Council 

From:  Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Carl Castillo, Policy Advisor 
Kathleen Bracke, Go Boulder Manager 

Date:   August 16, 2016 

Subject: Information Item - U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition Policy Agenda 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On September 8, 2016, the U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition (MCC) will vote on 
approving a Policy Agenda (Exhibit A). Similar in some ways to the legislative agenda that 
council adopts annually, the MCC Policy Agenda will provide representatives of the MCC with 
the authority to advocate on behalf of the coalition for the stated positions as opportunities arise, 
be they before legislative, regulatory or administrative bodies and officials. 

The MCC Policy Agenda is mostly informed by the positions already agreed to as part of the 
2014 consensus achieved during the Northwest Area Mobility Study which then Mayor 
Appelbaum represented the city on (See Attachment A to Exhibit A). It also includes positions 
on transportation funding and managed lanes that are consistent with the city’s existing 
legislative agenda. Consequently, Mayor Jones is prepared to vote to adopt the Policy Agenda on 
September 8th.  

NEXT STEPS  

At the request of Council’s Legislative Committee, staff is exploring a study session opportunity 
to provide council with an update on U.S. 36 matters, including the state plans to shift from 
HOV2 to HOV3 by January 1, 2017. 

Attachment A – US36 Proposed Policy Agenda 

Information Item 
U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition Policy Agenda

 
2E     Page 1

Packet Page 328



POLICY AGENDA 
US36 Mayors and Commissioner Coalition 

36 Commuting Solutions 

Proposed 
Monday, August 8, 2016 

 

The U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners (“MCC”) supports federal, state and regional policy that is 
consistent with the positions identified in this Policy Agenda. These positions are mostly informed 
by the 2014 consensus achieved during the Northwest Area Mobility Study (NAMS) which was 
considered a realistic and equitable approach to furthering the will of the voters that in 2004 
approved the FasTracks ballot measure. The agreement was captured in an April 7, 2014 “NAMS 
Local Stakeholder Consensus Document” (Attachment A) which should be read in conjunction 
with this Policy Agenda in order to understand the specifics on funding sources, projects and the 
timing and order of priority in which they are each supported.  

The Policy Agenda provides representatives of the MCC with the authority to advocate on behalf 
of the coalition for the stated positions as opportunities arise be they before legislative, regulatory 
or administrative bodies and individual leaders. Any potentially controversial or high-profile policy 
communication made on behalf of the MCC should receive prior-approval from the full MCC, 
when possible. Regardless, all such communications should subsequently be brought to the 
attention of the full MCC at the earliest opportunity. 

The Policy Agenda is approved by each of the individual governing bodies of the members that 
make up the MCC. It may be revisited and revised at any time to reflect changing circumstances 
or to provide specific interpretation of these positions as they apply to any one policy question. 

 Arterial Bus Rapid Transit (BRT)/ Enhanced Bus Service Projects - Seek non-FasTracks
funding and support for capital and operating improvements necessary to implement an arterial
BRT/Enhanced Bus Service network, including supportive multimodal system enhancements.
State Highway 119 from Longmont to Boulder is the highest priority arterial BRT corridor.
The remaining corridors, listed below, should be implemented based on further refinement of
regional priorities, project scopes funding availability and leveraging opportunities:

o State Highway 7 connecting North I-25/North Metro Park–n-Ride/Northglenn,
Broomfield, Erie, Lafayette and Boulder

o State Highway 287 connecting Longmont, Lafayette, Erie and Broomfield to the US 36
Corridor

o South Boulder Road connecting Lafayette and Louisville to Boulder

o 28th Street/Broadway (connecting US 36 BRT and South Boulder Road BRT to Boulder
Junction/14th & Walnut)

o Improved transit connection from Louisville/Lafayette/Superior/Broomfield to US 36 via
SH 42/95th Street

o 120th Avenue between Broomfield Park-n-Ride and Adams County Government Center

Attachment A - Proposed US36 Commuting Solutions

Information Item 
U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition Policy Agenda

 
2E     Page 2

Packet Page 329



POLICY AGENDA 
US36 Mayors and Commissioner Coalition 

36 Commuting Solutions 

Proposed 
Monday, August 8, 2016 

 

 I-25 Bi-Directional Managed Lanes - Seek funding and support for the construction of
additional managed lanes between US 36 and downtown Denver to facilitate bi-directional
service to benefit the broader region (both North I-25 and US36 connections to/from Denver)
and interim measures, including bus on shoulder service.

 Managed Lanes – Support managed lanes as a practical solution for improving mobility by
providing viable travel options in congested corridors. Managed lanes should result in
regulation of demand to ensure choices for the traveler beyond the single occupancy vehicle
by providing for the option of travel by bus and free or discounted access to high occupancy
vehicles (“HOVs”), as well as allow pricing to help manage corridor performance, such as
dynamic, variable-priced tolls linked to congestion.

o Support the free-flowing operation of managed lanes while opposing the imposition
of arbitrary deadlines for converting from HOV-2 to HOV-3 not tied to either
protecting performance of these lanes or to previously-executed agreements.

o Support funding for education and incentives to promote full utilization of the HOV
lanes.

o Support increased transparency and public involvement in decisions to create future
managed lanes, especially those involving private partners.

o As a general rule, support requirement that any significant new highway
(freeway/expressway) lane-capacity (public or private) built with state or federal
funds be required to be managed (priced/tolled) to maximize the person-carrying
capacity of the facility and to encourage free HOV and transit usage unless proven
financially infeasible or a non-HOV alternative has been identified as the preferred
alternative in a previously-approved NEPA or PEL document.

 Northwest Rail – Support full completion of the Northwest Commuter Rail Project to
Longmont.

o Support creative and alternative rail implementation strategies (including level of
service phasing) as circumstances effecting feasibility, such as change in BNSF
position, costs, ridership, and funding sources, evolve.

 Rail/Transit Stations – Support funding and implementation of station investments and First
and Final Mile infrastructure and programs that serve both BRT and future rail.

 Railroad Crossing Quiet Zones – Support flexibility in, and funding for implementation of,
quiet zones along the length of the Northwest Corridor, with a priority on crossings that benefit
the greatest number of residents in the most cost effective manner.

Attachment A - Proposed US36 Commuting Solutions

Information Item 
U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition Policy Agenda

 
2E     Page 3

Packet Page 330



POLICY AGENDA 
US36 Mayors and Commissioner Coalition 

36 Commuting Solutions 

Proposed 
Monday, August 8, 2016 

 

 Transportation Funding – Support state or regional transportation funding that includes a
commitment for a substantial percentage of multimodal (i.e., transit, bicycle and pedestrian)
investment (e.g., MCC supported MPACT 64’s previous proposal to allocate 33 percent of
new statewide transportation funding for transit purposes).

o Support new bonding or other borrowing for transportation projects only if there are
new or existing designated sources of funding identified to pay off those obligations.

 US 36 Bus Rapid Transit System – Seek funding and support for the full implementation of
the US 36 BRT system as committed to in the 2004 FasTracks ballot measure, the US 36
Environmental Impact Statement and Record of Decision, the TIGER and TIFIA funding
applications and additional elements approved by the RTD Board on September 17, 2013,
including relocation of the Church Ranch boarding platforms, improvements to the
Westminster Center pedestrian bridge and structured parking in Broomfield.

o Support Flatiron Flyer BRT service improvements and station area enhancements to
more fully serve existing and new Transit Oriented Development in each of the US36
MCC communities.

o Seek funding for implementation of the US 36 First and Final Mile study
recommendations that provide a tangible benefit to residents, employees and
commuters in the corridor.

o Support RTD authority to authorize bus-on-shoulder use on limited corridors to
expedite local bus service.

Attachment A - Proposed US36 Commuting Solutions

Information Item 
U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition Policy Agenda

 
2E     Page 4

Packet Page 331



Attachment A Attachment A - Proposed US36 Commuting Solutions

Information Item 
U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition Policy Agenda

 
2E     Page 5

Packet Page 332



Attachment A Attachment A - Proposed US36 Commuting Solutions

Information Item 
U.S. 36 Mayors and Commissioners Coalition Policy Agenda

 
2E     Page 6

Packet Page 333



S T R E N G T H E N I N G
COMMUNITY

2015
ANNUAL
REPORT

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 1

Packet Page 334



WELCOME
August 2016

Dear Mayor Jones and Boulder City Council members:

	 On	behalf	of	Boulder	Housing	Partners	Board	of	Commissioners	and	staff,	we	are	
pleased to submit our 2015 Annual Report. 
	 Our	theme	for	this	report	is	“Strengthening	Community.”	There	are	several	strategic	initiatives	that	we	
highlight for you in this regard. 
	 First,	you	are	familiar	with	our	strategic	planning	data	that	indicates	that	we’re	losing	our	naturally-
occurring	market	affordable	inventory	at	an	alarming	rate.	In	2015,	we	proposed	a	three-part	action	agenda	to	
begin	to	accelerate	an	affordable	portfolio:	

• increasing	funds	for	affordable	and	preservation	projects;
• enacting	an	affordable	housing	benefit	ordinance	that	creates	a	market	advantage	for	affordable

projects;	and
• designating	public	lands	for	maximum	affordability	(the	Pollard	and	Hospital	sites).

Second,	we	describe	within	this	report	exceptional	progress	made	in	2015	toward	several	strategic
initiatives:

• providing	$42	million	of	renovations	for	our	aging	public	housing	properties	through	Project	Renovate;
• developing	our	groundbreaking	work	on	Bringing	School	Home,	a	national	initiative	to	leverage	the

power	of	home	to	affect	school,	and	life,	outcomes	for	children;	and
• achieving	our	portfolio-wide	SmartRegs	energy-efficiency	compliance	three	years	ahead	of	the	2018

deadline.

	 BHP	strives	to	be	a	catalyst	for	the	city’s	goal	of	a	diverse,	inclusive	and	sustainable	community.	Thank	
you	for	your	support	of	our	mission	to	provide	homes,	inspire	community	and	create	change.	

Sincerely,

Betsey	Martens,	Executive DirectorKaren	Klerman,	Chair,	Board	of	Commissioners

2015 GOALS

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 2

Packet Page 335



1 PRESERVING AND INCREASING 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING

LAUNCH OF PROJECT RENOVATE
In	2015,	Boulder	Housing	Partners	embarked	on	Project	Renovate,	one	of	BHP’s	
most	ambitious	efforts	yet	to	preserve	existing	affordable	housing	throughout	
the city. BHP is one of a select group of public housing authorities approved by 
the	U.S.	Department	of	Housing	and	Urban	Development	(HUD)	to	recapitalize	
its	public	housing	properties.	By	gaining	local	control	of	the	properties,	BHP	can	
ensure	quality	affordable	housing	for	Boulder’s	most	at-risk	citizens	in	perpetuity.

The six communities that will be given new life by Project Renovate are:

Diagonal Court Iris Hawthorn Kalmia

30	townhomes	in	north	central	Boulder 14 single family homes in north Boulder 49	townhomes	in	north	central	Boulder

Manhattan Northport Walnut Place

41	townhomes	and	stacked	flat	units	in	southeast	Boulder 50 senior apartments in north Boulder 95	senior	apartments	in	Downtown	Boulder

Learn more at https://boulderhousing.org/project-renovate or scan the QR code above.

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 3

Packet Page 336



SUMMER SHUFFLE LITERACY PROGRAM
Summer	Shuffle	is	designed	to	increase	school	readiness	for	preschool	age	residents,	accelerate	
literacy	learning	for	school	age	residents,	and	provide	families	with	engaging	literacy	activities.	
In	2015,	approximately	120	students	from	Kalmia,	Red	Oak	Park,	and	the	Ponderosa	community	
near	Foothills	joined	this	fun	reading	program.

BHP’S DIRECTOR NAMED AS AN AFFORDABLE HOUSING  
INSTITUTE FELLOW

Betsey	Martens	was	named	as	an	Affordable	Housing	
Institute	Fellow	for	her	pioneering	research	into	using	
public	and	affordable	housing	as	a	place-based	
nexus for disrupting the cycle of poverty by Bringing 
School	Home,	which	creates	a	comprehensive	public/
private	partnership	to	enable	children	from	very	low	
income	households	to	supplement,	complement,	and	
reinforce	the	learning	they	need	and	want	from	the	
school	system.	The	AHI	Fellowship	carries	with	it	an	
18-month	curriculum	for	collaboration,	research	and	
development,	and	eventual	rollout	of	additional	pilot	
sites	beyond	the	two	now	operating	in	Boulder,	CO	
and	New	York	City.	
 

“To	have	been	named	as	an	AHI	Fellow,”	said	Betsey	Martens,	“is	both	a	tremendous	honor	
and	a	tremendous	opportunity	to	take	what	we	have	done	in	Boulder,	contextualize	it,	and	
adapt	it	for	scalability	nationally.	In	Boulder,	we	have	demonstrated	some	things	that	work	
powerfully,	and	I	want	to	explore	and	demonstrate	that	we	are	not	simply	a	successful	
experiment,	but	in	the	vanguard	of	a	movement	that	can	transform	the	effectiveness	of	
public schooling.” 

For	the	last	18	years,	Boulder	Housing	Partners,	the	public	housing	authority	of	Boulder,	
Colorado,	has	been	developing	the	partnership	with	I	Have	a	Dream	Foundation.	Starting	at	
age	seven,	selected	children	of	public	housing	families	are	connected	with	a	full	time	program	
director acting as a kind of uncle (tio) or aunt (tia),	who	follows	the	child	and	family	all	the	
way	through	their	secondary	education	to	assure	high	school	graduation	and	post-secondary	
matriculation.	The	program	offers	a	package	of	continuous	learning	—extending	the	school	
experience	to	after	school,	evenings	and	nights,	on	weekends,	and	during	the	summer.	

“In	a	child’s	first	18	years,	only	9%	of	her	time	is	spent	in	school;	the	remaining	91%	is	
home-based,”	Ms.	Martens	said.	“As	affordable	housing	providers	we	can	work	with	parents	
to	significantly	affect	what	happens	in	that	91%	space.”	She	added,	“Bringing	School	
Home	has	the	data	to	prove	it:	92%	of	Boulder	Housing	Partners’	children	
graduate	from	high	school,	versus	63%	of	their	statewide	peers.”	

For more information see https://boulderhousing.org/news/affordable-housing-
institute-names-betsey-martens-first-ever-fellow or scan the QR code. 

2 PARTNERSHIPS AND 
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 4

Packet Page 337



3 RESIDENT ACHIEVEMENT AND 
QUALITY OF LIFE

1175 LEE HILL WINS INNOVATION AWARD
Boulder	Housing	Partners’	first	fully	dedicated	Housing	First	community,	1175 LEE HILL,	was	
awarded	the	Affordable	Housing	Innovation	Award	by	the	Mountain	Plains	chapter	of	the	National	
Association	of	Housing	and	Redevelopment	Officials	(NAHRO).

NAHRO’s	award	requirements	for	the	Affordable	Housing	Innovation	category	state:	“Programs	that	
produce	affordable	housing	projects	in	an	innovative	manner,	such	as	creative	financing,	public/
private	partnerships,	mixed	use	developments,	adaptive	reuse	or	special	needs	housing.”

1175	Lee	Hill	is	a	two-story	apartment	building	located	on	the	corner	of	Lee	Hill	and	Broadway	in	
north	Boulder	with	31	fully-furnished	one	bedroom	apartments.	This	is	a	Housing	First	development	
which	aims	to	support	the	chronically	homeless,	one	of	Boulder	County’s	most	vulnerable	
populations.	In	addition	to	housing,	residents	will	receive	support	services	from	case	managers.

The	Housing	First	approach	is	founded	on	the	belief	that	the	first	and	primary	need	for	the	homeless	
population	is	to	obtain	stable	housing.	Other	issues	(e.g.	disabling	conditions,	joblessness,	poor	
health,	alcohol	addiction)	that	may	affect	the	homeless	can	
and should be addressed through case management and 
supportive services once housing is obtained.

Similar	programs	in	other	municipalities	have	shown	that	once	
these	individuals	have	stable	housing,	they	begin	to	work	
on	the	other	hurdles	in	their	lives.	Studies	have	also	shown	
that	Housing	First	programs	are	highly	cost	effective	as	they	
significantly	reduce	demand	on	hospital	emergency	rooms,	jails	
and	court	systems,	and	human	service	agencies.

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 5

Packet Page 338



RESIDENT ACHIEVEMENT AND 
QUALITY OF LIFE, continued

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 6

Packet Page 339



4 MAXIMIZING SUSTAINABILITY

SMARTREGS COMPLIANCE
The	City	of	Boulder’s	SmartRegs	ordinance	requires	that	all	rental	
housing	units	in	Boulder	meet	a	basic	energy	efficiency	standard	by	
December	31,	2018.	SmartRegs	is	one	part	of	an	integrated	strategy	
to	reduce	Boulder’s	climate	impacts	and	improve	the	vibrancy	and	
resilience of the community. In 2015, Boulder Housing Partners 
(BHP) achieved SmartRegs compliance for each of its 968 
affordable units and 139 market rate units.

“We	seek	to	provide	the	highest	quality	of	affordable	homes	to	people	in	Boulder,	and	aligning	
our	work	with	the	city	has	helped	us	to	do	that,”	said	Tim	Beal,	Director	of	Sustainable	
Communities for BHP. “The energy savings to our residents due to SmartRegs and other energy 
efficiency	initiatives	means	they	have	more	money	to	spend	on	basic	needs	and	to	contribute	to	
the local economy.”

INCREASED TRANSPORTATION ACCESS
BHP	seeks	to	increase	access	for	residents	to	bus	passes	and	other	affordable	public	transportation	
and	alternative	transportation	programs.	In	2015,	through	a	partnership	with	eGo	Car	Share,	
approximately 400 residents received free Neighborhood Eco Passes to encourage the use of public 
transportation.	These	bus	passes	reduce	vehicle	usage	and	BHP’s	environmental	impact	while	
helping	residents	get	to	and	from	work,	school,	and	healthcare	services	in	a	cost-effective	way.

2015 ENERGY AWARDS
NAHRO	–	Energy	and	Green	Building	Award	–	Awarded for waste diversion work done at BHP by 
the National Association of Housing and Redevelopment
Eco-cycle	Green	Star	Award	–	One of five businesses that won Green Business of the Year 
Award for general sustainability work
Eco-cycle	Green	Star	Award	–	Awarded for waste diversion work done by staff and residents at 
Kalmia

Read more at http://bit.ly/29aB4T5 
or scan the QR code.

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 7

Packet Page 340



5 ORGANIZATIONAL STEWARDSHIP
Summary Financial Statements
Year Ended December 31, 2015 & 2014

Assets 2015 2014
Current Assets 20,035,418$        9,596,601$          
Noncurrent Assets 46,200,644$        17,560,932$        
Capital Assets (Net of Depreciation) 43,794,396$        44,693,541$        
   Total Assets 110,030,458$      71,851,074$        
Deferred Outflows 1,318,956$          307,224$             
   Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 111,349,414$       72,158,298$        

Liabilities
Current Liabilities 2,029,398$          3,112,312$          
Long-term Liabilities 41,315,508$        34,820,869$        
     Total Liabilities 43,344,906$        37,933,181$        

Net Position
Unrestricted 60,551,976$        24,603,216$        
Net Investment in Capital Assets 7,168,630$          8,993,150$          
Restricted 283,902$             628,751$             
     Total Net Position 68,004,508$        34,225,117$        
     Total Liabilities and Net Position 111,349,414$       72,158,298$        

Revenues 2015 2014
Revenue - Tenant 6,668,221$          6,801,790$          
Grant Income 10,952,243$        9,474,238$          
Management and Developer Fees 1,418,704$          1,540,303$          
Other Income 665,545$             521,411$             
     Total Revenues 19,704,713$        18,337,742$        

Expenses
Salaries and Benefits 5,059,089$          4,301,251$          
Other Operating Expenses 3,928,601$          3,739,380$          
Housing Assistance Payments 7,979,869$          6,833,541$          
Depreciation and Amortization 3,244,115$          3,250,965$          
     Total Expenses 20,211,674$        18,125,137$        

Operating Income (Loss) (506,961)$            212,605$             

Other Income (Expense)
Nonoperating Income (Loss) 35,426,517$        (979,832)$           
Capital Grants 3,156,153$          2,262,324$          
     Change in Net Position 38,075,709$        1,495,097$          

Summary Statement of Net Position

Summary Statement of Activities

BHP	  Summary	  Financial	  Statements
Year	  Ended	  December	  31,	  2015	  and	  2014

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 8

Packet Page 341



	  

Capital Grants 
 3,156,153  

5% 

Gain on Sale of Capital 
Asset 

 36,102,790  
61% 

Interest Income 
 676,580  

1% 

Operating Grants 
 10,952,243  

18% 

Other Income 
 665,545  

1% 

Revenue - Tenant 
 6,668,221  

11% 

Management and 
Developer Fees 

 1,418,704  
3% 

2015 REVENUES:   
$59,640,236 

	  

Housing Assistance 
Payments 

 $7,979,869  
37% 

Salaries and Benefits 
 $5,059,089  

24% 

Other Operating 
Expenses 

 $3,928,601  
18% 

Depreciation and 
Amortization 
 $3,244,115  

15% 

Interest and Financing 
Costs 

 $1,352,853  
6% 

2015 EXPENSES: 
$21,564,527 

2015 REVENUES
$59,640,236

2015 EXPENSES
$21,564,527

ORGANIZATIONAL STEWARDSHIP, continued
Revenue & Expense Details

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 9

Packet Page 342



Abbey,	Kelly
Arreola,	Angie
Arritola,	Marina
Banning,	Sarah
Belnap,	Nick
Berge,	Lynn
Bogen,	Jodi
Busch,	Steve
Carter,	Evelyn
Cerceda,	Cornelio
Chek,	Rick
Ciano,	Maria
Cullen,	Amanda
Deakins,	Natasha
Decory,	Patricia
Ellis,	George

Farmer,	Katie
Favela,	Alejandro	
Freedman,	Margie
Garcia,	Brittany
Graham,	Paul
Hamby,	Valerie
Hultman,	Michael	
Kenney,	Jessica
Lee,	Rhoda
Lemkee,	Char
Lewis,	Russ
Lisenbe,	Edna
Llamas,	Omar
Machael,	Amy
Mapes,	Daniel
Martinez,	Jocelyn

McBeth,	Jeff
McVay,	Joshua
Mendoza,	Edgar
Miller,	Sally
Murphy,	Carrie
Nunez,	Daniel
O’Dwyer,	Elsie
Patterson,	Dreu
Pelegrina,	Natasha
Perea,	Adriana
Phillips,	Nick
Rempen,	Kilian
Richards,	Anna
Schevets,	Lauren
Sheinbaum,	Laura
Specian,	Nancy

Spellman,	Doug
Stayton,	Karin
Stoltz	Emily
Torrez,	Elisa
Vachon,	Dani
Valdez,	Laura
Vargas,	Lidia
Vargas,	Lisa
Washington,	Sheritta
Wells,	Teena
Wittig,	Joanna

BOARD & STAFF
As of December 31, 2015

Board of 
Commissioners
Angela McCormick, Chair
Karen Klerman, Vice Chair
Pamela	Griffin
Tom Hagerty
Dick Harris
Nikki McCord
Mark	Ruzzin
Andrew	Shoemaker
Valerie	Soraci

Leadership Team
Executive Director – Betsey Martens

Chief	Financial	Officer	–	Jim	Koczela	 Director	of	Sustainability	–	Tim	Beal	
Director of Development – Jeremy Durham Director of Resident Services – Rene Brodeur
Director	of	Human	Resources	–	Penny	Hannegan	 Communication	&	Office	Manager	–	Krystle	Brandt
Director	of	Maintenance	–	Terry	Johnson	 Manager	Housing	Choice/MTW	–	Karen	Kreutzberg
Director of Operations – Jeremy Ehrhart 

Staff

AmeriCorps	Volunteers:
Beall,	Annie
Earl,	Nathan
Green,	Mary

Download this document at www.boulderhousing.org/
annual report or scan the QR code.

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 10

Packet Page 343



1 Arapahoe Court (14 units)
2 Arapahoe East (11)
3 Bridgewalk (123)
4 Broadway East (44)
5 Broadway West (26)
6 Canyon Pointe (82)
7 Cornell House (1)
8 Dakota Ridge (13)  
9 Diagonal Court (30) 
10 Flats @101 Canyon (5)
11 Foothills Community (74)
12 Glen Willow (34)
13 Hayden Place (30)
14 High Mar (59)
15 Holiday Neighborhood (49)
16 Iris/Hawthorn (14)
17 Kalmia (55)
18 Lee Hill (31)
19 Madison (33)
20 Manhattan (44)
21 Midtown (13)
22 Northport (50)
23 Red Oak Park (44)
24 Sanitas Place (12)
25 Twin Pines (22)
26 Vistoso (15)
27 Walnut Place (95)
28 WestView (34)
29 Whittier (10)
30 Woodlands (35 units)

MANAGED BY BHP

PROPERTIES SITE MAP

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 11

Packet Page 344



BOULDER HOUSING PARTNERS
4800 Broadway, Boulder CO 80304

www.boulderhousing.org
720-564-4610 

Information Item 
Boulder Housing Partners 2015 Annual Report

 
2F     Page 12

Packet Page 345



  

CITY OF BOULDER 
BEVERAGE LICENSING AUTHORITY 

* * * MINUTES * * * 
WEDNESDAY, JULY 20, 2016, 3:00 P.M. 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING – 2ND FLOOR 

1777 BROADWAY, BOULDER, COLORADO 
 

NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION:  Beverage Licensing Authority (BLA) 

DATE OF MEETING:   July 20, 2016 

NAME & PHONE OF PERSON  Mishawn Cook, Licensing Administrator (303-441-3010) 
PREPARING SUMMARY:  Kristen Huber, Licensing Specialist (303-441-3034)  
 

NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF, AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 

Board Members: Steven Wallace, David Timken, Alyssa Lundgren, Lisa Spalding, and Matthew 
Califano 

Staff Present:  Carey Markel, Assistant City Attorney, Mishawn Cook, Licensing Administrator, 
and Beata Mazurkiewicz, Licensing Specialist 

 
QUASI-JUDICIAL MEETING OUTLINE OF AGENDA 

 

1. Administrative Board Matters 

i) Member Roll Call 
 

Roll call was taken. A quorum of five BLA members attended.  
 
ii) Approval of BLA minutes from June 15, 2016 
 

The minutes were not included in the hearing packet and will be included in the 
hearing packet for August 17, 2016. 

 
iii) Hearing agenda issues from licensing clerk 
 

Ms. Cook noted that the agenda order had changed due to the addition of Agenda 
Item 4 regarding the attendance of City Council member, Matt Appelbaum, for 
discussion with Beverage Licensing Authority members. The updated agenda was 
entered as Agenda Item 1, Exhibit 1. 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA   07-20-2016

 
3A     Page 1

Packet Page 346



  

 
Ms. Cook also noted that Taco Junky requested a continuance of Agenda Item 9 to 
allow their attorney to attend the hearing. Member Califano moved, Spalding 
seconded, to continue this Agenda Item to the BLA hearing on August 17, 2016. 

 
2. Matters from the Boulder Police Department (BPD). 

Officer Daniel Bergh appeared on behalf of the BPD and discussed the Last Drink Summary 
report and letters sent to The Bustop, Outback Saloon, and Southern Sun Pub and Brewery 
regarding DUI incidents in June 2016. Officer Bergh also discussed his report regarding rates 
of alcohol violations, DUI charges, and emergency alcohol commitments for Boulder and 
comparable communities in Colorado. 

3. Matters from the Responsible Hospitality Group (RHG). 

Ms. Cook noted that the July RHG meeting had been canceled. The RHG did not attend the 
hearing. 

4. NEW ITEM Added as of July 15: City Council member, Matt Appelbaum, attendance for 
discussion with Beverage Licensing Authority members. 

An email from Ms. Cook to the BLA regarding Matt Appelbaum’s attendance at the hearing 
was entered as Agenda Item 4, Exhibit 1. 
 
Mr. Applebaum addressed the BLA and requested feedback regarding current issues and 
communication between the BLA and City Council. Chair Wallace suggested that all new City 
Council members receive an explanation of the BLA’s purview. Member Spalding suggested 
that the BLA improve communication with the Planning Board, and also suggested that all City 
Council members be notified when the City of Boulder applies for a liquor license such as the 
Arts license at the Boulder Public Library. Chair Wallace also stated that continued funding for 
an Alcohol Enforcement Officer was important to the BLA.  
 

5. Show cause hearing concerning an April 15, 2016 violation and whether the Hotel-
Restaurant Liquor type liquor license held by TMG of Colorado LLC, d/b/a Ted's Montana 
Grill, 1701 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO 80302, should be suspended or revoked. 

George McKerrow, CEO, was sworn in. Hearing procedures were read. No BLA members 
disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest.  

Mr. Markley stated that a stipulation to the facts in this matter had been reached. Member 
Spalding moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to accept the stipulation. Motion approved 5:0. 

Mr. McKerrow provided testimony regarding mitigating evidence. The mitigating evidence 
was entered as Agenda Item 5, Exhibit 1. 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA   07-20-2016

 
3A     Page 2

Packet Page 347



  

The BLA noted mitigating and aggravating factors. Member Califano moved, Spalding 
seconded, to set this violation penalty at 6 suspension days served with 8 days held in 
abeyance. Motion approved 5:0. 

Vice Chair Timken moved, Chair Wallace seconded, to set the 6 suspension days to be served 
from July 25 to July 30, 2016. Motion approved 5:0. 

6. Show cause hearing concerning an April 15, 2016 violation and whether the Hotel-
Restaurant Liquor type liquor license held by Xianfa Inc d/b/a Yurihana, 6525 Gunpark 
Drive, Suite 330, Boulder, CO 80301, should be suspended or revoked. 

Lian Hua Xian, President and Registered Manager, and Kelly Chuong, Employee, were sworn 
in. Hearing procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or 
conflicts of interest.  

Proof of Training was entered as Agenda Item 6, Exhibit 1. 

Mr. Markley stated that a stipulation to the facts in this matter had been reached. The 
stipulation was entered as Agenda Item 6, Exhibit 2. Member Spalding moved, Califano 
seconded, to accept the stipulation. Motion approved 5:0.  

Mr. Xian and Ms. Chuong provided testimony regarding mitigating evidence.  

The BLA noted mitigating and aggravating factors. Member Spalding moved, Califano 
seconded, to set this violation penalty at 5 suspension days served with 9 days held in 
abeyance. Motion approved 4:1 with Vice Chair Timken opposed. 

Member Spalding moved, Lundgren seconded, to set the 5 suspension days to be served from 
July 25 to July 29, 2016. Motion approved 5:0. 

7. Show cause hearing concerning an April 22, 2016 violation and whether the Hotel-
Restaurant Liquor type liquor license held by Sushi Hana, Inc d/b/a Sushi Hana, 1220 
Pennsylvania Avenue, Boulder, CO 80302, should be suspended or revoked. 

James Beimford appeared as the licensee’s attorney. Min Yang, Owner, and Rose Yan, 
Interpreter, were sworn in. Hearing procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-
parte communications or conflicts of interest.  

Mr. Markley stated that a stipulation to the facts in this matter had been reached. Vice Chair 
Timken moved, Member Spalding seconded, to accept the stipulation. Motion approved 5:0.  

Ms. Yang provided testimony regarding mitigating evidence. 

The BLA noted aggravating factors. Vice Chair Timken moved, Member Spalding seconded, to 
set this violation penalty at 15 suspension days served with 20 days held in abeyance. The 
licensee also had 10 days held in abeyance from a violation on August 14, 2015. Since the 
licensee received a second violation within one year of the first violation, the 10 days held in 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA   07-20-2016

 
3A     Page 3

Packet Page 348



  

abeyance from 2015 were added to the suspension for a total of 25 suspension days served. 
Motion approved 5:0. 

Member Spalding moved, Vice Chair Timken seconded, to set the 25 days to be served from 
July 25, 2016 to August 18, 2016. Motion approved 5:0. 

8. Show cause hearing concerning an April 22, 2016 violation and whether the Hotel-
Restaurant Liquor type liquor license held by Tsing Tao Asian Kitchen Inc d/b/a Tsing Tao, 
607 S Broadway, Unit A, Boulder, CO 80305, should be suspended or revoked. 

Kwok Hui, President and Co-owner, and Sampson Hui, Interpreter, were sworn in. Hearing 
procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of 
interest.  

Mr. Markley stated that a stipulation to the facts in this matter had been reached. The 
stipulation was entered as Agenda Item 8, Exhibit 1. Member Califano moved, Lundgren 
seconded, to accept the stipulation. Motion approved 5:0.  

Mr. Hui provided testimony regarding mitigating evidence. Proof of Training was entered as 
Agenda Item 8, Exhibit 2. 

The BLA noted mitigating and aggravating factors. Chair Wallace moved, Member Spalding 
seconded, to set this violation penalty at 6 suspension days served with 8 days held in 
abeyance. Motion approved 5:0. 

Member Spalding moved, Lundgren seconded, to set the 6 suspension days to be served from 
July 25 to July 30, 2016. Motion approved 5:0. 

9. Public hearing and consideration of whether there is good cause for non-renewal of a 
February 19, 2016 application from 13th Street The Hill, LLC d/b/a Taco Junky, 1149 13th 
Street, Boulder, CO 80302; Monarch Hospitality, LLC, 100% Owner, with Angela Evey 
Nikolaidis-Caravello, 91% Managing Member, and Toula Georgakopoulos, Registered 
Manager; with a premise business mailing address, for renewal of a Hotel-Restaurant type 
liquor license. 

This Agenda Item was continued by the BLA under Agenda Item 1. 
 

10. Public hearing and continued consideration of whether there is good cause for non-renewal 
of an April 27, 2016 application from Noble-Interstate Management Group, LLC d/b/a Hyatt 
Place Boulder, 2230-2224 30th Street, Boulder, CO 80301; Carrie McIntyre, President and 
Treasurer, Christopher Bennett, Vice President and Secretary, and Susi Keating, Registered 
Manager; with a business mailing address of 4501 N. Fairfax Drive, Suite 500, Arlington, VA 
22204, for renewal of a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. 
 
Jon Stonbraker appeared as the licensee’s attorney. Susi Keating, Registered Manager, was 
sworn in and confirmed the ten day premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures were 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA   07-20-2016

 
3A     Page 4

Packet Page 349



  

waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest. No third 
parties requested interested party status and no public comments were received. 

Ms. Keating provided testimony regarding the renewal application and stated that she would 
submit future renewal applications. 

Vice Chair Timken moved, Member Califano seconded, to approve this renewal application 
for a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. Motion approved 5:0. 

Chair Wallace left the hearing after this Agenda Item and Vice Chair Timken presided over the 
remainder of the hearing. 

11. Public hearing and consideration of whether there is good cause for non-renewal of a May 
27, 2016 application from 909 Walnut Property LLC d/b/a Arcana Restaurant, 909 Walnut 
Street, Boulder, CO 80302; Elliott Fitzgerald Toan, Owner, and Anne Dawa Toan, Registered 
Manager; with a business mailing address of 3245 6th Street, Boulder, CO 80304, for 
renewal of a Hotel-Restaurant type liquor license. 
 
Elliott Fitzgerald Toan, Owner, and Anne Dawa Toan, Registered Manager, were sworn in and 
confirmed the ten day premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures were read. No BLA 
members disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest. No third parties 
requested interested party status and no public comments were received. 

Mr. Toan and Ms. Toan provided testimony regarding the renewal application. Proof of 
Training was entered as Agenda Item 11, Exhibit 1. 

Member Spalding moved, Califano seconded, to approve this renewal application for a Hotel-
Restaurant type liquor license and remove it from non-administrative renewal. Motion 
approved 4:0. 

12. Public hearing and consideration of whether there is good cause for non-renewal of a June 
15, 2016 application from Zoe Zen, Inc d/b/a Zoe Ma Ma, 2010 10th Street, Boulder, CO 
80302; Edwin Zoe, President and Manager; with a premise business mailing address, for 
renewal of a Beer & Wine Liquor type liquor license. 
 
Edwin Zoe, President and Registered Manager, was sworn in and confirmed the ten day 
premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed ex-
parte communications or conflicts of interest. No third parties requested interested party 
status and no public comments were received. 
 
Mr. Zoe provided testimony regarding the renewal application.  
 
Member Spalding moved, Califano seconded, to approve this renewal application for a Beer 
and Wine type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 
 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA   07-20-2016

 
3A     Page 5

Packet Page 350



  

13. Public hearing and consideration of a May 9, 2016 application from Zoe’s Colorado, LLC 
d/b/a Zoe's Kitchen, 1695 29th Street, Suite 1248, Boulder, CO 80301; Zoe's Kitchen LLC, 
Parent and 100% Owner, with Michael Todd, Member, Sunil Doshi, Member, and Kevin 
Miles, Member and Manager, with no other owners over a 10% interest; with a business 
mailing address of 5760 State Highway 121, Suite 250, Plano, TX 75024, for a new Beer and 
Wine Liquor type liquor license. 
 
Daniel Deters appeared as the licensee’s attorney. Lisa Murray, Regional Operator for 
Colorado, and Max Scott, petitioner with Oedipus, Inc., were sworn in and confirmed the ten 
day premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures were waived. No BLA members disclosed 
ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest. No third parties requested interested party 
status and no public comments were received. 
 
Mr. Scott provided testimony regarding the neighborhood petition results. Ms. Murray 
provided testimony regarding the liquor license application. A set of designs for the restaurant 
were entered as Agenda Item 13, Exhibit 1. 
 
Member Lundgren moved, Spalding seconded, to approve this application for a new Beer and 
Wine type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

 
14. Public hearing and consideration of a May 17, 2016 application from Trident Business 

Partners, LLC d/b/a Trident Booksellers & Café, 938—940 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO 80302; 
Andrew Hyde, Member, Ashkan Angha, Member, Joellen Raderstorf, Member, and Scott 
Raderstorf, Member and Manager, with no other owners over a 10% interest; with a 
business mailing address of 940 Pearl Street, Boulder, CO 80302, for a new Beer and Wine 
Liquor type liquor license. 
 
James Beimford appeared as the licensee’s attorney. Scott Raderstorf, Member and Manager, 
and Carol Johnson, petitioner with Esquire Petitioning Services, were sworn in and confirmed 
the ten day premise posting under oath. Hearing procedures were waived. No BLA members 
disclosed ex-parte communications or conflicts of interest. No third parties requested 
interested party status and no public comments were received. 
 
Ms. Johnson provided testimony regarding the neighborhood petition results. Mr. Raderstorf 
provided testimony regarding the liquor license application.  
 
Member Califano moved, Lundgren seconded, to approve this application for a new Beer and 
Wine type liquor license. Motion approved 4:0. 

 
15. Matters from the Assistant City Attorney 

 
Ms. Markel congratulated Ms. Cook for completing the transition of liquor licenses on the 
University of Colorado campus to the State Liquor Enforcement Division so the City of Boulder 
will no longer process these applications. 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA   07-20-2016

 
3A     Page 6

Packet Page 351



  

 
16. Matters from the Licensing Clerk 
 

A. Neighborhood boundary settings for applications for August 17, 2016 BLA hearing 
 

i) iClick, Inc. d/b/a Alpine Modern Café – New Beer and Wine Liquor type 
liquor license at 904 College Avenue, Boulder, CO 80302 
 
The following neighborhood boundaries were discussed: Arapahoe Avenue 

on the North, Baseline on the South, Broadway on the East, and City Limits 

on the West. Member Spalding moved, Member Califano seconded, to set 

the neighborhood boundaries for this application as described above. 

Motion approved 4:0. 

B. Breweries, Wineries, and Distilleries requests for local licensing authority input on 
Application for Colorado Liquor Sales Room 

 
i) Discussion about a new Sales Room application from Deviant Spirits Distillery 

d/b/a Deviant Spirits, 2480 49th Street, Suite E, Boulder, CO 80301; with a 
premise business mailing address  

 
Member Spalding stated that distilleries are more similar to bars than tasting 
rooms and should be subject to compliance checks. Ms. Cook stated that Kelly 
Haralson, the State Liquor Enforcement Division Investigator, had visited the 
applicant prior to the hearing. Member Spalding, Ms. Markel, and Ms. Cook 
discussed regulatory requirements for Sales Rooms. 
 
Johnathan Tilley appeared on behalf of Deviant Spirits and answered questions 
regarding the Sales Room application.  

 
C. Informational items 

 
i) The Riverside Group Ltd d/b/a Riverside, 1724 Broadway Street, Boulder, 

CO 80302 - monthly good standing renewal report to BLA 
 
Ms. Cook stated that The Riverside Group Ltd d/b/a Riverside was in good 
standing with the City of Boulder. 
 

ii) July Special Events and Temporary Modifications 
 
This material was stated to be in the hearing packet. Member Spalding 
inquired about several of the Special Event Liquor Permit Applications. 
 

iii) July Liquor License renewal mailing lists 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA   07-20-2016

 
3A     Page 7

Packet Page 352



  

 
Ms. Cook stated that Boulder Food Park was removed from non-

administrative renewal and had changed their trade name to Rayback 

Collective. 

Ms. Cook also stated that Urban Thai had lost possession of the premise and 

would not be able to renew their liquor license without proof of possession. 

17. Matters from the Chair and Members of the Authority   
 
No matters were discussed. 

 

ADJOURNMENT   

Member Califano moved, Lundgren seconded, to adjourn the meeting. Motion approved 4:0, 
thus the hearing was adjourned at 6:44 p.m.  

 

TIME AND LOCATION OF FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS: 

3rd Wednesday of every Month at 3PM in City Council Chambers for 2016. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

Attested:      Approved: 

 

_________________________________  ___________________________________ 

Mishawn J. Cook, Licensing Administrator  Vice Chair of Beverage Licensing Authority 

Boards and Commissions 
BLA   07-20-2016

 
3A     Page 8

Packet Page 353



Boards and Commissions 
EAB   07-06-2016

 
3B     Page 1

Packet Page 354



Boards and Commissions 
EAB   07-06-2016

 
3B     Page 2

Packet Page 355



Boards and Commissions 
EAB   07-06-2016

 
3B     Page 3

Packet Page 356



Boards and Commissions 
EAB   07-06-2016

 
3B     Page 4

Packet Page 357



City of Boulder 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING SUMMARY FORM 

NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION: Human Relations Commission 

DATE OF MEETING:  July 25, 2016 

NAME/TELEPHONE OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY: Linda Gelhaar 303-
441-1911. 

NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 
Commissioners – José Beteta, Shirly White, Nikhil Mankekar, Emilia Pollauf, Lauren 

Gifford. 
Staff –Karen Rahn, Carmen Atilano, Linda Gelhaar 
Commissioners absent – None 

WHAT TYPE OF MEETING (CIRCLE ONE)  [REGULAR]  [SPECIAL]  [QUASI-
JUDICIAL] 

AGENDA ITEM 1 – CALL TO ORDER – The July 25, 2016 HRC meeting was called to 
order at 6 p.m. by S. White. 
AGENDA ITEM 2 – AGENDA ADJUSTMENTS 

A. Add Homelessness Bus Tour to discussion items 

AGENDA ITEM 3 – APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
• May 16, 2016 – N. Mankekar moved to approve May 16, 2016 minutes. E.

Pollauf seconded. Motion carries 5-0.
AGENDA ITEM 4 – COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION (non-agenda action items) 
AGENDA ITEM 5 – ACTION ITEMS 
A. PrideFest Declaration. J. Beteta moved to approve declaration for Mayor Jones’ 
consideration.  N. Mankekar seconded. Motion carries 5-0.  
B. 2017 MLK Day Funding Recommendations. C Atilano gave update on grant making 
process of four grant applications. Three grants were funded and one was asked to reapply. 
N. Mankekar moved to approve. L. Gifford seconded. Motion carried 5-0.  
C. Funding Revisions to CEF and CIF. C. Atilano reviewed current and new proposed 
funding guidelines and processes. J. Beteta moved to approve. L. Gifford seconded. 
Motion carries 5-0.  
AGENDA ITEM 6 – DISCUSSION/INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
A. Living Wage Update K. Rahn gave update on council’s approval of the Living Wage 
recommendations. 
B. Safe and Welcoming Community – K. Rahn gave update on Safe and Welcoming 
Community Workplan. Community Perceptions Assessment Survey in development. 
Expected to get 400 participants. Focus groups are underway.  
C. Study Session of Homelessness and HS Strategies – K. Rahn gave updates on 
community planning processes. Encouraged people to participate in the online surveys. 
HRC Study Session is Aug. 10 5-8 p.m. 
D. Schedule for Remaining 2016 Grantee Events –  Commissioners agreed on 
attendance for remaining events.  
E. Welcoming and Inclusive Work Plan Update – covered in 6B.  
F. Upcoming Legislative Issues – C. Atilano encouraged HRC to begin its consideration 
of legislative items it would like Council to consider in its 2017 Legislative Agenda.  

Boards and Commissions 
HRC   07-25-2016

 
3C     Page 1

Packet Page 358



G. Homelessness Bus Tour – K. Rahn gave an update on upcoming tour which is a 
follow-up to the Portland/Eugene trip. Tour stops will include: current transitional living 
program sites and city owned vacant land sites. 
 H. Event Reports – HRC members provided updates on community events and activities 
they attended in June and July. 
I. Follow Up Items – Staff will follow-up with items identified during the meeting.  
AGENDA ITEM 7 – IMMEDIATE ACTION ITEMS – None.   
AGENDA ITEM 8 – Adjournment – N. Mankekar moved to adjourn the July 25, 2016 
meeting. E. Pollauf seconded. Motion carries 5-0.   The meeting was adjourned at 
8:04p.m. 

Boards and Commissions 
HRC   07-25-2016

 
3C     Page 2

Packet Page 359



 
 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
Boards and Commissions Minutes 

 
NAME OF COMMISSION:  Open Space Board of Trustees 

DATE OF MEETING: July 27, 2016 

NAME/EXTENSION OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY:   Leah Case x2025 

NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT:   
 
MEMBERS:  Frances Hartogh, Molly Davis, Kevin Bracy Knight, Tom Isaacson, Curt Brown 
 
STAFF:  Tracy Winfree, Jim Reeder, John Potter, Mark Davison, Abbie Poniatowski, Cecil Fenio, Leah 
Case, Katie Kisiel, Alycia Alexander, Heather Swanson, Halice Ruppi, Lisa Dierauf, Bethany Collins,    
Jennelle Freeston, Lauren Kilcoyne, Luke McKay, Keri Davies, Mark Gershman, Phil Yates, Brian Anacker 
 
GUESTS: Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
 
TYPE OF MEETING:                     REGULAR        CONTINUATION          SPECIAL 

SUMMATION:  
 
AGENDA ITEM I – Special Update: Junior Ranger Program 
Mannon Frykholm, Emma Fitzgerrell, and Julia Jenak, current members of the Junior Ranger Program, gave 
a presentation to the Board about their years with the program and why their time spent has been so 
important to them. 
 
AGENDA ITEM 2 - Approval of the Minutes 
Curt Brown moved that the Open Space Board of Trustees approve the minutes from June 8, 2016 as 
amended. Kevin Bracy Knight seconded. This motion passed unanimously.  
 
AGENDA ITEM 3 - Public Participation 
Gretchen King, Boulder, asked the Board to consider a memorial rock on Enchanted Mesa Trail for her late 
husband, Neil King.  
 
Peter Dietze, Boulder, spoke regarding Neil King and his work in protecting Enchanted Mesa. He said he 
supports Mrs. King in her request for a memorial rock recognizing Mr. King in this area. 
 
Pat Billig, Boulder, said regarding the Open Space budget, the Board should ensure that money intended for 
Open Space remains within the department and not get repurposed elsewhere.  
 
Carse Pustmueller, Boulder, said relocation of prairie dogs should only take place when necessary. Open 
Space should have a receiving site for the prairie dogs being relocated off of the Armory site.  

 

Boards and Commissions 
OSBT   07-27-2016

 
3D     Page 1

Packet Page 360



 
James Crain, Boulder, said Open Space has a dedicated amount of funds from sales tax and these should not 
be repurposed. That is something that cannot be justified to the community.  
 
AGENDA ITEM 4 - Consideration of a motion to recommend that City Council authorizes the transfer 
of certain paved parcels of Open Space land to the City of Boulder Public Works Department - 
Transportation pursuant to the disposal procedures of Article XII, Section 177, of the Boulder City 
Charter. 
Bethany Collins, Property Agent, presented this item. 
 
The Board chose to table this item, and did not make a motion.  

 
AGENDA ITEM 5 - Matters from Staff  
Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney, gave a Briefing on Proposed Annexation of OSMP Lands. 
 
Heather Swanson, Senior Wildlife Ecologist, gave an update to the Board on Prairie Dog Management. 
 
Jim Reeder, Trails and Facilities Manager, gave an update on the Mesa Trail crossing at Skunk Creek. 
 
Abbie Poniatowski, Central Services Manager, gave an update on the Budget. 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6 - Matters from the Board 
None. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: The meeting adjourned at 9:33 p.m. 
 
ATTACH BRIEF DETAILS OF ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS:   
None. 
 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS:   
The next OSBT meeting will be Wed. Aug. 10 at 6 p.m. at 1777 Broadway in the Council Chambers  

 

Boards and Commissions 
OSBT   07-27-2016

 
3D     Page 2

Packet Page 361



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 1

Packet Page 362



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 2

Packet Page 363



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 3

Packet Page 364



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 4

Packet Page 365



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 5

Packet Page 366



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 6

Packet Page 367



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 7

Packet Page 368



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 8

Packet Page 369



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 9

Packet Page 370



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 10

Packet Page 371



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 11

Packet Page 372



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-14-2016

 
3E     Page 12

Packet Page 373



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-21-2016

 
3F     Page 1

Packet Page 374



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-21-2016

 
3F     Page 2

Packet Page 375



Boards and Commissions 
PB   07-21-2016

 
3F     Page 3

Packet Page 376



Packet Page 377


	00_Agenda  final
	3A_June 14 SS Summary for Dev Fees
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Next Steps
	Attachment A- Summary

	3B_Water Claims-Hartford Drive
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessements, Impacts, Feedback
	Background
	Options

	3C_3rd Rdg False Alarms
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A- Ord 8123
	Attachment B- Ord with Changes
	Attachment C- Current
	Attachment D- Letter

	3D_Ballot 2nd Rdg Sugar Bev Tax
	Executive Summary
	Suggested Motion Language, Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback, Background, Ordinance, Protest
	Attachment A- Ord 8130

	3E_Ballot 2nd Rdg Council Insurance
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation
	Assessments, Impacts, Feedback, Background, Analysis
	Options
	Attachment A- Ord 8132
	Attachment B- Cost Table

	3F_ Ballot 2nd Rdg Blue Line
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Background, Direction
	Blue Line Map and Description, Next Steps, Recommendation
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8133
	Attachment B- Options

	3G_Ballot 1st Rdg Term Limits
	Executive Summary, Staff Recommendation
	Assessments, Impacts, Feedback, Background, Analysis
	Attachment A- Ord 8137

	3H_BRC Supp 128 
	Executive Summary
	Impacts, Staff Recommendation, Notes
	Discussion, Amendments
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8135

	3I_OSMP Voice -Sight exemptions
	 Emergency Ord. Dog regs
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts
	Feedback, Background, Analysis
	Attachment A- Ord No. 8136
	Appendix A1- A-4 Maps
	 Maps

	3J_1st Rdgs - 55th-Arapahoe Annex
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Assessments, Impacts, Feedback
	Background
	Attachment A- Proposed Ord No. 8139
	Attachment B- Ord No. 8140
	Attachment C- Vicinity Map
	Attachment D- Zone Districts

	5A_2nd rdg City-Owned prpty-annex 
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Feedback, Background
	Attachment A- Ord 8128
	Attachment B- Ord 8129
	Attachment C- Annexation Map

	6A_Prairie Dog Reloc
	Executive Summary
	Feedback, Background
	Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A- History
	Attachment B- Plan
	Attachment C- Letter
	Attachment D- Area Summary
	Attachment E- Sites and Priorities

	8C_B & C Appts for Arts and WRAB
	Appointment for B & C Vacancies
	Attachment A-Board Roster and Vacancy
	Attachment B- Applications for Arts and WRAB
	Arts applications for current vacancies- Aug 16
	Alan O'Hashi
	Benita Duran
	Ellie Swensson
	Jeptha Sheene
	Kathleen McCormick
	Kristen Demaree
	Lynne Ida
	R. Alan Rudy

	Applications for current vacancies WRAB
	Don Cote
	James Saunders



	88_Ref Materials
	88_Reference Materials
	2016 Work Plan
	Staff
	Committee Assignments
	Council Master Calendar Aug 8 2016 

	99_IP Packet
	2016.08.16_IP Cover
	1A - 4750 Broadway Call Up
	Executive Summary, Background
	Proposed Project
	Public Comment and Process
	Planning Board Hearing
	Conclusion
	Attachment A - PB Disposition Notice dated 8-4-16
	Draft Minutes from 8-14-16 Public Hearing

	1B - 4500 Brookfield Drive Call Up
	Executive Summary, Code Requirements
	Fiscal Impacts, Community Sustainability Assessments and Impacts, Analysis
	Public Comment and Process, Next Steps
	Attachment A - Vicinity Map
	Attachment B - Site Plan
	Attachment C - Vacation Deed
	Attachment D - Exhibit A - Utility Easement Vacation Description
	Attachment E - Disposition Notice

	1C - 4525 Palo Parkway Call Up
	Executive Summary, Code Requirements
	Fiscal Impacts, Community Sustainability Assessments and Impacts, Background, Analysis
	Public Comment and Process, Next Steps
	Attachment A - Vicinity Map
	Attachment B - Site Plan
	Attachment C - Vacation Deed
	Attachment D - Exhibit A - Legal Description - Emergency Access Easement
	Attachment E - Disposition Notice - Easement Vacation
	Attachment F - Disposition Notice - Site Review Approval

	2A - 2016 YOP Annual Grants IP
	Executive Summary, Fiscal Impact, Community Sustainability Assessments and Impacts
	Background, Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A - YOP Grant Allocations
	Attachment B - YOP Grant Requests Not Funded

	2B - Boulder Energy Future - Transition Plan and Budget Update IP
	A. Municipalization Transition Plan Update
	B. Budget Update
	Attachment A - Regional, National and International Collaboration
	Attachment B - Boulder's Municipalization Exploration Project

	2C - BVCP Update Schedule and Community Engagement Plan Action
	BVCP Update Action IP memo
	Purpose, Background
	Next City Council Event
	AttachmentA BVCP Work Plan Timeline
	AttachmentA Schedule of Milestones
	Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan Schedule of Milestones
	BVCP Process Subcommittee
	City Council Meetings
	Public Land Use Requests
	Four-Body (City and County) Approval (i.e., 3261 3rd St. (#25), 2801 Jay Road (#29), 6650, 6655 Twin Lakes Rd. and 0 Kalua Rd. (#35 and 36))
	Two-Body (City only) Approval (i.e., Naropa properties at 2130 Arapahoe Ave. and 6287 Arapahoe Ave. (#1), 385 Broadway (#3), 0, 693 and 695 S. Broadway, Table Mesa (#12), and 3485 Stanford Ct. (#13))

	Policy Integration
	Dates:

	CU South Land Use Change
	Dates:

	Land Use Scenarios and Key Policy Changes for Focus Areas
	Dates:



	Attachment B_Engagement Planning

	2D - Gross Reservoir Enlargement - Project Update
	Executive Summary
	Fiscal Impact, Community Sustainability Assessments and Impacts, Background
	Analysis
	Next Steps

	2E - US36 Proposed Policy Agenda
	Executive Summary, Next Steps
	Attachment A - Proposed Policy Agenda

	2F - BHP 2015 Annual Report - City Council
	Welcome
	Preserving and Increasing Affordable Housing
	Partnerships and Community Engagement
	Resident Achievement and Quality of Life
	Maximizing Sustainability
	Organizational Stewardship

	3A - BLA - 7-20-16 Meeting Minutes
	3B - EAB - 07-06-16 Meeting Minutes
	3C - HRC - 7-25-16 Meeting Minutes
	3D - OSBT - 7-27-16 Meeting Minutes
	3E - PB - 7-14-16 Meeting Minutes
	3F - PB - 07-21-16 Meeting Minutes
	4A - Declaration - 2016 Summer Olympics




